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PREFACE

The settlement of ﬁhe Trans-Mississipﬁi West has held fhe interest of
Americans for well over a century, Those who participated realized they
were involved in an uniqde experience, and thbse who followed have speht
many hours dreaming about 1ife on the frontier, §ch01ars have>ana]yzed and
interpreted trapping, gold minina, railroading, and ranching. A glance at
the volumes of material that has been written and collected suggest that
every major éctivity has been thoroth]y covered. However, the history of
coal mining in the western United States is a wide open field for original
research,

$c holars generally aqree that settlement of the west would have been
vastly different without the railroads. The first trans-continental
railroad, the Union Pacific, operated coal mines in southwestern Wyoming.
The Rio Grande layed tracks to coalfields before going to the gold fields.
One of the primary products shipped by rail was coal. Yet, despite the
significance of coal to the transportation frontier, little is known of the
mines,

Gold and silver mining towns and mining methods have held a consuming
interest for many people. These urban centers could not have flourished
without fuel to warw tne homes and the smelters could not have operated
without coke and fuel. Fuel for the cities and industries came from coal.

Early settlers were aware of the significance of coal, and coal was
mined at numerous points. At each of these locations there developed a
complex social system that ran the full gamut of-life--a life that was
vital to opéninq and sustaining western cities, industries, and railroads,

Coal: The Cream of Northwestern Colorado is an effort to take a

broad look at the social, economic, and political institutions of a single

coal mining area., The first chapters deal with the opening of the coalfield
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and place it in relation to other regions and events of the period. Later
chapters examine the broad outlines of northwestern Co]oradb's society.
The work attempts to touch on numerous asbects of the mining history., It
is hoped that readers will develop an appreciation for the complexities of
the mining area. Perhaps we can qo beyond the studies of labor relations
and bloody strikes and view the entire picture. Labor relations are
important to the history but they are not the sum of the Qho]e.

The Yampa Coalfield was the center piece for the dreams and aspirations
of Denver empire builders. David H. Moffat and his followers placed the
future of their railroad on the coal mines. The settlers who peopled the
region depended upon the railroad for their link with civilization and the
railroad in turn deﬁended upon the mines. Through the years the mining
district with its center at Oak Creek, Co]orédo, has experienced a series
of boom and bust, change'and staqnatioh, violence and tranquillity. Coal
was the "cream of Routt County" ﬁpon which the institutions of society fed,
Coal formed the foundation upon which-northwestern Colorado tied itself to
civilization or barbarism, Despite the current emphasis upon tourism and
skiing, coal remains the Tife qiving substance of thé "empire,"

Researching material, primarily from local sources, for this book was
exciting and rewarding. But time and distance were major obstéc]es. For
example, it is a ninety mile round tripvto the small county library at
Steamboat Springs, and the very small Yampa Library has limited resources.
Two fine people, Joy Handloff at Steamboat Springs and Nancy Nielsen at
Yampa, patiently, competently, and success?ul]y were able to place in my
hands necessary documents. To achieve that feat took true dedication and
a willingness to tread a maze of library mystery, Of course, the Three
Rivers Library System played a key role in the procurement of material.

Written documents on coal mining history are restricted and Timited.
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Ususally available material is quite formal and deals primarily with .
technical matters. It is difficult to find data that reveals the people of
the coal mines, .Withdut the full cooperation of folks who gave freely of 4
their time and'knowledqe it would have bheen impossible to record a broad
scope history of the Yampa Coalfield, The final chapters depend heavi]j
upon oral histories., To the people who shared their memories, I extend a
million thanks.

For many vears He]én Pierce of Oak Creek, Colorado, has collected
nhotoqraphs of northwestern Colorado's coal mining history. She has
willingly and freely allowed the Colorado State Historical Society‘to copy
her material. Thanks Helen, because if it were not for you and yo&r
labors the archival record would be a barren waste land. A1l historians

are indebted to you and people like you.

December 1981 | Paul Bonnifield

Yampa, Colorado
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Moffat Mine's No. 1 Tipple. Later two more tipples were added to the
mininﬁ operation, Courtesy of Helen Pierce. |

Haybro Mine. Box cars were beina loaded with coal. Courtesy of Helen
Pierce, |

Juniper Mine. This mine did not operate too many years. Courtesy of
Helen Pierce.

Routt County Fuel Co. mining operation became the VictorvAmerican-
Pinnacle Mine in ]915. Courtesy of Helen Pierce.

The mining camp at the Pinnacle Mine. Courtesy of Helen Pierce.

Mt. Harris, The tipple and homes to the Teft of the rai]foéd were
part of fhe Mt. Harris Mine. The buildings in the ubper right are
the outskirts of the Wadqe Mining Camp. Courtesy of the Colorado
State Historical Society.
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Immediately west of iMt. Harris was the International Pinnacel Mine.
Courtesy of the Colorado State Historical Society.

Routt Couﬁty Fuel-Pinnacle Mine tram train operated for several years,
Courtesyvof Helen Pierce.

One of the portals at the Pinnacle Mine. Courtesy of Helen Pierce.

A miner standing next to the coal vein in the Pinnacle Mine. Notice
the breaker row behind which indicates that the pillars were being
pulled. Courtesy of Helen Pierce.

Miners were hand drilling the coal to set charges at the time the
photo was taken, Courtesy of Helen Pierce.

Notice the size of the rock that had fallen. Rock and coal falls
were the biggest killer of miners in CoTorado. Courtesy of Helen

Pierce.

Miners proudly disnlay high loads of lump coal. Hotice the entry is
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three tracks wide and required heavy supports, This could be a
dangerous .area. Courtesy of Helen Pierce.

Scene after the Arqo Mine explosion. From the portal outward debris
and blackened snow is all that remains of the "entry" buildings.
Courtesy of Helen Pierce.

This view of a section of Oak Creek includes the Militia Camp (upper
right) and Pinnacle tipple (center right) during the 1913-14 strike.
Courtesy of Helen Pierce.

A Labor'Day Parade in Qak Creek durina the 1930s. The UMW membership
follows their banner. Courtesy of the Colorado State Historical
Society, ‘

Main Street in 0Qak Creek during a celebration. Courtesy of the
Colorado State Historical Society.

The muddy Main Street in Oak Creek suqqests why the community
remained isolated for many years. Caurtesy of the Colorado State
Historical Society.,

A view of Yampa two years before the railroad arri?ed. Courtesy of
the Colorado State Historical Society,

The Phippsburg yards and box car row (center right). Courtesy of

Helen Pierce.




vi

TABLE OF CONTENTS
Preface- - - = = = - = = - - - - - - - o= - ‘-'_ I R )
I11ustrations- e e e e e e e e e e e e m e e e e e m e = - - -y '
Chapter 1 -- Coal: A Force to Open the Frontier = = = = = = = = = . 1
Chapter 2 -- An Empire Unrealized= = = = = = = = = = = - = = oo 23
Chapter 3 -- The Fight for Empire- - = - - = - = = = - = = - - - - - - 46
Chapter 4 -- Continuing Struggle and the Big Strike- - ; .- 2= === 64 »
Chapter 5 -- Digging Coal= = = = = = = = = = = = = = = = o =« = - - - 89
Chapter 6 -- Digging Hore Coal = = = = = = = = = = « = = = = = e 116
Chapter 7 -- Wagon Mines = = = = = = = = = = = = = = = = - - - - e - 133
Chapter 8 -- Making a Reputation = - = = = = = = = = - = « - - - R 153
Chapter 9 -- Crime After 1920~ - = = = = = = = = = = = = = = o o = - - 177
Chapter 10 -- Allied Industries- - = = = = = = = = = = = = = = = = = - 20}
Chapter 11 -- Hardy People and Hard Times- - - - - e e e e e e = - 221
Chapter 12 -- The End and the BeéinningQ e e e e e e e e e - 242
NOoteS= = = = = = = = @ = 2 0 2 = 2 = o 2 e = = - = - e e o= e === 252
Bibliography = = = = = = = = = = 2 = = = = = = = @ = =@ = = = ¢« = = = = 270



@l

CHAPTER 1
COAL: A FORCE TO OPEN THE FRONTIER

The Oak Hills Edna Mine placed a sign along the highway that proclaimed
"Coal the Cream of Northwestern Colorado." As cream is the primary life
giving substance of whole milk so coal is the primary force in the social
and economic history of the Yampa Valley. The Yampa Coalfield with its
focus at Oak Creek, Colorado, has wended its way through a turbulent history
as varied as the tundras, mountains, and semi-deserts that form the Yampa
Valley. As time marched from the past to the present a combination of
complex forces has combined to produce a tantalizing mixture of
contradictions, rich as thick golden cream that has risen, elusive as cream
violently stirred among the milk. At the center of the history is the
story of developing and maintaining coal mines in a remote section of the
state, To accomplish this featlrequired men of broad vision who understood
the basics of developing western industries, cities, ahd transportation.
Coal was neededAto fuel the progress, Average citizens p]ayed a critical
role by mining the coal and maintaining‘the allied industries. The
combination of opposites--people with power, weakness; wealth, poverty;
love, hate; greed, generosity--amalgamated to etch the history of coal
mining in Northwestern Colorado.

Without fossil fuel settling the west would have been very difficult
if not impossible. Early explorers and pioneers recognized the significance
of coal in their lives. On their trip to the west coast Lewis and Clark
Tocated coal deposits on the upper Missouri River, Six years before gold
was discovered in California, Charles Fremont noted coal deposits on the

1

Laramie Plains.’ As the American army advanced over Raton Mountain in

1846, Lt. W, H. Emory wrote in his diary, "It was reported to me‘thatﬁ at
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Captain Sumner's_camp, about 7 miles above where we encamped last night, and
12 miles from the summit, an immense field of coal crops out; this seam
being 30 feet‘deép."2

Four years later a qroup of argonauts bound for California stopped to
test the sands along a stréam emptying into the South Platte River. Here a
man named Ralston found gold, but the lure of California pulled the
travelers on. John Beck who was with Ralston made the trip to California,
became discouraged, and returned to Georgia. While in Georgia, Beck
conta;éd William Green Russell and they set out to reexamine Ralston's
earlier discovery. In 1858 the prospectors traveled up the Arkansas River
to the mountain where they crossed to the South Platte River~and Ralston
Creek. No gold was found on Ralston Creek and many of the party retraced
their steps across the plains. Russell and a few followers were more
determined and moved their search to other streams where gold was found.
Soon rumors of gold spread thro&gh the more settied regions to the east.
The following year, 1859, the rush to Pikes Peak began.3

Coal miners trekked west with the gold rusherg, "The first claim to
coal lands was recorded in December, 1859, on the basis of a discovery made
about a month earlier. The vein of coal was located on the east bank of

Monument Creek nearly opposite the butte.“4

Accompanying the opening of
coal mining activity on Monument creek was the opening of coal mines on
Ralston Creek. Gold was not found on Ra]ston Creek, but in 1860 mines
along it banks were producing fuel for Denver, Golden, Blackhawk, and
Central City.5 Near the Royal Gorge of the Arkansas River in April 1860
Hosea Hoopingarner, Jesse Frazer, Clark Harrington and John W. Leland
staked a coal claim. The coal proved to be high quality and was first

used for blacksmithing in Canon City,6

During the excitement to get rich quickly, men of greater vision
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pondered the problems of a transcontinental railroad. In 1861 W. H. Russell
and Bela M. Hughes of the Central Overland California & Pike's Peak Express
joined Lt. E. L, Berthoud and the veteran mountain man Jim Bridger.in their
effort to discover a practical railroad route directly west from Denver and
Golden.” Berthoud reported that he had discovered a suitable pass through
the mountains and “that the countfy traversed west of the pass was fine
valleys and that excellent coal abounded."8

In 1865 Hughes organized a large party of men in Salt Lake City, Utah,
and surveyed a route eastwafd throuah the Yampa Valley over Gore Pass and
across the Front Range'by a pass north of James Peak, In 1866 John Quincy
Adams Rollins began work on a wagon road through the pass used by Hughes.9
When David H. Moffat built the Denver Northwestern & Pacific into the Yampa
Valley he followed the Hughes and Rollins surveys. No doubt Moffat and his
associates, one of whom was Hughes, knew a great deal about northwestern
Colorado's resources including c6a1 deposits at a very early date in
Colorado history.

The early pioneers recognized the importance of coal to the Rocky
Mountain region, On November 13, 1869, the Denver Gas Company was
organized. A few months iater a city paper reported, "Lamps right out on
the street! . . . everyone is . . . talking about something called gas
that's made from coal, and how you can have it come right into your house
through pipes." The editor went on to say that Denver was "getting

fancier,"]o

He might have added that the city was also more dependent upon
coal.

The federal government in 1867 acknowledged the importance of coal to
the west when F. V. Hayden was sent to make a geological survey, Hayden

wrote:

The construction of the Pacific Rail Roads across the continent
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is bringing about the dawn of a new era in the progress of the
west. . . . The eart is now called upon more earnestly than ever
before to yield up her treasures of aold, silver, copper, iron,
and mineral fuel, and the existence of the last two minerals in
the west, in workable quantities, is one of the most important
practical questions of the day.]]

The Hayden Survey found no deposits of marketable coal in Nebraska,
but the coal along the Union Pacific and near Denver had a promising future.
A coal mine on Pole Creék some twenty miles south of Cheyenne, Wyoming, was
selling coal for $25 per ton., Coal from the Marshall Mine on South Boulder
Creek was receiving $4 per ton at the mine and in Denver ceal-was selling
for $12 to $16 per ton. The day Hayden visited the Marshall Mine it
produced 73 tons of-ceal with a mine value of $292. By the mid-1860s
Marshall had used local iron ore, which was plentiful, and local coal to
produce pig iron. After noting fhe large iron deposits Hayden observed,
"If the mineral fuel which is found here in such great abundance can be
made useful for smelting purposes, these lignite and iron ore beds will
exert the same kind of influence over the progress of the great west that
Pennsylvania exerts over all the contiguous states." 12

Railroads were vital to the remote communities, and coal was vital to
the railroads. These two facts were clearly recognized by leaders of
Colorado. When the Union Pacific bypassed Colorado cities in favor of a
route through Wyomina, Denver businessmen organized and constructed the
Denver Pacific to Tink their city to the transcontinental system. When the
Denver Pacific construction reaé%d Hughes (Brighton, Colorado) in 1870,
David H. Moffat, John Evans, W. H, Cheesman and Hughes organized the Boulder
Valley Railroad to tap the rich co§ygeds at Erie, Colorado. The Kansas

Pacific arrived in Denver in 1870 and was soon shipping coal from Erie to
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communities along its line as well as using Colorado coal to fire the §team
engines.]3 |

Upon comp]étion of the Kansas Pacific to Denver, General W. J..Palmer
organized the Denver andvRio Grande Railroad which was. supposed to build
south to Santa Fe and down the Rio Grande River. Construction began in
1870 and by 1872 the line was completed to Pueblo, Colorado. Here the
railroad changed its direction "and a fe@ months later Canon City and the
coal-beds were reached." In 1875, after the national financial crisis, the
railroad resumed construction south from Pueblo. The next year the line
reached E1 Moro as its southern terminus. E1 Moro was in the heart of the
vast southern Colorado coaljfie1d along Raton Mbuntain. The coal béds of
Canon City and E1 Moro‘weré critical for the railroad's revenue business.]4-

Gold, coal, and railroads were key links in opening Colorado. The
early history of the northwestern part of the state follows the same
pattern and is influenced by thé same forces. Joseph Hahn crossed the Park
- Range into the Yampa Valley in search of gold. Hahn had fled Germany to
Switzerland and then to the United States. In 1860 he was among the hordes
of gold seekers at Georgetown, Colorado., No one knows when he left
| Georgetown or what route he traveled to the Yampa Valley. But he did
locate some promising gold prospects and returned to Georgetown to report
his findings. However, further investigation of the discovery was delayed
until 1865 when Hahn formed a partnership with William Doyle, Captain
George Way and others to reinvestigate the earlier prospects, The
prospectors traveled into North Park and over the divide where they located
some gold and named the nearby mountain Hahns Peak. As winter approached
most of the members of the party returned to civilization. Way left Doyle
and Hahn at the prospects while he went after provisions. For some reason

Way decided not to return, and in the spring of 1866 Doyle and Hahn began a
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desperate trip from the snowbound region. 'Along the Muddy Creek in Middle
Park Hahn died and Doy]e_waé rescued more déad than alive and taken to Hot
Sulphur Springs. For the next few years little is known about prospectors
in the Hahns Peak district, but by 1874 énough work had been done fo attract
John V, Farwell and a qroup of wealthy Chicagoians to invest in the Purdy |
Mining Company. Farwell's mining venture led to the first permanent
settlement and road into the Yampa Valley.!®

While the gold prospectors were exploring the Hahns Peak region another
group of exb]orers was aanncing. ThebMorgan family was from Wales, "where
the father was superintendent of one of the coal mines.“‘ When the family
migrated to Colorado in 1864 the men went tb work in the Pikeview Coal Mine,
Then in 1867 David, Tom, and Charlie moved to Rawlins, Wyoming; where they
began freighting supplies to the Indian Agency at Meeker. The supply road
traveled across the YampaFCoa1fie]d and the outcroppings on Lay'Creeku

Later the Morgan brothers established a trading post-at the‘%gﬁﬁ% of

Elkhead Creek on the Yampa River. They also ranched in the Axial Basin
16

1

where a large coal vein is clearly visible.
David Morgan was an observant and ambitious man. Among his many
interests was mining. He was a self-taught heo]ogist who later received
recognization for his studies in the discipline. His geological and mining
work took him across the area from the Laramie River to centra] Utah., He
also located and claimed a large tract of anthracite coal near Pilot Knob.]7
Without doubt Morgan was the first amateur to closely study the!coéfffield;
however, the first official report of thé Yampa Coalfield was made by S. F.
Emmons in 1872 while working on the Fortieth Parallel Sur“v<ey.18
While Emmons was working on his survey, in Sedalia, Missouri, James H,

and Margaret £, Crawford and their three children, Lulie, Logan, and John,

were preparing to move to Colorado. After crossing the/?ﬁains the family
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arrived at Empire, Colorado, where snow prevented their crossing Berthoud
Pass. After wintering in comfort near Golden, the Crawfords traveled over
Rollins Pass to Hot Sulphur Springs where the family rested. Here James
organized a small party and took a waaon over Gore Pass to Egeria Park. The
men crossed théApark'to‘Oak Creek where they struck the coa]C}ie]d. They
followed a tréi] over the divides which separate Oak Creek, Trout Creek,
and Middle Creek. Aftef fording Middle Creek the party crossed Twent[]ﬁile
Park (so named becausé Crawford thought it was twenty miles across the park)
and traveled on to Morgan's trading post. At one of the camps while
crossing from Oak Creek to Morgans the party burned coal from an outcropping
in a camp fire, |

From the trading post Crawford and an unidentified companion moved up
the Yampa River until they located the hot springs Crawford had been seeking
since he left Missouri, Here he built a sma]] cabin and staked a claim. As
soon as Crawford perfected his élaim he "“formed a company to promote the
interests of the property." In the company was A. E. Lea, J. P. Maxwell,
A. J. Macky, and 0, C, Chehey of Boulder, Colorado. Crawford somehow knew
exactly where he wanted to go and what to expect from the time he left |
Missouri., He also had influence enough that in 1878 he was able to visit
with Governor John L. Routt about the mail service to Steamboat Springs;
Colorado., That summer a mail route was established into the Yampa Val]ey.lg

The prospectors, settlers, government surveyors, and promoters
proclaimed the merits of the Yampa Valley until the attention of powerful
men was gained, By 1881 northwestern Colorado had become a "pawn" in the
games empire builders played as they maneuvered to build ra%]roads and tap
western Colorado's mineral, agricultural, and coal wealth,

Men of wealth, power, and influence did not stake their fortunes

without first checking the facts, In 1881 an engineer, Ezekiel Shelton,
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was hired by a group of Denver businessmen to examine and locate coa]
deposits in Routt County. After arriving he Tocated and opened a mine in
Coal Mine Gulch north of Hayden, Colorado.20 For the next several . years he
continued to 1nvestiqate the Yampa Coalfield.

Shelton admitted he was hired to investicate the coa]C}ﬁe]d, but there
were other early settlers who are suspected of similar employment. They
were less candid; therefore, their intentions are harder to grasp.

The Burlington Railroad had more than a casual 1nterést in developing
the Yampa Valley. The line did extensive constructjon work on the Blue
River near Breckenridge, Colorado, and H. A. Sumner wés emp]oyed a§ 2
locating enqgineer to find a route through the mountains direci]y wesi of
Denver, Alona his survey some work was done in the South Boulder Canyon.
Work was also done in G]enwood Canyon, By 1886 when the project was
abandoned the'rai1r0ad had spent near]y.one-ha1f million dollars on planning
and developing a route.

The Burlington also did some grading work near Glenwood Springs,
Colorado, which would have taken the railway away from the Yampa Coalfield
but into the coal beds of Garfield County. Another railroad was also
interested in the Yampa Valley. In April, 1881, the Denver Utah & Pacific,
organized by Moffat, began work in the South Boulder Canyon. This railroad
also had plans of constructing over the divide and building west either by
the Colorado River or Yampa River drainage which was the saﬁe choice as the
Burlington. The D U & P failed to be more than a paper railroad.2!

The Denver and Rio Grande and the Colorado Midland railroads were also
playing the game of empire building. Men in the "know" were aware that
during the 1870s coal mining was one of Colorado’s fastest growing
industries. In 1873 the state coal mines reported production of 69,977

tons. Ten years later the mines produced 1,061,479 tons with a value of
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$2,388,328, "The industry of coke-makinqg may be said to have begqn in the
state of Colorado in the year 1879." In 1880 there were 200 ovens which

produced coke valued at $145,226.22 ‘Frank Fossett's Colorado: Its Gold and

Silver Mines first pubTished in 1880 found the state's coal production

important enough that he included a chapter on the minera] plus several
references throughout the book. The coal was used forvdomestic purposes in
Colorado and neighboring states. It was also used to manufacture
illuminating aas and to fire the furnaces of the smelters. The important
Boston and Colorado Smelter at Arao used nearly 60 tons of coal per day.23
At Pueblo the»Colorado'Cbal and Iron Company built its iron Qorks and began
production in November 1880.

The Teader of the Colorado Midland Railroad, James John Hagerman, fully
recognized the importance of coal for his railroad and the mining industry:

Leadville uses fully [100,000] tons of coal and 60,000 tons of

coke per annum, This is a]f furnished by the D, & R, G. R, R.

from Canon City and E1 Moro, . . . The immense deposits of

coal at Elk Creek--the present proposed terminus of our road--are

only 103 miles from Leadville, and in hauling coal and coke to

that place we would have to overcome a difference of elevation of

about 2,000 feet. In our estimates of business you will see that

we have only figured on furnishing 20,000 tons of coke and 30,000

tons of coal to Leadville, . . . our gross earnings from Leadvii]e

business will exceed one million per annum. I believe our

operating expenses would not exceed 50% of the gross earnings.z4

It is interestinq.that the proposed terminus for the rai1road}at that

time was the coafjfield in Garfield County, Colorado, rather than a few
miles to the south at the silver mines at Aspen, Colorado. "Of course it

would be absolutely necessary," wrote Haagerman, "that the large coal



Coal: A Force to Open the Frontier : ' o 10

deposits at the terminus of our road on Grand River (Colorado River) and ét
Elk Creek should be under the control of the friends of the Railroad
Company." J. B. Wheeler, one'of the Midland’s leading financﬁa].backers;.
had contrb] of a 1arge}amount.6f coal land. The plan callea for Hagérman,
Wheeler and others to form a separate coal company owned by“selected men of
the railroad.2® | v\ |

In a letter to T. M. Davis dated July 20, 1886, Hégerman expressed his
alarm and indignation at a threat to his prospectiye control over the
coalfield., John Cleveland Osgood who later was a primary organizer of
Co]orado Fuel and Iron Company, Victor American mines, and the community of
Redstone, Colorado, was busy constructing the Colorado Railway Company's
line up the Crystal Rivef. Hagerman was firmly convinced that Osgood was
in "charge of all the coal interest on the~Bur11nqton."26_

| Although Hagerman was not pleased with the threat to his control of
the coalfield which he Tlater shafed with the Denver and Rio Grande, he was
busy planning an extension of his road west from Glenwood to the White
River. The proposed line would take him though the Danforth Hills and
Grand Hogback coalfield, The Danforth Hills and the Yampa coal beds are
- separated by the easily accessible Axial Basin. Thus entry by railroad
into the Yampa Valley was in the offing.

Clearly the railroads were interested in the Yampa and neighboring
coalfields. Although Shelton was the only pioneer who frankly admitted
that he was employed to locate coal mines in the Yampa Valley, there were
others who seem to have similar connections. L. L. and John M. Breeze
were in the mining and legal business at Breckenridge before they moved to
the Yampa Valley in 1881. Lee Tower, who was related to the Breeze family,
“did some scouting for rail people with an eye to building a railroad into

the regiona"27 Lewis H. Breeze arrived in the Yampa Valley in 1881 and was
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-soon appointed Treasurer of Routt County. Shortly a cousin, George Walker,
settled on a claim where he mined coal for the local market. Walker's Coal
Bank and Walker's Gulch soon became land marks south of Craig, Colorado.
Within this family there were lawyers, railroad emp]oyees,'county officiais,
and coal miners. It seems to be more than just a cofncidence that the
Breezes arrived at the same time Shelton was doing his 1nvestigétions.

The location of Craiq suggests that the founders knew a areat deal
about the Yampa Coalfield, Immediately north of the town is the massive
Trout Creek sandstone éutcroppinq. The Trout Creek sandstone is one of the
two key geoloaical formations used to identify the structure of the
coalfield, Near the sandstone is the remains of an old volcano (Cedar
Mountain), The volcano suggests that the volatile matter may have been
burned from the coal. This would have left a very high grade coal.

During the 1880s several settlers without railroad or mining
connections arrived in the Yampa‘Va11ey. In 1883, Archie McLachlan and
David and Donald (Dan) Taylor believed they saw an opportunity to better
themselves by moving to the valley. A year later the men began their
adventures along the Yampa River. The Taylors were blacksmiths and the
need for their craft in the new area soon found them solidly estab]ished.
Although coal deposits were nearby, the Taylors found it unsatiéfactory for
their work. For a few years they made charcoal from Cedar trees. But the
discovery of high quality blacksmith coal on the Yampa River below the
mouth of the Williams Fork provided an adequate supply of coal, Findpgze
coal and getting it were two separate problems. The only time that coal
could be hauled from the mine was during the winter months while the river
was frozen. On numerous occasions the ice would give way under the sledge
and team, and on one trip from the mine a horse was drowned. 28 Throughout

the 1880s Shelton, Breeze, Taylor and others opened several coal mines. By
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the late 1880s the boundaries of the Yampa Coalfield were‘well known.

Routt County coal attracted attention in 1386 when antﬁracite was
reported in the Pi]ot Knob region. "My attéhtion Was reﬁent]y called to én
alleged discovery of a true anthracite coal which was said to occur in
Routt County, on the head waters of the Elk Head creek and on a branch of
the Elk River," wrote Frederic F. Chisolm, "and as the matter was one of
considerable interest to the Union Pacific fai1way; I went to the location
as soon as possible to ascertain its value." Although the season was late
and snow preVented Chisolm from making a thorough study of the field, he
did find anthracite coal. He believed that the anthracite field was "not
very extensive,"29 By comparing the description of the coal veins Chisolm
checked with later ihvestiqations by others it appears that he was on the
Crawford anthracite property..

During the summer ofA]887 David Moraan, Jacob R. Harding and Ora Haley
were returning by the Deep Creek trail to their homes after doing business
at Hahns Peak when they stopped for lunch on the divide above the Hayden
Valley. While the others were resting Morgan did a little prospecting and
found anthracite float in a small stream. He soon located the vefns and
filed a claim. However, the other men in the party did not consider the
discovery worth fol]owinqvup.30

About the same time Moraqan was locating his anthracite claim, James
Wadge and his bride Sarqbdane were locating at the west end Bf the Yampa
Canyon (later known as Mt. Harris). James had come to the United States
from England in ]880 and worked in the mines at Silver P]ume, Colorado,
until he moved to the Yampa Valley. He then traveled to England where he
and Sarah were married before returning to the United States. Within a
short time after the Wadges located {heir claim they wére busy helping

build the road down the canyon. After its completion their home became a
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road stop and stage station. Wadge also began coal mining. With his
wife's help he opened a mine on Wolf Creek. The first coal from the mine
was hauled in Sarah's apron. He later opened a mine across the river. In
the mines he uncovered a high quality coal which attracted the local
market. 3!

Several miles south of the Wadge Mine where the Egeria Park trail
crossed Oak Creek and ascended the divide to Trout Creek by way of Egefia
Gulch in the late 1880s William Mahoney opened a coal mine. Residents
could purchase a wagon load of coal at the mine for a dollar regardless of
the wagon's size, Some enterprising sett1¢rs would so overload their
wagons that they could not be moved. Mahoney was soon followed by Pete
James32 - who opened the Pinnacle vein on upper Oak Creek. When the
railroad finnally arrived the Wadge, Mahoney, and James mines became
centers of coal mining activities,33

On Trout Creek at the mouthlof Egeria Gulch in 1889 Joseph Benson (Ben)
and William Male began a coal mining and ranching operation. The Male
family had been miners in Cornwall, England, before John C. Male came to the
United States where they settled at Beach Lake, Penq&@hvania; At Beach
Lake the family engaged 1n coal mining and ranching. Thﬁs it was natural
for Ben and William to combine ranching and mining when they arrived in
Colorado. Soon after the brothers established themselves on Trout Creek
two more brothers and their sister Susan and her husbénH‘John Wesley Van
Wert came to southern Routt County. The “clam" was able to establish -
control over valuable coal land. As county commissioner at the turn of the
century Ben was most helpful to the Denver Northwestern & Pacific which was
laying track to the Yampa Va]]ey.34

With the increased settlement of the region and the developments in

the coal mines the extent and variations of the field were becoming better
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understood. In a 1904 edition of Camp and Plant (a Colorado Fuel and Iron

Company publication) an unidentified author gives us a glimpse into‘his
diary. In 1889 he and a group of geologists traveled from Denver to
Glenwood Springs and over the Fla%ﬂ%p Mountains to inspect a part of the
Yampa Coalfield. Since the party did not take the stage road into the
region, it is suspected that they had specific business in out-of-the-way
places. After reaching the headwaters of the Yampa River the party
traveled to the mouth of Coal Creek (already named by 1889)., After
camping that night the party labored up‘a steep mountain while prospecting
for coal float until they found the coal veins close to the igneous rock
formation., There was.a possibility of anthracite. Since the conditions
for anthracite were present the geologists were compelled to investigate.
The igneous rock could have burned off the coal's volatile matter. After
locating the coal outcroppings they found three separate veins of
bituminous coal and an opening wﬁere someone else had staked his claim.

With the outcroppings already claimed the men did not tarry long on
Coal Creek. They soon broke cam% and traveled by the most direct route
possible to Steamboat Springs where the head of the party bought more
provisions and met with friends. While there the diarist noted:

With the rapid settling up then in progress, the growing

agricultural and stock interests and the abundance of coal which

we heard of nearby, we then concluded it would not be long before

a railroad would be pushed through this valley to open up a

large, undeveloped territory.34

After resting and resupplying the party headed for Deep Creek; part
of the trip was on a rude wagon road built to haul anthracite. At the
head of the creek the party spent several days investigating the anthracite

deposits. Later they moved on to investigate the anthracite on the
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headwaters of Elkhead Creek, While inspecting the coal deposits they were
on the lookout for possible railroad routes to the coal. Since the party
knew exactly where they were going and what they were looking for, it can
reasonably be assumed that they had been employed to check the anthracite
coal on the Crawford, Morgan, and Shelton banks. They were also to
investigate coal deposits on Coal Creek. After satisfying themselves the
party traveled to Hayden and across Twéntj}pile Park. While crossing the
park the men saw several coal openings and veins, but these did not detain
the travelers,3° |

The author of the article noted, "the coal looked clean and.bright,
but what the extent of the field [anthracite] would be could not be
determined without a diamond dri11,“36 During the following winter a crew
worked a diamohd drill along parts of the coal field. The exact resUTts of
their work is unknown, but a map of Colorado Fuel & Iron Company holdings in.
1893 shows that they had two coé] claims in Routt County. The 1and on
Elkhead Mountain had anthracite coal. The Peacock Mine on the Snake River
had dry domestic coa].37

By the end of the 1880s knowledqgeable men in Colorado were becoming
more aware of the importance of coal to the state. "And however productive
‘the mines of qold and silver of this highly favored Staté may become,"
wrote J. S. Newberry, professor at the Colorado School of Mines, ﬁI cannot
but think that her coal mines will prove the most important sources of her
wealth,"38 Newberry's prophecy had a solid foundation. Colorado coal
production for 1882 had an average value per ton at the mine of $2.25 with
a total value of $2,388,328, Although the average value at the mine
dropped from $2.25 to $1.61 per ton by 1892 the total value was $5,104,112,
In 1882 the state reported producing 1,061,479 tons of coal. In 1892 some

4,102,389 tons of coal were produced.39l With the crash of the silver
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market and the severe national depression starting in 1893, Colorado
entered a very difficult period of her history. As the weight of the hard
years bore down mines and smelters closed, railroad business dropped, and
railroads went into receivership. In 1892 Colorado ranked sixth among coal
producing states, and although production dropped 1,270,980 tons the
following year the industry was one of the least affected by the depression.
After 1893 the coal business began to recover quickly, for coal was being
shipped to Kansas, Nebraska, Texas and as far east as Shreveport,

40

Louisiana.,

As the depression gripped the state the Denver Times published a

glowing article on the state's coal mines. The Creede Candle reprinted the

article which claimed that the state had sold $8,000,000 worth of coal the
previous year and the production of $1,000 worth of coal employed five
times more men than the production of $1,000 worth of silver. "So it will

be seen," concluded the article, "that it is by no means silver that is

keeping us qoina, and that in a few years, instead of Colorado being the
silver state, par excellence, it will be the great coal state of the West,

adl

with the black diamond as king, Robert Athearn observed in The Denver

and Rio Grande Western Railroad, "it was a less glamorous part of the

mining industry that helped [the D & R 6] through this time of trodb]e.
Its heaviest traffic was coal and coke, 80 per cent of which was carried
outside the state for sale,"4?

With the arowth in interest by residents of Colorado in coal, Routt
County became more important., The county first reported coal production in
1889 with a tonnage of 1,491, After that, reported tonnage dfopbed off to
330 tons in 1892. During the depression years Routt County's reported

tonnage remained near the 1,000 ton mark until the turn of the century.

" Before the depression took its toll on Colorado Heve1opment the Mineral
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Resources Division of the United States Reoloaical Survey examined the
Yampa Coalfield. In the 1892 report, R, C. Hill argued, "the total area of
accessible and inaccessible measures assumed to contain coal seams of
workable thickness will aqaregate about 1,100 square miles."43 The study
included coal deposits near Lay Creek on the west and Oak Creek on the
east, California Park to the north and the Flggfap Mountains to the south,
Over this vast area the investigators foﬁnd coals ranginq from a low grade
of Tignite to a high grade anthracité° The reconnaissance work was
hampered by the lack of development in the field, and that would not occur
until a railroad reached the Yampa Valley. Despite the difficultieg, Hill
was optimistic fof “the agricu]tural and qrazinqg resources of the region,
coupled with the superior quality and variety of the coals and the
existence of a practicable route for a through line of road,'have already
attracted the attention of railway men, "4%

The nateway to the reqion,‘Gore Canyon, was claimed by the Denver and
Rio Grande, Burlington, Denver Utah and Pacific, and the Union Pacific.,%°
Those railroads plus the Colorado Midland and Santa Fe were in a desperate
battle over domain and access to the Pacific. Although most of the direct
struaale was between the Colorado Midland and the Rio Grande along the
Colorado River, the Eoute through the Yampa Valley loomed large in the
background. |

One of Colorado's more important families arrived in the Yampa Valley
in 1889 when Sam Cary established his homestead near Hayden. At the time
Robert and John Cary were active in hardware, mining, smelting and other
businesses at Leadville. Supported by the fortune gained in the minfng
reqgion the Carys purchased ranches in the Yampa Valley until they were
amonq the largest in the region. On the ranch they experimented with

livestock and crops. They also built fabulous homes on the ranch where
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they entertained numerous "VIPs" including the Crown Prince of Belqium.46
Although the full extent of the Cary's involwvement in Yampa Valley coal
activities is not clear, it is clear that they were deeply involved in the
building of the Moffat Railroad and the orcanization of the West Hayden
town site,

While the Cary family was establishing their ranch, other important
people were being connected to Routt County. vArtic]es of Incorporation
were filed at Leadville in 1893 for the Rocky Mountain Coal and Iron
Company which planned to mine coal in several counties including Routt,
Among the organizers were John C. Osgdod and G, H. Prentiss.47 "0Osgood
later controlled the Victor American mines which operated the Pinnacle and
Wadage mines in Rputt County, The Prentiss family name fs connected with the
actual opening of the coal mines on Oak Creek including the Pinnacle and
Keystone mines. When one considers how companies gained contro] of large
sections of coal land at this périod of our nation's history, suspicions
of secret activities arise,

Congress passed an act in 1873 which provided for the transfer of coal
land into private hands. Under the law a person could obtain 160 acres and
associations could take 360 acres of coal tand for $10 per acre if a
completed railroad was more than fifteen miles away. The same Iand would
cost $20 if the railway was closer. Under the Taw 11tt1é Tand was sold as
coal land, The size of the claim was too small to attract economical |
mining, thus firms that planned to spend large amounts of money to build a
railroad and open mines purchased land gained under the homestead act.,
"Dummy entrymen" were often used to establish the claims. “Legitimate
business could not be fostered by Taw which did not lend itsé]f to
profitable deve]opment.“48 After the turn of the century fhé federal

government began leaal actions to recover coal land they claimed was
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~gained by fraudulent use of dummy entrymen. The case against the Burgess

tract, part of the Pinnacle Mine, dated back to 1893, the same year the
49

Rocky Mountain Coal and Iron Company organized to mine Routt County coal.

The depression was becoming a thing of the past and Colorado was
prospering from the gold mihing activity at Cripple Creek by the summer of
1896 when William G. and Anne Evans journeyed into northwestern Colorado,
In the Yampa Valley Evans found "immeasurable fields of rich soil, millions
of acres of ungrazed grassland, unexplored beds of coal, and whole ranges
of virgin timberland--an empire unrealized."®® Evans was soon stirring the
blood of Moffat to realize his long dream of building a railroad directly
west from Denver. | |

Moffat and Evans Qere not the only ones interested in developing the

empire, The Steamboat Pilot for October 27, 1897, reported that J. C.

Teller, nephew of the wealthy Senator H. M. Teller, was at Fort Steele,
Wyoming, Tooking over the possib%]ities of building south to Saratoga and
Grand Encampment, Wyoming, and into Middle Park, Colorado, via the Hahns
Peak and Columbine mining districts. Later that year Routt County learned
that the Utah Central was considering building east from Salt Lake City to
the gilsonite beds along the Colorado-Utah line. To build on into
northwestern Colorado was an easy step551 Early in 1898 knowledgeable
people were speculating that the construction of the Colorado and
Northwestern from Bod]der to Ward, Colorado, was a ploy before the line
announced its real purpose to build into the northwestern part of the
state. The secret action was necessary, folks believed, because "a tacit,
if not actual, agreement not to build westward exists among all the big
plains lines practically terminating ai Denver."®? But the Burlington,
Santa Fe, Missouri Pacific, or Rock Island were interested in occupying an

area larger than many of the eastern states. In 1900 the Burlington, Union
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Pacific, and W, A, Clark's Utah Railroad were surveying routes into the
vast empire that beckoned.

Northwestern Colorado offered much to men of energy and vision. The
gilsonite beds were located in the Tate 1870s by Samuel Gilson and used
for sealing barrels and asphalt. Althouch there had been years of planning
to build a railroad to the field and develop the area, the obstacles were
so many that nothing of significance was accomplished until after the turn
of the century. The gilsonite beds were valued at over a billion dollars
by the federal government in 1897. After publication of the federal
report, gilsonite alone could stir the imagination of ambitious men,53 But
it did not stand alone. In 1897 the Royal Flush and Tbm Thumb mines in the
Hahns Peak district began working high paying o%e. This brought new 1life
to the old gold mining distfict. The developments were promptly reported
by local newspapers. Near Steamboat Springs a high quaiity onyx was
discovered. And the most excit{nq new discovery was copper primarily in the
Battle Lake and North Park areas. But Copper Ridge near Steamboat Springs
drew considerable attention.®% On the Colorado River near McCoy, Colorado,
another deposit of copper was located. At the Copper King Mine, later to
be Copper Spur on the Moffat Road, J. J. Hagerman and F, G. Wipp invested
considerable amounts of money. They installed the first gasoline engine in
Routt County--a 25 horse‘power engine forbthe mine's hoist. Hagerman we
met earlier with the Colorado Midland; W.,p was a wealthy Crihp]e Creek
mine operator. Near the Copper King was the America Mine which also held
great promise.55 Accompanying the qgilsonite, onyx, go]d, silver, and
copper excitemeﬁt was interest in coal and oil. The Yampa Coalfield was
estimated in 1899 to cover 1,250,000 acres, "or more than the b]éck diamond
wealth of Pennsy]vania.“56

By 1900 men of influence and power becan to visit Routt County.
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During the sprina Arthur Willett and L.FF. Dawson vacationed in the region.
Dawson and Willett were associated with N. P. Hi1l, E. G, Kindred and

C. R. Barnard in the Routt County Investment Company. This company was
especially interested in oil, coal and mineral 1ands.57 N. P. Hill was

58 In JUne a man who had

involved in a Florence, Colorado, 0i1 business,
made and lost and made again several fortunes in Colorado mining, B. Clark
Wheeler, made a hurried trip from Aspen to Routt County. He collected
several specimans of copper, coal and oil which he exhibited at the
Republican National Convention ih Phi]ade]phia.59

Three or four miles north of the stage road on Tow Creek, 0il issued
from the ground with the water of a large spring. For years residents of.
the county had skimmed the oil from the water to obtain lubricants.b0 1In
1900 these 0il springs were drawing tﬁe attention of outside men. By
Auaust, Dawsoh; Hi1l and associates had oraanized the Routt County
Improvement Company. This compény controlled 4,000 acres of oil and 10,000
acres of coal land. On the William Hitchen ranch about six miles west of
Steamboat Springs they drilled an oil well. At the same time B. Clark
Wheeler and friends were establishing themselves on Tands adjacent to the
Improvement Company. A third firm was the Northwestern 0i1 and Coal
Company which leased from a Steamboat Springs banker, F. E. Milner, a
ranch west of the Hitchen property. The oil lease included some promising
coal 1and°6] Near the Milner land was Coalview, so named because a large
vein is featured on the south bank of the Yampa River in clear view of any
traveler on the highway. |

The third company to enter the field was the Colorado and California
0i1 Company. This company controlled 3,600 acres of 0il land in Routt

County and did extensive work in Rio Blanco County., While picking up their

0il land they also acquired 320 acres of anthracite ]and.62 Durinag the
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years 1900-1901 several o0il companies were oraanized, and wells were
drilled near Tow Creekj West of Hayden ‘and on Hunt Creek northwest of
Yampa, Colorado. Part of the wells did produce 0il and the Northwestern
0i1 and Coal Company did install a pump in one of their wells. But the
big activity was coal.

In the late 1890s Sam Adams and Dr. A. A. Johnson came to Steamboat
Springs and began acquiring coal lands for their eastern investors. Soon
the map of the county showed lands owned by the Yellow Jacket Coal Company,
Toponas Coal and Land Company, E]khead Anthracite Coal Company, Co]orado‘

Anthracite Coal Company, Wisconsin Coal Mines, and others.
’ . e

/

In the fall of 1900, G. H. Smedley applied‘tee%hethWQWeﬁ Steamboat
Springs for a franchise to sell e]ectricity in the commum‘ty.63 »After
receiving the franchise, Smedley built his electrical generation plant
which was fired by coai from the Yampa Valley Electric Mine. The mine was
located on Oak Creek where the Arrowhead Mine was later developed,
Although the dip of the coal was very steep which hampered miﬁing and the
coal had to be hauled sevaka1 miles by wagon before it reached the
generators, the project pfoved that Yampa Valley coal was an excellent
steam coal. A1l that remained was to build a railroad to haui tHe¢fue] to

!

the market.
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CHAPTER II
AN EMPIRE UNREALIZED

In February 1902 David H. Moffat, Jr. sent a telegram to William G.
Evans and Gerald Hughes in New York City tellina them to "Return at once,
I have decided fo build a steam railroad from Denver to Salt Lake City."]
Why did he wish to build a railroad that was sure to bring all the weight
of powerful eastern men down on his head? When the announcement was made
Moffat was 63 yeérs old., He had risen to‘great social heights and material
wealth, Most ofihis old associates were dead or retired. It was the
custom for men of his age and position to quietly endow universities,
libraries and civic projects. No one would have blamed him if he had
retired to enjoy the fruits of his life's labor.

Moffat, an old veteran of western railroad wars, had played a hand in
the Denver Pacific, Boulder Va]]éy, Denver & Rio Grande, South Park &
Pacific, Colorado Southern, and numerous lesser railroads. During his
years of railroading he had caused numerous surveys to be made across the
Front Range., He was well informed of the physical and financial dangers of
building a railroad over the mountains., He also knew of the agreement made
among powerful railroad interests not to enter the region between the Rio
Grande and Union Pacific Railroads. To avoid the wrath for some time he
had been using various ploys to mask his movement, In fact in February
1902 Evans and Hughes were in New York raising money for one of the ploys,
Moffat's plan was risky and complex. To gain the west coast Moffat planned
to build to Salt Lake City, Utah, where the railroad would connect with the
Clark Road which continued on to Los Angeles, California. However, in July
1902 Edward H, Harriman purchased Clark's railway. This panicked most of

Moffat's supporters, and it was not too late for him to back out; but



An Empire Unrealized 24

Moffat continued'wfth his project.2 Why?

Moffat was a practical man who had mastered the hard ways of the
business world of his day. He was also a dreamer who could dream big
dreams and work to make those dreéms a rea1ity.‘ During the earlier years
Moffat had often worked with John Evans to make Denver a leading city. But
John was gone and in his stead was William. In 1896 William and his sister
Anne Evans had visited northwestern Co]orado. After the vacation Evans
encouraged Moffat-to buiid'a railfoad directly west from Denver. Evans
could also have big dreams. When the western railroad projects first began
in Colorado, Bela M, Hughes, a close associate of William H. Russell of
Pony Express fame, had traveled with Lt. E. L. Berthoud as they surveyed a
railroad route west from Denver. He also in 1865 surveyed the route from
Salt Lake City, Utah, eastward through the Yampa Valley. Afterwards Hughes
had played a vital role in building Denver as the "Queen City of the
Rockies." By 1902 Gerald Hughes'had taken the torch., Soon after Moffat's
exciting announcement H, A, Sumner joined the battle to force a railroad
over the mountains. Sumner knew what he was abbut. He had been locating
engineer for several railroads including the attempt by the Burlington to
cross the mountains via the South Boulder Canyon and Rollins Pass route.
Why build the railroad? Moffat, Evans, Hughes, Sumner, and others believed
that northwestern Colorado was an empire unrea]iied and they set about
buildina an empire.

After Bels. Hughes® survey there were several quiet looks into the
area's untapped treasures., The start of railroad construction began a
period of open inspection of the Yampa Coalfield. A number of experts
inspected and réported on the coal measures and their findings were
publically heralded. In order to see the reqion as they did, using our

imaginations, we take ourselves back through time. We.will observe the
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findings of that aeneration and not encumber ourselves with facts learned
by later generations. The time for debating the merits between older and
more recent theories will have to wait.

On a p]easanf summer day we alight from the train at Wolcott, Colorado.
After we are quickly introduced to our host and stage driver a few
pleasantries are passed and we board the staqe for the long ride to the
Yampa Coalfield. The road leads over a steep divide between the Eagle and
Grand (Colorado) rivers, At the Grand River the red dirt and rocks of
ancient deserts are evident. From the river we begin the climb Up Red Dirt
Hill towards Egeria Park, As the coach makes its way, the travelers are
sped through a region deeply scarred from a violent geological past.

After reaching the crest of the hill, the road leads down to Egeria
Creek and up the gentle arade until it reaches the summit of Five Pine
Mesa. From this vantage point many of the features of the upper Yampa
Valley can be identified. To thé west is the snow laced F]é}ﬂgp Mountains.
Although their tops reach timberline, they do not have the rugged peaks of
most Colorado mountains. The crown of the F]aé%Zps is covered with igneous
rocks from a great lava flow, Near the center a large glacial valley
forces its way into the mountains. In that valley is Coé] Creek where some
coal veins were inspected and claimed as early as 1889. The eastern edge
of the Yampa Valley is defined by Green Ridge with its‘Ziéé;bévidence of
volcanic activity. Some twenty miles to the north is a long ridge covered
with scrub oaks that clearly define the boundary of Egeria Park. From Five
Pine Mesa the road leads across open saqebrusﬁ country to the community of
Yampa. As we travel we see the remains of extensive volcanic activity.
There is Sleepina Lion Rock, Finger Rock, Eagle Rocks, Big Butte, and Little

Butte. Now we pass the Devil's Grave north of Yampa where the tell tale

marks of the Crectaceous Period become readily apparent, but this region is
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too old for coé1 beariﬁq stratas. Where the Yampa River turns sharply to

wind its way between Green Ridge and Thorp Mountain, we take a road over a

low divide and dbwn to Oak Creek. Setting well up Oak Hills from the creek,

we find the James»mines. Here we meet Professor Weston who will guide us

through his 1903 inspection of the Yampa Coalfield,
In February 1903 the highly respected mining engineer William Weston

visited the James mines as he inspected the coalfield for the Denver Northwestern

and Pacific. Weston found that James was working two seams of coal. One

seam was twelve feet high. The other seam, across the gulch, had five feet

of blacksmith coal., By making his inspection during the winter Weston found

the answer to the vité1 question: Could the mine be worked during the winter?

That winter James was mining coal and local residents were hauling it to Yampa.3
By 1903 large investors owned strateaically located coal mines. The

James mines were owned by the Denver and Northwestern Fuel Company. Next

down Oak Creek was the Shuster ane owned by the Moffat Railroad. The

mining property was adjacent to Shuster's ranch where a group of men from

Leadville and Cripple Creek, Colorado, established the Oak Creek Town

Company, Between the Shuster and James mihes was the Walker prospect. The

prospect had peacock coal of excellent quality. Below the Shuster Mine was

the Eller Mine owned by S. M. Perry, a trustee of the Denver Northwestern |

and Pacific Railroad. Nearby was the Myers Mine which had been discovered |

initially during a hunting trip. While hunting on Oak Hills Henry Myers

wounded a deer, The animal tried to escape through the brush, but Myers

followed close behind. The chase crossed an outcropping of céa]s and it

was here that the Myers family later opened their mine.4
On down Oak Creek was the Chambers Mine. Lauren Miller Chamberé was

born to Joseph and Cynthia Chambers on October 26, 1874, at Waverly, lowa.

After receiving his basic education at Waverly he entered Iowa State



An Empire Unrealized : _ 27

College (Uhivérsity) in 1898. MWhile earning a degree in mining engineering
he starred as a quard on the football team. In 1901 he married Hazel L.
Bearshear and moved to Denver where he was employed by the Northern Coal
Company. Soon hé was ushered off to Routt County where he eétab]ished a
coal claim and looked after the interests of the Juniper Coal Company.
Later he became superintendent of the Juniper Mine. During the early years
of opening the Yampa Coalfield, Chambers was also'superintendent of the
Morrison Coal Company and the McKinley Coal Company. These mines were near
the old James'property; Later he was superintendent of the Haybro Mine.
Owners of the Haybro Mine were the major stockholders in the Juniper Mine,
When the Juniper closed in 1914 the buildinqgs were moved to Haybro. Thus
Chambers played an important role as dummy entryman and coal mine developer.
He passed away in 1931 while workina on a Mississippi River flood control
project.5

Weston visited the coa]fiefd to determine the quality of the coal. He
was looking for thick, pure veins of coal that could be economically worked.
The higher the carbon éontent the better the fuel. Routt County coal
ranges from approximate]yAZO percent waste to over 55 percent waste--ash,
moisture, volatile matter, su]phur,.etc. At the James Mine, Weston's
samples showed that the coal in the five foot seam had a moisture content
of 3.50 percent, a volatile matter content of 32.00 percent, an ash content
of 4,50 percent and a fixed carbon content of 60.00 percent. In the twelve
foot seam the coal contained 3,00 percent moisture, 37.00 percent volatile
matter, 4,50 percent ash, and 55.50 percent fixed carbon. William P.
Headden visited the James Mine in 1907 and found the twelve foot seam to be
a fourteen foot seam and the quality of coal slightly improved. The air
dried coal had a BTU of 12,758 and the pure coal's BTU was 13,802 with a

0.521 percent sulphur content. That was high quality coal in a large vein.6
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The waqoﬁ‘road that climbed Oak Hills from the Shuster Mine led over
the divide and down Egeria Gulch (later Mule Gulch) to Ben Male's ranch on
Trout Creek. On the ridge above Male's home appear the massive Trout Creek
sandstone formation. The formation runs in a northwesterly diréction
establishing a readily visible landmark which separates two of the three
coal series., The coal below the Trout Creek sandstone is in the lower
series and the oldest beds. N, M. Fenneman and Hoyt S. Gale of the U. S.
Geological Survey, 1906, found the coal in Male's Mine to be eight feet
thick; however, the upper three feet had been left for roof. An near the
crest of the divide between Oak Creek and Trout Creek the coal deposits of
the middle series were known to exist. On Tower Trout Creek near the Eddy °
post office several prospects were opened and the Jones Mine showed signs
of extensive work. In the area the formations were broken and numerous
faults occurred which made it very difficult to locate the lower strata of
coal.’ |

From Trout Creek the road led over another sharp divide and down to
Middle Creek. Where the road crossed the steam near the old Dunkley road
intersection an outcropping of coal from the middle series was easily seen.
By following down Middle Creek it was possible to reach the Hutchinson
mines., The Hutchinson family worked a nine foot six inch seam. Close by
there were prospects in other larage veins of the middle coal qroup.

By moving to the west, Twentymile Park opens to the traveler. Across
the park in clear view’ié the massive light colored_formation of the
Twentymile sandstone. The formation runs towards the north andfigwreadily
recognizable. The Twentymile sandstone marks the division between the |
middle and upper coal stratas. Within Twentymile Park along Foidel Canyon
numerous coal outcroppings were présent. On Fish Creek the Toponas Coal

and Land Company acquired large tracts of land and opened a large seam
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measuring fourteen feet thick., Weston found the coal containedf4;50
percent moisture, 39.20vpercent volatile matter, 2.30 percent ash, and
55.80 percent fixed carbon.8 |
About one-half mile south of the Toponas Coa] and Land Company mines
Fish Creek enters a canyon that breaches the Williams Mountains. The rangé
is lower than many of the mountains further south, but despite the lack of
impressive size the Williams Mountains have their unique characteristics.
The mountains run counter to the coal ranges and stream courses of
Twentymile Park thus slicing the coal beds and turning them up until they
are nearly vertical. Here the Yampa Coalfield terminates. From several
prominent points the lay of the land west of Oak Creek is easily gleanedx‘
There are numerous divides and by using these divides early geoloqists and
mining engineers separated the coal field into sections: Oak Creek, Trout
Creek, Twentymile Park, Wolf Creek, Saage and Dry Creeks, Williams Fork,
Craig (upper and lower), w1111haﬁ (at Lay), Pilot Knob anthracite and the
Flat Top Mountains. It is obvious that the coal beds "have been subject to
strong earth pressure, which has folded up in long anticlines and synclines
the coal measures with the other formations." Accompanying the evidences
;qf powerful earth movements were the-dikes and massive volcanic remains.

),‘(
ITese forces changed the coal from a lTow grade lignite to sub-bituminous,

bituminous, and anthraciteu9
On our imaginary journey we have qained our bearings and are ready to
meet an array of noted experts, After thanking Mr. Weston for his work we
hurry on. From Fish Creek the road leads west across Grassy, Sage, and Dry
creeks to the Hayden Gulch coal. In 1903, H. F. Parsons and Charles A.
Lidde11l inspected Hayden Gulch. Their work gives some insight into the

methods used to locate and evaluate coal. In Hayden Gulch near the

Williams Fork River all the coal beds are exposed and can be identified.
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In an old ant hill Paréons and Liddell found particles of coal that had
been exposed to weathering for some time, yet the particles remained shiny
indicating they resisted weathering, The coal in the outcropping proved
promising, 19The fact that it withstands the weather, breaks without dust,
burns with a Tong flame, has a glossy hard surface and is compacted, are

properties indicating it to be a bituminous grade," reported Parsons and
Liddel1. "They are properties required by a good steam coal so that it
will stand transportation. A disinteqrating lignite containing large
quantities of water and ash are of little value because it cannot be
handled and does not qive a proportionate amount of heat,"10

The scientists noted that the coal measures dipped with the drainage
"so that little trouble will be encountered from water.," The location of
the coal in the mountain sides would aive the necessary height from the
mine portals for a qravity powered tipple, "making it very inexpensive to
handle a large tonnage.," With the coal veins reaching the surface the
- expense of digging shafts and rock tunnels would be avoided,!!

Weston, Fenneman, and Gale examined the coalfield west of Hayden,
Colorado, but the other experts were Satisfied to stop at this point with.
an acknowledgement that the community was near the center of the field.
None of the men were interested in the upper coal series of'1ignite. The
eminent geologist Arthur Lakes made several trips through the Yampa Valley.
In 1905 he published reports on his studies of the coa1‘measures along the
Yampa River between Steamboat Springs and Hayden. "The general appearance
of the seams," Lakes observed, "as well as the coal they coniained, was
very strikina. They appeared to be remarkable free from ordinary
impurities, such as bone, bands of shale, etc., and other foreign matter."”
The Wadge seam was eleven feet thick without a sign of impurities. "It

[was] one mass of qglittering, sparkling hard coal, an ideal coal seam."
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The twenty foot coa] seam located in the same general area was excellent
coal with a parting near the middle which would aliow "the seam to be
worked in two benches conveniently." The coal dipped gently into the
mountain a]]oWinq‘for easy mininag and no gas had been discovered in the
coal deposits.' “The field [was] admirably situated for accessibi]ity,

development and fransportation, concluded Lakes. "The seams [were] almost
ideal in their physical condiiion, quality and purity.“lz

After inspecting the coalfield in 1903, Parsons and Liddell observed
that Routt County "only awaits the construction of [railroads], the
installation of modern'maéhinery and western enterprise to be converted
into a couhtry, like the rest of Colorado, teeming with wealth and
activity."]3

The area which drew the most attention was the anthracite coal. In
1902 Etienne A, Ritter inspected the Yampa Coalfield., Ritter had studied
at the University of Geneva and fhe School of Mines of Paris; he had been
a member of the Geoloqgical Survey of France and Algeria. While in Europe
he had inspected mines across the continent. After coming to the United |
States, he inspected several mines throughout the west. Ritter had made a
special study of western coalfields. Based on his credentials, Ritter's
statements carried great weight with people who wanted to know about the
coal deposits of northwestern Colorado. After describing the geological
features of Pilot Knobh, Ritter explained that the Crawford tract, which was
the best developed, had four seams of coal. Two of the veins were
semimbitumihous and bituminous measuring six and seven feet thich. Two
veins were anthracite. One vein was three feet thick and another ten feet
thick, On the west side of Pilot Knob a few miles from the Crawford mines
were several prospects, one of which was in an anthracite vein five feet

high. The North, Middle, and South forks of Deep Creek cut through the



P SR I

An Empire Unrealized : 32

coal deposit along the east side of Pilot Knob. The outcroppings ranged
from lignite to anthracite coal. Although Ritter did not state the size of
the anthracite field in terms of square miles, he gave the impression that
the area wés extensive, In summing up his investigation he stated, "The
grade of the coal in many cases warrants belief in a bright'future for
these fields,"1*
Arthur Lakes back in 1889 wrote on the wonderful coal deposits in
Routt County. Several years later, 1903, he explained some of the prob]ems‘
of»determining the size of the anthracite field. "At various points along
the margin of [Pilot Knob[ the same anthracite, or other seams of like
nature have been opened by prospect holes. There 1s‘evident1y a
considerable area of this anthracite‘coal here," Lakes wrote. "How much,
however, is anthracite . . . it is not a present possible to tei], the
anthracite condition depending on the close proximity or not of the
accompanying intrusive sheet of 1avae"]5 Three years‘]ater Lakes commented,
“In this mountain [Pilot Knob) appear some puzzling anomalies. Coal in one
bart of the mountain may be changed to anthracite and in another pari under
apparently similar favorable conditions it remains unchangéd."]6 Estimates
of the size of the anthracite field rangéd from eight square miles to forty
square miles. lleston, who was closely associated with the Denver
Northwestern and Pacific, made the laranest estimate based on the size of the
igneous sheet that overlaid the coal and the distance between various
prospects and mines.]7

In 1900, the Ninth Biennial Report of the Inspector of Coal Mines:

State of Colorado estimated the value of the 1,200 acre Crawford anthracite

tract. "Assuming that three-fourths of this property is underlaid with a
fourteen foot anthracite seam, 17,424,000 tons could be extracted, at three

dollars per ton at the mine, it would net $52,272,000 for one seam." '8
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The total thickness of all the veins waslestimated at forty feet, but no
dollar value was placed on the entire coal value. Why bother? Fifty-two
mi]]ion, two hundréd and seventy-two thousand dollars was enough to excite
the 1maqination'§f anyone. Crawford's coal property was slightly less than
two square miles, The 1906 U. S. Geo]oqica1v5urvey reported, "The area
covered by this survey of the field is approximately ],200 square miles,

19 The total

and this is practically the extent of the Yampa coal field.'
vertical measurement of the workable coal as estimated by William P,
Headden was seventy-five feet., Fenneman and Gale estimated the field to
contain 39,000,000,000 tons of coal. R. L. Herrick believed that the field
contain 16,000,000,000 tons of workable coal.?O

The Yampa Coalfield contained meésures for a wide variety of uses.
Fenneman and Gale noted, "The success at the coal-testing plant at St.
Louis of expefiments in convertinag low-grade coals into producer-gas and
the utilization of this gas in a'qas engine was so pronounced that it seems
almost possible to look ahead to the time when the subbituminous coals and
even the lignites, will be utilized in this way for the hroduction of
power."21  Coal qasificatioh could make the Tow qrade deposits of the upper
series quite attractive. Besides coal, Routt County offered o0il, copper,
onyx, agold, silver, mineral hot springs, qilsonite, and agriculture. That
was enouah to launch a railroad into the empire of northwestern Colorado. ,

Ritter and others of his time recoanized the importance of aqriculture
and other minerals for the development of the reaion, but the coal deposits
were of pr{mary sianificance. Since lignite was being mined near Denver
and that production could be easily incf“easedB the success of the Yampa
Valley coal depended upon its hiah grade deposits "which [were] opened in
several localities."22 Evgn the superior quality coal would meet its

competitors., But many Teading men of the state believed "coal mining [had
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become] the leadina industrv of the state."23 The statistics supported
their contentioﬁ. The value of coal to the state indicated a bfiqht
future., The year before Colorado went into the deep economic depression
(1892) the annual value of the state's coal was 45,685,112, By 1900 the
annual va]uevof.the_coa] was neariy equal to that of the nrefdepression.'
In 1902, when Moffat announced his intentions to build the Dénver
Northwestern and Pacific, the annual value of Colorado coal was'$8,397,812.,‘
In 190;, Oak Creek's first year‘of production, the annual value of the
state's coal was $]4;296,012. Coal at the mine sold for an éveraqe of
$1.37 per ton in 1892 and for $1.33 per ton in 1909. Coal production and
value had increased at a tremendous rade. In 1872 there were 68,540 tons
of coal produced in Coiorado; in 1882 some 1,061,479 tons were produced; in
1892 3,510,830 tons were produced;'in 1902 the per annum production stood at
7,401,343 tons; énd in 1909 there were 10,716,936 tons of coal produced.
The reports of the state coal miﬁe inspectors for these years show numerous
new mines openina. In some instances powerful eastern investors backed
large minina companies. For example, near Trinidad, Colorado, James A.
Ownbey developed a large tract of coal land for powerful banker J. P.
Morgan and Santa Fe railroad executive B, P, Cheney.24

An open letter from Weston to W, A. Deuel, General Manager of the
Denver Northwestern and Pacific makes it quite clear that the railroad
people had aiven deep thouaht to the prospects of marketing Routt County
coal, The coal field was near the geographic center of the region west of
the Mississippi, a region noted for poor quality coal and ready markets.
When considering the quality of western coal, F. V. Hayden believed that in
the western states, "There is no true coal at a11."25 But the Moffat
railroad people believed they Wou1d open an unique mining reqion with the

only anthracite and semi-anthracite on the Pacific slope and large amounts
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of high quaTity bituminous coa1; In Colorado it was assumed that the
anthracite and bituminous coals would totally defeat the lignite coals.
from the northern field.

The smoq problem in Denver was serious enouah in the early 1900s that
the city was considering a smoke ordinance. If the ordinance passed,
Weston be]ie?ed “the markets . . . for anthracites and semi-anthracites
would be still further strenqthened,"2® 0On the plains thousands of new
homesteaders, who were practicing the new methods of dry-land farming,
Wodid“oﬁén another larqge market for coal.

The officials of the Denver Northwestern and Pacific believed Yampa
Valley coal had a briaht future: east of Denver the bituminous coals could
be successfully marketed in Kansas City and Omaha. Anthracite could be
marketed further east. On the west coast where over 90 percent of the coal
was imported, it was hoped Routt County coals would command a high price in
the leading communities. Steam Ehips that laraely depended upon coals from
Scotland and Wales would readily use Yampa Valley bituminous. The Uintah
Basin of Utah was being settled at the same time the railroad was being
constructed, and the reqidn'150 miles long and 100 miles wide promised
substantial markets for coal., The hematite deposits of the Uintah and
Wahsatch Ranges held the prospects for developina a major steel industry,
Although Weston did not offer any projected tonnage figures for coal
shipments west from the Yampa Valley, he noted that the market area east to
the Missouri River consumed 30,000 tons of coal per day. He believed that
northwestern Colorado coals had a potential market for 10,000,000 tons per

ear
éﬁy at a minimum of 3,000,000 tons per year. If the coal only commanded

one=-third of the Denver market, some 2,000 tons per day would be so]d.z‘7
~ The promoters of northwestern Colorado coal had checked their product and

market and were sure of their facts--for them the construction of the



An Empire Unrealized . - 36

mountain railroad was fully justified.

Knowing about the high quality coal and its potential markets did not
answer another of the basic questions. "Everybody of common sense [knew]
that an isolated 160 acres of land owned by a private individual could not
become a producer of coa]."28 The amount of coal in the small tract would
not pay the cost of devé]op{ng ihe‘mine and constructing d railroad. To
gain control of subétantia] acres of coal, several investment companies
were organized. During the fiscal year ending in June 1903, thé federal
land office at Glenwood Springs reported a record sales of Routt County
coal Tands, At the price of $10 per acre the federal government had
received $250,000 for approximately 25,000 acres.29 In Auqust, T. W.

Hewitt, Gus Appleman, Orville Dart, and a reporter from the Yampa Leader

traveled from Oak Creek abross Twentymile Park examining the coalfield and
potential coal investments. The reporter described how the party traveled
from the James Mine and the JohnlLarkins home on Oak Creek over the
mountains filled with coal. "Nearly all of this land has been filed on,"
wrote the reporter, "yet we did not see a single prospect hole." The
reporter also expressed his'disapprové1, but there was little secrecy in
what was occurring,30

Samuel (. Adams came to Routt County in the late 1890s where he made a
special study of the coal and minerals. In 1901 he and Charles Leckenby
organized a real estate company interested in coal, 0il, town and ranch

properties.31 In a special edition of the Steamboat Pilot dated March 1903

a full page was used to advertise the Routt County Investment Company.

A. L. Pollard was president of the company and Adams, the local
representative and probably the author of the artic]eskfrankly stated the
purpose of the company: "The object of the company is to provide high

class investments in MNorthwestern Colorado and to secure capital to develop
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the coal, mineral and other resources which will prove lucrative
investments with the completion of the new réilroad." The company was
owned by people from Iowa, Denver, and Routt County, and it had already
spent larcge sums 6f money, The investment firm had organized several
companies "and secure[d] posseésion of the cream of the soft and coking
coal lands in the_county."32 Adams was not misleading anyone. Pollard was
president of the Denver and Northwestern Fuel Company. The company owned
the James Mine and several acfes on Oak Creek; they also had large holdings
on Trout Creek -south of the Eddy post office.33
In 1900 while Adams and his associates were busy gaining control over
coal lands, another agroup of investors oraanized the Elkhead Anthracite
Coal Company and did extensive work of exposing and developing various coal
veins.3% Professor A; A. Johnson formerly of the University of Wyoming
moved to Steamboat Springs where 1n‘1905 he paid $80,000 for David Morgan's
800 acres of anthracite coal neér Pilot Knob. Johnson was actinq as agent
for the Yampa Fuel and Iron Company headed by B. L. Dorsey and friends from

Iowa, Wisconsin and Missduri.35 In 1906 the Steamboat Pilot reported,

"Mr, Dorsey was the first outside capitalist to realize the possibilities
of Routt county as a coal country." The same paper reported that Dorsey
had paid $200,000 for the Crawford anthracite tract (Elkhead Anthracite).
It was aslo reported that Dorsey had orqahized a $10,000,000 corporation
and had control, either by ownership or option, of 75,000 acres of coal
lands.30 The acreaqe seems to be exaaqaerated, but the Yampa Fuel and Iron
Company did control vast amounts of Routt County coal. |

There were other large coal companies claiming valuable property. The
Toponas Coal and Land Company had large holdings in Twentymile Park on Fish

37

Creek; the company also was connected to Johnson and probably Dorsey. At

Lay, Colorado, Mr, and Mrs, A, G, W.1lihan, old timers in the region, had
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helped the Wisconsin Fuel and Minina Company nain control of several acres
of excellent coa] land. Some of the principals in the Yampa Fuel and Iron
Company were from Mﬂwaukee.38
Alonag with thé larger companies there were smél] firms attemptinq.to

get in on a good thing. In January 1902 the Yellow Jacket an] Company was
organized., Within a few months it was reorganized into the American Fuel
and Iron Company. The firm's leader was Dr. E. A. Hewitt of Denver and
many of the investors were school teachers in the Denver area. Their land
holdings were in the neighborhood of the Yampa Valley Electric Mine on Oak
Creek, At the time of organization there was a question of the company's
financial ability to deveTop the property. Amona other small companies was
the Colorado Anthracite Coal Company which controlled 3,000 acres of the
Shelton tract and was owned by a aroup from Boulder, Colorado. A group of
Greeley, Co]orado, men controlled 1,500 acres of property west of Craig,
Colorado. The land was along thé Yampa River near the mouth of the
Williams Fork River. Thus their holdings were in the same area that David
and Don Taylor mined blacksmith coal during the ]8905039

How were the companfes gaining control of large tracts of coal 1énd
when the federal law restricted 160 acres to an individual and 320 acres to

i

an association when filing? The companies were using “dummy entrymen," i.e.,
individuals were hired to claim and prove up on the land. Since

agricultural land could be gained by a free homestead without paying the

$10 per acre charged for coal land, few people dug prospect holes and

located coal. They knew what they were about. Folks in frontier areas
deperately needed roads, schools and other services and when land was
transferred to private ownership, it "pays taxes and has a chance of some

day being deve]oped."40 Many people in Routt County readily aqreed with

the Steamboat Pilot when it stated, "For the way land affairs were being
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conducted at that time there was little or no secret about the matter and

ndl

it was considered leqgitimate. “While considering the Coal Lands Act of

1873 in his book, Qur Landed Heritage, Roy M. Robbins stated, "Legitimate

business could not be fostered by law which did not lend itself to
profitable deVe]opment."42

People in Routt County watched with anxious expectations as the Moffat
Road labored through South Boulder Canyon and over the Continental Divide.
The tempo of life along the railroad survey increased as the actual railroad

moved closer, By the time construction was through Gore Canyon, a11 things

seemed possible. The editor of the Yampa Leader in 1906 bo]d]y'announced,

“Immense Anthracite . . . Deposit Known to Exist Within Fourteen Miles of
the Town of Yampa."43 The field was supposed to be larger than the
anthracite field at Pilot Knob, much more accessible by rail and closer to
the Denver market. The year before some coal prospeéting and development
work was done in the Flat Top Moﬁntains. Under the ancient lava beds

prospectors had located the valuable coal which had been hidden by rock

slides and debris.

Adding to the excitement was a statement attributed to Hoyt S. Gale of
the U, S. Geological survey. He reportedly said he was "positive that the
entire White River plateau [was] underlaid with enormous deposits of
anthracite coal.“44 The ekcitement stirred up some activity. In 1907 the
Yampa Leader reported that J. J. Hostettler was working a diamond drill
prospecting for coal near the head of Watson Creek.?® The bubble passed
suddenly and little was heard of anthracite coal in the Flat Tops after
1907,

The boom excitement reached a faster pace wheh Dorsey started railroad
surveys from the Moffat Railroad survey at Hayden and Steamboat Springs to

the anthracite field at Pilot Knob., Caught up in the excitement, Hayden,
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Colorado, became quite a town with a newspaper and several new businesses,

In June 1903, Harry C. Hood started publishing the Routt County Republican.
A few months earlier the Hayden Coal Company with a capital stock of‘
$500,000 had been organized. The big news was that Robert J. Cary, Sr. and
Moffat had agreed that the first permanent terminal of the railroad would
be at Hayden. On the basis of the agreement the Carys spent substantial
amounts developing West Hayden where it was intended to have a large
rai]road yards and a branch line running north to the anthracite field and
a second branch line running south into the Sace Creek, Dry Creek and
Hayden Gulch reqion. To add to the luster of the town was the hope of
aetting the county seat. To promote the Yampa Coalfield, at their ranch
west of Hayden, the Carys entertained some very important people from France
and Belgium including the Crown Prince of Belgium. For folks accustomed to
the frontier the presence of the dignitaries meant something very exciting
was "in the wind,"46

While Hayden was preparing for a big boom, residents of Steamboat
Springs were busy preparing for prosperous development. In the community
new businesses were erected and older firms were refurbisheng; Busineésmen
were sure the town would become a major center for mining, ranching and
logging. Investors were certain the numerous hot springs and mineral
springs would attract tourists and people seeking medicinal waters.

The real center of activity was occurring at the old Ben Mahoney Mine
and ranch on Oak Creek. Mahoney's property had been purchased by a man
named Shuster. The progression of events éhifted to Ed Bell who had gained
a place in history as sheriff during the bitter 1903-1904 strike at Cripple
Creek, Sam Bell, D. C. Williams, John Sharpe, K. B. Wiley, Lou Parsons,

A. Rollestone of Cripple Creek and Ed Icholtz of Denver. These men

organized on November 21, 1906, the Oak Creek Town, Land, and Mining Company
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and purchased the Shuster ranch. In the late fall 6f 1907 a small aroup of
people set up tents along Oak Creek and began developing the town. By
February the town had Bell Merchandise store and Miss E, G, Pepple's
Mercantile store. In the Pepp]e store was a post office althouah it was .
not officia]]yvrecognized. In April 1908 some twenty-one voters apprdved
the incorporation of the town of Oak Creek. It was the upstart town that
soon became the center of activity in Routt County.47

As soon as winter turned to spring and allowed construction the town
boom began, It was spurred on by mine development and railroad

construction. In June the town of Oak Creek boasted of having a newspaper,

two aeneral stores, "a hotel, lumber yard, short order restaurant, two
w48

barber shops, billard hall, two saloons, laundry, livery barn, and dairy.

A year later the Qak Creek Times truthfully acknowledged that a "genuine

Boom [was] on in Oak Creek." - At the time nearly 100 buildings were under
construction., The biggest prob]ém was qgetting enough material. Among
the numerous buildings needing materials were the school and Episcopal
Church., 0Oak Creek expected to be one of the most modern communities; with
electrical power generated at the Oak Hills Mine the town fathers planned
to have electricity in town,,49 |
Prior to the organization of Oak Creek the main road followed the
Yampa River and avoided the Oak Creek Canyon. By 1909 the road from
Hugains on the main thoroughfare to Oak Creek was being improved and a new
road was built south of the town of Oak Creek along the stream of Oak Creek
past the James and Larkins mines to the Yampa-Pinnacle-Dunkley road. From
Oak Creek another road climbed Oak Hills and entered the Trout Creek and
Twentymile Park reqion. fhus Oék Creek was convenient for travel except to

Steamboat Springs. There was only one'sour note in the Oak Creek highway

system: the wagon road down the stream was closed by the county
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commissioners in response to a request by the Oak Hills-Perry Mine. It was
arqued that the road going through theAmiddle of the mine property wod]d
hinder operatfon. The closing of the road forced the development of
another road over the brow of Thorp Mountain and down a gulch to the
Chambers ranch, This section of road had several steep pu]]sAthat

].50

discouraced trave

The Steamboat Pilot reported on February 13, 1907, that the Moffat

Railroad had aagreed to construct a yards, stockyards, and other facilities
at Oak Creek. And apparently there were some aqreements reached between
the railroad and the town builders. But the harmohy did not Tast lona.
The fiaht over the road down Oak Creek stirred hard feelings and the clash
of interests became bitter over railroad riaht-of-ways. Among the first
activities of the town company was to locate "lots" astride the railroad
survey., Some of the lots were sold; thus the railroad had to purchase high
cost town lots from several ownefs rather than Tow cost agricultural land.
The railroad brought suit acainst Ed Bell, president of the bak Creek Town,‘
Land, and Mining Company, and Miss Dorothy Snare who owned some of the
lots. Snare was hardly an innocent victim since she was a close'friend of
the Ed Bell family., Apparently the case was settled out of court and the
railroad aained its right-of-way., But both sides found ways to continue
the battle.®! The rai]road-fefused to put in a roundhouse or yards. For
several months there was no station or depot in Oak Creek. Without a
station, people had trouble gettina their railroad freight and catching the
passenger train.

The quarrel led to the railroad puttina their yards, roundhouse, and‘
other facilities needed to serve the mines at Wilson Siding some four miles
southeast of Oak Creek. Here the community of Phippsburg was developed,

Phippsburg was a combination railroad and mining camp. The Oak Hills Mine
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(or Perry Mine or Moffat Mine as it was‘often called) was owned by the
directors of the Moffat Railroad, and due to limited space for a mining
camp near the mine and the fight with Oak~Creek; the miners were housed at:
Phippsburag and commuted by rail.

Building the railroad over the Front Range and through Gore Canyon had
exacted a high toll, and "Moffat placed his hope [for success] 1n:pushing
the Denver Nofthwestern and Pacific into the coal fields of Oak Creek." To
help build the road, D, C. Dodage raised enouqgh money "to get rails laid

"5 Horthwestern Colorado

into the coal field and Steamboat Sprinocs,
farmers, ranchers and communities depended on the railroad to solve their
transportation problems, In the fina] analysis, the years of hard toiling--
workina, planning, and dreaming--for big shots and plain folks alike

depended upon the successful mining of a three mile stretch of land along

Oak Creek,

In 1908, Sam Perry, a trusfee of the Moffat Road, and his son Robert
"Bob" were very much aware of the importancé of the Oak Hills Mine. They
rose to the occasion and began developing the most modern coal mine for its
time in Colorado. Some months before the railroad arrived, the Perrys had
employed several men to drive tunnels so that a large force of miners
could beain work as soon as the railroad arrived. To move the coal out of
the mine a double track main haulage way was driven into the mountain 400
feet, To brina the cars out of the mine, the Perrys inéta]]ed the largest
hoist in the state; it weighed 280 tons and the crank shaft alone weighed
40 tons.®3 The hoist set on a concrete foundation which was novel for its
day. Since sand and aravel deposits were not near the mine, it was
necessary to build an elaborate rock crusher and pﬁiverize sandstone.,
Accompanyinq.the work in the mine'and at the hoist were numerous other tasks.

Another novelty of the time was a large corrugated steel warehouse.
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To house the men, several cottages were built near the mine and in
Phippsburg. At the mine a boardinqg house to handle 95 men was bg11t ahd
at Phippsburg another boarding house which was ehvisioned to accomodate 250
men was under construction in 1908. At the mine Sam Perry had a residence
built and for several years Bob Perry occupied the house. To furniéﬁ
electricity, four big boilers were installed and to raise Ehe big
smokestacks was an engineering feat in the frontier region. Steﬁs were
underway to install scales that could weigh railroad cars six at a time.
The Perry Mine, as the Oak Hills Mine was then called locally, was desiqgned
to be the bigoest mine in the state.54 |

Althouah the Perrys were leading the Oak Creek mining district, E. W.
McKinley, Sr. and son, E. S, Jr,, were actively developing the Routt
County Fuel Company property at the old James and Larkin mines. - The mine
sat well up on the hill and nearly a mile south of the railroad. In the
town of Oak Creek a tipple and gpur track were designed. From the tipple
to a bench it was necessary to build a lonqg incline gravity tram. Coal‘was
brought from the mine to the tram by a "dihky" engine. The Routt County
Fuel Company Mine, soon known locally as thejPinnac1e Mine, was no% as
large an operation as the Perry Mine, 2

In 1909 the McKinleys withdrew from Routt County Fuel and organized
the Yampa Valley Mine. About 1910 the McKinleys built a raiiroad from
Pallas up Oak Creek to their tipple at White City; however, for a couple of
years they used the Routt County tram and tipple to load coal. Because of
its Timited haulage system to the railroad, the Yampa Valley Mine was the
smallest mine at Oak Creek. To the north of the Perry Mine was the Juniper
Mine. Herea camp, power plant, tipple, scales, and tracks were built.

A tremendous amount of work still remainedAto be complieted at the

Parry Mine when the railroad reached the property in September, 1908; and
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the other mines had only begun development. However, the feat of reaching
the coalfield was enough to cause a celebration. When the first load of
coal reached Denver, there was a parade with all the trappings as a wagon

- loaded with Yampa Valley coal was taken to the Shirley Hotel for testina in
the furnaces. During’the ﬁe]ebrétion, I. B. A]]en, secretary of the
Shirley Investment Company, commented, "It cost over $10,000,000 to make
possible the brinaing of that car to this city."56 Allen could have added,
in 1881 Ezekie],SheTton'came to Routt County to locate coal for a railroad,
and finally in 1908 that dream was realized.

In the Yampa Valley, coal production increased dramatically. The
Yampa Coalfield produced 3,000 tons in 1908, The following year 92,154
tons of coal were marketed. In 1910 Oak Creek mines produced 254,467 tons
of coal. That year the Perry Mine produced 120,438 tons, the Pinnacle
Mine produced 77,949 tons, the Juniper Mine produced 43,249 tons, the
McKinley Mine produced 9,432 ton§9 and the James Mine (part of the
Pinnac1e—McKin]ey holdings) produced 3,003 tons of coal. On the shoulders
of the Perry, Pinnacle, Juniper, and McKinley mines rested the futuke of

an empire.57
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CHAPTER 111
THE FIGHT FOR EMPIRE

The dawn of the twentieth century ushered in great hopes for the
futﬁre. America was a major industria]vpower and the flood of new
inventions promised a life style freer from thé age old struggles against
grinding toil, hunger, and disease. It was a time when progress held
splendid promises.  The new century also offered new vistas for .gevernment
and political life as the Progressive Era bedan its run through history.
Amohq those who opposed the Proaressives were the giants of industry who
saw the new century as an opportunity to build empires Ofvstaqqerinq
proportions; FEdWard H. Harriman, George Gould, J. P, Morgan, James J.
Hi1l, and John D. Rockefeller had visions of empires controlled by
railroads, 0il, steel, and coal. Hill controlled the Great Northern,
Morgan the Northern Pacific, Harfiman the Union Pacific, and Gould and
Rockefeller the Missouri Pacific and Denver and Rio Grande railroads. Thus
the struggle in the west for dominancy was of immense proportions. -

The battle was complex and vicious. Moragan, Hill and Harriman clashed
in an expensive war over the Bur]inqton Railroad which controlled access to
Chicago for the Great Northern, Northern Pacific, and Union Pacific. The
result was the formation of the Northern Securities Company. Meanwhile,
feeling safe to proceed with his plans Harriman gained control of the
Central Pacific and Southern Pacific railroads. The deal eventually cost
$197,000900001 Harriman also took control of William A. Clark's San Pedvo,
Los Angeles, and Salt Lake Railroad. With the Oregon Short Line, the
Central Pacific, Clark's road, and the Southern Pacific, the owners of the
Union Pacific virtually controlled west coast freight.

Gould and Rockefeller gained control of the Missouri Pacific, Denver
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and Rio Grande and in 1901 purchased the Rio Grande Western and its
subsidiary the Utah Fuel Company with its coal land. At Salt Lake City
Harriman suCéessfu]ly b-ttled up Gould's contract with the west coast. To
escape the trap, Gould was forced to build the Western Pacific,2

While the giants of Wall Street were battlina for control of western
railroads, they were also enadaged in battles for control of the nation's
steel mills and coal deposits. In 1901 Moraan organized the United States
Steel Corporation with a capital stock bf nearly a billion dollars, and in
1907 the Tennessee Coal and Iron Company was added to the holdings. In
1902 Gould and Rockefeller countered by gaining control of the Colorado
Fuel and Iron with its vast acreages of coaL3 The Union Pacific also
controlled thousands of acres of Wyomina and Colorado coal lands. The
giants of western coal, steel and railroads were aware of the west coast's
need for coal and they contended over the markets.

We get a hint of the importance of coal to railroads by noting a few

statistics. Robert Athearn in his The Denver and Rio Grande Western

Railroad pointed out that during the depression of the 1890s, the D & R G's
"heaviest traffic was in coal and coke, 80 per.cent of which was carried
outside the state for sale.,"4 In Colorado in 1898 Gould's railroad served
coal mines in the followina counties: E1 Paso, one mine; Fremont, four
mines; Gunnison, three mines; Garfield, two mines; Los Animas, one mine;
La Plata, four mines; Mesa, one mine; Weld, two mines; Huerfano, eight
mines. At the same time Harriman's Union Pacific served the following
Colorado coal mines by counties: Boulder, eighteen mines; E1 Paso, one
mine: Las Animas, seven mines: Weld, two mines. The Denver & Rio Grande
and the Union Pacific combined served fifty-two Colorado coal mines, and
they would not look kindly on any railroad that threatened this va]uab1e'

source of revenue.5
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David H. Moffat announced in 1902 that he was going to build a
railroad directly west from Denver to Salt Lake City and the Pacific coast.
The railroad would help devé]opvvast coal'and iron resources and break the
monopoly of easterh power.b Harriman and Gould set out to destroy Moffat
and his Denver Northwestern and Pacific. Harriman's purchase of Clark's
railroad in July 1502 was a devastatind blow to Gould and Moffat alike.

The news of the purchase unnerved much of the eastern financial support for
the northwestern Colorado line. After making a quick trip to New York to
reassure his support, Moffat commented, "We have met active opposition from
the strong financial combination controlling the roads north of Denver. "0
Harriman and Gould Were able to dry up most of the eastern financial support
for the new 11né. “By God," replied Moffat to the pressure, "the road will
be built, if I have to go out and drive spikes myse1f."7 With the
acceptance of battle, Moffat charged into the fight.

The show down between Moffaf and Havrriman came in the fight over the
Gore Canyon. The Gore Canyon offered a water level passage through the
Gore Range and at Orestod a line could be built to the Rio Grande tracks at
Dotsero-~the Dotsero cutoff. If Moffat breached the canyon, a main line
west of Denver wou]d be virfua]?y assured even if Moffat and Gould were
both ruined. In 1903, Gould had demanded that Moffat share his survey
through the canyon with the Denver and Rio Grande. To this demand Moffat
refused, The principal contenders fully understood the importance of the
canyon. Back in the 1880s the Burlington had spent a large sum surveying
and planning a railroad through Gore Canyon and either to Dotsero or into
the Yampa Valley. As Moffat approached Gore Canyon, Morgan saw an
opportunityvto connect his Burlington line with the west coast. Thus the
fight for the canyon was of large moment to several important groups, but

Moffat was forced to stand alone aaainst Harriman§8
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To stop the construction of the Denver Northwestern and Pacific an
electric power company filed on dam sites at the mouth of Gore Canyon and
made moves toward organizing electric power companies to place dams in
Yampa Canyon between Steamboat Sprinas and Haydenland at other critical
points along the raiiroad survey, After a lona and costly court battle,
Charles J, Hughes, attorney for the Denver Northwestern and Pacific, was
able to prove the dam the New Century Power Company proposed to build at
the Gore Canyon was a fraud. Then the Department of Interior announced
that it planned a dam at Gore Canyon, and the federal Land Office at
Glenwood Springs conveniently misp1acéd the records of the Moffat survey.
Investigation proved that the mouth of.Gore Canyon was unsuitable for a
dam and the Interior Department had done an inadequate job of planning.
Finally President Theodore‘Roosevelt sent Carl Ewald to investigate the
matter. Roosevelt then called representatives from the Moffat Road and thé
Interior Department into his offfce. Roosevelt addressed members of the
Interior Department, "Oh, yes, you represent the power companies and the
opposition railroads."? Moffat had won the battle for Gore Canyon, but the
struggle for financial aid, the construcﬁion of the railroad over the
continental divide, and operating the railroad over the "Hill" had Teft him
unable to build beyond Yarmony on the Colorado River,

In December 1907, Col. D. C. Dodge, who had won fame and fortune in
Colorado railroads, traveled to the Yampa Valley with Sam Perry. Here
“Colonel Dodge saw the great unopened empire that Evans had seen in 1896."
The Steamboat Pilot for January 15, 1908, announced that David C. Dodge,
Thomas F. Walsh, John F. Campion, Lawrence C. Phipps, Sr., Henry M. Porter,
Charles Boettcher, Charles J, Hughes, Jr., William Byrd, and Samuel M.
Perry had organized the Denver-Steamboat Construction Company. The company

was to build the railroad from "Yarmony through the extensive coal fields
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of the Oak Hills district in Routt county to Steamboat Sprinags." When
Dodge visited the valley and saw the coél field he thought the railroad had
a chance of survivinqﬂ10

The arrival of the Denver Northwestern and Pacific at the Yampa
Coalfield in September 1908 was a areat moment for Oak Creek and Routt
County. The activities at the Perry Mine and the railroad seemed to assure
the promised boom. And the reaion around Oak Creek was already
experiencing a boom. But those folks who were knowledgeable of the actual
conditions realized that the prosperity was more apparent than real. The
railroad came very close to fo]ding before it reached the valley, and it
would take several qood revenue years before it would be able to build
further west than Steamboat Sprinas. Good revenue for the railroad required
vast shipments of coal from strong coal companies. How strong were the
mines? The coal mines had been orqanized in the time honored method for
that industry. But under President Theodore Roosevelt the rules of the
agame were markedly changed.

Roosevelt and the Progressives were deeply concerned with conservation
of natural resources and restriction of monopolistic powers of biq
corporations, The headlines of the June 13, 1906, edition of the Steamboat
Pilot read, "CONTROL--Government May Control Coal Land—-Afraid 0f Trust.,"
The article which followed explained that in a recent dispatch Roosevelt
had withdrawn from "entry of all government coal land preparatory to the
formulation of legislation that will perpetually insure their protection
against monopoly and combination."

The Steamboat Pilot for Auqust 8 announced, “"Confirmation has been

received of the withdrawal from entry of a large tract of land in Routt
county. It includes some of the best coal Tands and some agricultural

aground.” The same newspaper bitterly announced on October 24 that the
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qovernmenf "Takes It Al1--Routt County Hasn't Any Land Remaining." In the
article that followed the reporter explained, "What the state hasn't qot
and what has not been put into timber reserves will now be withdrawn as
coal land."! To the people who sunported conservation and control of big
business the announcements were qood news, but for the residents of Routt
County who had plans of developina the resources with the accompanyinq
economic prosperity the withdrawal of coal Tand came as a severe blow.

Roosevelt sent a sharp tremor throuch northwestern Colorado in March
1907 with the announcement that the aovernment was going "to probe land
frauds." General M, C. Burch and his aides, Ernest Knaebel, F. A. Maynard,
S. R. Rish, E. H, Longa, and H. H; Schwartz, were appointed special
assistants to the attorney aeneral to conduct a complete 1nvestigatfon. In
fact the government had been investinating dummy entries for the previousv
five years,12

General Burch did not waste‘any time. In May the Wisconsin Coal
Mining Company at Lay, Colorado, was indicted for obtaining their coal land
by fraud, Mamed in the case were the old pioneers and photoaraphers Allen
G, and Mary A, Wallihan. The land in question was patented by Mr. and Mrs,
Wallihan, Fred H., Wallihan, Henry M. Benjamin, Cyrus J. Nf1liams, John I, -
LeDain, J. Boyd Wallihan and Ruth Wallihan.'”

The Wallihan case presented some interestina quesﬁions. As pioneers
they had spent nearly a quarter of a century living in a lonely region of
sage brush and they believed they had earned the right to benefit from the
fruits of the land and their Tabor., Was it wrong for them to take
advantage of a good thinq and include their friends and relatives? Each
person had filed on 160 acres and met the requirements of the law; éach had
paid the government the required fee of $10 per acre. Each had received a

title to the land, After receivino the title they then sold the land to



The Fight for Empire o ' 52

the Wisconsin Coal Mining Company. The aovernment arqued that the Wallihans
had entered into a conspiracy to defraud the covernment. The prosecution
arqued that the Wallihans were "dummy entrymen" who had reached an aqreement
to file on the coal land for the minina company and bypass the intent of the
‘law. Without a doubt the use of “dummies" was common throughout the vest,
and if the federal reserves were to be preserved it was necessary to stop
the time honored practice.

The action of the Wallihans and many other dummy entrymen of Routt
County found sympathy amona local folks, but not all the "dummies" were
frontiersmen taking advantage of an opportunity. In fact the orqanization
of companies and the role of various men were full of deception and

dishonesty. The Yampa Leader for July 13, 1907, enlarged the list of names

of men indicted in the Wisconsin Coal Mining Company case. Amonq those
indicted were several wealthy men from Wisconsin who were related to
leadina fiqures in the Yampa Antﬁracite Coal Company based in St. Louis,
Missouri. Apparently the Yampa Anthracite Coal Company gained control of
larae acreaqes of coal throuah very corrupt methods. The sheriff in St.
Louis and the president of a bricklayers union filled out and handed out
blank entry forms among their deputies and members and had them sianed.
These forms were later filed on Routt County coal lands. The connection
between the various companies and men was complex. Walter S. Price,
notary public, justice of the peace, insurance agent, and real estate man
at Hayden, worked closely with Arie Keitel, the local agent for the Yampa
Anthracite Coal Company. Arie's brother Fred W, Keitel was the Denver
connection for both the Wisconsin and the Yampa Anthracite companies. He
was also related by marriage to some of the leaders in both companies. 1In
the case against the American Fuel and Iron Company which claimed 2,000

acres of coal along 0ak Creek in the neiahborhood of Junction City, Fred W.



The Fight for Empire : 53

Keitel's name appears as qgeneral manacer of the company. The corruption
and the subtle connection of men and companies qave President Roosevelt and

his supporters, of which the Yampa Leader was one, good reasons to be
14

concerned about the threat df trusts.
The people whom Keitel represented were not the only ones interested
in investina in Routt County coal. Near the turn of the century Sam Adams
and A, L. Pollard acquired investment lands in northwestern Colorado. |
On May 13, 1907, the Union Land Company was incorporated and soon various
properties including that of the Denver and Northwestern Fuel Company on
Oak Creek and Trout Creek came under the land company's contro1°]5 In
October 1909, T. B, Al]in,‘Frank McDonouah, C, S. Mi11ard, 8. L. Smith,
Sam Adams, A, L. Pollard and others were indicted for fraudulently
acquiring coal land. The case against the Union Land Company was
especially important to the future of Routt County, Part of the land in
question was leased by the Routi County Fuel Company which was operating
the Pinnacle Mine southwest of the town of Oak Creek. The mine was the
second largest producer in the district and vital to the railroad. Thé
railroad in turn was vital to meet the transportation needs of the residents
of the Yampa Vaﬁeya]6 .
In December 1909 the defendants of the Union Land Company stood trial.
During the trial several witnesses testified that "they got $100 for their
coal right, for the way land affairs were being conducted at that time
there was little of no secret ébout the matter and it was considered
legitimate." Despite the testimohy the case was thrown out of court
because criminal conspiracy was not proven., The biggest blow to the
gavernment's case occurred when Judge Robert E, Lewis ruled that a letter
from McDonouqh to J. W, Atwe11 was self incriminating and violated the

constitutional rights of the accusedv.]7
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The Teqal action did not end with the judae's decision; the struqqgle
over the title to the coal lands continued for several years, In Méy 1911
the federal land office at Glenwood Springs canceled filings on 2,000 acres
of coal land near Oak Creek which had not been patented. In October the
federal aovernment struck a stunning blow to the Union Land Company. The
qovernment seized 4,400 tons of coal shipped by the Routt County Fuel
Company. It was claimed that the coal had been mined from the Burgess
tract of the Pinnacle Mine. It was further claimed that nearly 90,000 tons
of coal had been illegally mined and the government sought restitution.
The coal seizure threatened to close the mine with its accompanying damaqe.
However, the mine was still able to operate although on a restricted basis
by working the James and Walker tracts which were not under attack. The |
next move of the government came in Auqust 1912 when it began attacks
acainst the title of coal property'where the Moffat Coal Company was
workina. Apparently the titles Were clean because nothing came of the
charges, but it did wear down the minina firm's ability to resist. In
October 1912 the aovernment and.the Union Land Company came to terhs. The -
government retained nearly 7,000 acres on Trout Creek and the Union Land
Company maintained title tp several thousand acres on Oak Creek, This
cleared the way fof the Routt County Fuel Company and the Yampa Valley Coal
Company to begin mdre extensive mining, It also allowed the reopening for
settlement of Twentymile Park, 18

The fight over title to the coal land was.long and expensive. Without
doubt the coal companies had acquired a larqe portion of their land
illegally, But the federal qovernment's actibns dﬁrihg the Tengthy
strugale was not always honorable. In August 1906 the federal government
withdrew several sections of coal land from entry, The next month

McDonough as attorney for entrymen was allowed to file patents on 7,000



The Fight for Empire | 55

acres of coal land. Then in October the agovernment again withdrew the land.
Two years later McDonough and the Union Land Company were taken to court
for illeqally obtaining the Tand. When the case was finally settled the
federal government again had title to the coal lands. Through the turn of
events the government was quilty of qross inconsistency if not blatant
en'crapment,]9

Most of the settlers in Routt County were not dummy entrymen. They
had taken up their claims to homesteads and coal Tand in good faith as
provided by the law. Many of them had proved_up on their land before the
new coal Tands act was passed in 1909. Instead of the government honoring
the fi]inqs as the law provided, the patents were withheld, After the act
of 1909 was paésed the government sent out affidavits to the homesfeaders
requiring that they "waive all claim to coal or.other minerals under their

c]aim.“20

No provisions of the new Taw made it retroactive, but it was
administered as if such a proviﬁion existed. People who should have had
clear title to their land were denied what was their legal right. Without
clear title to the property the residents were uncertain of their future

and Timited in their choices. If they moré%ged or sold the land they ran

the risk of being indicted as dummy entrymen. But the government did

collect taxes on the property. The Steamboat Pilot reported the case of
one homesteader who was informed that a special agent had filed a protest
anainst his claim. The case was heard in the Glenwood Springs land office
and went against the homesteader. However, the homesteader did not receive
notice of the charaes against him until after the hearing; thus he was not
present to defend himself and lost his land. It should also be kept in
mind that the land office holding the hearinas and pressing for strong legal
action acainst the coal companies was the same federal agency found to be in

collusion with Harriman during the railroad fiaht for Gore Canyon.zl
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During the court cases the statute of limitations was often considered.
In 1911 the attorneys for the federal aovernment argued “"that statute of
limitations does not begin to run against the entry until the government
has some notice of the fraud." In replying to the attorneys, Judge Lewis

w23 Despite

stated, "The facts are against you and the law is against you,
the judge's ruling the government later seized 4,400 tons of coal mined by
the Routt County Fuel Company. The authorities "claim[ed] that fraud was
committed in 1893 in proving up on the Tand." By 1911 the statute of
limitations had run its term.23 Clearly the federal attorneys Were not
opposed to bending the law to their advantage while condemning others for
doing the same thing.

The fight over coal property in the Yampa Valley was not restricted to

a contest between the federal covernment and the people who claimed the

land. In 1907 the Rocky Mountein News broke a story of corruption and

fraud in the state school lands. The Egeria Fuel Company had leased
several thousand acres from the state. The lease was Tater illegally
extended for forty years. Some of the members of the state land board
apparently received a payoff, On investigating the work of the company it
was found thdt very little developing had been done but the stockho]defs
h;éigéen charged substantial sums for development work. Addino a different

slant to the story the Yampa Leader believed that T. M. Patterson, a

proprietor in the Rocky Mountain News, was a heavy investor in the northefn

Colorado coalfield (primarily in Boulder and Weld counties). Samuel H,
Wood, the author of the News story, was a disappointed office seeker out to
det revenge. The editor of the Leader believed that the Denver newspaper

and report were not entirely honest, Bof the Rocky Mountain News and the
24

Yampa Leadervhad a lot of truth in their stories.

In 1911 William Weston assessed the condition of Routt County. "The
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fates,” he wrote, "so far seem to have been against the development and
marketing of the product of the Yampa coal field. The adverse agents have
been many and powerful." The power of Harriman and Gould to prevent
financing the Denver Northwestern and Pacific combined with the Gore Canyon
fight had taken a dreadful toll on the railroad. "The long-continued
activity of the government agents," Weston bemoaned, "in digging up and
attackina titles to the coal lands, . . . mak[es] capital timid of qoing
in there.“25 Firms were having difficulty finding financial aid. The
Wisconsin Coal Mining Company, the Yampa Anthracite, Toponas Coal and Land,
and the American Fuel and Iron did not survive the fight. On July 9, 1913,
the Continental Trust Company brought a foreclosure suit against the Union
Land Company. On November 22, 1915, ‘the bankrupt company's property was
sold at public auction for $200,OOOs In 1910 James Crawford beaan
foreclosure proceedings against B. L. Dorsey's Yampa Fuel and Iron Company.
Dorsey had big plans for developina the anthracite coal near Pilot Knob.
He was planning on building a branch railroad from Hayden to the anthracite
field. The land in the Crawford, Moraan and Shé]ton tracts had clear
titles dating back to the 1880s, so here there was no danger of long court
actions, But the financing of the Yampa Fuel and Iron, which would have |
been a large operation, was stopped by the same powerful interests that
blocked financing of Moffat's rai]road.26

The railroad arrived at the coal field in a weak financial condition.
Harriman and Gould had drained the road of needed‘financiai aid. Unable to -
raise enough capital, Moffat could not meet the cost of constructing a
tunnel throuah the Front Range. As a result, the Denver Northwestern and
Pacific was forced to fight the never endinq battle against storms, slides,
ice and steep grades on the "Hi11" as the railroaders called the 12,000

foot high Rollins Pass. Besides costing enormous amounts to operate the
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railroad it bottled up coal trains when the market was good and let them
run when the markets were weak. Since the flow of cars could not be
requlated, the mines often did not get cars when they were needed. In the
early spring of 1911 David Moffat made his last stand for his railroad.
Shortly after his death in March, 1911, the Denver Northwestern and Pacific
went into receivership. "His death," wrote Robert Atheran, "without doubt
brought sighs of relief from the Rio Grande owners, who had for over a
decade feared his success. His threat was the most serious they had yet
encountered,"?’

While the aovernment and powerful financial>forces were ]aying‘heavy
blows on the mining and railroad interests, folks in northwestern Colorado

were also strugglina to hold their empire. Although the surface events

looked promisina, the undercurrents were draaging’the expected boom down,

For years the Steamboat Pilot had play an important role in promotihq Routt
County and its resources, Leadiﬁo citizens in the county had worked hard
to get a railroad. During the fiaght for coal land near Lay, the Steamboat
Pilot expressed some of the disappointment: "The land pays taxes and has a
chance some day of'being developed although from the looks of things some
of it will pay for itself in taxes before transportation ié near enough to
make a productive coal mine."28

Residents in Craiq and Hayden could heartily agree with the editor of
the newspaper. People in Craiq had hoped to benefit from the rajlroad, but
the line stopped at Steamboat Springs, Hayden‘citizens had plans of
becomina a railroad, minino andlranchinq center, The railroad did not
reach Hayden, the coal company that was goina to build the branch line to
the anthracite field went into bankruptcy and Phippsburg became the
railroad center while Steamboat Springs was the terminal. The rails did

reach Steamboat Springs and some new businesses were established; the
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Tuxury Cabin Hotel was built, and the hot and mineral springs were improved.
But the expected growth in tourism did not materialize. The community of
Yampa hoped to become a railroad and ranching center. But the railroad
built throunh the town. Although the shippina and communication problems
of the Yampa Valley were improved with the arrival of the Moffat Road, the
anticipated boom did not grow beyond a flare.

At Oak Creek with the mines and construction crews fhere was a sense
of excitement. But even here conditions were turbulent., The community had
a tremendous amount of work to be done before it could be a thriving entity.
The town found it did not have sufficient money to accomplish many of the
tasks,'hé% did it have credit to borrow the necessary money. Té get some
of the work done the city council passed a poll tax. On May 14, 1908, all
able=bodied citizens between 21 and 50 years of aqe were required to work
one day on the streets or pay an added tax of $3,00. The ordinance fai]ea
to accomplish anythina of siqniffcance, Bridges over the steam Oak Creek
were badly needed but not constructed for some time. The reroutina of the
stream as a result of railroad construction caused flood problems in the
lTower part of town--aqain 1itt1e was done.

Despite the pressing needs the Town Board was unstable and embroiled
in fights to control the saloons. The period from 1908 to 1911 witnessed a
continual chanqe in mayors, trustees and po1ice‘magistrates. Often the
council could not conduct business because it lacked a quorum. The case of
Albert Severson illustrates some of the undercurrents that hurt the
community. On July 6, 19087 Bart Steinbeck and W. W, Helm were nominated
to fill a council vacancy caused by Louis F. Castello's resignation. |
Steinbeck received three votes while T. B. Parker and Severson voted for
Helm. Upon the defeat of his candidate Severson protested that Steinbeck

was not elected by a lecal majority. In response to Severson's protest, a
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motion was made that mayor Georae W, Grqw close Sevenson'5~sq]oon.
Although not yet sworn in, the newly elected Steinbeck voted to close
Sevenson's business. At the next board meeting Steinbeck was again é]ected
to office and sworn in but his vote durina the previous meeting and befofe
the swearing in was still couhted. Then the Town Board removed Sevenson
from office. And Trustee Keeaan was appointed as a committee of one to
close Sevenson's saloon. Sevenson responded by gettinj an injunction
which stopped the town from doing buéinessa Sevenson rested his case on-
the Teaality of the town's incorporation. Apparently he had a strong case
which was settled out of cburt; Sevenson then moved on to greener
pastures.29
The town minutes for the period 1908 to 1912 suggest that Tiquor
licenses were aiven to those who had the riaht connections in city hall.
On November 6, 1908, retail liquor licenses were aranted to W. H. Stonehouse,
G. F. Watt and Tom Pierson. Sténehouse and Watt weré ex-trustees and
Pierson was connected with the Oak Creek Town Land and Minina Company. At
the same meeting D. J. Reidy who had been police magistrate was denied a
Ticense and the marshal was instructed to close his business at once.
Apparently a payoff was made énd Reidy was granted a liquor license at a
later date.30
Oak Creek in 1910 consisted of only a few rude streets and buildings
and a person could easily walk to any place in town, Keeping in step with
the dreams of villages becémiﬁq might cities ambitious men began promoting
a street car line. The profits were made in selling the street cars and
not operating them, During the effort to sell the community the
transportation system, Mayor Georce W. Hale charced trustees W, S. Glass,

William Schultz and Levi Yoakum for offering to take a bribe on construction

of a street car line. In his turn to be accused, Mayor Hale was charged
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with tryino to bribe the threé trustees. The QOak Creek Times described the
d ll3]

“situation as quite badly tancle

The city council soon chanced, but the corruption continued.
Conditions became so bad that during the 1910 election a group of citizens
attempted to oust the oraanized politicians. Since the reformers were late
in aetting organized they could not get their names on the ballots, so they
began a write-in campaign. E. S. McKinley, Jr., who was in charge of the
McKinley Mine south of Oak Creek, nearly defeated G. W. Huffman in the
mayor's race. The other write-in candidates also made a strong showing,
but when the dust cleared the entrenched political leaders still held the
reins of power,

During the difficult period when it was not certain that the empire of
northwestern Colorado could be held even thouch the railroad had arrived,
the county leéders beaan bickering amonnq themselves. Since 0Oak Creek was
the only community that could b&ast of a boqz§;wn9 the mining town became
the target of many insults and s1ichtsa@ Generally the newspapers in Yampa,
Hayden and Steamboat Springs only mentioned Oak Creek when the town's

shortcomings could be exploited. The Steamboat Pilot and the Routt County

Sentinel referred to Oak Creek as "that mining camp," and demeaning stories

were covered with zeal and sensation. The Oak Creek Times met the

challenge with a banner proclaiming Oak Creek "the town of prospefity, theh
town at the mines, the town with a payroll." The Times proudly boasted
that the 1911 property eva]uafion in the town was up 27 percent whiéh
represented over 36 percent of the entire county;s gain for the previous
year, Meanwhile Steamboat Springs had gained only one-fourth of oneﬁ
percent, Hayden showed a loss of twelve and a half percent, and Yampa had
a loss of ten percent property eva]uatioh,32 During the trying period

instead of the communities banding together in a common struggle they came
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apart,

The town of Oak Creek boasted its gains based on the development of
the mines, and they were developing but at a much slower rate than
originally expected. The Perry Mine did extensive work in 1908 so it was
ready to ship coal when the railroad arrived, but the Pinnacle Mine did not
beain work on their tram and tipple unti1 after the road reached the
coalfield and development took more than a year. The Juniper Mine north of
Oak Creek also traveled at a snail's pace in developing and the Yampa Valley
Mine was not orqanized until after the railroad arrive and it did not have
its own tipple and shipping faci]itieé until 1911, The old Yampa Valley
Electric Mine at Junction City did not operate durinﬁ'the period to 1911,
At the Perry Mine which opened with enthusiasm in 1908 problems soon began
to arise. The coal in No. 1 Mine proved to be lensed shaped and
inconsistent with many partinags and faults. This forced the opening of
No. 2 Mine and by 1912 the Perrvaine, now owned by the Moffat Coal Company,
beagan work on the No, 3 Mine up Arao Gulch. Part of the growth was due to
increased coal demand, but the necessity of finding a high quality and
consistent seam of coal prompted much of the expansion.

Accompanying the task of starting the mines was the threat of labor
war., Coal miners throughout the district had justifiable reasons for
demanding better conditions, bﬁt a complete walkout in 1910lwou]d have
destroyed the mines in the Yampa Valley. At the Perry Mine in July some of
the men struck and production was reduced. _8ut the other mines continued
to operate., At the Juniper Mine union orcanizers and agitators were
dismissed. The town of Oak Creek took ub the cause of the miners and
Justice Ewing finefpit boss Joe Mathew $100 for "discriminétinq aaainst
union men employed at the Juniper mine.," The owner of Bell Merchanfi]e,

Sam Bell who had been involved in the 1903 Cripple Creek Strike, extended



The Fight for Empire 63

credit to the union. The 1910 strike in the Yampa Coalfield never really
got started although the same strike was strongiy felt acfoss the northern
Colorado coalfield.>> |

Adding to the woes of the Yampa Valley mines was the weather. The
winter of 1911 was very mild and the demand for coal was sharply reduced.
Without the orders for coal the mines did not work steadily which resulted
in reduced payrolls and purchasina power of the emp]oyees. The end result
was a recession,

By the late summer of 1911 all seemed to be in disarray in the
“promised empire" of northwestern Colorado. The railroad was bankrﬁpf_and.
its future uncertain. Manybcommunitfes in Routt County had seen their'
hopes for a bright future dashed. The government was stoppinq'coél
shipments and the ownership of the coal lands was tangled in the gourté.
The prospects for massive coal shipments from numerous mines were lost in
the world of dreams. Labor waslrestless and preparing for Waf. The only
boom town, Oak Creek, was caught in a mire of political bickering and

corruption. It was a dark period.
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CHAPTER TV
CONTINUING STRUGGLE AND THE BIG STRIKE

As folks in northwestern Colorado aathered to celebrate the new year
of 1912, they looked forward to an uncertain future--slow progress at the
coal mines and labor unrest. The Denver and Salt Lake (Moffat Road) was on
the verge of being abandoned and with it the prospects of adeqﬁate
transportation and communication for aariculture, mining and settlements
hunag in the balance. The crucial question was could the coal mines in the
O0ak Creek district aenerate enouah revenue to support the troubled railroad
and could the railroad be extended from Steamboat Springs westward in order
that more coal mines could be added to the critical transportation system's
revenue, 4

Despite the trying events associated with the government'é'attempts fo
regain title to the coal property, the industrial intrique directed against
the railroad and the various coal mining firms, the whims of néture in
operatinag the line over the Hill, the Oak Creek coal mines were showing
promise of uuccess. In 1908 one mine produced 3,000 tons of coai, the next
year five mines produced 92,154 tons of coal; in 1910 the same mines
increased production to 254,162 tons, In 1911 another hine was added to
the Oak Creek district and the area produced 372,325 tons of coal. In 1912

the six mines produced 441,002 tons of coa].]

0f the seventeen Colorado
counties producina coal in 1911, Routt County ranked seventh. Although the
rankings did not change in 1912, Routt County moved to within 48,377 tons
of coal of its rival Weld--a well established coal producing county.z
Despite the gains Oak Creek coal production did not reach the earlier
expectations of the coal field promoters and investors9 yet the reqioh was

showing steady and substantial gqains,
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The success of the Oak Creek mines was sufficient to encouragé William
Evans, Samuel Perry, D. C. Dodage, Lawrence Phipps, Charles Boettcher and
Newman Erb to extend the Denver and Salt Lake Railroad west from Steamboat
Springs fo Craig. In December 1912, the first contract for the forty mile
extention was let. The road from Steamboat to Craig'ran through the most
fertile agricultural section of the Yampa Valley and promised to increase
revenues from grain and livestock. In the Yampa Canyon, as the region was
then called, the coal deposits near the Wadae Mine'became accessible to
market. From Hayden extention lines into the anthracite and Dry Creek coal
areas was possib]e. In 1912, Moffat County was created out of the western
section of Routf County., Here the railroad would serve another county seat
town and the qrowth that accombanied opening a new section for settlement,
The expansion also aave the railroad fhe appéarance of vitality. However,
in the final analysis, the success of the venture depended upon the coal
mines at Oak Creek and Mt. Harrfs.3

The railroad construction continued thrduqh 1913 and by the summer of
1914 coal mine investors were satisfied that adequate rail service was
available and they began developina their mines. The big mine in the new
district was the Mt. Harris Mine owned by the Colorado-Utah Coal Company
with Byron and George Harris as the principle investors, Starting in June
1914, several men were employed in sinkina the main and ventilation tunnels.
Others were busy constructing a very large tipple for its day. The tipple
handled 2,000 tons of coal every twenty-four hours. To get the coal from
the mine to the tipple and railroad cars it was necessary to build a
larae steel bridge over the Yampa River., By the end of the summer, the
substantial mining camp of Mt. Harris was firmly established. The Colorado-
Utah Mine soon became one of the laraes mines in the state.4

Meanwhile two miles east of Mt. Harris surveyors laid out the
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operations of the Bear River Mine and camp. The Bear River Mine was
designed to produce approximately 500 tons per day and the trackage for the
tipple was about three and one-half miles lona. The mining camp with its
several large bdi]dinqs with concrete foundations was located on the hill
above the mine and along the countv road (now U. S. 40). Due to financial
difficulties and trouble with the covernment, the Bear River Mine was slow
deve]opinq.5 '

South and east of the Bear River, Albert Allen waslable to interest
E. S. and W, S. McKinley, who operated mines near Oak Creek, in joining
him and others in developina a mine. The mine set well south of the fiver
and required an extensive spur and a shay enaine to bring the coal from the
mine to the tipple and rai1road.6} Due to the orade and the distance from
the railroad, the Allen Mine never became a‘major producer.

Near Milner, Colorado, 4. W. and C. H. Curtis opened a mine which
included two miles of spur thack‘and a bridge across the river, One half
a mile east of Curtis's Mine the O'Neil Mining Company opened a mine at
McGreaor, With the opening of these mines the Yampa field took on new life
and a areater deqree of permanence,7 But, perhaps the most entouraqinq
sign of success of the coalfield was the arrival in 1915 of one of the
major coal mining companies in the state. That year John C. Osgood and his
Victor American Coal Company beqan development work on the Wadge Mine at
Mt. Harris. While the development work was in progress, the Victor Amefican
took over the Routt County Fue]band the Yampa.Valley mines hear Oak Creek,
The two mines were united into the Pinnac]e'Mine. In time the Wadge and
the Pinnacle became 1eadinq.mine5 in the state.® |

The future in 1912 was very uncertain for residents of northwestern
Colorado, but by 1915 the coal mines were expanding and becoming firmly

established. In 1912 the county had only six reporting mines with a
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production of 441,002 tons of coal per year. In 1915 there were some 18
producing coal mines with a total production of 846,459 tons. The county
stood fourth among the state's coal producina counties. In 1917 Routt
County's coal production was 1,057,685 tons of cba1 from 22 mines, and
the county remained fourth in ranking of coal producing counties. During
each month of a six month period the mines produced more coal than was
produced during the entire year of 1909.9

As the mines increased production and became firmly estab]ished,:the
mining communities began to discard the frontier camp appearance in favor
of a more established order. Odk Creek, the leading miﬁing community in
the field, began extensive use of electric lights which were furnished by
the Pinnacle Mine. After a serious fire, the town began a conserted effort
to install its own water works. In July 1912 Ffsher Dempsey Construction
Company, the low bidders with a bid of $26,691, was awarded a contract to
construct the city water works.]0 Accompanying the construction of a city
water works was a renewed interest in a community sewage system, sidewalks,
and street improvements. Other proaressive civic developments were the
annexation of development areas araund the town,

Intertwined with the physical developments of the mines and mininq
communities was another continuing struaqle. For several years before
1912, 1ab0rbunions and mine manadement had been qirding themselves for a
showdown battle. Accompanying the struaale was the fight for a new type of
government, During the city electfons of 1909-1911, the competing parties
were connected with the saloons, gambling halls and prostitution.
Generally, the officers were inclined to protect their interests and look
for what graft they could take out of the town treasury. During the
election of 1912, with C. A. Pankey heading the Socialist Party ticket,

local politics developed a deeper and broader philosophy. Pankey, J. L.
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Alspaugh, J. B. Sullivan, and T. W. Vliiet won the mayor and trustee offices

by wide margins. In 1913, “the Socialist ticket elected every condidate in

this election, defeating the Taxpayers' Party by big maj0rities."1] Thus

as a prerequisite to the biaq étrike of 1913-1914 the miners in the Oak Creek
district were caining political support from the leading mining foWns in

the county., And within the town limits was 1ocated the Pinnacle tipple and

adjacent to the city boundary was the Moffat Mine. With the support of the
town, the miners held key positions in the upcoming‘fight; In addition the

town could, and did, furnish the miners with food and shelter.

The miners were also making preliminary advances at Phippshurg. With
the reorqanization of the railroad and Moffat Mine in 1912 the city Tots in
the mining and railroad town went on the market for private homes. A1thoUgh
the mine still held a powerful hand in Phippsburg, its grip on the camp was
slipping, and the miners had another point where they could rally for the
pending strugqgle.

Colorado was a hard and danqerous place for coal miners to work. Based
on a 25 year averaae, in 1911 the state killed 5.71 men for every 1,000
working in the mines. Of the 22 coal producing states in the nation, only
New Mexico, North Dakota, Utah and Wyominq had worse records of fatalities.
Wyoming and Utah killed over 11 men for every 1,000 working in the mines.
The most disastrous year in Colorado coal mininqg history, 1910, witnessed
the death of "seventy-five men in the Primero, fifty-six in the Strakville,
seventy-nine in the Delagua explosions, and ten in the Leyden fire, a total
of 220, Ninety-nine men were killed by falls of rock and coal, or run over
by motor trips, etc, 12

One, but by no means the only, cause of the disastrous mine explosions
was the mining practice which allowed each miner to place and set off his

own explosive charges, If the black powder sent fire into the dust or
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natural gas rather than blowing down the coal, many lives were lost. To
avoid this danger many of the more proqressivé mines began using shotfirers
to set off the charges. These specially skilled men would shoot the coal
down after the shift quit work and went out of the mine. By simply
reducing the number of men in the mine at the time of shooting down the
coal, mine safety was greatly enhanced.

The sad fact is that shotfirers also provided another means by which
the miners were exploited., At the Moffat Mine in 1910, miners were paid
thirty-five cents per ton of coal mined. The miner was expected to furnish
his own tools, power, etc. He set his own props and did all fhe dead work.
When the Moffat Mine employed shotfirers, the miners were charged
additional sums for powder, b]acksmith, comnuter travel and hospitalization.
The hospital fee and the commuter charae were already sore spots amonq the
miners. A hospital did not exist in Oak Creek until late 1910, and the men
wanted to live in Oak Creek to évoid the commuter fee. Adding to the sore
spots was the charage for the shotfirers wages, and many of the miners
preferred to shoot their own coal. Often the shotfirer did a sloppy job of
shooting down the coal in a miner's room unless certain added considerations
were extended in his direction (bribes), thus adding exploitation on to
exploitation., The result was a strike at the Mdffat Mine in June and Ju]y'
of 1910.13

The strike threatened to spread to‘other mines. At the Jﬁniper Mine
strike organizers and union supporters were sent down the road. Joe
Mathews, the pit boss, was fined $100 by Justice Ewing of Oak Creek for
“discriminating against union men." Mathews appealed the case and thinas
seemed to go on as normal. Apparently the strike never amounted to.muchs
for after the first of September nothinq more was heard of it. However,

this small beainning disclosed some interesting aspect to the nature of Oak
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Creek and Steamboat Springs. 1In Oak Creek, Frank Campbell and the United

Mine Workers received support. The Oak Creek Times attempted to remain

objective in its coverage. The city aovernment found a pit boss quilty of
discrimination, and Sam Bell, who ran one of the town's leading sfores and
had won a certain amount of fame for his work in breaking the Cripﬁ]e Creek
strike in 1903, extended credit to Campbell and the Union. The bill Qas

never paid. The Routt County Sentinel on July 1, 1910, came out with an

article strongly supporting the union and very sympathetic to the cause of
the miners,

The continuing struqgle between labor and management becéme more
sharply dividéd and escalated in intensity throuchout the state; however,
the mines in Routt County were bn]y é small backwash of the main theater.
In the northern coalfield at Erie, Colorado, the miners walked out in 1910
and many remained out until after the big strike of 1913-14. Fanning the
flames of unrest was the questioh of mine safety which could no lonaer be
ignored. Governor John Shafroth appointed a committee to examine the state
coal mine laws and make recommendations for improvements. In the spring of
1913 the state leagislature passed a coal mine act which established a
strona coal mine inspection department and in time a very good mine safety
record,

At Trinidad, Colorado, in September, 1913, the United Mine Workers
decided to ;a1] a state wide strike if their demands were not met. The
Union had seven demands. Recoanization of the union and increased wages
were the first two. The third was for an eiqht-hour day. At the time the
state had an eight-hour Taw on the books. The miners wanted the Taw
enforced as they interpreted it. The fourth demand was for pay for doing
dead work--timberina, removing falls, bonina coal, etc. These tasks were

necessary in a mine and required considerable time, but the miners were not
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paid for the work. Since miners were paid by the ton for cba], often they
did not p]ace‘sufficient mine props which was non-pay labor. The lack of
sufficient timbering encouraced falls of rock and coal which wefe the |
biggest killers in Colorado mines. The fifth demand called for é
checkweighman elected by the miners at the mine scales. Since the miners
were paid by the ton of coal mined, they most certainly waﬁted the veights
to be honest., In some mines 2,400 pounds was considered a ton when
fiquring the pay of the miners, but 2,000 pounds was considered a ton when
the public was purchasing the coal. It was this type of robbery the men
wanted stopped by making sure the scales were propek]y balanced and read.
The sixth demand was the right to trade and live where the miners pleased.
Under Colorado law the miners had that rioht, but the ]aw was not enforced,.
and in some cases the miners were virtual prisoners he1d>hy the mine. The
seventh demand called for the enforcement of the Colorado coal mine safety -
laws. When manaaement refused'té meet the union's demands a strike was
called. The Oak Creek miners pitched viaht in with the miners in the
northern and southern coalfields when they walked out on September 23,>
1913, Due to its size, location and short history, the great Colorado coal
strike of 1913-1914 took on a different aspect in Routt County than it did
in other parts of the state,

After the men walked out in the Oak Creek district conditions were
quiet for several weeks. Throuah the month of October, 1913, the mines
remained closed and there was no danger of violence. At ﬁhe Junction City
Mine, George H., Miller signed the union aqreement. By October 10, the mine
was working and one newspaper predicted that an eighty man crew would so0on
be steadily employed.

One of the mysteries of the strike durina this stage was the miners

movina their families into tent cities. 0One of the tent camps was at the
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town pasture right next to the town of Oak Creek. Another of the tent
camps was at the Gilruth ranch about four miles northeast of Oak Creek and
along the Yampa River, It was a beautiful b]ace to camp out and go
fishing.. Howéver, housing was available for many of the miners in the
town of Oak Creek and the community was stronaly supportive of the
strikers.15 Apparently the union wanted the people in tent communities at
this early date for reasons of their own. The tent camps gave the illusion
of people being driven from their homes which had strong propaganda
nossibilities, andvby keeping the miners in tent camps, the union had a
better chance of controllina its members and fostering stronger union
support and esprit de corp,

The strike in the Yamna Valley took on the attributes of the autumn
season, In_September and October things were neaceful and 1ife had a
certain quiet tranquillity. But.everyone knew that winter was coming with
its harsh demands. Late in October, S. M. Perry of the Moffat Mine, Lewis
A. Hayden of the Juniper Mine, P. M. Peltier of the Yampa Valley Mine, and
E. L. Prentiss of the Routt County Fuel Company reached an aqreement 6n the
terms they would offer the strikers. Through the Tocal newspapers and not .
the union the offer was made known:

First---Scales will be provided. [Miners were paid by the ton
but some of the mines did not have scales to weigh their
coal]

Second--Abolishment of fare to miners between Oak Hills and
Phippsbura,

Third---Men can board, room and trade where desired.

Fourth--Two pay days per month,

Fifth---A11 employees desiring to return to work-cén without any

discrimination,
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Sixth---Increased compensation as per schedule here-tb attached.
Hand mining, 55 cents per ton of 2,000 pounds
Machine mining, 38 cents per ton of 2,000 pounds
Underground labor, 40 cents per hour
Tipple men, 30 cents per hour

Unclassified labor, $2.50 for nine hours16

In the November 5th edition of the Steamboat Pilot the mine operators
provided a stdtement concerninﬁ their thoughts about the strike:

The [operators] have always considered thé relations with
their employees qenerally satisfactory in view of the'stfong
competition and other serious experienced difficulties attendant
upon the openina and development of the Routt county coal fields.
For reasons over which we as operators have no control oﬁr
investments have not be renumerative and satisfactory to date and
our employees alone have profited by our efforts. .'. .

The railroad now has an ektensive amount of new equipment
and the market this fall promised to be such as to enable us to
establish and extend our market and afford reﬁu]ar and satisfactory
employment to a largely incfeased force. This unfortunate and we
believe unwarranted strike as concerns the Routt county fields has
undoubtedly seriously menaced and retarded the full development of
our properties and deferred placina them upon a paying basis, as-
well as adversely affected communities aenerally in the district.
. « « Complaints and irreqularities should always be carefully
considered and adjusted as far as possible and as rapidly as
conditions and expediency will permit and this can be accomplished
if parties deal together withoutkoutside interference.

We are willing to unite with you and all other business
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interests in an endeavor to restore the resumption of business
conditions and prosperity,]7

The operator's claim that profits were not satisfactory was probably
correct. But the claim that the miners were the only ones to profit was
less than frank. The operators had profited from rents for lodaino, sales
prices for items bouaht at company stores, tools and mining equipmenf sold
to the men, etc. At this time in Colorado's history much of the profit
from mines came from qoods sold to the miners rather than the sale of coal.

The mine operators were not heartless men who spent their lives in
fiendish schemes. 01d timers, includind underqround miners, who personally
knew Bob Perry spoke highly of the man's honesty, humanity and character.
He attempted to run a qood mine that considered the welfare of the men.
From their vista of the problem, Perry, Hayden, Peltier and Prentiss
honestly felt that the strike was unwarranted and without proper foundation
or cause, To them the union represented outside agitators who had
unscrupulous and unholy objectives.

Early in the 5trike the two forces reached to resolve the differences,
The Oak Creek miners' demands were the installation of scales at all the
mines and the abolition of the fare from Phippsburg to the Moffat Mine.
The pay scale demands were "that all veins of coal over six feet shall be
paid for at 60 cents a ton; from four to six feet at 65 cents per'ton; and
from three to four feet at 75 cents a ton; under three feet shall be
deficient work."]8 0f course the local union agreed with the state demands
for recoanization of the union, eight hour day and enforcement of the state
Taws,

The operators' dffer was a compromise which contained many tempting
bits to the strikers. Wages were to be raised from 50 cents per ton to 55

cents per ton. The union wanted 60 cents for coal the height of the working
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veins at the big mines. The union won their point on scales, fare, board
and room.}and enforcement of the law. The union wanted an eight hour day;
the operators offered a nine hour day; the men were working ten hour dayé.
Although the union was not recoanized formally, informally it was
recoqnized by everyone, and it would receive credit for any improvements in
and about the hines.

The operators' offer had many points worthy of consideration by the
strikers, "But the local union rejected it on the grounds that it was too
indefinité‘and did not bind the operators for any specified time."19 s
the strike proaressed, waqes, laws, mine safety, living conditions, eté.
were soon pushed aside as the primary issue came to the forefront--
recognization of the union. The union leaders throughout the state were
as'sure that they had a holy mission to complete as the operators were
positive that the unions came straight from hell. Under these conditions
there was little room for comprémise. By the time the Routt County coal
operatofs had made their offer, the strike had degenerated into a shooting
war in the southern district, and by the time the union had rejected the-
Yampa Valley operators' offer, troops were beinq stationed in the war torn
coalfields of Las Animas and Huerfano counties. Although the Oak Creek
district was only a small side show compared to the grand events happening
elsewhere, the miners, operators and communities in the Yampa Valley were
ready and willina to take part in the heated squabble.

As militia went into the southern part of the state, Sheriff A, H.
Chivinaton began disarming strikers in the Oak Creek district. At the same
time he announced he would "furnish protection to anyone who desired to
work in the mines."20 With that assurance the operators announced that
they would begin work at the mines as "open shops."”

Opening the mines required that the property and strikebreakers be



Continuing Struaale and the Big Strike ’ 76

protected from the strikers. Located at the north edge of the mine
district, the Junction City Mine, which was the smallest in the district,
had signed the union contract and was in little danger of attack. The next
mine to‘the south was the Juniper. Because the Moffat Mine formed a buffer
and there were no direct roads to thé mine, there was 1little danger to this
property. South of the Juniper was the Moffat Mine,

The Moffat Mine was the laraest in the district and had a'comﬁon
boundary with the town of Qak Creek. Since much of the miners® animosity
was vented at the Moffat Mine and it was vulnerable to attack, elaborate
defenses were manned. The property was fenced and search liqghts and qun
turrets were built on the hill above town. Anyone walking along the Denver
and Salt Lake tracks in Oak Creek was sure to be brought under a search
light, One elderly woman recalled how the light operator "used to pick my
boy friend . . . and me up when we used to walk down the tracks towards
the Perry Mine. He'd keep it oﬁ us all the time, so we were well
chaperoned.”Z]

The Routt County Fuel Company's tipple and long gravity tram were the
most exposed targets for any attack. The tipple set in the town with
miners' homes around it. A person walking along the tram was exposed to a
sniper who could be hidind in numerous places. The Yampa Valley Mine was
far enough south of Oak Creek that it was not a ready target, nor was the
mine Tarae enouah to generate the intense feeling that was directed towards
the Moffat and Pinnacle Mine.

Because of its location the first violence hetween the strikers and
the operators in the Yampa Coalfield occurred near the Pinnacle tipple. On
November 4, 1913, six men stepped off the late afternoon passenger train in
Oak Creek. The men were to beef up the ouard force at the Pinnacle Mine,

but through that wonderful system of mysterious communications, the strikers
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had Tearned of the men coming and were at the depot to greet them. A large
number of stfikers followed the guards from the depot to a hotel; however,
the presence of Sheriff Chivinqton and his deputies backed by Marshal
Harding Decker prevented any trouble. Tﬁe next day the men started to walk
" to the mine tipple when tﬁey were surrounded by a large crowd of men and
women., The mob shouted several taunts and insults; then someone threw a
rock at the mine quards. Soon the whole crowd was stoning the six
defenseless men, The sheriff and his men arrived in time to save the quards.
Later, they were taken to Pallas, Colorado, and p]aced'on the first train
for Denver, The followina day H. Deweese, who had come to the strike zone
in September to orqganize the mine quard, walked uptown to eat lunch as was
his habit. On his return to the Pinnacle tipple he was intercepted by a
large crowd. Again words were shouted and rocks thrown., "One man . . .
struck [Deweese] in the face" with>a club. Deweese was able to break free
and run to the safety of the tibp]e. Later that day Chivington ordered |
Deweeﬁe to leave the mine district; the order was promptly obeyed.22

After the encounter with the Pinnacle Mine quards an uneasy calm
settled over the community. Then on Monday, Hovember 10, Sheriff
Chivinaton made a business trip to Denver; he returned to the strike district
on Wednesday, The exact natﬁre of the_business was not known, but many of
the strikers believed that Chivington had reached an agreement with the mine
operators to import strikebreakers. On November 16, fbur Mexicans arrived
on the train. The sheriff met the men and hurried them to the Moffat Mine
property where they could be quarded. The four men objected to working at
the mine when they learned that the miners were on strike, but the sheriff
insisted that they had sianed a contract fo work. Later that afternbon the
four men were allowed to walk into Oak Creek. Here they told several

strikers that the mining companies were beqginning to import strikebreakers
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and the sheriff was in alliance with the coﬁpanies.23

At once tempers flared and wild threats were made by the sfrikers.
Bob Perry, the Moffat Mine superintendent, attempted to restoée order |
before any real damage was done. He denied having any part in importing
strikebreakers and further stated that the four men had been hired by the
railroad as section hands. He challenged the strikers to contact the
railroad for verification. That was done. The railroad readily confirmed
Perry's statement. It was never publically known if the four.men were
strikebreakers, section men, or union aaitators. But regardless of the
truth of the situatioﬁ, their presence helped move events at Oak Creek
closer to the boiling point.z4

That night several women and children were moved to safe places.,
Shorty Hamidy recalled how he and his mother spent the night in the bank
basement. Conditions were tense during the night with several shots being
fired and loud voices being heafd. With the light of day came quiet.
Miraculously nobody had been hurt during the night. That day Mrs. Hamidy
and her smaller children moved to the tent camp on the Gilruth ranch.25

During the tense situation, a rare jewel of comedy occurred; however,
it was not fully appreciated until later. Many people, including the
sheriff, feared someone miaht become violent while drunk and start some
serious trouble. To reduce the chance of a drunken riot the saloon keepers
were asked to mainfain sensible hours; to the request they readily complied.
The saloons opened at seven in the mornino and closed promptly at ten in
the evening, These seemed to be sensible hours for no drunken riots
occurred that winter; but anyone wanting a drink had fifteen hours out of
every twenty-four to do so. Years later old timers joked about how long it
would taken them to get drunk enough to cause a riot. To the credit of the

saloon keepers it should be remembered that they ran a very tight ship and
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did not allow things to get out of hand.
While events in the Oak Creek district oscillated between extremely

tense moments with acts of violence and periods of uncertain peace, the

Steamboat Pilot reported:

Conditions in other districts of the state are worse than
in the week previous. Several mine quards were waylaid and ki]]ed.
near lLaVeta and the governor threatens to call upon the United
States government for trobps if there‘is not an improvement . . .
The burning and destruction of bridges continues in the
southern field, the qovernor is informed, ané other property had
suffered damage at the hands of the strikers. This disarmament
of the strikeks and quards have been meaaerly successful,. and
each replenishing their supply of guns and ammunition after
giving up their arms . . 27
Across the southern coa]fié]d, hot and bloody war prevailed,
Meanwhile in the Yampa Coalfield, "all of the mines [were] working in a

small way, although the Perry mine [had] increased its force to fifty men.

A11 the operators profess to be able to cohtinue work and increase their

forces of miners steadi]y."28

Towards the end of November the Catholic priest, Father Martin Mevers
was attacked by strikers and severely beaten. The reason for the assault
is unclear. Perhaps the attackers harbored an anti-cleric feeling which
was quite strong amona many of the foreigners, or the attack may have been
related to the strike. Reaardless of the reaéon for the attack, the event
was used as a pretext to gather up several strikers and take them to jail
in Steamboat Sprinas. Shortly afterwards, Frank Garnier, head of the
United Mine Workers at Oak Creek, went to Steamboat Springs to arrange for

legal assistance for the men. While there, he was arrested by Under-Sheriff
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Frye. That same day, Oak Creek's pro-union mayor A, C. Pankey was arrested.
Pankey had just returned to Oak Creek from business in Denver. The arrest
of Garnier and Pankey foretold the extent people were willing to go to end

the strike.29

Early in the strike the Steamboat Pilot and the Routt County Sentinel,
both county‘seat town newspapers, began attacking the union, On November
12, under the headlines "Convicted of Stealinag Coal," the BilQE told its
readers abouf the p1iqht of a school teacher who was forced to steal coal.
The whole thina was a sham created by the local Titerary society. The
newspaper concluded that "it only shows another effect of thé:coa] strike
and the high prices of coal." At the time the article was written there
was no coal shortage in the county and the Yampa Valley Electric Mine was
working under union aqgreement; so coal prices should not have been
abnormally high, A week later the same paper reported "Taxpayers restless
over cost of strike. It cost $160 a day to keep sheriff and men in Oak
Creek." - In December the Sentinel carried a lenqgthly article based on the
findings of a Pueblo grand jury. The article laid all the blame for the
labor war on the union.3C

To reduce the anti-union feeling that the papers were fostering,
Garnier rented a theater in Steamboat Spriﬁqs and held a pubTic discuséion
on the strike. The Pilot noted that "Mr. Garnier was temperate and fair in

his remarks and made a qood showina for the miners . . ." Garnier did qgo
into detail on many of the qrievances of the strikers; he also admitted he
was an aqitator and defended the role of agitators. The newspaper concluded
its report on Garnier's talk by observing that the audience showed "no

w3l The union had lost the support

enthusiasm nor evidence of approval.. ., .
of that seqment of the population. While the major county newspapers were

vigorously opposing the union, the Yampa Leader took an objective approach
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and in the November 14 edition, the duplicity of the operators receiVed

rough treatment. The copies of the Oak Creek Times for the strike period

have been lost to history. The Hayden Republican was neutral towards the

strike. Thus the Yampa Leader was not powerful enough to help the union

cause in the Oak Creek district.

The Christmas season of 1913 was not a time of joy fdr many of the
residents of the Yampa Valley. With briaht hopes the‘strike was bequn., By
December the United Mine Workers' promise to provide the strikers with food
and shelter was under a éevere test. The cost of the strike throughout the
state was a heavy drain on the union treasury, and side show areas such as
the Yampa Valley were far down the line of preferences. In the final
analysis, it was up to the local residents to take care of their own. Most.
of the stores in Oak Creek furnished the strikers with substantial amounts
of credit for food and the necessities of life. Dominic Hamidy extended so
much credit to strikers that hi§ North Pole Import-Export Store was forced
to close, Sam Bell provided the strikefs with extensive credit, but as
Christmas approached he was forced to restrict or completely stop cfedft
for many of the strikers. As the bitter cold of Routt County winter
descended on the strikers' tent communities, the future presented arim and
harsh prospects.

A few days before Christmas a aroup of women entered Bell's Mercantile
Store to purchase a few items for the holiday. When Bell refused to sell
the women anything on credit, they lost their tempers and dragged him from
the store. In the ally the poor man was severely beaten about the head and
shoulders with a 2 X 4. A gdod many men including the sheriff watched the
assault on Bell, After the struqgle was over, the sheriff arrested some of

32

the spectators, Later that day a boy of sixteen, Herbert Fulton, became

Toud and insulting at some strikers, The strikers took offense and thumped
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on the lad's héad and body. Aqgain several men were arrested and taken to
Steamboat Sprinas to.jail. District Attorney Gentry came up from leeker,
Colorado, and re]eased the strikers on the lesser counts and issued more
severe charges. The trial aqainst the strikers and their leaders beaan on
December 29, 1913.33

The trial placed two sharply different societies against each other,
Oak Creek was a growing cdmmunity wifh several licensed saloons and other
businesSes which operated without a license. ATong with the drinking was
gambling and loose women. It was a town of violence with numerous fights
and the city government was corrupt. Déspite its more seamy side the
mining community was thevtown with the payroll ard it did have hard money
in continuous circulation. It was also a community of many lanquages and
life styles. There were Italians, Austrians, Slovaks, Croatians, Greeks,
English, French, German, Swedes, and Japanese in the community.

The people in the Steamboat<Springs'area were much more homogeneous.
The majority of the residents had been born in America and traveled to the
Yampa Valley to take up homesteads. The community had a common identity
associated with the soil, crops, and stock° These were peop]é who worked
nearly every day of their life from early in the morning until late in the
eveninag, Because of their long hours it was hard for theh to sympathize
with the miners who wanted an eiaht hour day. The dangers and hardships
associated with working stock and farming equihment viere numevous. For
example, it was not unusual for a person to be kicked by a horse or mule
and to be bucked off. a horse and severely injured was a common occurrence.
With so many dangers in their own lives, it was hard for homesteaders to
become deeply concerned about the dangers in the mine., The homesteader had
only a subsistencé wage. In fact, many homesteaders on Morrison Creek and

in the Twentymile area worked in the mines during the winter months in
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order to have some cash. The distinctly different vistas from which the
miners and the homesteaders saw the world caused marked differences in
their beliefs in what was right and should be done. Presumeably the

Steamboat Pilot and the Routt County Sentinel reflected the community's

attitudes towards foreigners, Both of the newspapers had a stronn
prejudice against people who were not born in the United States.

Once the trial beqan the deep seated feelinas became apparent. The
Pilot reported "a particularly bitter feeling was aroused against Martin
Steinhardt, who was an Austrian by his street talk wherein he safd he
would not be a citizen of this country," The trial continued for nine days
at which time Justice Mallory ruled that the defendants should be held on
$300 bonds until the district court sessfon in late January. As the trial
came to a close the anti-strike forces at Steamboat Springs made their
move. Let the Pilot tell us what happened:

There has been a qreat dea] of dissatisfaction with the Oak
Creek situation throughout the county for some time. The taxpayers

know that under the circumstances it has been necessary to keep a

areat many deputies in the field to preserve order and the expense

has been runnina up to a figure larcer than the county could

stand. There have been repeated threats among taxpayers to treat

the situation as in times past the sheep situation was treated.

During the afternoon of the last day of the trial a number
of businessmen met to discuss the entire strike situat%on as it
was effecting the taxpayers. An oroanization was affected so
quietly that it did not become known on the streets. . . . The
first knowledge of the movement was a few minutes before the
conclusion of the trial before Justice Mallory when about seventy-

five business men entered the court room and remained standing in
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the back of the room until the justice announced his decision-and
adjourned court, |
At this time the men- moved férward and asked that they be

allowed to make a statement. A spokesman was put forward to

announce the demands of the taXpayers, which was that Frank Garnier,

« « « John Ferquson, . . . and Martin Stinéhardt.° . . be required

to leave the county within twenty-four hours. . . . The statement

made that the oraanization did not come for argument, but simply

to present their demands.34

After the ultimatum was issued the Sfeamboatites withdrew to another
hall. Here Dr. H. C. Dodge took charge of organizing the "Taxpayefs

Leaque." The enlaraed group drew up another set of demands: Ffank
Garnier, John Ferguson, Alex Ferauson, Rusty Feraquson, Thomas Bryant, John
Howard, Peter Cisnero, J. E, Thompson, Martin Stinehardt, Jim Sullivan,
John Creek, W. M. Doyle, Tom Piércen, Dave Reedy, James Ray; K. Clemens,
Charles Stark and Mike Pritcher were to 1ea9e Routt County at once. Among
the list were several men who were not miners on strike. Tom Piercen was
one of the 1ead{nq investors in the 0Oak Creek Town Company and he was a
leading businessman. W. M, Doyle ran saloons, cat houses, and other
businesses. Jim Sullivan and Dave Reedy were on the Oak Creek city council.
The Taxpayers Leaaue demanded "that within a reasonably short time, all
ablebodied men in Oak Creek camp shall be at work or leave the camp." It
is interesting that Oak Creek was called a camp when it was one of the
largest and richest communities in northwestern Colorado. One suspects
that community pride and jealousy played an important role in the motives

of the Taxpayers Leaque. The final demand called for no interferance with

miners as they went to and from work, The Yampa Leader found the action of

the leaque to be "unfortunate and 11 advised."3% At Hayden "many people
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hardly knew where they stood." However, "the qeneral opinion was thaf the
strike should not be handled with gloves, but with a firm hand. " 36

In response to the Taxpavers Leaque the United Mine Workers'“advised
[their] men in Routt county to stand on their riaht as citizens, to refuse
to be deported and to shoot to kill if any other than a bona fide peace
officer attempts to interfere with them." The union went on to,tel] their
members, "anyone who allows himself to be deported, who has not violated
any law, is not fit to be a citizen of any country, and I don't want him
coming whining about me. If he kills the man that tries it we're back of
him."37  Those were hard words and could easily lead to a blood bath. In .
response to the situation Governof Ammons sent fhe militia to Oak Creek.

Why were troops stationed at 0Oak Creek? ATlthough some of the methods
used were questionable, local law enforcement officers had stayed in
control of thé strike zone. The operators were importing strikebreakers to
work in their mines before the leaque became involved, and the arrival of
the troops did not affect the mining'activities. In answer tp the question,
the Taxpayers Leagque was simply a political ploy to justify bfﬁnging in
the militia, This shifted the cost of keeping peace from the county to the
state,

The arrival of Captain Dorn and Company G Second Regiment of the staté
militia was met with displeasure by the residents Of'southeranoQtt County.
"Pinkey" Lewis, who was fireman on the train that brought the militia to
Oak Creek, recalled the train stopped for water at Volcano. While there
Captain Dorn began instructing the conductor and engineer on how to water
their engine. As an expression of their feelings, the train crew set the
car with the militia on the siding and went off and left it. Another train
later brought the militia into the district. It was this type of nuisance

resistance rather than any overt acts that exemplify the relations between
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the militia and the people of the strike district,

By January 1914 the United Mine Workers were confronted with several
problems., The strike in the southern district was taking much of the
union's talent and treasury. lleanwhile at Oak Creek the union ranks wére
beginning to crumble., A miner named Jensen had put forth his best for the
union cause, but the bitter cold and snow‘of winter was taking its tp]] on
him and his family, FinaT]y in late January he decided to move his family
from one of the tent communities into a house in Oak Creek. There was some
belief that he also planned to qo back to work since the mines were.
operating at nearly full capacity. To make an example of Jensen and
discourane other members of the rank and file from breaking away, a qroup
of union men went to Jensen's home and destroyed nearly all his household
belonainas and*beat Jensenfsevere]y. The strikers might have killed him
except for the timely arrival of Captain Dorn and a large force of militia,3®
The fact that the union was havfng to use force to control its members
made it clear that the strike in the Yamba Coalfield had been broken. Soon
Garnier, Pankey, and other union and political leaders left the district.

On February 19, Dave Reedy, who had been ordered to leave Oak Creek by
the Taxpayers League, but like most of those ordered to leave had stayed,
walked into Walker Mercantile Company to purchase a few items. Suddenly
Raymond Burt of the Baldwin-Phelps Detective Agency drew a qun and shot
Reedy in the face. "There seems to have been no provocation for the
shooting, other than that there had been trouble at a previous time." The
wound to Reedy was not too serious, and Burt was arrested and the legal
process started.

In mid-March the raw edges of the strikers and strikebreakers were
beginning to nrate on each other. One pay day the strikebreakers gathered

in the town saloons and beqgan their drinking and carousing. The strikers
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who were broke and wished they could join in on the revelry began insulting
the strikebreakers, Hofds were exchanaged between the two aroups and a few
scuffles ensued. As the day proaressed the tone of.the anger became more
intense and both sides souanht weanons., After dark shots were heard near
the Pinnacle tipple. Excited men rushed to the area and found the bodies
of Jack Gill and Don Motto. Both Gill and Motto were strikers, and the
threat of open warfare was present. Although the remainder of the night
was tense with an occasional shout and shot, folks stopped short of war,
One of the dead men, Gi11, was the principal witness for Reedy in the case
against Burt. After the_shootinq, Sheriff Chivinqton arrested A, H. House
and A, D. Perkins. Before his death from vounds, Motto identified House
as one of the men who attacked him and 0111.40 After being arraiqned;
House was released on bond to await trial. llhile waiting the June sesgion
of the district court, House worked as a rope rider at Moffat Mine. On~
May 15, while taking a strinq of cars into the mihe, "other cars, in some
unaccountable manner, aot loose behind him and crushed his Tife out."4
Late on the night of May 2, 1914, the PMioneer Rooming House cauqht.
fire. John Snow and Bob Doqret died in the flames and "more people woﬁ]d
of died but a man coming home from a dance discovered the fire and risked
his Tife running from door to door waking people. HMr. and Mrs, Clapper who
ran the boarding house awoke to find their ceiling all afire." One witness
frankly states, "It was no accident as someone had fired both stair cases."42
- Before the inferno was brouaht under control thirteen businesses were
destroved. "For months . . . Sam Bell [had] kept a watchman at his
building, and he feared something of this character would occur, but on
that evening dismissed him," The only building on the block not deétroyed
by the fire was the union haHo43

The union continued the strike at least in name until December 1914,
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but in reality the strike in the Oak Creek district was over by the spring
of 1914, On March 16, the Havden brothérs were granted a charter of
incorporation for the Hayhro Mine located just north of the Juniper Mine.
Lewis Hayden was superintendent of the Juniper and in a poéition to know if
a new mine could find the necessary labor to becin deve]opment. During the
summer, the mining district at 'lt. Hérris was opened and began shipping
coa1.44 In June the mines'reported that they set a new coal shipping
record, That month the Oak Creek district shipped "1489 carloads, an
amount almost 50 per cent higher than in any previous June, " 45

As the winter of 1914 drewAypon the Yampa Valley, everyone could look
to the future with a sense of uhcertainity. The Union had taken up a
noble cause, but for the most part they had been beaten badly in the
northwestern Colorado coalfield, and only events outside the field could
salvage any victory for the miners. The mine operators had fought a noble
fight to open the coalfield and‘make its product available to the public.
The future was uncertain althouah the field had been extended to include
the Mt, Harris district. MNo one was sure the railroad wou]d’survive and
without it, none of the mines or industrial efforts could last. All that

remained was to continue the struaale.
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CHAPTER 'V
DIGRING COAL

The history of the Yampa Coalfield is the chronicle of people locked
in a struggle over the most basic forces of rreed, power and alory. Giants
of industry, aovernment, and unions measured their rivals in an effort to
gain supremacy. Gamblers and outlaws dealt their cards and played their
hands. Minqgling in with the battles of the warring giants.tread the humble
folks who mined the coal and built the solid foundation of society. The
folks who worked the mines had skin of black, red, yellow and white hues.
They spoke the lanquages of the Far East, Near East, Eastern Europe,
Western Europe and native American. Renardless of an individual's place of
oriqin, social position, monetary standina or political affiliation, the
dark and damp of mother nature's mines recoanized no difference. The
mountain exacted a high toll paid in blood and flesh from the men who dared
to ao into the bowels of the earth to extract the carbon fuel,

The men who went into the mines had a recklessness about them that
often resulted in death or serious injury. Such was the nature of the men
involved in the First rencrted —ine death in the Yamna Vallev., On
~January &, 1200, Jacob Cross and Clarence lyatt began reopeﬁing and
developing the Morgan Mine on Deep Creek. The two men had a number of
chores to do before the mine WQuld be safe. For several years the propeﬁty
had been worked "in a careless, haphazard manner, by inexperienced miners."
Although Cross and Wyatt placed timbers in the mine before beginningvtheir
development work, they were also of that class of men who did their work in
a careless, haphazard manner. In order to provide working room they
stopped settina props within ten feet of the face., "About a foot inside of

the props a smooth slip running at right anales to the working place
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penetrated the roof." lyatt, who was an inexperienced and somewhat timid
miner, called Cross's "attention.to the danqerous condition of the roof,
adding that he could push his hand into the opening, but [Cross] did not
heed his warning and worked alond, encoufaqing [Uyatt] to do likewise."
Suddenly the rock gave way and Cross paid the supreme price for his
recklessness. !

A person can feel the nonchalant attitude of A. R, Allen as he walked
out of the Oak Hills Mine on June 14, 1909, to get material and assistance
with his e1ectr1cé1 work, .James \!, Colbert and William Smith were busy
painting when Allen approached them to solicit aid. The two painters, who
were bored with their job, readily agreed to help deliver material into the
mine., The trio gathered the necessary items and loaded them oh a mine cér
and pushed it over the ”hnuck]e" without attachinag the cable. A1l three
men jumped into the mine car and off they went, down the twenty-seven degree
incline. "One of the men was at‘the brake, but it was absolutely use]esé
in checkina the speed of the car as it plunqged down into the bowels of the
earth at a terrific speed." Finally the car jumped the track and hurled
Smith and Colbert to their déath. Allen was badly injured‘and a crew of
men working alonq the track narrowly averted the onrushing car.2

The nonchalant reck]e$sness of the miners approached absurdity at
times. For example: Tony Brouszos and John Jinko entered the Haybro bath
house fully expecting to clean up and go home. However, one of the men had
forootten to put a small can of black powder in its proper place before
entering the bath house. HNow powder was strickly forbidden in the bath
house, but the miner did not want to walk back out into the c01d until he
showered, So he decided to hide the powder until after c]eanihn up; then‘

he would put it in the proper place. The miner chose the electrical switch

box which was convienent to hide the powder. The obvious happened--the
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electrical current set off the powder killing Brouszos and seriously
injuring Jink0.3 |

There were some mine accidents which combined recklessness and crime.
On December 15, 1911, Edward S, McKinley, Jr. walked into the Yampa Valley
Mine to inspect some of the deeper workings. McKinley who was a son of a
wealthy Denver family who had provided him with the best eduéation was of
that reckless breed of mine operator who took chancesnénd worké%yas their
own superintendent. During the tensévéeﬁéitigns whieh_existed between
management and Tlabor and McKinley and Oak Creek politicians, it was
foolhardy for a superintendént to leave himself eprsed. But McKinley went '
into a remote section of the mine and was returning to the surface vihen he
saw a string of mine cars rushina at him. The approaching cars were timed
so they would meet the mine superintendent at a narrow section of the mine,
McKinley tried to press against the rib and found it was too narrow so he
turned and attempted to out run fhe cars. But he slipped and the cars
rushed over him, The badly crushed man was hurried from the mine and
placed on a special train for Denver. As the train neared Yarmony,
McKinley died., Since mine cars frequently broke loose, McKinley's death
was carried simply as another mine accident.4

The fact that the section of the mine was remote and not working and
the runaway cars were pérfect]y timed the suspicion of foul play is present,
The hard feelings between Tabor and management could provide a clue to thé
motive. However, during the city election of 1910 the Citizens' Ticket was
the only organized party on the ballot., "But there was some feeling over
the election as three names were written in." E. S. McKinley, Jdr. came
very close to defeating the incumbent, G, W, Hoffman. Although it is not
fully known what caused the "feeling," vice was involved.®

The story of Allen House and his death during the big strike of 1913-
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1914 suagest foul play. In the spring of 1314 House had been identified
as one of the men who mﬁrdered Jack Gi1l and Don Motto. Gill was the star
witness to an earlier shootina; thus the killings have an involved twist.
House, who was out on bond until his trial, was working as a rope rider at
the Moffat Mine when "other cars, in some unaccountable manner got loose
behind him and crushed his life out."© |
Most of the men who worked in Colorado mines had exhibited a certain
amount of boldness, vision and ambition when they left their homes in
either Europe or Asia. But once they reached the mining districts of the
state, theyadded a romantic flavor to the lanauage of the communities.
It is possible to get an indication of the strenqth of the varioﬁs
nationalities by Tooking at the accident records. In ]9]L killed in
Colorado mines were one Bulaarian, eleven Italians, eight Mexicans, six
Poles, eight Slavs, one Hungarian, two Englishmen, twelve Americans,
eleven Austrians, one fGerman, th Montenenrins, one Tyrolian, one Greek,
one Swede, one Japanese, one Turk, and one Russian. Although the men had a
boldness, they were inexperienced, and State Inspector of Coal Mines James
Dalrymple noted, "the peréon who is so incompetent that he knows practically
nothing about the business in which he is engaged, and is unable to
understand what is being said to him by those in charge, should not be held
responsible for any accident to himself or others throuch his action."7
The vast majority of the mine accidents were caused by falls of rock
or coal which could have been avoided had the mining area been properly
timbered. But with seyenteen different lanquaaes being spoken it was
impossible to instruct men on the proper method for timbering. Adding to
the confusion was the 1ack of agreement upon what constituted proper
timbering. Then the mines did not always have useable timbers available.

In some cases props were placed in the mining area but it was understood
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that they were to be used sparinaly. In other cases the miners were charged
for props which were decducted from their meaqer wages.
| At the Moffat Mine on the morning oF Hav 18, 1910, Henry Hewman

harnessed his mule and began the morning round of picking.up 1oadedvﬁine
cars. As he approached the area V. B, McCardy and George HcChessie were
mining, McCardy was scaling the roof. Ilewman, who was unaware of the
danner, cane on; McCardy, who was unaware of‘Hewman‘s presence, gave no
warning., He simply jumped clear as the rock fell. MNewman never knew what
hit him, and McChessie, who did not have any warning.either, was seriouS]y“
injured.®

Even the best and mdst careful miners met their match in the mines,
Yilliam Hillier Sr. was a hiqh]y respected expericnced miner at the Juniper
Mine, Hillier began his mininqg career in dales in 1882, After cominq'to-
the United States he had worked in the mines at Erie, Colorado. With the
opening of the Yampa Coalfield, He moved his family to the Juniper Hine.
In March, 1912, he was ennaqed in one of the most hazardous occupations in
the mines--pullinqg piT]ars.g

As a mine is developed, rooms and road ways are cut through the coal.
These become the rips and pillars of the mine. The pillars contain
approximately fifty percent of the mine's coal and hold most of the weight
of the overburden. Since so much coal is in the pillars it is necessary to
mine that coal after the area is fully developed--worked out. Since
removing the coal also requires that the roof of the mine be allowed to
cave, pulling the pillars is abhiqh1y danqerous occupation, As weight
settles on thé rips the coal tends to pop out. In fact, many miners took
jobs of pulling pillars because the coal would easily pop out which allowed
a large amount for loading with a minimum of Tabor. But often the coal

popped out and struck the miner. And to keep the roof from caving on the
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miner it was necessary to set "breaker rows" with extreme care. In the
"cave area" the roof was supposed to fall, but the cave area was the area
no miner went into. The area between the cave and the mining area was an
exact line defined by the "breaker row." The "breaker row" broke the rock
at a certain point allowing a select place to remain safe while the other
areas were deadly. -Of course setting the "breaker row" was a precise
craft. As coal was removed from the pillar the roof begins settling which
causes rocks to break. These "bumps" send a minor earthquake through the
mine. A bump can and often does break rock loose inside the mining area.
In these cases the pillar or "stump” works as an unwanted breaker row in
that it shears the rock'off at the coal and allows it to fall in the work
area. With modern equipment men work far enouch from the coal that they avoid
many of the rocks that fell on earlier miners equipped - with only a pick

and shovel.'0

| In the time honored fashion of pullinag pillars, William Hillier, Sr.
began his work on March 16, 1912. With the courage and confidence that
comes with long years of practice the fifty-nine year old miner swunqg his
pick at the coal. Suddenly the face exploded outwards and the roof
collapsed. Hillier was found with numerous injuries and rushed by rail

to Yampa where Dr. J, H. Cole did all he could. Later William Hillier, Jr,
took his father to Lafayette, Colorado, fér burial. On the return trip

he chanced to meet his brother-in-law Thomas Irwin. Irwin had many years
experience in the coal mines althouah he was still a young man, Like so
many miners of his day he had drifted from mining camp to mining camp as
work and personal whim dictated. Upon meeting Hillier Jr. and learning of
the fate of the older man, Irwin decided to qo to Oak Creek and’go to work.
Since most of the family was working at the Juniper Mine it was natural for

Irwin to seek work at the same place. The 0Oak Creek Times reported,
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"Thomas Irwin was killed by a fall of coal while pulling pillars in the
Juniper mine bn Saturday. The accident occurred in fhe same room, in the
same manner, and within 10 minutes of the same time of day as that which
killed William Hillier, Sr."1! |

Because of the hazards associated with pillar pulling most miners
refused to be involved with the work, In some mines pillar pulling
operations would qo for extended periods without anyone working at the
task, In the Keystone !line development work had forged ahead without any
effort to pull pi]iars for so long a period that the pressure was becoming
astronomical on the pillars. Onceijllar nulling began the danger was so
areat that mostrminekslrefuséd”to-dofthe-work: For several years Fontaine
Villa, a special type of miner, was the only man working as pillar puller
in the mine. When he qot into trouble with the law and was sent to prison,
pillar pulling at the Keystone Mine stopped until Villa returned. DBy that
time conditions were in a real méss. He took up where he left off, Villa
could strike the coal with his pick and coal exploded from the face. With
a charmed 1ife, Villa worked at this danaerous task without serious mishap,12

In the Haybro #3 shaft mine after the development work was completed,
the coal was mined&%y a longwall method$ig\some 5;§5§> Longwalling, as
the name implies, requires a long wall of coal which is mined as a
continuous unit. By this system a breaker row was set along the length of
the face and the men extracted the coal. As the coai was extracted new
breaker rows were set and the men proaressed through the mine. The cave
area was always riaht behind them, and in essence everyone was involved in
pulling a massive pillar. Although longwalling had its dangers, it had
some distinct advantages. Since there were no work areas for dust or gas
to collect, the chance of mine explosions was sharply reduced. By

Tongwalling the sections of the roof that might rot after periods of being
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exposed to the atmosphere was reduced. because once thc men finished an area
the roof soon caved and no one would ever no back in it. More important,
the pressure as the mountain settled was continually being re]ieved.]3

In mines like the Keystone the weight of the roof became a critical
problem during the last years the mine worked. The mine Qas continuously
bumping and dribbling rock from the roof. In the nine foot coal on the
south side of the mine the pophinq coal would reach well back into the
mining area. One of the more éapab]e cutting machine operators, Floyd
Lewis and his assistant Gordon Steele would set their machine and then go
back from the face several feet and plug the machine in. Lewis would stay
at the "nib" and 1i§ten to the machine as it was bombarded by coal aﬁd
rock as it slashed into'ﬁhe vein. ‘hen the machine bogged dovn, Lewis
would pull the nib and wait until the mine settled down. Then he and
Steele would qgo and clean the coal off the machine and prepare to make
another cut. They mined a 1ot'of coal without having to shoot it down 14

Despite the dangers and hardships, the mines were a place of
opportunity for many residents of Routt County. H. A, Todd came to the
Yampa VYalley ahead of the rai]road and stopped for a time at Toponas where
he helped John Heron with the stane station. In fact the Herold and Todd
families were related and it was through this connection that the Todds
were induced to leave the Trinidad area where Todd worked as a mechanic.
With the arrival of the railroad Todd found plenty of employment at‘the
Moffat Mine, !°

Keeping with the times Todd also wanted a ranch so he bought a
relinquishment on Morrison Creek. Ranching was a hérd business on the
small homesteads. Only by uniting their efforts were the folks able to

oet their small homes, usually two room loq structures, built. An in

times of sickness families united to put up the hay and do the necessary
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chores. But too often there were "too few cows" and too many dons and kids
on the homestead. /And subsistence Tivina was the best that the land could
provide. The old men were another problem. Often older bachelors took up
homesteads as a place of retirement. These men built cahjns hut failed to
plant crops, even a simple garden or potato patch, When winter came some
of the bachelors became snowbound and died of starvation. Alfie Cole who
was one of the more prosperous men on 'lorrison Creek would butcher durina
the worst of the winter and call on his neighbors to help care for the
older men. Everyone who had some extra potatoes, cheese, ctc, would meet
at Cole's home and make up sacks of food which were taken to the old
bachelors. Since the snow was déepg it was a difficult task to reach these
men, On some occasions the rescue parties found the old men sick and in
desperate need. This always required further effort to get them to help.
Usually the sick were taken to an already overcrowded homesteader's home
where he was nursed to health,

The efforts to help folks was heroic and did foster a special feeling
of brotherhood. But the poverty of the homesteaders was inescapable.
They were so poor that they could not afford a pair of overshoes although
overshoes werel{éﬁ‘ﬁriced. People throunhout the valley, not exclusively
on Morrison Creek, used aunny sacks for overshoes. Tﬁe sack was folded
like a diaper and wfapped and tied around the foot. Hewspapers and
cardboard were used for lining to add warmth. When folks went to visit
they would take their qunny sackonershoes off and leave them in a corner
as a normal act when they entered a home. For these poor folks, cash and
opportunity had teo come from someplace other thén the small homestead.

. A. Todd would leave his family when the mines began working large
crews during the fall, He would remain at the mines until Tate spring., In

the spring of 1914, Todd was workinag at the tipple of the Junction Cfty
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Mine. Since this was during the biaq stfike‘it should be noted that the
Junction City "ine had settled with the union. Todd's job was to empty the
loads and send the mine cars back into the mine. e was pushina an empty
car out of the way when a strina of ciaqht loads broke loose behind him,

The loads cauaght Todd as he tried to jump clear badly breaking his leq.
There was no one working with him, so with great pain he had to shove the
loaded cars off himself and then draqg himself to a window to call fbr nelp.
Adding to his aqony was the fact that the mine had no provisions to take
care of the injured man. It took over an hour to summons é do;tbr;‘ The
doctor arrived and Todd was put in a waqon and hauled by slow team near]y

fifteen miles to the hdSpita] in Yampé° Finally, several hours after the

accident, Dr. Cole amputafed the lea. As thé Yampa Leader noted, "Todd
[had] a wife and several small children to support [and] this accidenf will
be a hard blow to him."16 The accident was a burden on the entire family,
and to help relieve part of the hardship the children sought employment at
the mines as soon as they were old enouch., Thus the coal mines were both
the source of anquish and the road out of poverty.

J. Frank Anthony was less fortunate than .H.=A. Todd. Anthony came to
Routt County in 1905 and homesteaded on Morrison Creek. He remained on the
property until it was proved up, then moved to Oak Creek to earn cash for
further improvement on the land. Aﬁthony was employed at the Moffat Mine
to switch the pit cars at Argo Gulch. While he was pushing a string of
empties a string of loads cauaht him and crushed him between the cars. A
few hours later, the homesteader who had dreams of improving his ranch was
dead. 17

Fred Todd and two brothers left Cak Creek during the‘winter of 1917 to
work at Bear River. On January 19, 1917, he and two other miners were

walking out of the mine at the end of the shift when they met the shot
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firer. Todd informed the shot firer that they had Toaded their own holes,
This made the shot firer anary and he let the men know that they were in
violation of the rules. But Fred, who was convinced that the shot firer
had been breaking up too much coal and qenerally hot doing his work right,
was more anxious to see the results of his work than worry about the shot
firer. So he followed the shot firer back into the mine. After the blast,
Todd stepped into the room without sounding the roof. His carelessness
resulted in instant death when ten ton of rock fell from the roof.1®

Thus, some of the homesteaders who souaht opportunity in the mines
only found disaster. But EFarnest "Dude" Todd, whose father lost his leq,
was able to find success in the mines. Todd's'neighbor, Mrs, Skinner who
cooked at the Merchants Cafe in Oak Creek, recommended Dude to the barn
boss at the Moffat ane. In the course of events he was hired. Dude was
an ambitious man who decided early in 1life that he would not be just another
miner. To further himself he studied elactrical engineering. Since the
Moffat Mine was using electricity in its opcration, Dude soon had one of
the better jobs in the mine. From this point he entered local politics and
before he retired from business he had become a successful man.

The Haybro Mine proved an unique opportunity for George Heinke and
his family. The Heinke family arrived in the spring of 1914 just as the
Hayden brothers were opening théir mine on top of Oak Hii]se Heinke began
working a team and wagon when the development work started; 1ater.he worked
as blacksmith and he continued in various capécties with the mine for
thirty years. For many of those vears he walked a mile ffom his homestead
to the mine. Much of the time he was able to wérk night shiffs which
allowed him an opportunity to work both the homestead and the mine.]g

Although Heinke's homestead was closer to the mine than most, it was a

common occurance for homesteaders to work in the mines during the winter
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months., Throuah the vears these people divided into two distinct qroups.
Some of the homesteaders'were primarily interested in mining with the
homestead as a supplement. Other homesteaders viewed’the mine as a
supplement to the ranch,

After World War I Heinke returned to his old job as blacksmith at the
Haybro #2 slope mine, but the war and a desire to make more money pulled
him into the mine. His first minfnq.job was highly profitable for
experience; however, the work was most demanding and he was often wet from
the waist down. The area he and his "buddies" worked was called the "water
hole" and was very wet. They constantly had to keep the hand operated pump
working. When a fuse was 1it to shoot the coal down, Heinke and his partner
would have to drag the pump into the clear as they sought cover.‘ When they
returned to the workino area it Was necessary to draq the pump back into
place and beqin pumping immediately. Loading coal was harder work than
normal because of the water, Mdre than once Heinke and his buddy lost an
entire Monday's mining because the mine area had filled with water while the
mine was idle on Sunday. After more than a year of working in the water,
Heinke wasbmoved to another area of the mine. Here the face was split by a
layer of rock at just the right level for loading cars. Johnny Mathews,
who was an expert with a cutting machine, would cut the coal just above the
split. Heinke and his buddy drilled the hoies and shot down the coal while
Mathews was cutting another area nearby. With the coal easy to Toad and
the men being paid for rock work, Heinke was able to make a very good
living.

The mines were a mixed blessing for the men who worked at them, but
beasts underground generally suffered extensively. During the first years
of the mines horses and mules were the primary means of moving coal to and

from the main haulaae road. In the Moffat !iine it was a common practice to
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hook a mule and a horse to a string of cars. The horse vas used as a
leader. Nearly all the animals were bruised and punctured where an irate
drive had used a spraq as a‘whip. Some mules like old Capp became
notoriously danaerous. He kicked, struck and bit with a deadliness, He
hated the mines so badly it was necessary to hlindfold him to get him into
the mine. Any man who worked him risked his life; however, despite his
cantankerous nature Capp was sought after by rope riders. It was generally
aoreed that when Capp refued to enter a minina area it was too dangerous.
More often than not the mule's instinct proved correct, 2V

The stereotype mine accident involves the miner with a pick and shovel,
but handling mine cars was a'dannerous'business. In the Oak Creek district
there were nine fata]itieé_to men handling coal cars in an eight year
period between 1911-1919. None of the fatalities had identical causes.

For example, fony Velotti, ace sixteen, was hired to throw a switch on the
gravity tram at the Yampa Va]]ey‘ﬂine. Hormally one would believe that
throwina a switch was a safe occupation. On Auaqust 25, 1911; the young man
threw the switch after a strina of loads had passed when suddenly a taunt
cable came out from under tﬁe cars and whipped with such force that the
boy's leas were broken at fhé_knees and he was thrown to the aqround with
such force that he received a deadly brain concussion.Z] Velatti's death
could have been avoided if the tfam system had been better designed.

Joe Parina's death was harder for the miners to understand. He and
his buddy had loaded two cars of coal, and Parina étarted the loads towards
the room entry. To this point everythina was normal for a mine. The men
followed the time honored practice of drivinag their room slightly up grade
50 loads could be dropped easily to the entry and empties brought to the
face. Along these aentle agrades cars rarely picked up much speed and

usually could be stopped easily. But for Parina, who was riding the lead
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car, something happened and he fell under the cars. The ffrst his partner
knew of the accident was when he heard Parina cry’that soft cry which sends
chills throunh the listener, "Buddy." !len in the mine considered Parina's
death just one of those things which qgoes with the job.22
In the mines of the Oak Creek district there were sections that had
grades of 25 percent or more, and in all sections of the mine the qrade was
sharp., Because of the grades there were special problems in handling the
cars. In fact, over steep sections men were hired to spraa the wheels.
Spraas were pointed metal rods with wooden handles placed in the wheels.
This form of rouah lock was often the only braking system used to control
cars down steep grades. "Spraqgers," the men who nut the sprags in, soon
became adept at spraqing a wheel while tne wheels were turning at fast
speeds. The idea was to not stop the car because it would be difficult to
start; however, if the spraq was not put in place the car would run away.
John S. Munson was working as a épraqer at Haybro Ho. 2 when a trip of
loaded cars passed on it way outside. But the loads were too heavy for the
hoist. Instead of the cars coming to a slow stop and slipping slowly back
to a lesser grade the cable broke. !Hunson had no idea that a string of
runaway cars was coming at him until it was too 1ate.23
In this accident we find another characteristic of some of the miners.
James Fulton who was the rope rider on the i11 fated trip realized that the
loads were too heavy but he failed to stop the trip while in a relatively
safe place. He saw Munson when he passed, but when he reported the accident
he said no one was hurt. It was not until a.trackman found Munson's Tight
that his body was dug out of the wreckage. Fulton Was not heartless, but
he was a man of his time with a nonchalant attitude, and when no one

9]
screamed he assumed no one was hur't.‘4

To avoid many of the accidents caused by steep grades-abfoken cables
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or clevises--mines often surveyed development areas on gentle ‘qrades and
allowed roadways to meander. This was advantaneous to men who moved the
cars with horses and mules from the mininn area to the mafn hau]age road.
On the main hau]aqé roads it was néceséary to avoid the twists and turns
which resulted in sharp anﬁ]es and steep arades. Only throunh the
progression of shaker pané, shuttle cars and conveyor belts was the tragic
accident rate reduced.

Despite the tracic reality of Routt County mine accidents, certain
accidents had a slap stick comic character. Qne young Russian mfner,
Steve Chirkoses, was walkingq from the Moffat [line to the bunkhouse after
the shift. Meanwhile the switch engine was working in the mine yards.
Since the enqgine was heading towards the bunkhouse, the miner decided to
swinq aboard between the tender and the enaine. lle reached up and hooked
the grab iron like a professional and swunq between the tender and the
engine expecting to alight in thé stirrups of a ladder. But there were
no stirrups or ladder, just the arab iron. The accident cost Chirknses
his left arm,2>

Then for some of the victims death came as a welcome relief to a
tragic life. Dr. Andrew Hays had beaun life in County Mayo, Ireland, and
Tike so many people of his time the call of western gold was strong enough
to bring him to Colorado. Unlike most miners Hayes was among the more
fortunate at Cripple Creek. Although he was aetting on towards middle aqe
when he struck it rich, he used his wealth to seek a life long dream of
becoming a hedica] doctor, In 1891 he received his degree from the
University of Colorado and the next year received a degree for host qraduate
work from the University of Denver. He then returned to Cripple Creek
where he continued to do well. As Cripple Creek wound down Hayes moved to

Yampa in 1906. Here he bought a ranch south of town and engaged in
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several business ventures, DBy 1916 llayes was netting on in years, bad
business ventures and inconsistant personal hahits had taken their toll.
In the late fall he was in Oak Creek without a dollar Tooking for a job
in the mines., He had recently been workinn at a saw mill near Toponas,
but his physical condition was such that he could not work at either the
mines or the saw mill, Rejected in Cak Creek, Hayves drifted to Mt. Harris
where he was employed to work in the cook house at fhe Routt-Pinnacle Mine.
He had only worked a couple of days when he fell under a mine train working
in the yards. Wo one evér knew why or how he came to his death.20

The miners were complex men with paradoxes. The term “buddy" meant a
special partnership between men working tocether in the mine. Among them
developed a sense of loyalty and respect. If a person was your "buddy" he
was ready and willing to stand by you through thick and thin. Paradoxically
miners exploited each other with qusto. fhe blacksmith often exacted a
consideration from miners for keépinq their tools sharp. If the added fee .
was not paid a miner would find that his picks and drill bits were not sharp
and ready to go when the shift beaan. Rope riders often exacted a tribute
for setting cars., If the demands were not met, the rope rider would be slow
at picking up and spotting cars. Under some conditions the miner would wait
hours without a car to load. Since he was paid by the ton, the lonqg idle
neriods were cost]y.27

Dude Todd recalled while he was underground electrical superintendent
he went through the mine one morning with mine foreman Jack Bond. At each
room Bond would step through the entry and reach down and take two dollars
from the dinner pail. He came into a room where John Mackinnie was working
and looked into the pail. There wasn't any monev for the mine boss. Bond
asked the miner why there wasn't any mohey in the pail. Mackinnie told how

his family was sick and he had needed the money for medicine, The mine
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boss listened to the story and then told the miner that he would have four
dollars in the dinner bucket the next day or he would go down to the water
hole. John replied that he cod]d not stand being sent to the water hole.

At this point Todd paid the four do]1afs. As the two men continded thier

inspection Todd questioned why the mine boss had been so hard on the miner,
He was told that the system assured that he had good miners in qood places
in order to maintain high'tonnaﬂe.28

Jack Harvey was runnina the hoist on 7 and 8 upper when Bond and Todd
came by on their rounds of inspection.. Bond asked Harvey if he had "a
couple of extra shifts on your statement this last time." DBond replied,
"What I fiaured is we would qo fifty-fifty on thoﬁe. One for you and dne
for me." "MNo," Harvey responded, "let's just have them on there each
time." Bond then walked out of sight around a curve in the mine. Here he
waited until a trip of loads was broucht up to the hoist. As Harvey
started a trip of empties downngond struck the emergency beT]. Harvey
feared someone was down on the track and broucht the trip to an abrupt
stop. In the process he broke the wire rope. DBond then stepped back
around the curve and said, "I seen the whole thing happen; nothing but
carelessness on your part." Bond fired Harvey immediate]y;' Harvey, who
had found a way to aet paid for extra shifts, suddenly found himself
without a job., The corruption and exploitation ran throughout the coal
mining industry.

Todd, who had heen a body quard of Bob Perry, was able to discuss with
the mine superintendent the corruption which occurred in the mine. Perry
was unaware of what was going on, but when pressed to learn what he would
do about the corruption, Todd was told nothing would be done. Perry stated
that it was necessary for tﬁeymine to make a profit and if 1£ required that

the mine bosses and others make somethina on the side in order to assure the
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profit, then they would be allowed to do so;

A few years later Todd was the company‘checkweiqhman. He had not been
workina long when the foreman of the steam nenerator plant came into the
scale office and benan setting the scales to weiqh liont.  The difference
in the recorded coal weight and the true weiqght was used to operate the
steam plant without any expense to the mine. The’foreman's action clearly
indicated it was a common nractice to falsify the scales. In this case
Todd was able to stop the coal theft,.but it was 0'ly a hollow victory.

During the 1920s at the !offat fline there were two checkweighmen--one
represented the miners and the other the companv. The company man, Todd,
would weigh the car and call out the weiqght. The miner's cheékweighman
would inspect the scales and take the miner's number taq off the car. He
would record the weight and number then place the number tag on a pegq
board., Often the number taqgs were lost, misplaced, or stolen., The miner's
checkweighman formed a racket wifh other miners and rope riders. The rope
rider would remove the correct number tan., The checkweighman recorded a]i
unidentified cars to certain miners, After pay day the ganqg would split
their i11 aotten aain,

One of the major objective§ of early union efforts was to have a
miner's checkweighman, After the employees achieved their goal at the
Moffat Mine, corruption continued. Conditions got so bad that in the late
1920s the miners abandoned their hard won gain. Todd, the company
checkweighman, was elected to serve as the miners' checkweighman.

The miners were not only exploited at every turn, their ]ivés vere
dominated by the mine, When the shift changed it was not a certainty that
a person would be able to qo home at the end of the day. One evening Todd,
who was working as an electrician, came out of the mine fully expecting to

ao home to a special birthday party the folks were having for his wife. At
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the checkout stand stood the supcrintendenﬁ who would pick certain ﬁen,
hand them a liaht and tell them to aet A dinner bucket; they vwere to report:
back in the mine. On this particular eveninn "Mr, Alexander handed Todd a
Tight and told him to co back and ride (as rppe rider) 7 and 8 lower. \hen
Todd protested he was told that the reaular rope rider had been letting the
tonnage s1ip so the superintendent had layed him off for a week, Todd knew
that if he refused he would be blacklisted and unable to find another job
in the district. So Tpdd qgot a dinner bucket and returned to the mine.

And every other day for a week he worked his reaular shift as electrician
and then worked as a rope rider. !Meanwhile the reqular rope rider cooled
his heels,

There was an interestinae twist to the system of sending men back into
the mine after a shift. If a man was a cood worker, he could rest assured
that he would be sent back into the mine. And the process of meeting men
and sending them back happened often enounh that the miners benan to take
steps to avoid beina sent back into the mine. The best method to avoid
being sent back was to sluff off on the job. If a miner had a reputation
of being only a mediocre hand he could stop work at quitting time. Of
course mediocrity reduced coal production and general efficiency.

The survival of the fittest system had harsh reprecussions in the Oak
Creek district. At the Keystone Mine the Japanese leased one section. The
Japanese were payinq the mine bosses includina the superintendent so well
that they had first choice on all the mine cars. Carl Steele, who was
workinag as outside wﬁgqh boss, recalled that he would spend all morning
dumping the 200 or so cars that had been loaded by the Japanese. Then the
other miners would have a few cars distributed to them. About two or three
o'clock the rope riders would start qathering all the mine cars and storing

them in order that the Japanese would have plenty of cars when they were



Digging Coal 108

ready to load. Since the mines averaaed workinn only two and three days a
week most of the year, the poor fellow that could not get cars could not |
make a livina no métter how hard he was willina to work. Of course thé
Japanese were simply better ordanized than the other miners,2?

Since there were more men working at the mine than there was equipment
‘why wasn't the labor force reduced? There was money and power in having a
large force of men. The miners furnished their own equipment, paid a fee
for the blacksmith, hospital, etc. They did not cet paid for any dead viork
which included setting props, layina track, boninqg coal, and pumping water,
The miners had to buy their carbide for their 1amp§ and their b]ack-powder
from the company. It was commonly understodd that mine bosses received a
percentage of the amount charged by an employment firm for finding a man a
job. A person would go into one of the Denver emp1oyment offices seekina a
job., For a certain fee the emp]oyment firm found the man a ij. Often the
fee was divided between the empfoyment_firm and the employer. Thus the
mines kept a large force, and tﬁe men were continually being turned over,
Carl Steele recalled seeing one man fired because he did not have any
tools, He had taken his tools to the blacksmith, but the blacksmith had
failed to get them ready. The boss was aware of this fact, but the removal
of one man made an opportunity for another to qo to work, 30

A1l of the larger mines in the Yampa Coalfield kept their own boarding
house and company town. Mt. Harris, which at one time was the largest town
in the county, was a company town, By keeping large forces of men the
company was able to profit from their stores, cook houses; and bunk houses.

By firing someone every day, men were uncertain about the security of
their job. This constant turmoil aave many men an opportunity to exploit

their fellow workers. It was qenerally believed that the mine kept spies

amonq the men., If anyone beaan talking about organizing a union, he was
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soon called on the carpet or fired. By the 1920s, Todd was among a small
agroup of men who slipped off one nicht to Phippsburg to discuss thev
prospects of forming a union. The next mornina he was called into the
superintendent's o?fice to expaéin his union activity. Since Todd was a
highly ﬁki11ed electrician who could not be easily replaced, he was not
fired. But common hiners in similar situations were dismissed immediate]y.3

The problem of keepind up with ownership of coal took another step
once the coal was shipped from the mine. In the transportation of coal all
types of problems occurred. Often the coal was handled by a broker who
might be working closely with a dealer. Once the coal arrived at the
dealer's sheds he might alter the weights or let the coal set until demeraqe
charges ate up the profits. Coal brokers could select the mines which they
would aive the best deal to. In their hands rested the power to make or
break many small mines. O0ften these mines were milked for all possible
profits.

The self feeding system of corruption affected everyone and every
aroup, The system tended to. detract attention from mining and resulted
in slower development of better technolocical advancements which ultimately
improved mining conditions. Among those who most resisted change were the
contract miners who were preyed upoh so heavily by everyone else in the
mine,32

The companies did not look at mining in terms of simply getting out
coal. For example, it was generally agreed that shot firers could make the
mines much safer. The shot would be fired by experts when most of the men
were out of the mine. This would renlace the random shooting which was
common, When the Moffat Mine first started using shot firers in 1910, the
miners were charqed the cost of the shot firers' wages. This was a major

point of contention during the strike of 1910, Because the company would



Digaging Coal ‘ 110

not assume the cost of the shot firers, it was not until the 1920s and
1930s that shot firers replaced the random shootind method in é]] the Routt
County mines. The same problem existed with cutting machines. Hiners
received Tess for coal cut by machine than coal shot on thé soiid. So the
use of cutting machines was slow in developinam,

The Pinnacle Mine paid fifty cents per ken for black powder and sold
it to the miners for $3.00 per kea. Fifty foot of fuse cost the mine fifty
cents while the miner paid $1.25, fer—ifty—foot-of—Fuse. The system of
charging the miners for everythina necessary in the mine made it profitable
to operate a mine even if coal was not produced.33 |

Miners were paid by the ton of coal produced. It was impossibie for a
miner at the Pinnacle to put three tons of coal on a three ton mine car,

At Teast the scales never showed that much coal. And the miners were paid
$1.00 per ton, If there was anv rock in the car.the price was dropped to
fifty cents per ton. Reqard]esé of how hard a miner worked to sort out the
rock he could fiqure that each day at least one car of coal would be docked
for rock. If the mine car had too much bone the company would not pay for
the car. Thus the miner received nothina; however, the mine sold that load
of coal for $4.00 per ton, 34

Most of the men Tooked to the union for help. After the strike of
1913~14 the prospects for the men becoming ormanized were bleak, but during
World War I the federal government pressured recoanition of unions. In
Auqust, 1917, the men at the Colorado Utah !Mine at Mt. Harris struck. The

Oak Creek Times reported that the two day strike "was one of the most

peaceful on record." The emphasis on peaceful suagests what people expected

durina a mine strike. The union orcanizers, R. F. Robinson of Trinidad and
Robert Llewellvn of Oak Creek, talked the men into qoing back to work. The

men also were able to openly send delenates to the United Mine Workers
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convention in Denver. Several months earlier the Yampa Coalfield
operators were surprised to learn that the Victor-American mines which
operated the Wadge ane at Mt. Harris and the Pinnacle Mine at Oak Creek
had recognized the union, wifh_the recoonition of the union came
substantial increases in wages and unidn officié]s were treated with
respect when they visited the coalfields and addressed the miners.35;

The war ended and so did the'cooperation between the mine owners and
the union, In the fall of 1919 the United Mine Workers prepared for a
national strike. It was commonly helieved that a national strike would
affect Routt County.' But some local union leaders noted privately "that
the emb]oyees at present are receiving excellent pay, and most of them are
satisfied and will remain at work."3® Throuch October 1919 the union and
the operators wrangled. On a national level in November non-contract mines
struck. Among them were the Moffat, Haybro, and MchGreqggor, The Moffat
and Haybro mines were two of the‘t%ree major mines in the Oak Creek
distric while the McGreaqor Mine was a small mine on the frinqes of the
Mt. Harris district. The size and location of the mines suqggest the
strength and resistance to the union in the two Routt County coal districts,
In November, a federal judae ordered that the national strike be ended and
some of the men at Oak Creek went back to work, but most of the men ignored
the order and stayed on strike, As a result a small detatchment of the
Colorado National Guard was sent to Oak Creek. However, the strike was
peaceful, and in December 1919 Federal Fuel Administrator Harry A, Garfield
recommended a 14 per cent wage increase for the miners. With the wage
increase the strike ended and the troops left for their homes.3-7

In the fall of 1921 Colorado Fuel and Iron announced that it was
reducing wages 30 percent, Other coal operators soon fell into line and

reduced waqes, and the men struck. Shortly after the strike started in a_
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mining district martial law was dec]ared and troops sent in. Hhen»the
strike at Mt. Harris beqan, George \. Harris, presfdent of the Cé]orado-
Utah Coa1‘Company asked Governor Oliver H. Shoup to send in troops. Since
the county did not Want the expense of maintaining deputies at Mt. Harris
it was quickly agreed to bring‘in the "Rangers" as they were called.
Conditions at Mt. Harris were confusina. In the company town the operators
were able to bring a tremendous amount of pressure on the union leadership,
and the Rangers were used aqainst the strikers. But five men whom George
Harris described as "radical memberé" of the union were able to keep the
strike going until January 1922.38

| Then in April 1922 the United Mine Workers called a national strike.
A week before the strike beqgan Ranaers were sent to Oak Creek and Mt.
Harris., The big blow to the Yampa Valley miners came when W. H. Huff,
president of Victor-American Fuel Company announced, "we have determined to.
open all mines . . . on an open shop basis as soon as the demand for coal
warrants." Huff went on to say, "this is our only a]ternative, inasmuch
as the men are on strike, because of orders from Indianapolis headquarters.,"
The strike remained peaceful, but the open shop and nonunion policies of
the operators took its toll on the miners.39

The men at the Moffat Mine organized a union and walked out in 1922.

But the union did not last Tong. The Tast union meeting was attended by
"01d Man" Ballard the financial secretary, BiH_SealyD and Ben Reary.40
In August the Moffat Mine reopened with a force of about 150 men, and at
the same time the Pinnacle Mine was workina a large force. With the threat
of scabs moving in and the troops already in the district, the union
collapsed in the Yampa Coalfield, |

Ironically, while the men were on strike for better wages and working

conditions with some protection, the newspapers were carrying a series of
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articles about thevp1inht of the men at the [1k Creek Mine .at Milner.

These men had been paid in rubber checks or not paid at all. One woman had
put her husband's pay check in the bank and then written checks on the
balance. Later she was arrested for passina bad checks. When the truth
was discovered, the charges were dropped.4]

The miners souaht juétice and payment throuah Carl Delochte, deputy
state labor commissioner. The deputy commissioner arranged“for the payment
of about 25 percent of the waqes owed and made a deal with the miners to
return to work. The men would produce the coal and the deputy commissioner
would handle the sale of the coal until the debt owed the men was settled.
In a Tater report to the aoverner, the deputy commissioner claimed the men
"nroduced about forty-six cars of coal., Out of this number of cars, owinq
to the slack market, twenty—six cars were held for demurraqe in Denver and
elsewhere and the profit entirely lost." The profit on the remaining cars
was paid to the men. The miners} "record showed 82 cars of coal shipped
instead of 46." Finally W, M, Curtis was forced to take control of several
of his mines near Milner and make cood on the wages. In addition to the
E1k Creek Mine, the miners took over the Roman Coal Company until the wages
owed them was worked out.%2 |

The next serious union unrest occurred in 1928 when the Industrial
Workers of the World (IWW) organized the men. Prior to the strike some
major changes had occurred at the Moffat Mine.qsﬁérry had become very sick
and no lonqer stayed at the mine. A new mine superintendent, Mr. Buckner,
took over the mine. One miner described Mr, Buckner as "a scab burner."

In the coal mines in Cklahoma, Buckner had ruled with an iron hand. At the
Moffat Mine he attempted to do the same., UWhen the men went down in the
mine in the mornina, Buckner would close a door behind them and lock it,

No man was to come out of the mine until 4 p.m. The locking of the door
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did not last lona when the‘mine boss Jack Bond set a charge against the
door and blew the entire thina to pieces.43

Althouah the men had p1enty of reason to strike, the strike of 1928
did not last lona. Scabs movina in and the threat of further reprisals
soon brouacht the strike to an end. After the strike was over; Ben Reary
and about twenty other men were black balled. Reary went to Moffat County
where he found a job. After several weeks Bond contacted him and the other
men who had been black balled. They were told that the mine would rehire
them as haulaae men. So Reary talked to Bond and then went to talk to
Buckner. The superintendent told Reary, "lWe don't have nothing for you."
"Okay," Reary replied and_turned to leave. Buckner stopped Reary and
pointed to the back.door and said, "No, you take this door." Reary looked
the superintendent in the eye and said, "No, you ao to hell. I'm going out
the way I want to go out." At that time Reary was a big man who had gained
a reputation as being a qood fiﬁhter in a town with a lot of men who could
fiqht. 44

A week Tater Perry came to the mine and Bond sent for the black listed
men. When they arrived he instructed them to talk to Perry., Reary and the
others were quite willing to talk to Perry and they believed they would get
a fair hearina. After talking to the men Perry called the superintendent
out on the porch where everyone was standina. Perry asked, "Why don't you
hire these fellows back?" "No, no,"” Buckner responded, "they will never
work no more here." Perry replied, "Mr. Buckner, you are out of a job.,"
In front of the men he had black balled, Buckner suffered the humi]iation
of being fired. Reary and the others were immediately rehired. In a few
vears Reary became a face boss at the Moffat Mine,™

It wasn't until the New Deal legislation of 1933 that the miners

finally became solidly orcanized. By that time the Yampa Coalfield was
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also experiencing some major chanaes. The 1e5dership of the Moffat and
Haybro mines changed with the death and retirement in the Perry and Hayden
families. Many of the oriqinal miners who had immigrated to the United
States in their youth were now aettina older, and their children were
starting to play a larger role in the history‘of_the c0a1f1e1d; With the
new people came a more assimilated group., o lonaer could Greeks, Italians,
and Austrians be easily turned against each other. In 1913, the Colorado
Coal Mine Inspector-became a power for safety in the mines, By the 19205
the state coal inspectors were having a positive impaét on mine safety,
Addinq to the other chanﬂesbwas the advancement of new mine technoloaqy.

By the 1930s Yampa Valley mines were chanainq.
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CHAPTER VI
DIGRING IMORE COAL

Diqgina coal became a proud trade qu many residents of the Yampa
Valley. The dangers and exploitation of mines were recognized but were
not allowed to dominate their Tives, Thése men took events in and around
the mines in stride and built useful and productive lives. Some ventured
into small waqon mine operations where they were their own boss. Others
worked in the mines and were often promoted to higher positions, Some of
the miners left the pit after a time to become merchants and businessmen,
For the majority of the men beina a miner without special recoanition was
enouqh.]

Joe Petronovich was still a bov when his father began taking him into
the Pinnacle Mine. At that time each miner received only two cars to load
and was paid only a dollar a car. By listina Joe as a miner the Petronovich
family could get aﬁothef car and sometimes two to load. The father also
wanted to teach his son to work, so Joe was required to load his own cars
when they reached the working area. From that time on Petronovich was a
miner,

At an early aae Petronovich would qgo up Oak Creek to the settling pond
where he crossed over and traveled up a steep road on Seven Points hill to
Brazilia Hastinas Mine. Petronovich helped his equally youna friend Early
Hastinags mine coal. The two boys would drill and shoot the coal, set their
timbers and rails and load the coal--they were miners.

Since the Hastinns Mine was a small operation, they used Quaker (Aspen)
trees for rail underaround. The trees which were plentiful near the mine
were cut and hewed for track. Outside the mine regular iron mine raiis

were used for the tipple and scales. Another mine that used wooden rails
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was the Juniper; however, these rails were made from scrubvoak énd capped
with a piece of iron. After the coal reached the tipple at thejHastinﬂs
Mine it was a major undertakina to get it to market. Yhen waqons Qere
loaded it was necessary to rough lock the wheels so they could nof turn.
Even with the brakes firmly set the team would have to hold back as the
load snaked down the steep road. |

As Petronovich arew older he followed the footsteps of his father and
brothers into the Pinnac]e Mine. From loading cars the boy aqraduated to
driving a horse in the mine., Unlike the Moffat Mine that used mules, the
Pinnacle used horses underaround. Men who worked horses were expected to
feed and care for their animals on their own time, and the pay for a nine
hour day was $4.48, Petronovich, like most men who worked underground,
decided that more money could be made for the same amount of work by being
a contract miner. So after.his apprenticeship he began working as a coal
digager,

When he began minina, the work was primarily done by hand. The miner
would first set a timber so he coﬁ1d bracé his drill. He would then drill
the holes for shooting, shoot the coal down, lay his track up to the coal,
place any timbers needed and then beain loading coal. To load a car
required a tremendous amount of 1ifting and carrying. A big chanae in the
mines came in 1927 when Superintendent Jones at the Pinnacle invented a
conveyor, Jones's conveyor had a series of pans about eighteen inches wide
and six feet long. Jones's invention was cable and wheel driven. The
kprincip1e was to shake the coal out of the mining area through a series of
jerks. Under Jones's system a miner could set up in different places in
the room. These shaker conveyors eliminated a tremendous amount of 1ifting
carryina, Later the Joy Mining Company studied Jones's system and made

several improvements. One of the primary improvements was the elimination
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of the'cumbersome cable system, At one end of the shaker was mounted a
swivel section which could be easily placed next to the workina area. With
shakers the miners only had to turn much of the coal over and rake it into
the pans. |

llith the introduction of shakers came a‘restructuring of mine labor.
Crews replaced individual miners. The crews consisted of a'cUtfinq machine
operator and his helper. At the Tower end of the shaker was a man who
“chunked" the cars (loaded them). He would load one car then another and
so on until the trip was ready to be taken out. Two men loaded coal into
the shaker,

The crew would start in the riaht hand corner and clean the coal out,
then move on to the left. When room nermitted, the cutting machine was set
up and the operator beqan ”sumpino." The reason they always started in the
right hand corner was to avoid the coal dust that the chain kicked out as
it spun clockwise. By the timé the men had finished loading the coal next
to the face the machine would be far enouch along that the men could begin
drilling their holes and preparing to shoot down the next day's coal.

Another system adopted in the Pinnacle was the use of the "duck bill"
shaker pan. This was a telescope pan which a110wed for one man loading,

To work the duck bill system required a fine sense of skill and timing. As
the shaker moved the operator would ratchit the pans into place. Frank
Petronovich was the first man to run a duck bill at the Pinnacle. One day
his brother Joe who was helping his father timber came upon Frank sitting

on a cart and directing the duck bill like it had eyes. Frank offered to
let his younaer brother run the machine. "I never worked so hard in all my
life," commented Joe. "I was whipped." Some days 1afer Joe and his father
returned to the area to set timbers while the resf of the mine was idle.

So Joe started up the duck bill and finally mastered the necessary timing
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with the stroke of the shakers to make the machine work. Then it was easy;
a person could sit and load at least part of the coal. |

The miners in the Yampa Coalfield could and‘did take pride in the
advancements of the system of transportinag coal; however, in other concerns
of minina the coalfield lagaged sadly behind. When the Vulcan Mine at New
Castle, Colorado, exploded on February 18, 1896, the state coal mine
inspector stated, “The mine, in my opinion, was in good and safe condition,
and there was no accumulation of gas or dust." Given the state of the
technoloay and knowledge about coal mines in 1896 the inspector was
probably justified in his opinion. The Vulcan Mine was ventilated with two
larce fans and an e1aborate water sprinkling system to keep the dust down.
However, technoloqy failed the miners and one of the state's worst mine
disaster occurred.z' A few years after the Vulcan Mine disaster the Victor-
American Mining Company bedqan experimentiﬁq with rock dust in their mines
in the southern coalfield. Thege experiments were the result of major
disasters in that region.

Northwestern Colorado had not made any major efforts to protect their
mines against dust despite the need for strict mine protection and a full
awareness of the danqers. HNearly a quarter of a century after the Vulcan
disaster on February 12, 1921, disaster struck the Argo Mine of the Moffat
Coal Company. Dude Todd vividly recalled what happened. In the afternoon
he and George Davis were repairing a cutting machine in the south entry.

In this section of the mine the men were lonawalling and there were

numerous timbers set and a large open area which had not caved., Covering

the entire mining area was a thick layer of coal dust., As fast as the men
drilled the holes in thé long face, the fire boss was Toading them with
black powder. Todd said to David, "I don't think that fellow should be in

here, Look at the way he is Tininq them up; he is going to shoot those off
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the trolly," After watchinag a few minutes Toéd and Davis approached the
shot firer and inquired about his intentions. They were told, "I'm
fiquring on aoina to the dance tonicht. When that last hole is drilled,
I'm going to hook them together and stick them on the trolly." - With the'
hiah voltage he could shodt several charces at once, Since the areé was
being lonawalled there was an unusua]]& larae number of charqes in a
confined space. |

Todd and Davis hurried with repairing the machine and headed out of
the mine., They reached the ﬁorta1 and turned down Arago Gulch, Meanwhile
in the mine a shot blew out sendina dust into the,air. The other shots
fired and the mine rocked with a michty dust explosion, H. H. Hyde, the
night enaineer, heard the rumblina and dived for cover outside the éntry
to the Argo Mine. Soon the entry shed, equipment, timbers, dirt and mine
debris were crashing against the opposite canyon wall some 300 feet away.
Weaver Sharp, Samuel Patfick and Edward Hamidy were nearing the portal when
the mine exploded. Deeper in the'mine were Henry Wagner and C. Testas,
A1l five men were killed. Luckily only five men were still in the mjne.
On February 12, 1921, no one in Oak Creek danced at the Lincoln Day
celebration., And the shot firer never danced againg3

Moffat Mine superintendent John Alexander quickly began work to
transfer the air from the Mo, 1 Mine to the No. 2 Mine, He also set men
to work rebuilding the fan at Arqgo Guich. By special train rescue workers
from all corners of Routt County beaan aatherina at the mine. Probably the
most prominent man was Tom Allen, superfntendent at the Amalgamated Fuel
Company at Milner. Allen was well known across the state for his knowledge
of mine safety and rescue, Within a few yé&ars of the Argo disaster Allen
became head of the State Coal Mine Inspection Department. Here he

established a fantastic record for safety. However, in 1921 he was among
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those men noina into the mine to search for the dead. In the No. 1 Mine the
rescue team met one of the most lucky men in the Moffat IMline, Albert Bacco,
shot firer in No. 1, had been thrown around by the force of the explosion,
but two mine cars deflected part of the force of the explosion and he was
able to escape ahead of the deadly qases.4‘

Joe Matthews who had been at the defunct Juniper Mine and was mine
boss at the Haybro Mine nearly lost his 1ife leading a rescue team. He
walked into an area of bad air. But after beina taken to the hospital he
recovered. Shorty Hamidy who worked at the Pinnacle Mine and was on the
rescue team rushed to the Moffat. Upon learnina that his brother was amonqg
the men still in the mine he started to plunae into the deadly smoke. Only
the stiff resistance of ded, who was much biqaer than Shorty, prevented
another accident. Adding to the irony of the day was the circumstances of
Ed Hamidy's death. He was runnjnq the hoist for J. A, Kennedy who was
stayina home to attend the dance,?

The most bitter part of the disaster was the fact that the deaths could
have been avoided, If the rules concerning the operations of the shot firer
had been strictly followed there would not have been any dust explosion.

But in the Moffat Mine there was no system established to soak the dust
with water, And such a system was not established until the ear1y 19305-~
nearly a decade after the Argo explosion. Rock dusting on a useful scale
was never done in the Moffat Mine.

The Tack of an adequate water system had other harmful aspects. In
the Pinnacle Mine men workina the cutting machines were enqulfed in so much
coal dust that the machine operator and his helper could not see each
other's liaoht, At the Moffat Mine Ben reary recalled that durinag the '1920s
he was workina a cuttina machine. Durinag that time He and his buddy would

have to take turns qoina out of the room to cet fresh air. Recalling those
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days Reary stated, "A lot of times you'd have to throw up" to qetbthe coal
dust out of your system.6 After adequate water systems were installed in .
the mines it was poséib]e to control much of the dust by sprink1inq. In
passing it should be noted that the Keyséone Mine "made so much water" that
dust control was not a problem éxcept wiih the cutting machine.

 Associated with using water to control dust was the problem of
ventilation. With the Pinnacle, Moffat, Keystone and Haybro mines beinq
over a mile deep and working many different levels, the problems of
providina an adequate air supply was complicated. In the Moffat Mine
forced air fans were installed in Arao Gulch and at the tipple at No. 2.
Later a rock tunnel was driven to Mule Rulch where an exhaust fan was
installed, With the opening in l'ule Gulch the ventilation system combined
the principles of natural air flow caused by difference in temperature and
elevation with a fan. With the Muie.ﬂu]ch opening which tunneled through
the mountain, goodvair supp]iesvreached the working areas of the mine.

The Pinnacle Mine had powerfu1rfanss but most of its air came from
natural ventilation. The mine was driven clear through the mountain at
different elevations. In the morning a strong flow of air would move in
one dirrection. In the evening the air would reverse itself. The Moffat
and the Pinnacle mines were at different elevations and direction of slope.
During the development the two mines drove entries between the mines. As a
result boeﬁmines were well ventilated by natural forces; however, fans were
also used if any minina was underway.

One old timer willinaly "admitted they had cood air" at the Pinnac]e.7
The Haybro Mine was unique in that it was the only shaft mine in the Yampa
Coalfield. The shaft in the No. 3 Mine was 368 feet deep with an extension
of 300 feet to the No. 4 Mine. To aet air into the mine two parallel

shafts were dug which allowed for an intake and return. Since the entries
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were so close toaether, it was necessary to ventilate the mine with fans
without extensive natural ventilation to assist the process.

Equipment, aas, dust and ventilation were all important forces in the
mine, but as every miner knéw, the roof wasrthe-boss. In all of the mines
in the Yampa Coalfield, roof conditions varied extensively. In some areas
the roof was slate, in others it was strona sandstone, and in yet others
it was a mixture of slate and sand. In places theré were "pots" which were
ancient tree stumps in the roof, Since these were shaped like a bee hive
and not held firmly in the roof they could and did fall out without warnina.
Some areas had a roof which was filled with fossil remains, The roof of
the Keystone had many places with fossils and tracks of large animals.

As the mine was developed, the mountain shifted and chanqed its
weight, These shifts caused fracturina hich up in the roof. Then in one
area of a mine there might be water while another wou]d'be dry. And the
climate in the mines changed asvthe.seasons changed. In wintér the mines
dried out while in the spring water levels were high. The changes in
climatic conditions cuased weatherinq of the roof. As a result sections
which were very safe when first mined might become dangerous later.

To grasp the subtle changes in the mine's roof was a fine art--an art
which highly skilled miners developed over long years working in the same
mine. While underaground, good miners were constantly aware of the sounds
and smells of the mine, The rhythm of the dripping of water was closely
monitored by the subconscious while the conscious part of the miner was
occupied with the normal activities of life. As long as the dripping~
remained steady all went well. Let the dripping stop or pick up in tempo
and immediately the experienced miner was alive to the problems, If the
dripping increased much it was fime to get out of the area because it was

Tikely to cave in. Sound becomes such a part.of the miner's life that
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"horse play" was prohibited; this prohibition was strictly enforced. Hprsé
play can'be described as aminer throwing é stone here and thefe to confuse
other miners who weré listening to the sounds of the mine. Of course horse
play could and did lead to some majdr accidents. A miner would hear a
sound and assume it was his buddy tossina rocks when in fact it was the
roof giving a warning that a larae rock was about to fall. |

The variations in the roof caused extensive problems in timbering. In
four foot coal there was not &s muchAchance of the props breaking in the
middle when they took weight, In eicht foot coal the chances of props
breakina in the middle were areater and in higher coal the chances for
props breaking in the middle were still qgreater whén weight was taken. .Of
course the Tonger the prop was, the harder it was to set. The light four
foot props were easily set by one man while setting a sixteen foot prop
required a crew. The only way they were wedged into place was by c]imbinq
a ladder. As a result miners tended to set fewer props in higher coal. If
a long prop was not properly plumbed and wedoed it could fall and seriously
hurt someone; a short prop would only lean up against the mine if not
properly set.

The old Colowyo Mine south of Craiéiwas a twenty-four foot vein,
Because of the height involved, props were:not used. The miners would
first mine out the lower half of a section and then shoot the top coal
down in an arched formation. By arching, the men were able to get adequate
roof protection., |

At the Streeter Mine, also south of Craiq, two levels were worked.v
The pillar sections of the upper level were not kept in line with the Tower
sections althouagh the vertical distance between the two mines was not
areat. Early one morning while no one was in the mfne it exploded. Some

men believe the upper level fell into the lower level. No one ever
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reentered the mine; therefore, no one is absblute]y certain what happened.

Roof control in the Bear River Mine east of Mt. Harris was unuSua]]y
difficult during the late 1930s and early 1943s. During those years the
pillars were beina pulled and the mine permanently closed. The vein was
nearly twenty feet high with a hard rock split near the center. The vein
lay at two sharp angles along both the vertical and horizontal planes. To
control the roof it was necessary to set three and sometimes four rows of
props on the high side. On the lower side one row of props was usually
sufficient. A1l the props were set at three %oot intervals and rows were
stagoered. As the top coal‘was worked temporary props were also set. Even
with the extensive attempts to control the roof and make conditions safe,
Charley Fedinec recalled that he "spent more time running than mim’nq."8

One of the bia problems in pu]]inq the pillars was caused by the
method the mine had been developed. Part of the mine had been deVe]oped by
the room method. Here narrow p{11ars separated the various rooms. Other
sections of the mine were déve]oped»by the use of cross cuts and entries.
Here Targe block pillars stood. Over the years different mine bosses and
miners had taken out the coal by the quickest and easiest method regardless
of the Tong term consequences. The complexities of the mine made adequgteA
roof control virtually impossible. Many times the roof would settle so
heavily that pillar stumps were crqshed out and props scattered asunder.
Miraculously the final years of the Bear River Mine passed without a major
disaster, but thousands of tons of coal were abandoned in stumps and
pillars,

The 1ife of the miner was a continual challenge. Even when the men

‘were not actually working at the mine they had to be concerned about what

was going on at the mine. For example, no one knew for certain if the mine

would work the next day. In Oak Creek everyone who worked at the Pinnacle
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Mine would step outside about 5:00 p. m., to listen for the tipple whistle.
If it blew only once it meant "no work;" three blasts meant work the next
day. After the whistle was sounded for the Pinnacle Mine the miners for
the Moffat would step outside and Tisten for the whist]e from their mine.
Starting sometime_in the 1930s after the hiadhway was built through the mine
district and employees of Keystone and Haybro mines began living in Oak
Creek and driving or walking to work, a peq board system was established in
Oak Creek, If a mine was going to work the next day, the mines reborted to
merchants in Oak Creek and they would place a notice on a common bulletin
board. One of the chores of the kids was to walk downtown every evening
and check the bulletin board to see which mines were working.

The sianal that there would be a day's work did not always result in a
day's work actually beina offered, Many times Shorty Hamidy and hisvfe11ow
Workers qot up early and trudaed throuagh deep snow and winter cold along
the steep Pinnacle tram to reacﬁ the mine., After reaching the mine they
were informed that the railroad would ndt be able to deliver cars; as a
result there would not be any work. Amidst mutterinq the men would return
home. After the'comp1etion of the Moffat Tunnel in the late 1920s the
frequency of the railroad failino to deliver cars was reduced, but it was
never certain that promised cars would actually be available.

Another example of the miners' awareness of the operations at the mine
although they were not actually working was through the electrical system,
Durina the early years of 0ak Creek the Moffat and Pinnacle mines'produced
electrical power for the town as well as the mines. When all the mine
equipment was wofkinq and several lights were on in town the power overload
resulted in dim lighting of homes and businesses. At certain times the
mines shut down for Tunch. These were reaular stops that were predictable

and everyone expected the light in town to suddenly brighten at an appointed
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time, It was also a common practice to shut down all the equipment when
there was a serious accident at a mine. On the occasions when the lights
of town suddenly became bright at an unappointed time, the Tumps qathefed
in people's throats and dance halls and saloons became quiet. Through the
passaqe of time the electrical system was improved at the mines and in
town; as a result the fluctuation of the Tights was not as pronounced.

One of the most dramatic chanaes in mining was the shift from muscle
power to mechanical power., In 1914 Georae Heinke went to work as a |
teamster for the Haybro Mine. l!/hen he started work the company was
developinag a mine in the Lennox vein on top of Oak Hill, One of Heinke's
primary jobs was haulina qrocery and camp supplies from the railroad track_
to the boardinc house. The stra{qht }ine distance bétween the two points
was about 1,000 feet; however, the anale was nearly vertical. To qain'the
necessary elevation Heinké first traveled north over the saddle between 0ak
Creek and Trout Creek and then doubled back to the mine. The route was
considerably less than ten miles, but it tonk nearly half a day for a man
with a team and loaded waqon to qo from the tracks to the boarding house.
If Heinke had to haul coal from the mine to the boa?dinq house after he
unloaded his groceries, he would not have enough time to return by road to
the tracks before dark. Often he would unhitch the team and follow them
down the steep tram which connected the mine with the track, Early the
next morning he would drive his team up the tram to get the waqgon and make
the return trip tovthe track. As a result it was not unusual to take a day
and a half to make a round trip with mine supplies. With a truck the same
trip could be completed in a matter of minutes.

Teams remained an important source of power around the mines for years.
In 1927 Carl Steele inquired for work at the Keystone Mine which was in the

early stage of development, The boss offered him a job and $8.00 per day
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if he had a team and waqon. Steele did not have a team at the time, but he
told the boss he did and then beqan looking for a team and wagon., After
walking into Oak Creek he stopped at a grocery store and told the owner
about his need for a team. The merchant surprised Steele byvtellinq'him
that a local rancher owed a large bill at the store and was wanting to

trade a team and waqon for the bill. The merchant and the miner soon
reached an agreement and then sought out the rancher where a deal was made
for the team, waqon and a load of hay. With the horses, Steele hauled mine
equipment as it reached the mine. After a few weeks, Steele purchased
another team and hired a man at $4.00 per day to move dirt. With a team

and fresno roads wefe built, fills were made, and other earth work
completed. With a tremendous amount of sweat and sore muscles the necessary
work was completed, As a contrast, at the eﬁd of World War iI, Steele
worked for the Keystone Mine as a truck driver. With comparatively little
effort he did much more work pef day than he‘had done when the mine was
first opened.

A sense of the impact of trucks on the early mining in northwestern
Colorado is achieved by looking at fhe coal shipments in Moffat County.
Although the rai]foad reached Craig in 1914, the production of coal in the
county was only 3,173 tons in 1920. Fifteen years later, 1935, the county
only mined 6,812 tons of coal. However, in 1935 an improved highway from
Craiqg south through Streeter to Meeker was under construction. Jusf four
years later 56,065 tons of coal was produced in Moffat County. The first
rush of the Moffat County coal mining boom came during the ]astvha1f of
the qreat depression. During World War II, Moffat County coal production
continued to qrow although hampered at times by'qas and rubber rationinq.g

Between the time theAmines opened in 1908 and 1950 there were many

changes in the mines, but some things chanaged Tittle once they were
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established., The Hayden brothers benan their search for a suitable coal
mine with the opening of the Juniper Mine in 1903, but by 1915 the mine

was closed., In 1914 the brothers opened Ha?bro Ho. 1 with its Tong tram,-
The Lennox coal was not of sufficient quality for marketing. To find
better coal the Ho. 2 slope mine was opened in a ten foot vein. Again the.
coal was not of marketabTe quality. 1In 1920 the 368 foot shaft was dug at
the Haybro Mine. From the time the shaft, hoist, caaes, etc., were
installed until the mine closed in the late 1940s very few changes
occurred, |

Georae Heinke who started with the mine in 1914 had worked at
numerous mine jobs before becomina a caaer. In 1945 he was working at his
usual station doina the same tasks he had done for years. Just outside the
cage was a saa in the track. Here a car was held until another was brought
up. The caaer would give the standina car a push to get it started before
the car comina off the cage ro]]éd into the sag. Then both cars would roll.
down to the weiah house, One morning in January 1945, Heinke tried to
start a car but it would not roll. The load coming off the cage struck the
man and the standing Toad and crushed him between a 12 X 12 timber standing
next to the track. Heinke was badly hurt and out of work for more than a
year, UWhen he returned to work he ran the company pool hall. The dangerous
system of handlina coal includina the placement of the 12 X 12 timber was
established in 1920 and remained in 1945 when Heinke was hurt. It was not
chanaed after the accident.

Unable to work at the mine Heinke returned to work in August 1946
runnina the company pool hall; but even at this late date the forces of the
company town were still very much in effect at Haybro., The company gave
him $4.00 in cash and $10.00 worth of script for the cash register. He was

expected to push company script. And many people made large sums of money
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handling script. For instance, a miner who wanted to chanqe ten dollars
worth of script for cash would approach certain Oak Creek merchénts. The
merchant would qive the miner $7.50 for the script. The merchant would
take the script to the mine where he received $9.00 in cash. The mine
officials pocketed $1,00. |

Heinke was also held strictly accountable for everytning in the
pool hall, One Sunday he came to work and saw $4.60 worth of qasbrunq up
on the gas pump. The tipple boss was the only other persén who had a key
to the pump, but he denied aetting the aas. As a result, Heinke quit
working for the Haybro Mine after thirty years service.

Despite the seeming unchanqinc nature of the mine, chanqge came. From
1908 until the mid-1950s domestic coal was the prfmarv market. During the
early years the major demand vias for lump coal. Slack or stoker coal, as
it was later called, could not be marketed. Outside each of the larger
mines huge mounds of slack were piled up. During high water, teams and
fresnos would dump mountains of fine coal into streams. Miners in the mine
left as much dust as possible on the floor. This added to the danaer of
dust explosion, In the 1930s more people began jnsta11ing stoker furnaces
in their homes and businesses. This created a new market for the slack or
stoker cnal and reduced the amount of coal wasted. But the biggest chanqe
in the mines came with the replacement of coal by natural gas and
electricity. The shift in fuel forced the closina of many mines, and the
underaround mines that survived were forced to adopt new technoloqy. The
bic shift in minina was from underoround mines to strip mines which.supp1y
fuel for electrical power plants,

As a kind of omen of the dark days that Tay ahead for coal minina, on
January 27, 1942, the niaht shift of the Wadece Mine at Mt. Harris was

working near a fault when they struck a pocket of naturaT qas. A spark
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from either a trolly or cutting machine ianited the gas. "Only four men

of a niaht shift of 38 miners staﬂﬂefed back to the surface," reported one
newspaper, It is incorrect to say the four men staqggered to the surface.-
Joe fall, Bill Fickle, Elmer Everson and lMike Atansoff were working ahead
of the other men when fhey "heard a dull thud and then smelled smoke.“]o
The four men ran with all their strenath and speed to reach the surface
ahead of the deadly nas. The remainina thirtv-four men were trapped 3,000
feet from the portal in the worst mine disaster in Routt County history.

In the disaster !rs. Ralph Cable Tost a brother and three brothers;in-
lTaw., Men in rescue crews saw thinas they would never forget. Machines,
props and rajls were twisted and strewn about the mine as if tossed and
broken by some venaeful qiant. Many of the bodies were burned beyond
recognization, Charley Fedinec remembered seeing one body burned so badly
it resembled a leather alove that had been twisted and chared by fire. The
entire rescue operation was traumatic, but perhaps the worst for the rescue
operation was when they entered a section of the mine not disturbed by the
explosion. Here the rescuers found the bodies of miners who had crawled
and strunqled to qet to the fresh air of another section of the mine. The
lifeless bodies wvere found within a few feet of the stopping door that led
to safety and 1ife. Amonn those killed were Frank Shepard and Char]ey
Baker. Three days earlier Shepard had quit his job on the railroad and
bequn workina at the mine, Baker was working at the Knez Mine when World
War II beaan; he was afraid that he would be killed in the war.

Sometime before the Wadae éxp]osion, the Colorado Coal Mine Inspection
Department had organized women's aroups. Althounh the disaster was harsh
on the survivers, "women's safety aroups from Routt County immediately

responded in caring for the families of the stricken, eliminating the usual

hysteria so prevalent at such a time."1l In time order was restored and
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1ife in Routt County mining camps returned to normal.
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CHAPTER VII
WAGON MINES

The history of the Yampa Valley's coal mines centered around the big
"rajlroad" mines with large 1abor forces and payrolls. But associated with
the big mines was a profusion of smaller mines. The wagon mines, without
railroad connections, varied in size and asperations. Many of the mines
were simply ranching community efforts in which the neighborhood cooperated
in supplying their winter coé]. Occasionally the ranchers would hire an
experienced miner for a few weeks to work the vein. Often the falks simply
mined the coal themselves. These ranching community mines only operated a
few weeks each year. Many times the mine was never recorded or leases
obtained. The next step up in the hierarchy of mines was the individually
owned and operated mine--ranéh.mine. Generally the owner mined coal as his
primary source of income; howevef, the mine was connected with a small
ranching operation. Next in ascendina order was the individually owned
mine where the owner was solely enaaqed in‘the mining business. The last
level of wagon mines was the larae mine with several owners and a laraqe
labor force. These mines were often a stock scheme rather than a
legitimate minina operation.

While only sixteen years old, Joe Knez left his native Germany and
made his way across the United States to the Cameo Mine near Grand‘dunction,
Colorado, Here he and his brother Mike Knez received their introduction to
coal mining. Later they moved to Montana and the Dakotas. At an unknown
point along their journey, Joe was contacted by the owners of the Wa]ker
Mine in Moffat County, Colorado. Having reached a lease agreement, in 1914
with his young wife seated beside him in the box of a covered wagon, Knez

arrived at the old Walker Mine south of Craig. From that moment until his

i
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death in 1964, Knez was attached to waaon mines and a small ranch on what,
in time, became known as Knez Divide.]

The first several years were a mixture of success and fai]ﬁreAas he
searched for a suitab]e mine. Under a leasina aareement with the White
Company, an English based firm, Knez spent his first three years operating
the Walker Mine. The mine had hich quality coal and an eight foot vein
which soon enabled him to establish himself as the primary supplier of coal
to the‘community of Craiq. Durinq‘those'first yvears there was some
speculation that he was the spearhead for a major coal mining boom,
Althouah the railroad arrived at Craia the same year he beaan mining, it
was apparent by 1917 that Craiq was not destined for a coal mining boom.
After dropping the Walker lease, Knez opened a mine across the qulch and
three quarters of a mile up the hill from the llalker Mine. He had not
mined far into the Walker vein, as the coal was locally known, befdre the
seam pinched out and he found hiﬁse]f without a mine,

Knez was not a man easily defeated. He recrossed the qulch and opened
a third mine above the Walker Mine property. The portal to the third mine
was only a few feet above the water level. Despit; its location in the
qulch, Knez worked this mine fbr several years. But a flash flood filled
the mine and forced him to seek vet another location. His next effort was
higher up the hillside and safe from external flooding. But he had not
mined far when the roof and flood beaan to "make" water. Soon he was
forced to put in a large pump. Eventually the mine was making so much
water that he was forced to abandon the operatibn. Thus within three
quarters of a mile alona the same qulch Knez had worked an excellent eight
foot vein, had a vein pinch out, had a mine destroyed by a flash flood, and
had another mine destroyedvbecause it "méde" too-much water. Near Knez's

mines, Mat Satfire opened a mine in the Walker vein, but the vein had split
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and only forty-two inches of coal remained. Thus within a confined afea
there was a multitude of minino conditions.

Finally in 1932 Knez found a suitable yein of coal. The coal vein
varied from eiqht feet to twelve feet thick and had two distinct qrades of
coal. The lower one.third of the vein was a block coal. Then there was a
four inch soap stone. The upper two thirds’of the coal was a strinoy tyvpe
of coal. Both coals were well received in the.]ocal market. However,
another mine in the same gulch had such d poor arade of coal thét it could
not be sold . Knez became very determined when he learned that his
competitor was sellina coal in Craia by claimina it was Knez coal.

The last Knez Mine was worked for nearly thirty years with varying
dearees of success. At times it was strictly a famijy operation while at
other times a substantial labor force was hired and coal shipped by rail,

but in the main the mine was a two or three man operation. Most of the
equipment was worn and in some céses items that had never been intended for
mining were pressed into uée. OQuite often the mine had critical shortaqges
of needed material.

The shortcomings often led to serious mine hazards. Raymond Knez
recalled operating a hoist without a bell or sianal system. On one
occasion Raymond was helpina raise the track arade in the mine, While he
was workina with the car the outside hoist mah, thinking everything was
clear, started the car to the surface. The taunt wire rope and the work
being done to the track bound the car and raised one end against the roof.
Raymond who was leanina over the car at the time was pinned against the
roof, Luck was with Raymond for under the strain the hoist engine
sputtered to a stop. But the hoist man, more determined than ever,
restarted the enaine and tightenéd the cable; aaain, Raymond who had not

been able to free himself was pinned acainst the roof, The process would
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have resulted in his death except that Joe Knez who was helping raise the
track rushed around a pillar and pulled a pin in a clevis re]easiﬁq the‘
cable. Shortly after the near tracedy a sional system was installed at the
mine,

01d and worn out mine equipment frustrated miners. On one occasion a
miner became so disgusted with a decrepit pit car that he de]iberate1y
turned it loose on a qrade that led to a flooded section of the mine. When
Knez learned the fate of the car his temper flared and he fired the culprit.
However, three days later he rehired the miner.

In the mine the floor pitched and heaved dramatically over short
areas. The uneven floor made the task of the hoist man very difficult.
Charley Fedinec who opekated the hoist for extended periods recalled that
while droppina the empty cars it was necessary to let them run wild at a
certain point or they would not make it over a stiff'grade some 300 yards
beneath the sur&ace. Once the cérs were over this point they had to be
checked quickly or they would crash into the working area. Only with a
sense of feel could the hoist dperator tell where his cars were ih the mine
and what should be done to handle the cars. Since the floor was uneven
throughout the mine the cars ran with a series of jerks which sent false
signals to the hoist operator. As a‘resuft the hoist man was never sure
where his cars were located in the mine. Of course coming out with loaded
cars was equally as bad since the loads either ran ahead or hung back on
the cable. Despite the shortcominas of the system Knez never had a serious
runaway with his mine cars.

Because the waon mine returned only a small profit Knez depended
heavily upon antiquated methods for mining. He was still shootina on the
solid many years after other mines in the field had bequn using cutting

machines. Knez would first drill and shoot the coal below the soap stone
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énd then mine it out for a distance of six feet. Then he would drop the
higher coal with a couple of shots of powder. The system of shootiha coal
on the so]fd caused extensive dust and slack, but it did not require
electrical power withiits hazards.

The use of eXpTosivesvin the mine had the apparent dangers, On o6ne
occasion Ben Martins had 1it the fuse with his carbidé lamp and returned to
the safety of the cross cut where he counted the shots as they exploded.
After completina the count and waiting a moment, Martins returned to the
face. As he entered the room another shot went off, He had miscounted
the explosions and the fuse had burned slower than expected. Rayhond Knez
described Martins after the explosion, "He wasn't permanently hurt, but he

looked Tike he had been sackina wild cats when the sack broke." Charley
Fedinec vividly remembered the time that he and Joe Knez 1it the fuses and
started to leave the face when the roof becan to violently sluff roéks.
For what seemed to be eternity the two men huqqed the rib hoping that they
would not be hit by a rock or the fuses exnlode the powder. Finally they
were able to slip alonqg the rib to the cross cut and escape. Despite the
encounter with the roof, Fedinec maintained that the Knez Mine had a good
roof, He compared the roof to that at the Bear River Mine where he set
props one day and returned the next to find that the weight from the roof
had crushed out the cap piece and wedae, The Knez MMine never had that much
weight on the props, and the area that the roof dribbled was very localized.
The Knez Mine 1ike many wacon mines combined mining with a small
ranchina operation. On the land enouch crops were raised to feed a few
animals and produce eags, milk and other food products. And during the
depression Joe Knez was a blessina to many men looking for a way to survive;
He aave several people temporary employment and kept them until they were

well fed and had a new set of clothing. One younq man stayed for nearly
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two years., Most of thesg men were not nccessarily needed for either the
minino or ranchina operation, but hunary rmen did not leave the Knez door.

One of the more tragic stories at the Knez Mine concerned Charley
Baker. Baker was working at the Knez line when Japan attacked Pearl Harbor
on December 7, 1941. After the shift as the crew passed by the tipple he
commented, "I sure hope I don't have to co to the war because I know I']i
get killed." Shortly afterwards Baker left the Knez Mine and began working
in the Wadae Mine at Mt. Hérris. On the nicht of January 27, 1942, Charley
Baker was amonqg the thirty-four men killed in the only gas explosion in the
history of the Yampa Coalfield.

The Knez mining operation was loosely.run and at times risks were hiqh;
but there was never a man killed in the mine. The bigger mines, Streeter
and Colowyo in Axial Basin, did kill and pnermanently injure men, For
example in the Colowyo Mine the coal was lifted to the surface by a single
“fast trip" hoist without a be11‘or phone hoist signal. The hoist man
would drop an emptv to the partina (switch) and here a man would quickly
remove the wire rope and attach it to a full car. On one occasion Raymond
Knez, who was trucking from the mine to the tipple in Craiq, saw a man
beina draqged out of the mine. Knez flaqoed the hoist man_to stop and the
injured man was freed. Later, they learned that the hoist had been
tiahtened before the man could aet clear. He was knocked down by the car
and draaqed over the ties to the surface. On another occasion a frayedv
wire rope broke as a trip was beinqg hoisted to the surface. The runaway
car jumped the parting and struck the cableman. The next day he died. So
despite Knez's Toose operation he was not any worse than the biager mines.
Loosely run mines were just a sian of the time.

In marked contrast to the Knez Mine was Apex Mine in upper Trout Creek

Canyon, In 1925 converting from coal to oil fired locomotives forced the
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Georae Steele family to leave their home in the coal minina area of eastern
Oklahoma. The family moved to northwuwestarn Co]orado; here seventeen vear
old Carl Steele benan workina in the boiler room at the Haybro Mine north
of Oak Creck, Soon he moved on tobthe Kevstone Mine which was just |
openina, After workinc teams on the outside for severil months, Sfee1e
entered the mine as a cbntract miner. 2

Beina a youna man full of énerqy and ambitioﬁ he "scissor billed" to
earn more money, He woujd‘put in his shift working in the mine. Then he
would no to . his "batch" (place where he was staving) and fix supper and
rest awhile. After restina Steele would "scissor bill"--return to the mine
and drill his holes, shoot on the solid, set his props, and lay the needed
track, By puttinn jn the Tona hours with jts hard work, Steele was able to
save a 1itt1e.money,‘ In 1927 Steele became the checkweighman at the
tipple. He stayed at this job for nearly fifteen years.

After the depression hit Roﬁtt County the coal mines were only working
two or three days every two weeks durina the busy months and durinag the
slack seasons of spring and summer the mines did not open for several days
at a time. To help themselves through the difficult period, Carl and his
father George Steele and his brother Victor (Vic) decided to open a small
wagon mine, At the timeACarl vas livina on upper Trout Creek, so the three
men beaan lookina for coal outcroppings near his home. Soon they Tocated a
vein and opened it to its four foot height. Although the vein was
classified as low coal (a thin vein) it was high in British Thermo Units
(BTUs) while low in ash, moisture and volatile matter. Within a few weeks
after the three men opened the vein they realized that théy were working a
small pocket of coal at the extreme southern edqe of the coalfield. Once
the coal played out due to a fault, the Steeles prospected down _ the canyon

a few hundred yards where hiagh on the hill they Tocated the same vein and
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opened Apex #1.

Carl continued working at the Keystone [line when it operated, ahd on
days the Keystone was idle he worked at the Apex. With his savinas and
waaes he bounht powder, props and material for the Apex. DBesides a areat
deal of perserverance, the Steeles were fortunate to locate the Apex which
had the best coal in the county. After buildina a chute dovn the hill to a
tipple alona the countv road Steeles beman haulina coal into Dak Creek
where a ready market was available. Later Carl observed, "If you could
mine it [Apex coal] you could sell it." Steele was able to aet a premium
price of $4,00 a ton for his lump coal delivered in Oak Creek, and the
Denver and Salt Lake Railrcad bouaht his "mine run slack" for $1.50 a ton
delivered to the depot in Oak Creek, Some hardy souls would haul coal from
the Ape: during the sprinag althouch the only time a truck or waaon could
cet over the road was at night while the around was frozen.

After the Apex became firmiy established Steele Teft the Keystone
Mine. ‘lhen Yorld War II becan, Carl went to work at the coal mines in
Rock Sprinas, Wyomina. Here the mines were extremely dancerous and Steele
"told the bdés he was quittinag." The boss replied, “It's either this or
Japan." Steele believed that "Japan was bettér." However he returned to
0ak Creek and remained in the mines.>

Steeles operated their mine with a qreat deal of care for safety and
mine innovation. The floor in the Apex Mine was rough and the pitch of the
coal was steep, but they mined their coal on the qrade. This way cars
could be hoisted and dropped at steady rates. They offset their pillars in
order that no lona sections of roof were left unsupported. As soon as they
could afford a steam aeneratdr they began'nenerating electricity for a
cutting machine. Props were a]waS kept firmly and evenly in place. When

rock dusting to reduce the chances of dust explosions was promoted in the
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Yampa Valley, Steeles were amona the first to adopt the system, .In 1943
Carl told the mine inspector, "I've always been afraid of an explosion
with men in the mine." The inspector assured Steele that "he had nothing
to worry about." That was a Monday mornina. Two days later, September 20,
1943, Joe Glass was killed in a dust explosion at the Apex #1 Mine.

During World War II the Steeles were working several men and after
each shift Carl Steele would no into the mine to hé]p Glass tamp the
powder and set the charges. At quitting time on September 20,‘G]ass phoned
the survace and told his boss not to worry about coming into the mine. He
had only a couple of holes left to tamp and he would light the charges and
be richt out, Since Rlass wés an experienced miner, Steele readily aqreed
and walked to his home in the little mine camp. Suddenly Steele heard a
roar and rushed to his doorway to look out. He arrived in time to see
smoke, fire and mine debris archina from the mouth of the mine to the
opposite canyon wall. After restoring ventilation and the arrival of
inspectors and rescue crews, men becan lookina for Glass. The badly burned
body was found near the coal face. UWhen the miners reached the face the
cause of the explosion became clearly. apparent--a blowout shot and coal
dust. Glass had set two characes, One charqe was-to open a cross cut; the
second charge was in the face of the cross cut being intersected. The
first shot blew through and stirred the dust in the roadway. Into this
dust the second shot fired its flames., Uith that, the whole mine errupted.

After fhe accident Steele benan lookina for better ways to control the
dust. He realized that in the Keystone Mine there was always water
present, After settinqg idle overnianht a coal face collected so much
moisture that a miner could write in the dew. The coal dust was held in a
soqay mass on the floor., By contrast the Apex Mine was extra dry. To qet

water in the mine, Steele dua a ditch from a nearby qulch and directed the
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sprina runoff into the mine. Here the water was stored and pumped to each
workina area. [very mornina the miners were required to soak down their
working area and roadways.

In 1946 Carl Steele sold the Apex !Mine to Anaelo Boscia and returned
to the Keystone Mine as a truck driver., "n~c¢le¢ was one of those-interestfng
characters who worked or owned various waron mines, At one time fncelo
worked at the Knez Mine where he was affectionately knownvas "Spaqaet."
While he was rope ridina and Charley Fedinec was running the hoist they
set the record of getting well over a hundred cars of coal to the surface
in a sinq]é shift., In a ]arqerAmine this amount of coal hoisted to the
surface was only a small amount for a dav's work. At the Knez Mine with
its limited labor force producing a hundred tons of coal in a shift was
indeed high production. /rcelu had also worked for the Steeles. Carl
Steele described /Mncelo as a hard workina man who was "hard‘headed and
determined." ‘Yhile ‘rreln was the mine boss at Apex Mine he fa]ked the
crew into joinina him in a wacon mine venture near "Mt. Harris., With high
hope the entire crew quit the Apex Mine and headed for greener qrass.
About three weeks Tlater they returned Tookina for their old jobs.

After Arceln bouaht the Apex Mine he worked alone most of the time.
Although his mining system was “old fashioned" (hand tools and a burro or
pony for haulaqge) he did Qell for several years. Then in the early 1950s
the big mines began to c]osé as a result of a major shift to natural das |
and electricity for domestic fuel. As the mines closed and unemployment
ran hiah, /naclo furnished many of the people with free coal. Since he
worked alone, people would often load an@ weinh their own coal while he was
in the mine. Usually the folks let Annelo know how much coal they got and
settled up with him; but ndt everydne vias honest,

It was fnaelou's qood heartedness that resulted in him losing the mine,
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In 1956 a Tarage number of older mine sapproached fnaclo and asked for work.
Maelo 2xplained that he could not afford to hire them and pay the union'é
coal royalty and waqes., He was simnly too small a mine and his markets
were too Timited. tle also pointed out that a qroup of Oak Creek businessmen
had tried to keep the Kevstone MMine open but the cost had proven too high.
The miners told Anaelo "they would all like to be in the union because they
were near their pension and had their cards, but that won't have no bearing
on you [Anaeln]. WUe'll just work alona as best we can and whatever we make
we'll take and shut up." Anocln reconsidered and signed a small contract
to supply coal as well as the union contract. So he put the miners to work
and ocave them all he could afford in waces., After a time the men demanded
the full sum of the union contract includina back pay. He could not pay
the bill so the men took him to court and cot a judament aqainst the mine,
He was forced to sell the mine. Carl Steele bluntly stated, "Those aquys
had no business doina that to Anﬁe]o.“

Mnreln suspected snﬁ?hinn miaht hanpen. In September before he hired
the men he showed Steele his fiiﬁures for waaes and coal shipments. He
'conc]uded, "If thinas ao the way I think they wj]], I'11 be broke by
December." In December he went brnké,

By the early 1950s most of the mines in the Oak Creek district were
closina and the owners of the Keystone lline decided to close the operation.
This would put nearly fifty men out of work. To keep the men employed,
Lucienne Stetson, Shorty Hamidy, Dutch Casper and Nr, Bonnie, a coal
salesman, leased the mine. The 0ak Creek businessmen hoped to break.eveh
and keep the families in the cdmmunity off the relief rolls. The business
people were small shop keepers (merchantile store, hardware store, etc.)
and could not withstand laroe losses over an extended period of time. To

help the production they wanted to take the miners into the mines on idle
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days to load the small pit cars. This would nreat]y help proddction since
it was often after 11:00 a.m. before the first trip of coal reached the .
surface if thé men viaited uhtij production. days to start loading the mine
cars. The shift ended at 3:15 in order that the men could be at the‘portaT
at the end of their eiont hourss; thus little coal was brought 6ut of the
mine on production days. By not havina to pay the tipp]e help on the idle
days and beinq able to start‘them loadina railroad cars éooner on
production days the mine could produce enounh coal to remain 6peratinq.
However, the union maintained that if one man was worked all the men had to
work., The Oak Creek businessmen said, "That's alright if you want to put
your tipple men downstairs. Let them qo douin and load coal if they want
to.“4 The union refused to accept the offer. !'hen the miners were told
that the mine would close, thev responded, "You quys won't close it down . "
After the mine was closed and the investors had lost their money, the

union was willina to nenotiate; but it was too late.

After the Oak Creek busineésmenvﬂave up in 1958, Fred Nesbith
suaqaested to Carl Steele that he Tease the mine and make it into a truck
mine. Neshith who also owned an interest in the Doulder Valley Mine acareed
to furnish the equipment and set a reasonable rate of lease. So Steele and
his sons, Duane and Gordon, took over the Keystone lMine and operated it as
a waaon mine. ‘hen Steele started operations at Keystone he needed some

men and he was offered the same deal /nrelo had., Recalled Carl, "Boy, I

staved right with the contract because I knowed not to trust 'em, Soon as
possible Steele added more modern equipment and cut the employment to just
the family. ‘hen the United !Mine Yorkers demanded continuation of paying
forty cents a ton roya1t1e§ vhile withholding any Benefits to the Steeles,
the family completely dropped the union. During the‘ear]y vears Carl

Steele had worked to oraanize the United Mine Workers and in 1933 he was
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amona the first Keystone "'iners to join the union. It was a bitter bersona]
experience when he left the union.

When Steele first beaan workina at Keystone in the 1920s three larqe |
springs near tne mine drained into Oak Creek. Probably because of fear of
water in the mine the area had been Bypassed for several years. Once the
mine was opened the sprinas dried un, but the mine made a lot of water. At
the time the big mininag operation ceased working, a pump With a five inch
pipe line and powered by a seventy-five horse power engine was needed to
keep the water level down in the mine. The Steele family decided that it
would be uneconomical for them to pump the mine, so they began pulling
pillars at the.water's edne. For nearlv a decade they worked ahead of the
rising water,

While the Steele family was workinag the Keystone Mine, Leo and Euqgene
Sullivan had purchased the Apex Mine. Sullivans worked the MNo. 1 entry
until several hundred feet from ﬁhe portal they struck water. To avoid the
cost of pumping water the Sullivans moved their operation up Trout Creek a
few hundred feet and opened Apex #2. In 1966 Euaene Sullivan had a heart
attack and the brothers decided to lease or sell the mine. At the same
time the Steé]es were being pressed hard by the risinn water in the old
Keystone Mine and decided to move their operation back to the Apex Mine.

Through the years the Steele family bécame hfgh]y respected miners.,
Ethel Steele (Mrs. Carl) was the first woman in Colorado to-receivevshot firer
papers, She also was an expert miner, Jim Collins who worked in theAmine
for several years recalled that Mrs, SteeTe could build stQppiﬁqs that
were superb. In the low coal she could out tfave] any of the men, ATl the
men in the mine respected her.

Gérdon Steele began minina in the old Keystone Mine while it was still

developing rooms. Here he learned to operate cutting machines.  He also
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spent one winter working outside on the.coa1 washer. (The mine washed the
coal to separate the slack and impurities from the coal.) The washer was a
cold, wet job in the winter. fordon also worked in the timber a couple of
years before the family becan pulling pillars at Keystone. As a miner
Gordon was a true professional, lle deve]oped and installed a safety
electrical cable for shuttle cars and loaders ten years before the federa]
aovernment required»the system in the mine.

Ouane Steele worked underaround, but he is best remembered for
handling the tipple. Folks liked to stop by:zisit with Duane because there
was always a sense of beinq weicome. By 1970 the Apex iline had moreb
customers than it cou]d supply. People would také their truck or pickup
out to the mine and park it in Tine and come back the next.day to get their
load of coal, At times the line of vehicles would be well over a quarter
of a mile Tona. The waaon mine was providina the people of Routt County
with a much needed service.

In 1969 the federal aovernment took control of requlating the safety
in coal mines. Under the new reaulations many gma]] mines were driven out
of business. As Gordon Steele pointed out, when mine safety was analyzed
in terms of man hours spent in the mines the small mines had as qood a
safety record as the larae mines. . Another method of analyzing was comparing
tons of coal produced to fhe'numbef of man hours necessary to produce the
coal. By comparing production to man hours the mines with Targe capital
resources and the most modern téchno]ony had the best safety record. Also.
the United Mine Workers were pushina for federal control of mine safety and
aenerally the large mines were union mines while the wagon mines were
non-union., Waocon mines were aenerally run by the owners whd were fiercely
independent and individualistic. Of course, covernment bureaucrats who

function in a world of committees were not well received by the wagon miner,
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Yhen the federal inspectors first arrived in Routt County they were
filled with zeal. And one zealous inspector beagan telling Johnny Mathews
how to run his mine. He never finished for Mathews turned his back on the
inspector and walked off leaving him standing. Mathews, who had aiven
thirty years of his life to develope that hole in the qround; never
returned to his mine. In his youth Mathews had seen many mine bosses
exploit the common workers. He had worked hard to escape the vicious
system, To Mathews the zealous federa] coal mine inspectors had all the
marks of the tyrannical mine bosses. Before Mathews would submit to a new
boss, he would turn his back oh a life lona dream and labor.®

The Steeles challenned the aovernment inspectors on several points.
Carl auestioned the inte]]inencé of requirina extensive rock dustina. He
maintained that although rock dustina stopped mine explosions, it caused
silicosis, a deadly Tuna disease. The inspectors were busy assertina their
authority and did not care to héve the reculations quéstioned. Tension
agrew when the federal men could not explain how silicia based rock dust was
safe and would not cause death., Carl Steele, who suffered from a lung
disease, was very sensitive to anythina that endangered the'respiratory
system, In the end all the inspector could do was stand upon his dignity
and read the printed paqe.

Federal coal inspectors can shﬁt down a mine by simply saying it is
shut down and no.péper work is necessary for several hdufs. The accused
are presumed quilty unti1 they prove themée]ves innocent. Small ‘mines
cannot afford the cost of .fightina their cases through the courts
renardless of the innocence of auilt, With the adversary having virtually
unlimited power, the Steele family realized the novernment would qget them
sooner or later,

In 1976 the Steeles sold their mine. In 1978 while working in Apex #2
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for the Sunland Mininq Corporation, the author was sitting on his shuttle
car talking to a federal inspector. The inspector had just arrived from
Utah and was expectinq to.be promoted to an cxecutive office in Denver. As
we visited he asked in a}casua1 way if "Gordon Steele still worked in the
mine." I replied that he was a face bo's and an excellent miner. The
inspector's attitude changed immediately. Within a few minutes we were
closed dow' for the day with no specific violations cited., The crew was
simply told that the mine was shut down while the inspectors went outside
to lunch., That was about 10:00 a.m, The inspector returned about 2:00'p,m.
and aave permission to resume work. However, the shift was nearly bver.
Clearly, the inspector had not been in Colorado or involved in the
digicu1ties hetween the Steé]es and the novernment; but he reacted as
thouah he had a mission to drive a black Tisted man from the mine.

The full story of what happened in the conflict between the independent
coal mine operators and the federal covernment may never be fully explained
but enouah is known to make it clear that the struanle became verv personal
and bitter on both sides.

In the Williams Mountains where the coal strata stood on end and coa]
mines were steep as "an ole cow's face," Louily Ciani opened his Pinnacle
Mine. Unlike the Steeles who made money and paid their men's wanes, Ciani
vas always broke. He was also reachina for biq things. He could talk men
into working all winter for him'ahd when sprind came Ciani did not have
money enouah to pay the waaes. But cohe another year he could depend upon
aettina some of the same men back in the mine. Ciani himself was a hard
workina man whose deeds commanded respect from the miners and his visions
of what could happen excited men. Somehow he was always able to raisé
enounh money to keen operatina, In 1958 he built a tipple in Hayden and

becan shippina coal. Again his monev problems caused him to close and this



Wagon Mines | | 149

time he died of a heart attack before he was aS]e to raise enouah rmoney to
reopen., With Ciani's death, another wagon mine céme to‘an end and a
colorful fiqure went to his reward,/

The Seven Points Mine west of Phippsburn was a mixture of qood and
evil, In the mid-1920s Elmer Maraerum, Brazilia Hastings, and Georae Gwynn
opened small waqon mines on Seven Points i{ill. Hone of the mines developed
into anythinc resembling a bia operation. Then in 1930 a qroup of Nebraska
investors purchased the coal and started promotion of a big mining
operation. They built a bunk house, "cook shack," and loadinn dock. To
overcome the very steep arade from the mjne to the valley floor, a tram
richt-of-vay Was cut throuch the oak bruéh and.a tram was partiy built,
Coal from the‘mine Was trdcked to the rai]road and shoveled inté cars.,

Apparently the activity at the mine was desicned to attract investors-
rather than develop the mine. From the time the Seven Points Mine opened
until it closed several years 1éter it was in deep financial trouble and
of course the depression aanravated the problem. "Homesteaders over there
[near Seven Points]," commented a resident, "ate potatoes and went without
because the mine didn't pay [waqes].“8

John Morey who had a small ranch in the valley below the mine had
several "scrapes" with the mine. He was hired to shovel coal back in the
box cars, but he was never paid for the work. When Guynn took over the
mine and his wife cqoked for the men, Morey sold beef to the mine. He was
not paid for the meat. OGwynn did not pay his hired men except when they
took him to court. Mrs., Gwynn ran a dirty boarding house. Billy Conley
stopped by the boardina house one day while drivina a truck énd asked for
somethina to eat. Mrs. Cwynn directed him towards a room and told him to
ao cut himself a piece of meat., He walked into the meat room and found it

full of cats and on a closer look saw where the rats had been eating the
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meat. Conley swallowed deeply and decided he was ﬁot hunary. Althouah
most people in southern Routt County had a hiah level of tolerance, the.
Seven Points Mine had several bitter enemies.

On one occasion Owynn wanted to channe the road from the railroad to
his mine. To do so he had to cross Morev's property. lorey refused to
sell the richt-of-wav and was taken to court. UWhile the case was pendinq
Morey took a heavy chain and loo and blocked the road which fwynn had put
in ahead of the court decision. Cwvnn countered by reportina_Morey's
bootlea activity to the authorities. In response to the report, Morey's
ranch was thorouahly searched and an emnty whiskey bottle discovered. The
cork smelled of Tiauor and the suspect was arrested. In due time Morey
admitted to bootleaainn and.was sentenced to work several days with a team
and slip on the county roads. At the court hearing Gwynn was awarded a
riaht-of-way and llorey was to receive $110 for his property.

Gwynn built the road but he did not pav nhis debt., HMorey was told that

he could collect his money in coal at the rate of ¢3.00 per ton at the mine.

e also had to find his own buver. After scarchinag for somedne to buy the
coal, he and Harry Metziner reached an aareecment for three loads if Morey
first hauled off the poor coal that Metziner had bounht from the Arthur

Mine, Thus, Morey had to clean out a man's coal shed and dispose of the

poor coal before he could make the lona trip to the mine and hand load coal

for sale in Phippsbura. Probably no one in the history of Routt Cdunty
worked so hard to collect the money aranted him by law.

Althouch aenerally the Seven Points 'ine had very hingh quality coal
and the slope was aentle, near. the end of the mine's operation thé miners
struck impurities in the vein which added to fhe mine operator's problems,
In the early 1940s Seven Points was windina down its operation. An

unidentified man aot a judrement anainst the rails used in the tram and
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tipple. Horey was contracted to stack the rail near the road where they
could be easily loaded on a truck. While Morev was working he overheard a
conversation between a couple of men at the mine. Under the coal lease the
federal aovernment would not allow the improvements to be removed from the
nroperty. lorev and his friends fiaured that Gwynn and his friends were
coinag to let them stack the rails and then nrevent them from takina them
off the property. Later the rail would disappear.

By previous arranqement, Yalt Jones in his truck arrived at the Seven
Points "ine early one Sunday mornina. A crew of men loaded the rail ahd |
hauled them to Morey's p]ape and put them on his property,‘ With.a chuckle
one old timer recalls hew it was after ten o'c]ock>bef0re fwynn could get
his truck started and.no to. Gak Creek after Judee Walker, ‘hen Judae
Walker, who was in close affiliation with Cuynn, arrived at the mine the
rails were already removed. The judae threatened to file charges on the
men for stealinag the rail, but fhe threat was not carried out. Shortly
afterwards Guwynn moved to Geornetwon, Colorado, where he worked a hard rock
mine until his death.9

Carl Steele who knew Gwynn recoanized his shortcomings but added, "He
was just an old tounh miner."m Like Avynn, by the end of World War II all
the people in the Seven Points area had moved on. In the early 1250s a
Mr. Dunn attempted to reopen Seven Points as a strip mine. Some overburden
was removed and a small amount of coal hauled to market., But this effort
was minute and short lived. Except for some core drilling and promotion
talk in 1978 the mines on Seven Points rewain quiet.

There were literally hundfeds of waqon mfnes ranging from prospect
holes to large active mines, Each of the mines had its own story.‘ With
our present economy the wagon miners are a thing of history, The folks

like the Knez and Steele families who accomplished a real service to the
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community are cone. The operations Tike the Seven Points that stirred so
much trouble will never trouble acain. Men like Louily.Ciani who could
excite the best in men's enerav and vision are Tost to the mining industry.

They were the eccentrics and individualists of their time.
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CHAPTER VIII
HMAKING A REPUTATION

At one time residents of Oak Creck proudly boasted that a half dbzen
of the nation's toughest men could arrive in town as the sun hegan to set |
and before the sun set a match for eéch man would have been found. No one-
ever attempted to prove the validity of the boast. From the days of Butch
Cassidy and the Wild Bunch throuah the underaround mining era Routt County
had its share of touagh people., In fact, the arrival of the ffrst settlers
in Egeria Park was the result of crime and violence,

In 1881, William, Albert, and Tom Bird were operating a small dairy
and a freiahting business at Breckenridae, Colorado. One morning they
found their horses were qone. The three brothers and a group of their
friends followed the trail of the animals ﬁorth along the Blue River and
across the Grand (Colorado) Rivef. Soon it became apparent that thieves
were taking the horses across Gore Pass and into Egeria Park. In lower
Egeria Park on what later became known as Watson Creek, the horses were
discovered arazing peacefully near the stream. The owners rode directly to
the horses and beaan aathering them, Sudden]y'a shot was fired %rom the
willows alona the stream and Tom Bird was mortally wounded. Immediately a
sharp fight followed. Out numbered and out aunned,'two horse thieveé
attempted to escape, but they were soon cornered near an abrupt rock
formation on the Devil's firave. Here the final act of violence was carried
outa] |

After buryino the dead, the Bird party spent a few.days examining the
Yampa Valley. It is reasonable to assume that they were aware of the plans

to build a railroad into the valley. Satisfied with what they saw and what

the future promised, the party decided to recruit more settlers and move
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into the valley, Durina the winter of 1881-1382, Albert Bird went tO'Dade'
County, Missouri, where he recruited friends'and relatives. With the
return of warm weather the pi]qrims moved 1hto the Lower Eqeria Park.

Without homes or‘f1é1ds the homesteaders had'a'multitude of thinﬁs to
do. One of their first tasks was to bu11d h0uSes; A party of men set up
a loaaing camp near Gardner Park and were husv cutting house loas when
thieves raided their camp. The outlaws took a larae share of the food and
other supplies .includina a new pair of boots belonging to John Phillips.

As soon as the rbbbery was discovered Hi1iiam and Albert Bird, Riley Wilson,
John Phinpips, and Ed llatson rave chase. The outlaws were overtaken on Oak
Hills near the later site of Havbro. In a sharp aunficht the criminals

were killed, Siﬁce‘robbinq a camp of food and cTothinq was amonqg the worst
Cimes on the frontier where starvation and exnasure were a constant threat,
the thieves were left unburied for several weeks. Finally the Routt County
sheriff, who had been notified of the aunficht, arranged to have the dead
men laid to rest.?

In 1884, Joe Ward and Charles Fox took up a ranch d@re the town of
Yampa, Colorado, was later established. The pair was part of a rinq that
was butcherina beef and sellina the meat at Leadville, Colorado. In the
fall the rustlers auarreled over their ill-cotten cain and Ward killed Fox.
Mark Choate and L. L. Hi]son arrested Ward. Justice of the Peace Alex Gray
performed the duties of coroner and judee. Since both men were equally
undesirable in the community, "no tears were shed because of the loss of
Fox."3 Ward was banished from Eceria Park. Sometime later he was shot
while travelina from his home near the fGovernment Bridge west of Craig to
Rawlins, Wyomina. Thus from the outset, Routt County began developing a
reputation of beina a touah recion.

Durina the period 1908-1914 the Oak Creek mining district was
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comparatively quiet., The mines had been shivpina coal for nearly a year
before a crime was reported in the newspaper. At a Tater and more exciting

time, it is doubtful if the editor of the Nak Crecek Times would have

devoted a full column to the "Phippsbura Robber Bound Over." Mrs, Juiia
Shoemacher and !Mrs. Catherine Jasper had each rented two rooms of a mine
“cottane" at Phippsbura. Joe Hobart while visifina Mrs. Shoemacher stepped.
into Mrs. Jasper's bedroom. Here he was caucht stealing $25 from her

purse. Hobart tried to fake his wav out by plavina drunk and fallinq off
the bed, That did not work and off he went tb jail. Thus ended the tale

of the "Phippsbura Robber Bound Over,"4

Althouah the story of the crime at Phippsbura was sufficiently dull,
it does provide us with some information about the 1living conditions in the
minina camp. The two women had divided -a four room cottage; the two rooms
provided extremely cramped Tiving quarters. Since Phippsburg in 1909 was a‘
company town housina miners and fai]road men, despite the "Mrs." attached
to the two women's names, there .could be only one occupation open for
unattached women in the mining camp,b

There was at least one saloon in Phippsburq althouah the property deed
to the railroad and mihinﬂ company prohibited the sale of liquor in the
town. Without doubt, prostitution and liquor were two of the basic elements
in the community's early history,

Another undesirable aspect of northwestern Colorado's unseemly
reputation was labor exploitation. For example, P, A, Clutter and his wife
Minnie and their larae family had traveled from Missouri to Routt County
durinag the sprinag of 1910, On lower Elk River Minnie found employment
helping Mrs, 0, P, Grant with the housework. \!hen it came time to settle
the waanes, Mr. Grant and his associate Walter iMiller refused payment. An

arqument followed and Grant and Miller both drew guns and shot down the



Making a Reputation - 156

unarmed Mr, Clutter. The two aunmen were arrested. Grant, who was
described as a IIblaw abiding citjzen and . . . well-to-do," was sentenced
to nine monthé af fhe state reformatory.s. Miller, who waé described as

"a ha]f—breed,and his réputation [was] not the best," was sentenced fo ten
to twenty-five yeafs in the state penitentiary.6

Closely associated with diéputes over waaes were tragic arguments over
debts. On a cold winter day in January 1914, John F. McHilliams and H. N.
Runyan went to Phippsburg on business. On their return to their homesteads
on Hunt Creek, McHi]]iamsbdropped Runyan off at his home and drove the team
on to his own home. ’MCWi11iams had not been home long when another
neiahbor, Georae Williams, came to collect a debt. Words were exchanqed
and Williams shot McWilliams, Hearing the shots Runyan hurried to the
victim's home while the}assailant>went to yet another neighbor's home.”
How this case was disposed of is uncertain. But since the killinqg happened

.at about the same time the Taxpayers Leacue was demonstrating against the
strikers at Oak Creek, it is worthwile spending a few moments considering
violence in Routt County:which was not strike related.

A few months after the McWilliams murder a aqroup of citizens held a
meeting at the Elkhead district school. The meeting was peaceful and no
one entered into anvy heated discussions. After the meeting was over the
men started for the corral to aet their horses, James Oldham untied his
horse and led him out as if he planned to mount then drew a aun and beaan
shootina, Soon Clifford Fulton lay mortally wounded and his brother Charlie
Fulton was seriously wounded, Sam Lichthizer who disarmed Oldham was
sliahtly wounded. The trouble between 01dham and his neighbors was lona
standina. At one time the Fultons had brouaht charges against Oldham for
insanity, but he was re]easgd by a Hahns Peak jury. Later Oldham was

awarded $1,500 in damaces acainst the Fultons., The insanity charae was



Making a Reputation A 157
filed aaain by a aroup at Hayden. Again the case was dismissed. [Hext a
qkoup of Hayden men collected $1,000 which was aiven to Oldham if he would
leave the county. He accepted the money and went to Craiq for a few days
and then returned home. Of course the last chapter was the shootina of the

8 There have been many legends arow around the Oldham

Fulton brothers.
shooting and there are those who support him and those who condemn him;
Without a doubt, he was a dancerous man.

Since the McWilliams and Oldham cases occurred approximately the same
time as the strike trouble at Oak Creek, let us compare a few facts.
Paradoxically, residents of the county were payinag a large sum to get a man
to leave while at the same time the Taxpayers Leacue was issuina ultimatums
to the strikers. In the strike zone two men were dilled during the spring
of 1914, In the non-strike zone two men were killed and two men wounded.
The facts suggest that the "fimes" aenerally were violent and the events at
Oak Creek fit a aeneral pattern 6f society and the union-manaacement problem
was only a portion of a larner social upheaval.

The Oak Creek Town, Land, and Mining Company was organized by men who
were very familiar with the more seamy side of Cripple Creek and Leadville,
Keepina with their backarounds, the town founders planned for Oak Creek to
be a wide open minina town. Liquor, qamblina, and girls were to be
plentiful for miners with money, In the freewheeling atmosphere only the
strona could survive,

In any community which aains a reputation for beinqg tough there is a
tremendous amount of social pressure upon some of its residents. For A, W,
Newcomb, who brouaht a past and a drinkinﬁ problem with him, the wide open
activity of Oak Creek proved too much. Within a week of his arrivé] he
took a Targe drink of carbolic acid and ended his 1ife.9

The story of Albert Schempp was harder for residents to understand.
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Schempp had immiqrated from Germany, and he was ranchinng in Deer Park when
O0ak Creek was orcanized. Seeina opportunity, he moved his family into the
community and became one of the snlid citizens. He developed the first
addition to the town (Schempp Addition). As the town grew and prospéred,
so did Schempp; however, the wide open town and World 'Yar I proved too
much for him. By 1917 he was an alcoholic Tivina in a shack at the back of
the family lot. Separated.althounh not divorced, he was constantly abusing
and threatening his wife and children, Finally after a long drinking bout
and abusing his family Schempp took his own ]ife.]o

No community reputation can be firmly established uniess there is
sufficient opportunity for specu1atfon and qossip. In the early years of
Oak Creek it found sufficient opbortunity to consider events in their "more

juicy" aspect when in 1910 the Oak Creek Times carried an article about the

accidental shootina of W, R. Black. He and Sam Klocko were huntind vthen,
so the story went, Klocko stumb]éd and accidently fired his shotaqun, The
shot hit Black in the riaght side and back. Immediately help was summoned
for Black, and Klocko hurried into town and packéd his baas. In time Black
recovered and Klocko returned to Oak Creek‘for:a short time,!'!

On the surface was a traqic but innocent story of an accidental
shooting. But folks in Oak Creek knew Black was not an ordinary man. He
built "Brooklyn," the red 110ht district in Steamboat Springs and was also
the power behind "Hickory Flats" in Oak Creek. le was also deeply involved
in the Tiquor and cambling traffic of the mining districts. And some
community residents suspected that Mr, Black was involved with a local
rancher in a cattle rustiina and slauaghter house business. In order to
maintain his many illecal operations B1a¢k had to "walk on" people from

time to time. Recardless of the truth of the shootine, many local

residents developned their own version. And Klocko's sudden flight from the
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Yampa Val]ey.0n1y added to the vérsions of what hmmened.'|2

Durina the period 1908-1914 Oak Creck had a turbulent time of
struqoling to maintain the minina district, but there was nbthinq to qive
the community a widely heralded reputation for being a touch town. In 1915
residents were sure the minina district would survive, and the mine payrolls
were becomina quite larae. At the same time the étate of Colorado beqgan
its prohibition efforts, Oak Creek was sufficiently isolated that there
was little fear of outside interferance. In 1915 0ak Creek made its bid
for a reputation as a touah town,

In 1915 when the crime rate was. very hiah, accidental shootjngs added

to the overall tension éndvexcitement. then the Oak Creek Times reported

the accidental shootina of HMick Pappas bvaony Pappas, the paper made it
very clear that the two men wereAthe best of friends, Althouqh bot men
were Greeks and had the same last namc‘they were not related., Uhile
workino as "buddies“ at the Yampé Valley Mine and staying at the same
boarding house the men had become close friends. On a crisp sprina morning
the men took an old weather beaten shotaun and went rabbit hunting. While
the men were crossina a aulch the aqun accident]Q dischérged and Nick Pappas
was fatally woundeda]3

There are many inaredients which ao into civing a community a
reputation for being touah, but whether the community is called Dodne City,
Tombstone, or Oak Creek, the cornerstone to its reputation as a touah town
is that it is, in fact, a touch town. Beainnina in 1915 and continuing for

serveral years afterwards, Oak Creek and the areas it influenced was violent

N
ﬂl‘

and often cruel, ‘anoréwfﬁe fist fiohts and street brawls which were
plentiful and netty and concentrate on the many violent crimes; we thug qgain
a sense of how touah Dak Creek really was.

Joe Santo was an Austrian who had come to the United States to find a
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better life., He drifted for a few vears until he arrived 1n Nak Creek. He
1ivedva normal miner's life until he went on an éxtended drinking "binqe."
While drunk he met his neiahbor Steve Suvada near the railroad depot. The
two men exchanned sharp words that 1éd to a fist fight. Santo then went
home where he not his aun and waited for Suvada. After shooting his
neiahbor ten times Santo benan shooting at everything in sight. Finally
Marshal Jim Ray and i, F, Watt were able to disarm Santo. !4

A few months before Santo went on the rampane, Ray had married Mary
Aline Smith, At the time of the marriane Smith was one of the hostesses at.
Reidy's house of i11 fame. Althouoh Ray tried to provide a aood home, the
marriaae had a rocky road to travel from the outset. The bride never really
left her previous profession and kept attgndinn the dahces unescorted where

nl5 RPay was both marshal

she "was often found in the company of other men.,
and half owner of the Bin Six Sé1oon. The business was one of the more |
wide open establishments in towﬁ.. The marriace partner's professiona1
differences led to numerous quarrels, On November 7, Mary qot qloriously
drunk and went to the dance at Doyle's Saloon. Doyle's business wés a
combination drinking and whore house. When Ray learned of his wife's
whereabouts he rot her and took her home. When they arrived home they met
Judae William Phelps who was also involved in liquor, Qamb]ing, and
prostitution. Phelps and Ray went off on some business., So Mary decided
she should qo back downtown. Ray met his wife before she qot to her
destination and thev returned home. Here they went into the kitchen and
becan quarrellina in Tow voices. They did not want Bill Irwin who was
sleeping in the front bedroom or A, S. Brown who was sleeping on the couch
to hear them. In this turbulent situation Ray toid his wife to shut up and

slapped her. She in turn did the unladv like act of drawing a qun and

killing him. The court later sentenced !I'rs. Ray to serve ten to twenty
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Just twokweeks before the Ray murder a Domincc Gabriel attempted to

force his éttention uhon ary0unq‘mother. fabriel dropped by his victim's
home late one afternoon and started to rape the mother. The woman aqrabbed
a pistol and fired a shot which missed fGabriel. She then tried to fire
twice more but the aun misfired. Gabriel who had slowed his advances when
the weapon came into play, beacan Tauchina at his victim as the qun misfired.
But the woman was not yet defeated; she quickly stepped to a thest of
drawers and drew another pistol. This time the qun worked and she did not
miss her taraet. At the court hearina it was learned that Gabriel had
attacked another woman a month earlier and at that time an attempt was made
to have him arrested, Howéver, due to a loophole in the law he escaped
justice. UMhen all the facts were considered the woman was let free without
any charages.

Routt County's cruelist muraer in 1915 was ‘not connected with the
mininn camps. At a sheepherder's camp in Red Park near the Wyomina line,
Jose Valardo, Cerri]]ovVe1a§quez, and Marquez Quinta were sharing caﬁp;

The herders sent Valardo to Columbine to aet supplies; while there Valardo
cashed Velasquez's paycheck and spent the money on himself. UWhen Valardo
returned to camp sharp words were exchanaed over the spending of Velasquez's
paycheck, That nioht Valardo murdered Velasquez as he slept and Quinta as
he tried to escapea]8

Without a doubt, by 1915 0Oak Creek and to a lesser extent the rest of
Routt County was inhabitated with citizens who were quick to use a aun to
settle their differences. However, in 1916 reaional crimes had a
particularly cruel twist to them,

In June a fisherman below Steamboat Springs found the body of a new‘

born baby which had been stranaled. It did not take authorities lona to
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fiqure that the bodv could not come down the FiVer from above thevtown.: At
the upper end of town the Service (pronounced Sarvice) Lumber Company had a
line across the river to catch its loas. But below the Tumber yard was

Mr. Black's Little Brooklvn, It was specu]ated that one of the ladies of

19 No one was arrested

the niaht had aiven birth to an unfortunate child,
for the crime; however, feelinq»ran hich adainst fhe murdek.

On July 4, AT Todd decided to set the labor of his homestead aside for
the day and ao fishing on Morrison Creek. Upon reaéhinq the stream he
crossed over the boundary line onto Jake Auaster's homestead. Here Todd
busied himself catchfnq nfasshophers for bait. He looked up to see Aucster
holdinn a qun, Aunster.had come to Oak Creek before the biq strike of
1913-14 and worked in the mines. Durinag the strike he was active in the
union and qained a reputatibn for his willinagness to fiqght. After the
strike ended Auquster was unable to find work in the mines so he moved to
Morrison Creek and took up a hoﬁestead. As a homesteader he was not
effective. But Todd, who was also a bachelor, tried to help his neiaghbor,
Durino the winter of 1915-16 Auaster who did not have a cabin aqreed to pay
his share on the board bill if he could batch with Todd. The verbal
contract was made and the men lived tocether through the winter. When
sprina came Auaster refused to pay any of the food bill or help Todd with
any of the sprina work., ~Todd attempted to secure his investments by taking
a rifle and small bundle from Auaster. On that fatal July 4, Augster saw
Todd Teave his cahin and followed him. At the moment he chose, the killer
stepped up and "aut" shot Todd and Teft him to die.

Since picnics were a tradition for Independence Day, the P. J. Gardner
and Ed Herold families were near enouach to hear the shot and curious enough
to ao investigate. By the time they reached Todd's cabin the wounded man

had draaaged himself to his home and was attempting to protect himself from
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further assault if it came. Todd was made as comfortable as possible in a
waqon, and the neihhbnrs and the wounded man started for Oak Creck. Several
hours later Todd died without reachine the doctor, Augster, who was soon
arrested, never showed any sions of recret for killing his neiahbor. And
the court only sentenced him to serQe a tern of one to eight vears in the
state penitentiarV.zo

The Todd murder case was just settled when Clate Watt shot Yilliam
Doyle. While at Cripnle Creek, Watt and an accomplice had kidnapped a
wholesale 1iquo;*ggn and taken him to én abandoned mine. Here the victim
was danaled over an open shaft until he disc osed the location of some
money, For his part in the crime Watt was sent to prison. Upon his
release he came to Oak Creek where he worked as a muscle man for one of the
town factions., A rival faction, Yilliam Dovle and his wife Anne, ran
several houses, sold bootlea whiskev, and controlled a larqge part of the
town's gamblina, Dovle was also the only man who could compete with Black
for control of the town's nicht 1ife business. In the "wee" hours of an
inviaoratina fall morninqg, llatt, who was merrilyv drunk, went to Doyle's
roomina house and stood in front of one of the doors and sanac at the top of
his lunqs. Anne Doyle came out in the ha11 and asked Watt to leave but
this only encouraqed him to sinm with more nusto. So William Doyle not up
and came out in the hall where the rabble rouser was enjoying himself,
Doyle, without ceremony, picked up Watt and threw him down to tﬁe first
lTandina on the stairs. Doyle them calmly walked down the steps to 'att and
pitched the man the rest of the way down.

At first 'Ylatt was willina to foroet and foraive, but when he went oh
another drinkina spree and his friends heaqan to chide him about letting
Doyle rouach him up, Watt swore to cet revenae. One afternoon in

mid-October Doyle had to co to Steamboat Sprinos and Craia to pay his fines
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and settle a ;horiff's sale which resulted from several court convictions
the Doyles had recenf]v received, !latt vowed that Doyle would never 1eave'.
town. He aot his rifle and went to the denot vhere he found Doyle standinag
near the stove vith a few other folks. ‘lhen Dovle saw Jatt he said, "You're
not one of thosévbad meﬁ Who o afound carrvina a aun are vou Clate?" Watt
replied, "I aquess not a bhad man" and raised his rifle and shot Doyle in the
middle., But Doyle, who was touasher than most men, took the shot and then
walked back to his saloon where he was put to bed and the doctors ca]]ed.Z]

The town marshal heard the shot and come on the run., But when Watt
refused to surrender, the lawman stenped hack. For several hours llatt
paraded throuanh town with his rifle. Finally when he went into the
Imperial Pool Hall, Clem Eiler disarmed the cunman and thé sheriff was
called, At a later trial Watt vas found not auilty., The jury believed
that Yatt had fired in self defense,22

The primary reason Yatt recéived such a Tight sentence was his close
relationship to Frank Hattvwho was a leadina fiqure in Oak Creek and a man
with a tremendous amount of fnf]uence in the right places. And in 1916,
Oak Creek was in the throes of a power strucale, One political leader
readily admitted that the sheriff and court in Routt County were bought,
When the hiahest bidder wanted someone removed or a favorable court decision
handed down, it was done. And in late 1916 there were powerful men who
wanted Doyle removed from the county or brouaht into line. And the series
of court cases for bootleanina, prostitution, and qambling had failed to
brina Doyle into line; therefore he was shot;23

Oak Creek was so wide open in 1916 that in an article headlined

"Prohibition Some Joke" the editor of the Qak Creek Times told how many

quarts of whiskev, wine, and beer arrived in Oak Creek in July and Auqust,

He also knew the price of each item and how much was on hand.24 The editor
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miaht have aone on to sav that crime of all types was hecomina a way of

1ife, A Joanuary 1917 orand iury issued so manv indictments that it took

two full columns of the Qak Creel Times to list them, William Doyle had
eiqhtiseparate charces, Joe Postlich had seven charges, and M.'H. Hinains
had six charces. Wfth the excention of Frank Miller who was charqed
with stealina a shéeo, 211 the indictments listed in the paper vere aoainst
people from Oak Creek and vicinity. Hone of the indictments were aaainst
the Black Faction.25 |

Despite the court, crime continued. ilo one became overly concerned
when Tony Ferraro blew out Jim Vassos's brains, or whén Jose Villalohos
cut un Juan Sanceda's abdamen with a sickle, or when Caspar lleberskirch
shot Jim Johns throuch both lens, It was aenerally believed that the
victims were "Greek Johns" too friendlv with someone else's wife.ZG
Residents found a bit o% huror in the time Sam Guvo got drunk and went to
a nublic dance at Pa]]as; Cuvo éntered the dance hall and moved to the
center of the floor where he becan shoutina abuses and aenerally causing
trouble, ‘hen Mrs, Pete Rhodes tried to talk fuvo into leavina, he drew
a knife. Pete Rhodes, who was standinq nearby; drew a gun and shot Guvo
in the rump. fuvo fell to the floor vellina and then qot up and ran
outside.27 But when Jack Cumminqgs followed a five year old mfr] to an
outside toilet and then attacked her, the town acted with dispatch.
Cumminas who narrowly avoided beinc lynched was sentenced to life in
prison.28

The one crime which went the furtherest toward giving Oak Creek a
reputation of beina a touch town occurred on October 5? 1916, The Moffat
Mine superintendent, Robert (Bob) Perry, stepped outside to tend to nature

before aoina to bed; suddenlv two fireek niners confronted him with weapons,

They forced the mine superintendent back into the house and searched the
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premises for quns and money, After éatisfyinq themselves that they had all
the money, the kidnappers marched Perry across the mine property and up the
hill behind where the machine nun and search light had stood during the
strike. HNear mornina the three men stopped on the divide between Little
Trout Creek and‘Oak Creek. After a brief rest, feorne Kastseaianes and

Jim Karacounis forced Perrv to Qrite a $15,000 ransom note which was sent
to his father, Samuel Perry, the principal owner of the Moffat Mine and a
leader in the railroad. After one of the kidnappers mailed the letter the
trio moved on to the divide between !tiddle Creek and Trout Creek. Here
they waited for Sam's response. It was not Tona in cominc., Perry ornanized
a aroup of detectives and took a special train for Oak Creek,

While the train was hurryinn to the Yampa Valley, it bénan to rain on
the fuaitives. The moisture helned Toosen Bob Perry's bonds; meanwhile the
miserable weather caused the kidnappers‘to become careless, Although ﬁot
completely free from his ropes, Bob was able to qet a rifle from the
sleeping kidnappers. In the fioht which followed, Perry shot Kastseaianes
and Karaaounis Fied. Then Perry who was still partially bound hurried to a
ranch for help.

One of the myéteries that surrounds the case is what happened after
Perry and Karaoounis fled leavina Kastseaianes shot from a larae caliber
rifle. When investinators found the kidnapper's body, fhe Tawmen claimed
that it had been robbed and the man had been shot through the head with a
small caliber bullet. After the discovery of the dead man and identifying
him as one of the freeks, Sam Perry and his hired detectives went on a
witch hunt. Many Greeks were arrested and some detained for a lona time
without any evidence. Finally the wanted man was spotted drinkina from one
of the sprinas at Steamboat Sprinas. After his arrest he was charaed with

kidnapping and murder, It was maintained that Bob Perry's shot would not
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have killed the man who was so badly wounded that he could not escape.
Karadounis denicd the murder charne, Since all the witnesses have passedk
on to their reward,4ﬁistofy will never disc]ose.if KarégoUnis was‘framed
for murder.29 | | ,

Althouah the mines wanted to aive the public image that they were safe
places for Tabor and‘manénement, the facts are fhat Jak Creek's violent
crimes reached deep into the mines. It was a common practice in the mines
for various types of underaround workers to ekp]oit other classes of
workers., Rope ridérs often did not provide the miners with the necessary
cars and equinment unless the rider received a cash pavment. When a rope
rider named Johnson refused to provide Alfonso Zupo with tai] for the rbom,
harsh words were exchanred and Johnson hit Zupo with a piece of steel
causina a terrible head'iniury.30 Apparently Zupo survived the attack and
Johnson went unpunished,

A more serious attack on a‘miner occurred at.the Haybro Mine. lhen
the mine €irst opened, its nortal was on ton of Oak Hill and the mine was
connected to the railroad by a lona tram., As a shift ended on September
26, 1915, a miner finished loadina two larce loads of coal., After the work
was completed the rope rider took the cars to the éurface while the miner
followed at a distance. !When the loads reached the surface it was
discovered that the coal was piled too hirh to fit under the timbers at the
head of the tram., The mine boss told Matt Gaffney to unload part of the
coal, The miner arrived in time to see his coal being unloaded--coal which
he was paid by the ton to mine and on which he often received a short count
in tonnaae., Without hesitation the miner attacked Gaffney with a short
niece of rail. After the assault the miner fled and Géffney was hurried to
a hospital in Steamboat Sprinas where he later d1'ed.3“I

On a Tighter note were the capers of Lee Parfet at the Pinnacle Mine.
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Parfet was the weiqghmaster at the mine and like many of the men he took a
lot of auff from other emnloyees. One dav Parfet was shadow boxino at his
place of work when I, J. Batman saw the activities. BRatman benan "ribbinn"
the wiould be boxer. One vinrd ]eé#to another and soon the two men vere
throwina blows, Parfet was no match for Datman, so after the fioht Parfet
qot a aun and came back to the tipple, At the time he arrived most of the

men viere eatino lunch and at first did not believe Parfet when he told them

to cet out, But Batman, who had had the firht took Parfet serious and left.

He was soon followed by the rest of the men. That worked so well that
Parfet took his rifle while collectina his wanes frem J. Ul Browninn.32
The residents of Oak Creek, who were Becominn calloused, found more humor
in Parfet's threats than anythina danqerous. 1'ost pecople realized that he
was aenerally a verv peacéfu] and likeable fellow.

Far less humorous was the death of fGuadalupe Hernandez. Hernandez
went to work in the Ho. 2 MMine b% the Moffat Caol Company durina the
mornina of April 13, 1917. Uhen he did not show up to eat Tunch with his
friends theyv went lnokina for him., They found him dead in his hininﬂ room,
Someone had hit him in the.mid section and runtured the small intestine.
The motive nor the killer were never discoveredn33

But the death of Cary Fulton provides us with nore insight into the
life at the mines. Fulton was a youna, stranpina man who enjoyed teasinﬁ
everyone, On July 13, 1917, Fulton was runninn~ the tunnel motor, Horace
Willey was runninc the hoist, and Harry fray was working as a ropelrider.
At noon the three men sat down with a crew of track layers to eat., Fulton

asked firay, "What nationality are you?" Crray answered, "Same -as you are, a

white man." Fulton replied, "I don't believe vou; I think you are a hunk."

Of course, at this time in Oak Creek's history, feeling between the various

nationalities ran hich, Fulton kent kiddina Cray about being a hunk and
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Gray kept aettinc hotter. Then Fulton arabbed “ray by the foot. fray

countered by kickina Fulton in the face.. Fulton shoved fGray over the hoist.

At this voint the’other niners stonped the finht, Dut Fulton promised to
take it up aﬂain‘oncebthey were out of the mine. After work Fulton and
Ernest Cwinn walked ahead and Cfay and Leslie Hobbs and a third pérson
followed as the shift made its wdy towards town. Suddenly Fulton turned
around sayina, "le micht as we]l settle this riaht hére," and started hack
towards Gray. Fulton, who wés much the larnest, arabbed Gray by the arms,
but fray who was terrified drew his sharp steel bell ringer and drove it
into Fulton's chest. Fulton then turned and ran; however, the effecf of
the wound soon caused Fulton to 1.55111.3/L

It is ironic»that a life was taken over a silly auarrel err vhich
nationality a nerson belonaed to. 1In 0ak Creek there was nearly every
European naticnality present. There were also Blacks and Japanese. The
town itself was quite small by pfesent standards. The business district
was only four blocks long and the nermanent population was well below a
thousand, But, until after Yorld War I, conflicts between nationalities
vere serious and nften deadly,

Equally puzzline is the phenomenal crime rate. There were very few
killinas in Oak Créek until after the bia strike, and the strike in the 0ak
Creek mining district was relatively peaceful. But the next year the
murder ratce climbed to well over a dozen and remained there for several
years, Bootleaaina and prostitution could be blamed for the high crime
rate. But other towns in the va]]ey also had bootleqgging and}prostitution
without the murders. From 1914 until some time in the 1920s the larqest
minina district was at Mt. Harris. In the Mt. Harris district there were
more mines and more.peop1e. So we cannot blame the(crime rate oﬁ number of

people or nationalities. Labor exploitation was as bad at Mt, Harris as it
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was at Oak Creek, and the countv's loarina industry was worse for cheatina
the men than were the mines; therefore, 1abor exploitation canﬁot be
sinaled out as causina the criminal activity.

The only thine that Oak Creck had that none of the other towns in the
county did not have was a aqroup of foundinn fathers who came to oraanize an
open town that would rival Cripple Creek and Leadville, lhereas the mine
owners at Mt, Harris kept a 1id on their company town, the leaders at Oak
Creek ianored the mine operators., The town had a socialist aqovernment
during the strike and the residents were not too upset when Bob Perry was
kidnapped. However, before the reader nets the wrong impression, Bob Perry
personally was admired by most of the people in Oak Creek and those who
viorked for him at the mine., Bob stayed at the mine and suffered the fates
of life with the local folks. But the neople found it quite natural to
admire Perry and ionore the mine. To add to the confusion at Oak Creek was
the deadly came over which fact%on would control the aqambling, boot]eqding,
and prostitution.

Reaqardless of the causes for the hidh vioienf crime rate, Oak Creek
continued to build upon its reputation as a touah town. Even the town
leaders were not exempt from adding to the reputation. One pleasant April
day in 1918, 6. F. Watt, a leader in the city qovernment, dropped into the
Herald office to collect a $10 qamblina debt from Mrs, J. I, Chi]dréss. She
became insultina and Watt returned in kind. He collected his money and left
the newspaper office. Later in the day Watt met J. M, Childress and A,
Jackson on the street and anain words were exchanced. However, this time
Chi]dreés and Jackson reached into their pockets and took out their pocket
knives and prepared to cut up Vatt. Watt, who had a reputation for beinq
tounh, hit Childress with all his strénqth and took most of the fight out

of the editor, HMeanwhile Jackson slashed Watt twice then the two newspaper
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men took to their heels and fled into the Herald office. Soon a crowd
aathered and threatened to lynch the'newspaper people. Finally the town
marshal arrived and put Jackson under arrest and escorted Mr. and lrs,
Childress out of town, \att, who lost a 1otvof blood, mended after a few
days.35 |

‘After the bia strike, Oak Creck went on a rampage of violence, but
1919 was a placid and duT] vear, Tne comrunity had its fist fights and
turbulent moments, but these fit into the same pattern as the rest of
northwestern Colorado. By 1921, the whole county had underaone some
remarkable chances, In that vear James and Arthur Durham had trouble with
Superintendent Davis at the Morrison Mine. The miners claimed that they
were beina cheated on their wanes. The arcument became heated and Davis
slapped James across the face. Just a few years eariier men had been
killed for less than that, but Durham‘simn1y drew his qun and fired it into
the floor, This served as a warhinq and also led to a jail sentence for
the two miners.36

The followina year Dén Borich, in a fit of rage, killed his wife and
Joe Kezele, The éssau]t of the victims was brutal, but nothing Tike the
murders which occurred in 1916. However, "feeling ran high at Pallas and
in Oak Creek and it was feared that an attempt miaoht be made to take
[Borich] out of jail and lynch him." G, F. Vatt, the same man who had been
in the knifina incident with the newspaper man back in 1918, had to hold a
Tynch mob off for a brief period.37 Just a few years before several people
had met their death durina family problems and no one in Oak Creek qot
excited. How times had chénﬂed,

The county had also chanaed dramatically. In the sprina of 1922 the

county aovernment was attemptina to have the state of Wyoming return Belmont

B. Magee, The Curtis Mine near Milner was notorious for cheatina the men



Makina a Reputation : 172

out of their wanes. MAnd Manee, who was wanted for "“defraudinc workmen,

short checks and various other infractions of the law," was one of the

many leasers of the mine. The countv was not satisfied with noina throuah

a few motions, its officials were also attemptina to collect the wanes from '

¥, W, Curtis, And‘enouqh pressure was heinn placed in the richt places
that Curtis was cooperqtinn.38
From 1915 throuah 1917 Jak -Creek was a town in which anyfhinq went,
and 1ife was easily taken. ‘'lhat caused the chanae after 1917? The Unitéd
States entered World Uar I, and for most of the residents of Routt and
Moffat counties, President YWoodrow Wilson's war aims as expressed-in the
fourteen Points wefe-not idle talk, The residents went to war to make the
world a better nlace to live. Oak Creel in 1917 was a place which had
drawn a considerable amount of attention for its dirt and rottenness. Thus
the community came uﬁder extensive pressure to meﬁd its ways. One of the
most effective tools in nettihq fhe attention of the mining community Was
provided by Wilson's proclamation: "All male Austrians from the aqe of 14
years up who are not naturalized citizens, to refrain from violatinag the
Taws of the United States andvso lona as they shall conduct themselves
accordina to the law, they will be undisturbed in peaceful occupations."39
The chanae in Qak Creek could very well have occurred under the
pressure of the war even if the proclamation had never been made. All the
communities became deépiy involved in the war effort. On a per canita
basis Yampa probably sent the most men to the service, However, mining
communities like Mt. Harris and Oak Creck had a Tarqe number of immigrants
who could not sé&e in the armed forces. To further help the war effort Red
Cross chapters were established at many points. It was dgenerally assumed

that anyone not active in the Red Cross was not patriotic. Every community

attempted to out do the others in its Red Cross work, And to the credit of
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the people a tremendous amount was accomnlished, !t. ilarris and Hayden
vere the most successful Red Cross units. "Durina the Second Red Cross !lar
Fund Drive, the auota for I't. llarris was fixed at $114., With a population

of only 400, it rolled un the astoundina total of $2,743. Then every

workina man in the camp pledoed 2 rer cent of his waaes for the war.,"
Every miner at Bear River alsn pledoed two nofcent of his wanes to the
drive, 0 Althounh 0Oak Creek did not achirve the success of the other
comnunities, it was a strona supporter of thé Red Cross.

A miner at the 'loffat I'ine made soﬁe‘unfavorab1e comments about the »
Red Cross, so one of the Committee of Five‘roquested that he he discharaed

from the mine on the nrounds that he was a slacker, After the miner was

fired he complained to the rditor of the 0ak Creck Times, who reported the

miner to the Committee of Five. The miner was arrested "and made to explain

o Clearly the

why he so frequently denounced the work of the Red Cross."
miner was handled in an autocratfc manner, but often in history when
natriotism, idealism, and reform are comhined those who entertain different
ideas are treated harshly,

Hith the idealism and reform movement that swept in came an. opportunity
to oust the powerful nolitical leaders of Oak Creek. In 1918 the Taxpayers
Party led by Dr, E, L. Morrow defeated the old Independent Party so soundly
that the party died.42 Hith the new men in political power, Oak Creek
beoan cleaning up its underworld. Liquor, aambling, and prostitution
remained, but the violence associated with the business was brouaht under
control,

Some of the leadinc citizens in Oak Creck and Yampa decided to carry
the reform movement further. The method used was the Ku Klux Klan.

Several residents of Oak Creek were told to nset out of town and crosses

were burned on a hill above the town. For manv residents the threat of the



Makina a Reputation - 174

Klan was unnervinﬂ.43

In southern Routt County the Klan was more a fad than a real threat,
Reorce Moraites, a fGreek immiarant, arrived in Jak Creek in the early.
1920s. Instead of roina to work in the ioffat Nine‘as he orininally-
planned, Moraites npened a shoe repair shon. During the years the Klan
was at its heicht, he develoned a stronc business andvhecame A leader in
the community.

The Italian immiqrant Dominic Hamidy had made his home in Oak .Creek.
Durina the bhiqg strike of 1913-14, Hamidv waé running the Northpole
Import-Export Store, Throuah the strike he cxtended so much credit to
needy families that he was forced to close the store, ‘'/hen James Gilruth
resioned from the Oak Creek city covernment in av 1918, the council
appointed Hamidy to serve in the city covernment, lamidy continued to be a
respected resident throurh the 19205, 44

Sam and Anaela Iacovetto 1éft their native Italy to seek a better life
in America, In 1913 thev moved to’Phippsburn, Colorado. Like so many
foreianers who were hired as strikebreakers, when they learned of the
strike it was too late to avoid continuino to work at the mines., The
immigrants did not have money enouah to leave and the striking union would
not accept them into their ranks. Iacovetto rode the commuter train from
Phippsburg to the Moffat !ine until the train was discontinued. Then he
rode a horse to work. In time lacovetto quit the mine ahd beaan workinag at
the coal chute at the Phippsbura roundhouse. Here a crew of men were
employed to shovel the coal from the cars into the coal chute. From the
chute the coal was Toaded into the locomotives.

In 1919, lacovetto bounht the Phippsburqg Poolhall from J. J. Doyle.
The pool hall, Tike the rest of the pool halls in southern Routt County,

handled bootlea whiskey. Soon he becan handlinqg aroceries and by 1922 his
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primary source of business was qaroceries.  Jurina the 1920s Tacovetto's
business arew. |

Iacovetto was a foreianer, strikebreaker, and bootleqqger; if the Klan
had been a powerful force, lacovetto's business would have died. But the
true nature of the people became clearly evident in the case of Sam
Iacovetto., Since he did not understand bookkeeping nor read Enalish well,
a arocery salesman kept his books. The books were honestly kept and
Tacovetto was not cheated. He moved into the arocery business aTthounh
Yhitely's had a store across the street. Despite the competition by a
non-foreianer, lacovetto was able to expand his business. By the end of
the decade of the 1920s the Iacovétto family was a well resnected family
in southern Routt County. HNone of this would have been possible had the
Klan been a powerfu1 force, 5

fuch more constructive than the Klan was the women's dedication to
reform the recion. With the pasgane of the XIX Amendment to the
Constitution in 1920, women aained the richt to vote. The women in Oak
Creek, Tike their sisters throuchout the nation, took the responsibility
of aovernment seriously., As part of their responsibility the Woman's Club
put pressure on the Oak Creek government to keep the pool halls and soft
drink parlors under close control. The women were effective in controllina
althouoh not eliminatina the exnloitation of youna minors by the town's
vices.,

So often in the story of human events creat crusades for serious noals
are accompanied with moments of liaht huror. So it was with the crusade to
clean up the Oak Creek aovernment. To further their end the women attended
one of the city council meetines, As a result the women adopted the
followina resolution: "The committee from the Yoman's Club attending the

meetina of the Board of Aldermen on Thursday evening, noticed the deplorable
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condition of the room in which the meetinns are held, therefore, Be it

"
°

Pesolved . . . the same be thofouah1y cleaned, . The city
councilmen who did not want the ‘omen's Clubto come down too hard on their
pool halls and softkdrink‘parlors not the hrooms, pails, and other tools,
and suffered the humi]iation of Titerally cleanino out the city hall.

The pressure of the various reform movements had their impact upon the
violent character of Qall Creek and the coal minine district. To keep in
tune with the chancinn community a plank in the People's Party Platform of
1921 stated: ". . . the present candidates pledoee fhemse]ves to continue
the enforcement of the Taws, the prohibition of the sale of intoxicating
Tiquors and camblinn; that no house of i11 fame will be permitted to exist,
nar immorality in any locality; that we intend as far as possible to see
that Oak Creeck is avmodel town . . ."47

Equally important to the reform movements in changing the mining
district was the chanece which oécurred in the underworld. After Yorld Mar
I, Andy Black and his associates were in complete control of the town vices.
Without a serious challencer, there was no need for the public violence.

However, after 1920 Cak Creek remained a touqgh town; and at times the

community's violent side flashed to the surface,
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CHAPTER IX
CRIME AFTER 1920

The reform efforts durine and immediately after World War I helped to
control crime in northwestern Colorado. BUt Oak Creek and the adjacent
coal minina district remained a reaion with a well deserved reputation.
Here the shift from a wide open town where anvthing went to a wide open
town that controlled the more repnulsive aspects was slow in arrivinmg,

Often the reform was more apparent than real.

Between 1920 and 1925 open vié]ence remained a part of community life,
However, this neriod eXhibited some subtle channes from the pre-Horld HarlI'
period, One of the subtle chanoes was that the Tocal newspapers aenerally
did not carry as detailed accounfs of the violence and crime. Two examples
of the chanae were -the stories of "Two Austrians lleld Cn Assault Charqés“
and “MNear Shootina Affray Finishés Excitemenf." In the first article the

editor of the Oak Creek Times covered the story of Mike Gulohovich and Jack

Runuzijo assaultina Georace Perich. The newspaner only used one paraaraph
and no sensation to report the event. In the second story Marko Gavo and
Georae Pavello had a very public fist fiaht on Sharpe Avenue. Gavo came
out the worst in the fioht, Afterwards he swore to get revenge. The story
became more intriauina when Ravo's cousin, Louis Zulevich met Pavello on
Main Street; suddenlv Zulevich drew a oun and shot at Pavello but missed.
Pavello dived into the qutter and faked death. Zulevich hecame scared and
ran off, Later all three men were arrested and the law took its course.

To cover the story the local paper only used two paraqraphs.] In an

earlier period the Oak Creek Times would have used a full column to detail

a blow by blow description of the event. The two county seat newspapers,

the Steamboat Pilot and the Sentinel remained aloof of hoth stories;
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however, durina the period 1915-1918 these panars had field days coverinn
similar excitement.

The havo, Pavello, and Zulevich story also provides some indication of
hov justice was handled in Qak Creek. A]] three men vere arrested by
Police Maaistrate Ferdinand Luedke, and Justice S. M. Bell fined the three
men $10 and costs for disturbinc the neace. Further leaal action anainst
fiavo and Zulevich was taken under advisenent and‘1ater dropped.

The case acainst R, S. "Dick" Phelns fell into the older pattern of
law enforcement. Phelns was one of the ~amblers and palitical hacks vho
had niven Qak Creek its renutation. In 1909 he was police mamistrate. He
held the office only a month hefore he was replaced by another member of
the pnlitical factions. Despite his removal from office Phelps continued
to be one of Oak Creek's touagh characters.

In Februarv 1921 Phelps was aqamblina with L, M. Lamb when Lamb lost a
larce amount of money which resh]ted in Lamb and Phe]pgtéggroi1ed in a
bitter araument. Since Phelps had a meanAreputation, Lamb left the
aamblina hall to get a aun. About noon he returned and pointed the aun at
Phelps and claimed he would ki1l him. Phelps arabbed the qun and pointed
it at Lamb just as it went off., Lamb was seriously wounded and Phelps was
vounded in the little finaer. After the shootina, larshal Dittemore
arrested Phelns and Sheriff Charles M. Heiman was notified. The case
involvine Phelos was soon foraotten. Foraotten is the correct nhrase since
the case was never handled in a formal manneroz Phelps was an intricate
nart of the ﬁamb1inw element in Oak Creek, and that element took care of
their members, |

The counterwéioht,to the protection of the inner circle was the story
of W, H, Ewina, Ewina had been an Oak Creck police magistrate in 1909. He

and Phelps had been involved in various aspects of the town's night life
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for years, Durina the struacle hefween Andy Black and his supporters and
William Doyle .and his supporters, Phelps hn& stood with Black while cwing
supported Doyle. Durina the power strunale Lwina left Oak Creek‘and moved
to a ranch near Macfirenor, Colorado. From his ranch Ewing p1annéd to
operate a larae boot1eﬁn1nn business in the M't. Harris coal mininq district.
To further his plans he contacted R, If, and D). L. Ticlowell who were
considered vefy successful whiskav makers from Tennessec. After an
anreement was reached between the partirs, the ﬂcDoweW]s Tnased the Ewinn
ranch., The men had just started their business when Ueputy Sheriff Willian
{etchens and feorae Lonn arrestad the thren. The cbowells were fined 3700
each and Ewina was fined $300. Someone had turned Ewing in to the law at
just the riaht moment to prevent competition from reaching the market.3

Despite the subtle Chanﬂes that were occurring and the shift in the
power structure, Oak Creek still had a vicious aspect that errupted from
time to time. One of the saddesf stories involved a fifteen vear old qirl,
Annie Mudra, and her mother, Kathryn., The two women lived on a small ranch
in Eckman Park while Mr. Mudra and his sons William and Joe lived in Oak
Creek. Mr, Mudra worked as a pumper at the !Moffat Mine and seldom went to
the ranch, and the two bovs attended school and were not at home often,
Annie cracked un under the strain of the Tonely life and a sick mother.
She shot her mother and then buried her in a manure pile. Several weeks
later the crime was discovered. In the process of time, Annie was tried
and justice administered. M“hat really happened on that Tonely homestead
history has keot a secret; the lecends ranae from cold blooded murder to
self defense to mercy killina.4

On March 21, 1922, Oak Creek had another tragic murder, Dan Borich
had started 1ife in Serbia of Turkish parents, Atlthe ane of 51 Borich was

returning home from work at the mine when he met his wife and seven year
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old daughter walking with Joe Keezle. !r. and Mrs, Borich quarreled and
Mr. Borich demanded monevy to leave the reaion. His wife refused, I!ir.
Borich drew his pocket knife and attacked his wife. Keezle attempted to
stop the attack and "was disembowe]gd by Borich." At this point Mrs. Borich
broke loose and ran for her life. ter wounds proved too much and soon her
husband cauaht up and cut her throat. The primary witness was Borich's
younq dauahter, The state of Colorado soon dispatched justice and in
Auaust 1922 Borich was executed,®

The Mudra and Bdrich murders jnvo]ved the deep seated forces of
loneliness, mental unrest,}and nassion., The 1923 case anainst Edward
Carnes had all the elements of a wild west movie, On !May 13 Carnes stepned
into the Routt County aarace where B, F, Williams, Velma Kennedy, J. D.
Sparks and Q. H. Snyder were workina and visitina, "Carnes approached
Williams and said that he heard that Williams had been talkina about him
and wanted to know whether it waé so." Carnes went on to claim that he
knew about Williams bootleaaina while servina as a mefiber of the city
council. Then Carnes shoved Snyder and Williams hit Carnes. Hext Carnes
drew his gun and hit Nf]1iams~ahd Snyder over the head. Uefending himself
Snyder arabbed a plank and hit Carnes over the head., At this point
everyone stonped fiahtina. Williams left the narage with the partina
remark, “Hait until T et a aun and I will kill him."®

Williams headed for.home and Carnes went to his home, Soon afterwards
Williams came paradina down the street with a shotqun. MHe was noing
towards Carnes's home when he anproached the Curry Hotel. At this point
Carnes took aim from a window in his home and shot Williams in the hip. At
that moment Charles Williams happened to be walking up the railroad tracks,
He saw his brother shot and ran to hfs-aidu When Charles picked up the

shotaun, Carnes shot him in the Tec. Then a brief qun fight occurred until
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Charles made the safety of a water trough. Carnes then came out of his home

and pointed his rifle at Charles, but when he realized Charles was helpless
he Towered the qun and instructed someone to call the marsha].‘ Four days
Tater B. F. Williams died of the wound to the hip.

Carnes was charaed with first dearee murder in the death of B, F.
Milliams and a second charce of assﬁu1t vith intent to commit murder for
shootina Charles Yilliams. Judae Charles E. lerrick held Carnes without
bond on the murder charane. The case acainst Carnes became involved and
required two hearinas as the first trfl resulted in a hung jury. Eventually
Carnes was found nui]ty; however, several local residents felt he was
framed. In the fiqht in the carace he had drawn his pistol and defended
himself but he had not shot anyone. At the time the fight ended Williams
had threatened Carnes., LaterAwil]iams, armed with a shotqun, was
approaching Carnes's home. B. F. was shot in the hip and Charles was shot
in the Tea. tllone of the shots wére aimed at a vital spot. When both men
lay wounded Carnes did not kill the men, but rather had someone qet'the
marshall,

In desperation Carnes escaped from the county jail before he was
transferred to nrison. Later United States Marsha1lEvart Wilson of
Phippsbura and Detective E. Horn of the Pueh]oﬁﬁgikée department spotted
Carnes in the Kansas Citv:UHion Station, At this point the funitive was
arrested and returned to Colorado to serve life 1mprisonment.7

One qets a climpse of the inconsistency of the county's legal system
by comparing the Carnes case to the case of Pearl Aldrich. Throuah the
winter of 1925 Leo B. and Pearl Aldrich made their homes in the Hickory
Flats division of OQak Creek. The couple had several quarrels, and Leo
moved to the home of Gus. Coupan, One afternooi while Leo was sleeping on

the couch Pearl entered the Coupan home, deliberately aimed a shotaqun, and
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shot her husband twice in the back. She was charced with felonious intent
althouch she murdered her husband. Aldrich's intentions were much clearer
than Carnes, but her leaal charnes were much liohter than hir.S

The conal mines in Routt Countv would emplov as many as 2,000 men
durina the peak of the annual production. 0Oak Creek vas readv to satisfy
the desires of the miners as they drifted throuch the vallev. Uith the
larae transient nopulation the community attrected many toudh men. One of
the touahest men was Slim Keller.

then Keller arrived‘From Oklahoma, he becan workina at the lfaybro
Mine. For several months he was just another miner going about his
business. His trouble started when his mother was sick and he went to the
company bookkeeper to cet an advance on his pav. Tne bookkeeper exp]ained
that cash advances were against companvy policv. The two men had a heated
araument and the bookkeeper took a stove noker and ran Keller out of the
office. The next mornina whi]e»Ke]]er was still at the bath house, the
bookkeeper stopped in to tend to. some comnénv business. The two men met
and without ado Keller attacked the hapless bookkeeper and beat him very
badly. UWhen the passenner train arrived the bookkeeper was loaded on the
train and taken to a Denver hospital where he remained in serious condition
for several days. As for Keller, he cot off without any brush with the law.

Kaller was a heavy drinker and cambler, and he managed to stay in some

tvpe of trouble. On one occasion he was drinkinn and gamblina in the Greek

Dl

ool hall when he Tost his monev and tried to borrow from the other
aamblérs and sfay in the name. MNaturally they refused to gamble against
their own monev, Ancered by the rebuff, Keller suddenly tipped the table
over and broke off a leo, UWith the weahon he swuhg wildly at evervone in

the room, Soon he was alone in the pool hall, and the patrons considered

themselves lucky to escane without inijury. Arain Keller was not called to
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accounts by the law,

On another occasinon Keller was in the second floor dance hall of the
Andy Black buildinn when he and another miner aot into a fiaht over the
favor of one nf the ladies. Keller Titerally threw the man doun the stairs,
The crumnled miner finallyv recained consciousness and made his way to
safety.

Several months Tater Town Marshal Temnleton started to arrest Veller
when S1im decided to resist arreét. The narshal immediately dravw his aun
and hit Keller over the head. The unconscious man was drua to jail and
uncermoniously locked un, After his release Keller hired Henry HMoore to
bait Templeton into a tran. Moore went to the second floor of the Piercen
Buildina where a Tarce dance was in proaress. In front of Templeton he
opened a bottle of;moonéhine and took a drink. Since tho‘crime was
committed in view of a larqe number of witnesses, Templeton was forced to
arrest Moore. !onre ran down thé stens and into the alley. The town
marshal in hot pursuit never realized his dancer until it was too late.
From his hidina place Keller sprana like a wild man on Templeton. Soon the
badly beaten lawman lav in- the allev, After spendina several days in the
O0ak Creek hospital, Templeton was put on a train and taken to a Denver
hospital., Acain a victim of Keller was close to death. Carl Steele

commented, "The hastard would cet away with stuff Tike that."?
Iohe

e

Finally Keller drifted to Washinaton state where "hetworked és a
highwavman., He would hide a car in some secluded place along thé highway.
Then he would ao to a larce town and purchase a bus ticket. lhen the bus
neared the spot where he had his car, Keller would draw a gun and rob the
passenqgers, Of course a bic, rawboned man with a éouthern accent could
only repeat the crime a limited number of times before his description was

well known at the bus terminals. lhen the heat qot too hot for Ké11er, he
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returned to Oak Creek, where, without fear, he openly talked about his
exnloits in Hashinaton. |

Durina the late 1939s and early 1940s Keller drifted in and out of fDak
Creek., He was alwavs just a step ahead of the law. In the 1340s Keller
asked Carl Steele fo take him to the Victor Arerican Mine., "I didn't:want

to have nothine to do with him, I knowed him for years," recalled Steele.
After beina asked several times, Steele anrced to Keller's reauest. About
half way to the Pinnacle Mine they met a man ua]kﬁnq down the road, Ke]]er
told Steele to stop the car because "he wanted to see this fejler.“ So
Steele pulled over and stopped. HKeller rolled his window down as if to
begin a conversation when suddenly the stranaer stuck a 38 revolver in
their faces. Steele was surprised and scared, but Keller qrabbed the aun
and quickly disarmed the man. After Keller released tne stranqer, Steele
drove on, Keller quietly explained, as if havina a qun pointed in his face

"

was as common as eatinq, "We had‘an aroument the night before." ‘then Keller
qot out of the car at the Pinnacle store, Steele drove off,

On another occasion Keller and a friend were batching in a shack along
Oak Creek between. the Kevstone and Havbro mines., The men agot in an
arqument over something and Keller's batching partner ran from the shack to
avoid the violent temper of Keller, As the terrified man ran, Keller
calmly aimed a 4/10 shotoun and squeezed the trigeer, The resulting wound
was not serious, but the violence of the crime was clearly apparent. On
yet another occasion in the Tate 1940s, Steele was in Minturn, Colorado,
visiting an acquaiﬁtance who asked him to drive to Leadville, Colorado, to
pick up another f@ﬁénd who was getting out of the hospital. Soon Steele
learned that the hospitalized man had been stabbed several times by Keller,

Two or three years later Steele learned that Keller had died of pneumonia.

Thus ended the violent career of one of Oak Creek's touah men., But Keller
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was obnly one of the tough men.]o
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Taovernments aTTBV‘ﬁ”Tﬁ?””bmmun1fy to be TOUﬂh—and<w¢ﬁe“0nen“
dﬁe k;gﬁ1éa%egbaé bé}%éﬁﬁé} ségied, ”?He géiy oneslkao made money in
Oak Creek were those being naid off."]] Shorty Hamidy and Spiro Callas
admit that there was probably a nay off alona the line. Carl Steele
commented that his lona time neiohbor, Pete Callas, told him that the
Greek pool hall paid the county sheriff and district attorney a fortune,
At Until the 1§40s the Oak Creek city ordinance proveded: “A straight salary
be paid the night marshal of $25.00 per month and that he be entitled extra
without accounting to the town for whatever amount he may be able to
collect from merchants for special police l.wotect‘ion,”]2 Althouah most

people in Oak Creek recoanized that the system was corrupt, very few

people knew exactly how corrupt it really was. Of those who knew, most are
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now dead or remain closed mouth. However, there was one man vtho provided
some insiaht into the underWor]d of Oak Creck and Routt County.]3

Earnest ”Dudé“ Todd, who came to Morrison Creek with his family in
1903, arew to manhood with deer roots in the harshness of homesteads and
coal mines, In.early 1ife he was also connected Qith two murders, One he
witnessed, and as a result of the other he received‘property from the hah's
will. !hile Dude was still a boy his father lost a leq in a mine accident
at the Yampa Valley Hine. Later a cousin, Fred Todd, was ki]]ed by falling
rock in a mine and a friend, Hans Foi]den, died of a lung infection
resultina from breathina ash and dust while working at a coal mine
electrical nower plant. As a result, while still a ybung man, Todd had
experienced a larae dose of the harshness of life,

Todd also knew the brichter side of 1ife. He had worked with Alfe
Cole to feed and shelter the destitute bachelors on Morrison Creek. Todd
had been an active part of the héppy social Tife of the homesteaders. At
the mines he had experienced the deen lovalty that one miner had for
another. Because of the cood he had experienced Todd had a healthy balance
to his character,

Todd was an ambitious man who had many of the attrihutes necessaryv: for
success, e stood well over six feet tall and weiqghed nearly 200 pounds
with ruaaed and handsome features. !More importantly, Todd was well above
averaae in intellinence and courace, ‘hen workina in the Moffat Mine as a
rope rider, he studied electrical enaineerina, In a few years he was a
very capable e1ettrié§nn Thit knowledre and ability gave him an jmmunity
that ordinary miners did not have. Todd also studied the art of
comnunication, Soon he became a master of the spoken word. e was also
able to remember names and important facts about people. Finally, Todd had

the uncanny touch feor successful nolitics.
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Nurina the coal mine labor shortace caused hv Vorld War T, Todd went
to work as a rope rider in the “offat 'ine. Soon-his piysical build, -
ambition, and talents were widely knovn at the mine. On the recommendation
of the barn boss, Todd was anpointed a deﬁut sheriff and he worked part
time as a bodyauard for the mine superintendent, Bob Perryv--Perry feared
annther kidnappino attempt, NAs a bodyauard Todd won the trust of the mine
operators, But iie maintained his individualitv and touch with the common
miner. Althouch jostled by the Tabor unrest and corruption in the mines
durine the 1920s, Todd was ahle to walk the "tiaht rope" and nain the
respect of many citizens. The ability to rmove within both the ranks of
labor and manacement rave Todd a special vantare point from which to view
events,

Todd's first real exnperience with unions care in 1922 when the minina
companies broke the United !ine Workers orranization in Oak Creek. The
Tast union meetina was attended By the financial secretary My, Ballard,

. : 4
Bill Sealy, Ben Rearv and a couple of other men. 1%

In this union effort
Todd plaved a very minor role. The next active effort to ofdanize éaﬁe in
1926 vihen the old union stafwarts foined with Wanua1 Carlson, Rudy lick,
and a man known as Jumbo to Tead the men on another strike. Althouch not a
leader, Todd became an active member in the movement. After the strike
several of the miners were black listed. Den Reary was forced to ao to
Moffat County to find work in a non-mine related job, After approximate1y
six months, the black list was lifted from Rearv and ahout twenty other men
who were key haulare men, Since Todd did not nlay a major role in the |
strike and at that time he had a vital position in electricity, he remained
at the mine., Most of the black listed men had nood éredit in town, and

Todd with other men tnok un collections to help sore of the families. As a

result of the experience as 2 body nuard and an active union membership
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Todd had aood connections ufth both manacement and 1abnr.]5

Shortlv after the strile Tadd boean workine as the cémnanv's
checkweinhman, At this time the comnany Hirod a checkweidhman and the
miners hiréd a'checkwciﬂhman. The idea was to insure that hoth parties
were fairly represented. The ﬁen learned that their representative was a
membey of a mroup that as vobhine the averace miner. Coincidina wifh
the discoverv of the COnSpiFacv was the revelation that Todd had prevented
the foreman of the nower plant from stealinc coal to operate the plant.

As a result Todd was chosen to represent both parties. Thus he developed
a reputation for honesty.

At the séme time Tnddeas movine un in Routt County political circles,
By 1930 he was in control of the Oak Creek Democratic Party. Soon he
became county chairman--he held that position for eleven vears. He was a
man who could be denended upon to deliver the votes. At the same time
Edvard C. Johnscon from Crair, Cniorado, was making his bid for political
power, Johnson became covernor and later Imited States senator. Ha
remained in power for several vears, Throuch Johnson, Todd had several
doors opened to him., He was also able to establish several personal
contacts with powerful people.

Mith the three contacts--the MHoffat Mine, the Tabor movement, and the
Democratic Party--Todd was in an unique pesition. He had an independent
power base which allowed him a latitude of riovement not available to
everyone. He was also in a position to know what was aning on in several
fronfs and he had a certain amount of immunity from other forces. Thus
when he describes the seamv side of Routt County's history it must be
listened to, UWe also must take the precaution to realize that his
statements cannot be considered the final word on the subject.

In 1930 the franchise for electrical power to Oak Creek was to be
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renewed, and the Colorado Utilities Comnany Qanted to raise the price of
electricity from ten cents to fifteen cents ner kilowatt. The utility also
wanted a twenty-five year franchise. If the town refused the ofFer, the
company threatened to double the price to thirty cents per kilowatt. As a
counter proposal, Todd araued that the town of Oak Creelk could cenerate
most of its required revenue if it established a municipal power system,
Todd talked to the superintendent of the Moffat iline, Bob !M1idell, about

the advantaaes of a municipal system and the mine aqreed to sell
electricity at a verv cheap rate to the town. So the stage was set for a
power struanle,

The city political aroup in power in 1931 favored extending the
franchise to the Colorado Utilities. Since all the steps were not
completed for extendina the franchise ahead of the reqular town election,
Mayvor Walter Barnson and the council claimed no one was interested in an
election and decided not to hold the renular election. But there were
several people very interested in the election. In May 1931, at a city
council meetina, officials of the power company explained the utility
company's offer, and the city council was about to aive its approval when
Todd, who was not a member of the city councf], interrupted and told the
mayor, "Before you do that [approve the franchise], I don't think you have
the authority. I don't thfnk you have authority to sit in the chair you
are sitting in. For vou did not hold an election.," After some heated
words and a phone call to the district attorney, Ray lonson, the meeting
broke'up and a special election was held. In the special election Joseph
Mathews was elected mavor and a completely new council replaced the old
reaime,

For three months before the struncle became public knowledne, Todd had

spent part of each evenina readinc the electrical meters of residents of
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Oak Creek, e had a reasnnab]e‘estimate on the amount of electricity the
communityAused,_and throuah a éontact in the utility commany office he was
able to determine the various costs in buildina and oneratina an adeauate
electrical svstem, With this 1nforﬁation he vias able to aet the Moffat
Mine to anree‘to sell electricity at three cents per kilowatt;, The town in
turn p]anned to sell the power at ten cents per kilowatt, wifh the profits
the city qgovernment was to pay its cdsts of operating.

With the facts in hand Todd and his supporters called for a city
election to approve the city noing municipal. At a public meeting utility
company officials and their supbortors arauyed that the system was too
expensive and that it was a money losinm husiness unless the rates were at
least fifteen cents per kilowatt. The opposition arqued that the city
could sell electricity at ten cents per kilowatt and make money. The
people voted in favor of noing municipal. HNext, the city had the Colorado
Utilities electrical system appréised preparatory to buying it. When Todd
and the town leaders met with company officials to discuss the sale they
were told that the cdmpany would not sell because "It was too qood a deal."
Rebuffed by the company the town becan building a system along side the
utility company.

"The last two or three davs of construction Fred Fostef followed
[Todd] everywhere he went." ‘lhen the construction crew was. ready to put
the final switch in before turnina on the electricity, "Fred stepped up
with an injunction." The power company had ornanized a aroup that araued
that the election was illeqal. Durinao the election, a !lr, Sevada who had
never been naturalized had voted. However, he was carried as a reqistered
voter and had voted for years.. Even if his vote and several other
immiarants' votes had been thrown out, the municipal forces would sti]i

have a majority. Judae Charles E. Herrick ruled in favor of the public



Crime After 1920 ‘ 191

utilities. This resulted in another court fiaht.

Mayor Mathows insisted that the town hire Terry Carpenter to represent
the town. Carpenter was a powerful Republican and of coursﬁ Nak Creek was
Democratic, The residents of Hayden, Steamboat Springs, and Yampa had
strona anti-Oak Creek feelinrs. At an earlier date Carpenter and Bob Perry
had seriously courted the same airl, Perrv won the girl's heart, The
second court hearing had not proaressed far when ft became obvious that
Carpenter was a.better representative for tne utiiity company tham was
Addisson Goodina who was the utility company lawyer. Although it was
irreqular Todd asked for a recess and the judae aranted it. Durino the
recess MMunson was hired as a co-council for Oak Creek, Immediately upon
resumption of the trial Itunson asked for a thirty day exfension while Oak
Creek prepared a case. It is not certain if Carpenter had been bouaht by
the utility company 6r if he was settling sore old scores with a- southern
Routt County community.

Judae Ben Linsey, who as a juvenile judae, criminal judae, and state
supreme court judae, was nationally known and respected recommended Miles
Talmadae to represent Oak Creek in the fioht acainst the utility company.
After several attempts Todd was able to cet Talmadge to represent the
minina community. Upon aareeina to take tho.case Talmadae told Todd that
he would not be to Steamboat Sprinas until the day of the trial. On that
date, Talmadre instructed "Todd to hire a special train and load it full of
residents of Oalk Creek," The train was to arrive at the Rodeo frounds
croséinq just as the trial beqan. Evervone was to qget close together énd
march in force on the court house. (One suspects that Talmadge knew about
Oak Creek's reputation.) As the noisy crowd apnroached, a person in the
court room was to look out the window and corment upon Dak Creek's residents

marchina to demand justice.
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On trial day a six car passenoer train arrived at the anpointed tine,

The people banded tomether and hecan their march,  The “actor"

loaked out
the court room window and plaved out his role, Many prople in the court
room cast auick and Frichtened rlances at Dnéh ather. Seon miners filled
the court room and the halls of the court house. At the end of the trial
Judae Herrick ruled in favor of the miners, Tha legal ficht continued for
some time and finally ended with a state suprere court ru1fno in‘favor of
the town,

Todd frankly admits that throuch the hirine policy the Moffat Mine
controlled many aspects of the Oak Creek covernment. In the fall of 1932,
Superintendent 1idi1l stonned Todd as he 1eft the mine and informed him
that the town wanted tn Hire him as manacer,  hen Todd asked the
superintendent "Whv ne?" hé mas told "lell for twuo reasons: I think vou
are honest and I think vou have cuts enourh to fiaht it throuch, It's
qoina to take bhoth." Todd took fhe ioh,

Once the electrical system was operatina a member of the Colorado
Utilities shool Todd's hand and made another offer: "Just make this thing
fail and I'11 aive vou a job for life and eive you $35,000 in unmarked
money." Todd refused the offer. [ few davs later Todd started to enter
city hall when two men arabbed him. Thev tock him to the Tower end.of town
and beat him nearly to death, As theyv left they told him "to aet out of
town," Later Todd was able to dran himself to Jimmy Hoit's house. Hoit
not Todd to a doctor. But he did not leave town., Then his wife Elsie, wha
was very sick Qith leukemia, heran receivine threatenina phone ca]]s; This
also failed to sten Todd. Nearly a vear had nassed when one winter niaht
two men kidnapped Todd and took him over the Twentymi]e road to the ule
Gulch road, Here they took their victim's shoes and coat and told him to

leave the country, Luckily a rancher soon hanpenad by and wranped Todd in
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a blanket and took hiw to his ranch,

After the electrical svstem was huilt, the court hattjes fouaht, and
the two assaults, the electrical system became firmly established and the
threats on Todd stopped. Fourteen months after the clactrical system went
into operation the town paid off the Tast e]ectfﬁcal bond.

'hile the Oak Creek citizens vere reformine the city qovernment and
puttina it on a sound financial base, other reforms were undertaken. The
town was nfoud of its reputation for beina touch and many miners and
lTogners were anxious to “"try on the town." ilowever, the extent of the
violence had reached an unaccentable Tevel and the worst elements of the
lawlessness had to he stonned,

The first tarncet for cleanina _up was ilickory Flats. From 1929 to 1933
Hickory Flats was an extremelv dancerous place for patrons, [!Miners were
munced and drunced, In some cases the victins were robbed of their shoes
and coats althounh it was winter; In two cases it was suspected by "those
in the know" that miners had been badly beaten and then dumped on the
railroad tracké in order that the beatinecs would like like a railroad
accident.,

To bring law to Hickory Flats, the town manacer, the day marshal, and
the night marshal faided the cribs every nicht. In tne raids many of the
leaders of the county were ceucht as well as ordinary miners and "timber
beasts." The continual raids and accompanyina fines and public exposure
of those cauaht soon becan to dry up the business in Hickory Flats., The
airls were puzzled and complained hitterly: "I'm a good cirl, I pay."
When asked who they paid, the answer was Dick Phalps. UNhen the lavmen
pressed Phelps they learned that he charned the twenty-two prostitutes a
$100 per month for protection., He kept 10 and nave the rest to Andy

Black. After several raids Black closed his cribhs in Hickory Flats. The
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airls moved on. Two of the better known ciris, Go]dy'and Birds Eye, moved
to Craia whevre they continued to ply their trade for several vears,

Cleaning up Hickory Flats did not end prostitution in Oak Creek, nor
did the town intend to stop prostitution. firls still worked in the upper
floors of the Piercen and Black buildinrs., The house at the lower end of
ain Street continued to dporate. Despite the cleanup somé ladies of the
ninht did return to Hickorv Flats.

The continuance of prostitution did not nean that the city government
did not achieve their anal. The violence was stonped and the dander of
beina rnuqgaed or drunged ended., And the prostitutes who remained were not
required to nay a fee for local protection, Hdwever, fees for county
protection still remained.

Before continuing an examination of the crime in Jak Creek after 1920
it is necessary to back track a moment. The lioffat iline controlled the Oak
Creek city government in areas that concerned the mine, After the bitter
strunale for control of bootlenaina, prostitution, and gambling, Andy Black
ran the vices around Oak Creck. Todd was a capable man who had an
independent source of power; thus he could not he easily controlled by the
mine or the gana., The municinal svstem and the cleaning up of the worst df
crime assured Todd sunport of the !'offat iline and many of the residents of
Oak Creek, But Black and Todd were on opposite sides.

As a depression make work project and to improve the city water works,
the city aovernment decided to enlarne the Ed Rich Ditch and bhids were sout.
souqht. Stanley Larson of Steamboat Sprinns offered to hid if Todd wéu1d
personally present it the niaht the bids were accepted. Todd aqreed. When
the city council met, the town clerk Ed Sumner stated that there was only
one bid and presented a bid from Ed Harrison. At this point Todd presented

Larson's bid with his bond. Larson's bid was about one-half the amount of
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the Harrison bid, so the Larson bid was accepted by the city council.

The next mornina Black came to the city hall and took Todd to a back
room and closed the door. The conversation beaan:  "You know vou [Todd]
are just aettina a waybtoo hia for youf britches." Black continue, "I run
thinas around here, don't vou know that?" After a brief discussion on who
ran the town Black stated, "That bhid was tn co to Harrison, I had
everything all fixed; then vou stuck vour nonse in." Todd defended his
action, "I think I did the rioht thine; I saved the town about $3,000,"
"No," retorted Black, "after this, vounn fella, you come to me with

1

everythina' I run the show around here.' Todd refused to do Bléck's
biddinqa.

With "Repeal in 1933,” lenalized liquor replaced most of the moonshine
in Oak Creek. The city novernment controlled the local liquor licenses.
But through various means Black was able to control most of the bars. Then
Matt and Johnny Alverez decided fQ move out of the Black building and open
a bar across the street in the Piercen Building. To make sure the move was:
leaal, the Alverez brothers came to the city hall and inquired if the
liquor license could be transferred from one building to another. After a
call to the Secretary of State feorace Saunders, it was learned that the
move was lenal and that the Tiquor Ticenses could be transferred to the new
location. So Matt and Johnny moved out of the Black building.

Shortly, Black came to the city "Yall end took Todd to a back room and
shut the door. After a few preliminary remarks about lMatt and Johnny
movina, Black stated, "There is an understanding in fhis town that all
Tiquor Ticenses will be in the Andy Black buildina." Todd replied, "There
might have been one in the earlv days, Andy, but there isn't one now."

“Well! You will be hére until next election," answered Black.

The events involving Alverez's moving out of the Black building suaaest
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sone of the channes occurrina in.Oak Creek. The obvious fact is that
3lack's power had eroded to the noint that businessmen vho had»prevjous]y
been under his control now dared to challence his authority,

Black was nnt the only person fleecin~ the city qovernment. One
evenina Todd happened by the city clerk's nffice vhen the water hooks were
open. He noticed one of the carbons reported, "This property vacant; no
money collected this six months." He'knew the residence and knew a family
had lived at the address for vears., So Todd went to the home of the follks
and aot a copy of the oricinal receint. ’The orininal showed that $32 had
been paid for the past six months. With the information Todd contacted
Mavor Mathews. Hathews told Todd to investinate and find out how much
money had been stolen from the city. Mithin a short time he discovered
that at least 5600 had been stolen. He also knev that £d Sumner, the
bookkeeper for the tovn and for the Moffat Mine, was the thief., The
information which Todd had reporfed to the mavor somehow oot'to the Hoffat
""ine superintendent.

The mornina after Todd made his report to the mayor, Moffat !Mine
Superintendent Bob Midill came to city hall; he took Todd to a back room
and closed the door. ™idill asked about the water rent theft. Todd told
the superintendent and showed him the evidence, Midill stated, "You
haven't foroot I cot you this job have vou?" Todd replied, "o, I
haven't." "You know if I can cet vou in here I can get you out,"
continued Midill, Todd answered, “T know you can, but vou can't make me
dishonest., Besides, Bob, vou don't dare do anvthing because I know too
much about vour bootlea whiskey deals." #idill reluctantly acreed, "lell
for heaven's sake make it as liqht as you can ‘cause I'11 have to pay it.
Sumner has.me over a barrel." As mine bookkeeper Sumner knew that Midill

had bootlea delivered with the mine props and the whiskey was charred to
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the companvy.,

Most of the citvy council had crod iohs at the Moffat Mine and were
reluctant to endancer their iobs by taline action against Surnor: hnwever;
Todd was able to nersuade them to continue thﬁiinvestiqation. One ninht
durinﬂ.the héat of the controversy Surner parked his car in front of Todd's
home and beran blowina the horn, Todd's wife Llsie was very sick, so Todd
went out and asled Sumner not to honk the horn. Sumner demanded, "Get in
here, I want to take vou for a ride." Todd renlied, “I‘m not noina
anyplace with ynu. You're drunk," And Todd looked in the car seat and
there was a pistoi. “Ued], I come up here to bLlow a couple of brains

out--vours and mine," said Sumncr. "I don't think you have quts eno<nh to

' commented Todd as te turned arcund and walked back

do either one of them,'
to the hduse. Sumner viatched, then drove off.

After the conversation Todd pressed the toﬁn board to get rid of
Sumner, Finally, Todd was instructed to net the town record books from
Sumner. So he toak both marshals and went tc Sumner's house. They arrived
just as Sumner was finishina burnina the hooks. Ko doubt someone had
tipped him of f that Todd was on his way,

As the men watched the books burn Sumner said, "Well you oot a Tittle
old $600 did vou? VYou rot mv job, and vou aot my reputation. But there is
$80,000 1 aot that vou can't touch." At town board meetings Sumner would
raport that the town had naid off another water bond, bLut he weuld not have
a bond to show. This had aone on for some tine. /And when Todd tried to
aet the board to force Sumner to produce the bonds, Todd was told to mind
his own business. One evenina Mayvor Matheus toid Todd, "This town board
has all not cood monthly jobs at the Moffat Coal Company under Bob Hidill,
e have to be careful what we do. We cannot do anythina more to Ed Sumner,

]

Ye just have to foroet him and no ahead as best we can." Todd continued to
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investiacate and found that. the bohd holding companies had not been paid.
Todd also found a check made out for'$1,000 cn which the mayor's name. had -
been foroed, The recipient of the check was Sumhef."Finn]]y Sumner Was
fired and forcéd out of Nak Creek. After leavina Oak Creek he went to
Denver and boucht a aood riddle c]ass hotel and operated it fér seVera]
years, | | .

By 1940 Oak Creek had cleaned up the criminal clement., The cify
qovernment was run in a straiaht forward manner. Soon the city took
control of Todd's slot machine husiness and used the proceeds to further
finance the aovernment, Althourh a person could éasi]y find the vices of
liquor, aqamblinqa, and nrostitution, pedestrians were safe on the streets.
Althouch fist fiohts‘continued, muanines and druoaing did not occur. By
1951, the vices were covered up so well that many people did not know that
prostitution and cambling were very active in Oak.Creek,

The Oak Creek city qovernmeﬁt did not have a monopoly on corruption.
The county coroners made money on the minina camp. If there was a mine
accident the coroner would convene a se]ected aroup of people and
investinate the death, Usually the cohpany was absolved of all blame in
the accident, In the late 1930s a miner with a reputation for hoarding
money died. Since there were no known.next of kin, the county coroner was
called on to inventory the belonainas, Todd and a couple of other men
accompanied the coroner as he conducted his official business. While Todd
was watchina the inventorv, a neiahbor Tady tapped on a window and qot his
attention. She motioned him to step near her, She pointed at the coroner
and said, "He was in here last niagnt." !lhen the official investiaation
ended there had been no larae sums of money found, but no one knows what
was found in the unofficiai 1nvest1qation;

Todd went to Steamboat Sprinas as county sheriff during World Yar II,
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He had campaiqhed on a platform to investicate the Sruner Case. The
residents of Phippsburg believed that Bruner had murdered his wife., Two
years after the nwurder nothing had been done nor had a body_hcen found,
In the mean time Bruncr had left the countvy and he had also collected a
larae sum of money in a libel suit anainst the railroad, Fiha]]y Todd
had Bruner arrested and brousht to trial. During the trial a lawyer named
Black from Salt Lake City attempted to bribe Todd into throwina the case.
Todd refuse and the lawver responded by showine Todd a silver do]iar with
the Tady of Tiberty, The lawyer said, "This lady will judae the case."”
Later that evenina Todd saw Attornev Black closeted with the judae in a
room in the Harbor Hotel. The next day the si]ver dollars handed dovn
their decision,

After a term as sheriff, political fdrces unfted to defeat Todd. He
was also defeated in his political base in Oak Creek. So e moved to Iit.
Harris where he went to work 1mﬁrovinc the mine's electrical system and
increasing production,

During the late 1940s and early 1950s while Todd was at Mt; Harris,
miners would come to his home to exchanqe mine scrip for cash, llost places
aave $10 cash for $20 worth of scrip. Todd, who realized the advantage of
havina the miners on.his side, mave a straicht dollar trade--$10 cash for
$10 worth of scrip.

Mhile Todd was at Mt. larris a miner robbed the post office; he was
caunht and taken to Steamboat Sprinas to jail. - A miner named Chappa came
to Todd and wanted to trade $20 worth of scrip for éZO. Both Todd and-
Chappa had been pnersonal friends for vears, so Todd asked him what he
wanted the money for, "My friend," stated Chappa, "is up there in jail
at Steamboat. And if I can raise $80, why thev will kick him out the back

door." Todd qave Chappa the money. A couple of days later Frank Wilson,
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another at !1t. Harris said, "I think I'11 a0 un and visit [the man in
jail]." Todd bet Wilson $5 that the man was not in jail, and the two men
bet another $5 that the other one had nade a bad bet. tYhen Yilson not to
Steamboat the jail was emptv, Backdoor jﬁstice had held a session of court.

The chronicle of criminal activity which happened under the table is
lone, It includes judres who imnosed stiff fines on miners and demanded
payment in cash without a receipt. DBut cnouch has been offered to make it
clear that Oak Creek had a well deserved reputation for being a toucoh town,
The coal minina community was preyed upon by many parasites who were
entrusted with upholdina the highest callinc of Taw and justice. The
touah minina cormunity was bhoth hunter and hunted.

Before turninn to other matters it rust be emphasized that Todd and
nearly twenty other people interviewed formally and informally state:

The majority of the people in and about Oak Creek were peaceful,

hardworkina, and Toval, Thev would not cheat, lie, or steal,




CHAPTER A
ALLTED INDUSTRIES

From the time the Moffat Road arrived untii the mid-point of the
twentieth century, coal minina formod the core of southern Routt County's
social, economic, and political Tife. Hore people were involved in coal
minina and more money was qained in waces and production than any other
industry in the vé]]ey. "The coal mines were the primary reason the
railroad continued to operate,vand in turn, the railroad provided the
vital transportation system. Despite the importance of‘the mines théy
could not survive without the assistance of the allied 1ndustr1e$,
primarily loagina and rahchinq. The Toaqers furﬁished mine props and ties.
The Tumber from local mills was used in mine construction. Lumber that was
shipped to eastern markets helped finance the railroad. Ranching furnished
a hiah percentaoe_of the food cOnsuméd in theAminihg camps, and in turn,
ranchers were the primary market for small waqon mines, Homesteaders often
served as both ranchérs and miners. The people of the allied industries
provided a colorful paace to life in the Yampa Valley.

In the first excitement over the construction of a railroad into
northwestern Colorado came the ranchers, coal minars, and loqgers. About
1885, Harim Gardner came to Tower Eaeria Park to establish a sawmill. At
the time he beaan the new adventure Gardner was an old man with years of
experience in the lumber business. Despite his experience, he was short of
funds; and the Tocal residents pitched in and helped him build a water
povered sawmill on the lower Stillwater. This sawmill supplied many of the
settlers with sawed lumber for their homes and barns. Between Gardner's
arrival and the opening of the valley to railroad service in 1908 many

o v . -
sawmills cam and went in a haphazard fash1on.]
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As the railroad approached the céa]fie]d there was a sense of uraency
in the Oal Creck minine district. The newly born town was experiencina
substantial development. The !Moffat !tine bwnefs were making heroic efforts
to have the mines ready to ship coal when the tracks were laid. A1l the
effort depended upon Tumber for buildinn--Tumber that was hard to qet.
Where the cdmmunity and mines were located on Oak Hills there'was no saw
timber and roads from the sawable timber to the mining area were few and
very crude--a dilemma that required & promnt solution. Vhen the railroad
arrived at Oak Creek in the fall of 1908, men were busy buildinag a road
from the town of Oak Creek to the Routt County Fuel Company Mine. As
soon as the snow melted the followina spring, men and equipment beqan
extendino the road from the mine up the stream Oak Creek. The road was
forced throuah a sharp canyon until it made a»juﬁctioh with the Yampa-
Pinnacle-Dunkley road. The road connected the community of Pinnacle and
the F. S. Chapman ranch with theltown of Oak Creek. But more important to
the mining district was the fact that the road connected the mines with the
Chaffee and Albert sawmill on upper Oak Creek.2

To loag in Routt County was to aamble against qreat odds., In the
pre-First World War era the largest loqaoina operation in Routt County was
on Service Creek. Alonq the stream there were six loaging camps operated
by the Tumber company and the loas were sent bv a six mile lona flume down
the creek to a retaining pond néar the Yampa River, In the spring the loos
were forced into the river and run to Steamboat Springs. Here the loqs
were collected and sawed into Tumber., The Service Creek Lumber Company
which operated from 1915 to 1918 suffered because the native Tumber shrank
and warped so badly it could not command a market,

The American Sawmill on Green Ridge eaSt of Phippsburg, Colorado,

beqan about the time the Service Lumber Companv- went under. To market their '
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Tumber it was necessary to haul by waron or sledee the loqs severé] miles
to a Tumber yakd north of Phippsburn. ‘The Kmérican SawmiTll oneréted on a
~larae sca]e'untfl the Tate 1920s when a'devastating forest fire raced
throuah the timber. After the fire the principle owners of the mill
dramatically chanaed their oheration, hev moved to lorrison Creek where
mine props became the primary product produced. From the Tenath of the
props vie aet an idea of the heicht of the various coal veins, The longest
mine props went to the Strecter Mine.in Axial Basin. The averace Tenath
of props for all the mines was nine feet. The shortest prop§ were four
feet Tona used by the Jacovich [line oh upper Trout Creek,

In 1921 Daniel Ray becan a larce Toqmina operation in.Newton Gulch on
Kina Mountain southwest of Toponas, Colorado. Pav was an experienced
Tumberman from‘Arkansas who had suffered major Josses from floods of the
White River. In the hope of avoidina the disasters and recouping his
financial losses, hé took over tHe Colorado oreration from a Lincoln,
Nebraska, man, The operation had a 1arng camp and sawmill in the "woods."
Ray hired Ivan»and Windy Decker to build a réi1road sidina at Toponas.
Alona the siding a nlaninq ﬁi11.and finished lumber yard was established.
Ray's loaaing operafion became the foundation for a continuous lumbering
industry; however, throuch the vears it was under several owners.

In keeping with the tradition of the mountain region, most of the
transportina and cuttina of Toas was done durina the winter months.
Char1ej Ray, who was then sixteen years old, recalled his first trip up
Mewton Gulch. Lawrence "Doc" and Virail Marshall piloted the family and
their belonainas alona a winter wasteland in late lovember. ithout fault
the heavily laden slednes moved un the mountain to the loaaina camp. llhen
sprinn came Charlev discovered that the winter trail was over the top of

willows hiaher than his head!
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Life in the loaaina camp was comnlex with many of the asnects of a
larae community. At tho camp there were enouch families and children that
a school was onéned. Durinn the winter months the camp was a bee hive of
excitement as men and teams made the dailv trins to Toponés vhere the
Tumber was finished and shinped to market. To make the round trip required
that the men leave camn hefore davyliacht and return after dark. The cold of
short winter days-added to the hardshins. Over these same roads supplies
were hauled in from Yampa and Toponas,

The barn bnss ruled the men and animals with a decisive hand, ‘hen
Charley Ray reached the ace of»conspnt, he was sent to Yampa for a 1oéd of

arain, Since the trin was made in the sprina of the vear, the road had

“deep\§tretchesrbfvmud and lona natches of soft slush. On the return trip

Charley pulled his team over some extremelv difficult around. He finally
arrived in camp durina the early hours of the morning. Since the trip was
arduous, Charley decided to resf his team the next dav. ‘'lhen his father
inquired of Andy Rusk, the barn boss, if Charley's team cou]dtmake the trip
to Toponas, the barn boss decided that they could and Charley was
instructed to load his wacon and head for'fhe railroad Tumber vards. Late
that evening Rusk and his reluctant partner arrived at Toponas. Ray,
followina the path of many youna Toqaers who thoucht they had been wronged,
handed Rusk the 1ines to the team and quit the job. Without a different
nlan, youna Rav caucht an east bo&nd freicht train. A few miles east of
Fraser, Colorado, Ray aot off the train,

Ray spent the night in »n abandoned sawmill; here he picked up several
insects which he thoucht were lice. So he walked back to Fraser and boudht
a new set of clothina. With the purchase tucked éafe]y under his arm he
made his way to the Fraser River where he broke a hole in the ice and beaan

to bathe, While he was takina a bath it beaan snowing-and blowina., "If
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he had been lousy The] froze them off riaht there." Later that evening Rav
went into the Qaitino roorm of the denot to snend the niqght. About 4:00 a.m.
the sunerintendent of the Wostorn'Pavemnnﬁ Constrﬁctinn Company; Ralph ’
Robbins, was bftkinn uﬁ supnlies for a saumill, Robbins 1§oked at Ray and
"wanted to know what he was doinn." Rav repiied,'”we11 [ damn sure ain'f
sleeping with you makinq‘a11 this racket." ‘ithin a short time the men had
sized each other up and Rav was hired to work in the sawmill as a ranit
setter,

Ray staved fn the Tabernash and Fraser area working in the woods three
vears, After leavino Robbins he went to work at Ylestern Box for Jim
Morrison, One winter'day fuy and Rov Barker and Ray decided to ]eéve the
winter confines of the Toanina camp and enjoy the excitement of Tabernash,
The lona cold walk into town came perilously close to provina fatal for
Roy Barker. He would have frozen to death if the other two men had not
kept him éoinq. When they wa]ked into Joe Morqanis store it was 61° below
zero, The ordeal caused Roy the loss of some toes on both feet and fingers
on both hands.3

When he left the Tabernash and Fraser area, Ray returned to the Yampa
Valley. Aqainzhe was following the path of many loggers, for it was a
common practice for men to work a while in each‘areao And sawmill
operators also had "miqgratorial tendencies." It was not unusual for
operators to move from one area to another. Neal Ragling was a restless
and wayward operator who had several sawmills in western Colorado. At
various communities he developed a reputation for violence. In 1906 af
Arrowhead, Colorado, Raalina kilied Indian Charley. Later Ragling moved
nis loaaing operations to the Yampa Valley where he quickly became known
for his drinkina, namb]indg and shotqun pay checks., It was common for

Raalina to draw a cun on his employees when they attempted to collect their
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pay. The emp}oyee facino a nun and realizing that Ragling wou]d use it
usually left the job without his pay,

While crossinag Five Pine Mesa onc surmer evening in 1934 Ranling was
stopped by one of his men. The men arqued over Qages and Raq]ing.reacﬁed :
for a qun Tying next to him on the car seat. This time he was too slow
and his opponent too determined. Raalina had lived by the qun; in the end
he died by the qun.4

In the Toraing business the financial risks were hiqh‘and the
opportunities to exploit labor were quite temntina, At this period of
history emplovees had Tittle recourse in the cnurfs. Since most 1onders
viere paid by the thousand of board feet, it was not unusual for an operator
to cheat the ]onﬁers by hayino scant measurcments. Allowances forlboard
and room also varied; however, lonoers vere not charged a rent nor did they
have a company store like the coal minina camps.

Successful loaaing operatioﬁs were closely manaced in every aspect;
however, a well run operation was not necessarily oppressive or ridden with
Tabor exploitation. In 1930 Charley's vouncer brofher, Earl Pay, beaan
working for Dick Hebb whﬁSe'principle loaqina 6peration was near the Dome,
At that time 'lebb ran a tight loaqina cambn Unlike most loggina operators,
he did not allow drinking in camp. But camblino was a common recreation in
all the camps.

lebb insisted on plenty of qood food at the boarding house. Often the
only woman in camp was a married woman hired to cook. She held a position
of respect and command. Since there_was no place to spend money in the
camp and larne accumulations of cash raised the risk of theft and violence,
llebb did not have a reaular payday. None-the-less, when the men wanted to
draw their money they could always get it and scaling was always fair. This

arranaement was acreeable to everyone,
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llebb's operation had to contend with'extremely damp and swamp; qround
near timberline. Uecause of thevdeep snow thé trees were felled and decked
durina the summer. After the nround'bécame frozen in the fall the trees
were hauled to fhe sawmill and cut into Tumber. Mebb broke with the Toqqinq
system in 1933, That year he had a contract to furnish 12 X 12's for the
tunnels on the Dotsero -cut-off. In order to meet the contract it was
necessary to mill the loas durina the summer months. To aet the loos, four
horses were hooked tQ‘the front runnina aears of a viaqgon, On this one end
of a loa was placed and then draaced to the mill. Since én]y one loq at a
time could be handled it was a slow process. But in 1933, when'the
depression was at its worst, to be able to sell any loqs made the work
worthwhi]e.5 |

Durinec the depression Webb was tryina to market his lumber in as many
ways as possible and provide emp]oymentAto several men. He was convinced
that everyone had to work tonethér. Mthouah it wou]dvhave been quicker
and easier to saw out ties, he hired four men with broad axes to hew ties.
By the 1930s experienced "tie hécks“ were novelties from the past, but the
men needed a job and Yebb found them one. The comments of ]6qgers suaaests.
ilow hard the work involved in usino a broad axe really was. "Timber beasts"
of the period worked lonq hours of hard labor, but even these men spoke of
usinn the broad axe as "hard work "0

In the Yampa Valley one of the best men with a broad axe was John
Nelson, Nelson was first introduced to loaqingin his native Sweden. After
immigratina to the United States he worked for a brief period as an Iowa
farm Taborer, Then he went to work in the woods. After working in the

s i :
Michigan forest seveajnonths, he walked west to Montana, While there he

i

worked as a sheep herder. Then he moved on to the forests of Idaho and

lfashinaton. He made the aold rush to A]aéka but did not stay long. While
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David M, "Moffat was buildine his railroad .lelson, nov o seasoned lumber
jack, made his way to Fraser. In his thirtv-cichth vear he met and married 
Mattie McLind'who was still a airl., In 1902, the delsons moved to-the
Yampa Valley. Durino the first vinter, "frs. ilelson staved with thebﬂ1hert
Bird family while "r. Helson went to Uvomina to hack ties. In the sprinq
he returned and the cnub]e took up'a homestead alona thivple Creek on Green
Ridoe.

For several vears the‘}le]SOn family conmbined loqgino with Homesteadinq.
The couple cleared their Tandvand built irriqation ditches. Mrs, Neison
often tended the catt]e‘and milked the cows unile her hushand worked as a
tie hack. Each year their holdinas exn%nded and about 1920 Mrs. Helson
filed on an 160 acre timber claim at ‘'hipple Creek Park, At the edoe of
the park Mr, Helson, who Was'theﬁ'in His 1§to Fifties, hewed out Aspen
trees and built a cabin. After hayinn time each fall, Helson would move to
the timber claim making both railroad and mine ties. He a]sp cut and sold
mine props. In Tate February or early March, when the accumulated snow
became too deen to allow profitable labor, ilelson réturned home, With a
reserve of enerov and a mastery of the broad axc Helson was able to profit
in an area on Greenridge where most peonle soon went broke, aqave up, and

1

moved on., Yhile others were desertina their land to the tax collector of
the 1930s, John Helson and his father-in-Taw, Victor lclLind, built one of
the outstandinc hawed loa homes of northwestern Colorado,

When the Nelsons arrived in the Yampa Valley there were many Swedes
workina for the railroad and in the timber. ‘lithin a few miles of the
Helson homestead were several sawmills and tie camps. On Mill Run Creek,
an obscure stream which derived its name from the fact that the stream was

used to fill the boilers of a steam sawmill, was a larae camp with many

Swedes and Irish laborers., On Lawson Bird Creek was a loaaina camp known
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as the Swede Camm,

The mi1l on "i11 Nun Creek delivered Tumber, nrops and ties to
Steambonat Sprinﬂs. The nearly fifty mile round trin was made throunh some
of the most difficult frejichtine terrain in southern Poutt County. From
the sawmill, waaons in surrer and sleds in winter labored over a brow of
Creen Ridae to the head of Rasnberry Creck, down the steep narrow defile
to the Yampa River where the main road was roached. From Stearboat Sprinds
many of the props.and ties went on to the mines in the Mt., Harris district.
Usually the trips were lone and arduous, but one freiqnter distinctly
recalled the time a mountain lion followed him and his team up the steep
orade of Raspberry Creek, "He let his team qo at will and he never had to
stop and rest them once,"/

Hear the head of Rasnpberry Creek 3 snall comunity vrosperad for a
brief neriod., On the corner of the Parker Lrosm ranch a school was buijt
which doubled for a church on Suﬁdays. Here Tlooaers and homesteaders
held community dances and other funétions. dith the changina technoloay of
loagina and the depression, the community dicd ns’peop]e moved on to other
activities.

The settlement on Green Ridae follows a typical pattern for a loagaing
and homesteadina community, but the settlement on Kelly Divide does not
fit into any stereotype. Ftellv Divide between the mouth of Eqeria Canyon
and the head of Conaer Mesa is a steep, arid reaion. Very little land was
suited for cultivation and there were no larce stands of pine timber. To
try to make a livina on this rock and sace brush ridge by farming or
loaaina took a snecial tvpe of person. Tor Kelly for whom the divide was
names was only one of the redion's unicue nconle. On his homestead he
raised a few potatoes and dfd little else. llowever, he was wa]l_rémemhered

. . . 8
for his mastery of Timericks.”
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At the section house at Faeria, “Wouﬁa”‘[ncle ruled a domain of
bootleaners, She made her product in a teakettle setfinn on the kitchen
stove, Mn one occasion a federal anent afrived on the passenaer train
while "rs, Ené]e Was coOkihn A batch of whiskey. “The fréin pulled into the
water tank and iwhistled and nresently a woman with a steaminqvkett1e Was

9

seen aoina out the back door. After the nressure of the law was qone she

anain set up‘her business, In order to net her supply of liquor to Oak
Creek she would fill cream cans and send them to an Oak Creek creamery.
For years she openly shipped her Tiquor by the passenger train. On more
than one occasion her bootlea vhiskey traveled on the same train as a
federal aqent. '

While the railroad was‘beinn constructed the cammunity of Hiaharade
was oraanized. Here a post office and other businesses were established.
Once the railroad crews moved on, the business of the conmunity died. But
Lawrence and Macqie Davis had es£ah1ished themselves in the post office and
were reluctant to move oh. The key to keeping the post office and its
accompanyina nay was the number of cancellations of mail. To help the
postal business the Davises planted a potato patch. And cach holiday season
after the harvest they would carefully wrap one potato and mail it to some‘
friend or necdy person. It was suspected that Felly helped hy sendine
alona an appropriate limerick in some bF the packaqges.

The most colorful individual on Kelly Divide was Frank Zupan. Zupan
had his "batch" betwén tunnels 54 and 53 in Cneria Canyon. He cut timber
and hewed them into ties on one side of the cahyon and then skidded then
down to Eaeria Creek. In the creék he had built a dam with two water
wheels, Attached to the nears of the water wheels was a Tong cable. Zupan

hooked three ties to the cable and with the power of the water wheels he

lifted them nearly 300 feet up a treachernus canyon wall to the railroad
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tracks, After £he ties reached the‘tracks, Zunan reversed the water wheels
énd reviound his cah]es{ There was no 1omniﬁq oheration; larae or small,
anywhere in'northWestern Colorado that matched Zupan's operétion for
difficu]t'ter}ain, nor was there any operation which displaved more
incenuity to overcome the diffiéu]ties.

Zupan was alsec an 1ndividua1ist in his own right. He‘simp1y'did not
take a bath. When his suspenders broke he attached another set but‘did
not remove the broken ones. _Ohe time he stonpped at the McCoy Hotel to
spend the niaht. !'rs, Elsie L. Brooks,who was taking care of the hotel,
rented Zupan a room but would not let him s]eeh in the bed until he took
a bath., One can understand Mrs. Brooks' position since Zupan had once
stopped a poker came at Yampa when he saf next to the stove. Zupan
patiently listened to 'rs, Brooks' instruction on the use of the tub and
politely nodded as she left the room, But Zunan did not like béinq told
what to do nor did he want to hu}t anyone's feelinqgs, so he climbed in the
bathtub and spent the nicht without beinn contaminated with a drop of
water, |

On another occasion Zupan, who worked alone in his longinq‘operation,
had his hand caucht between the cahle and the pully wheel of his machine.:
He was about to cut his fincers off with a pocket knife when a freiaht
train happened by, He hailed the train and the crew freed him., Zupan
refused a trip to the doctor and wrapped his hand in a greasy raq. Soon he
was as qood as new,

Zupan was proud of his fine team of draft horses. 0On one occasion he
bounht several bales of héy at Hidharade, but instead of hooking the team
to the waagon and makinq them pull a 1nad up the steep grade to his cabin,
he placed the bales on his shoulder and carried them over a mile to camp.

The story of the characters on Kelly Divide would not he complete
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without commentine on the FKier familv, Jacon ler spent his 1ife movina
from one boominﬁ'area to anather, e was sure that his success was just
ahead., HKier ﬁnd his vounn son Hatter fivst came Lo tne Yampa Yalley in
1896 when they helped nather and drive a larae herd of wiskd horses to
Fort Smith, Arkansas. This drive fs nrobahly .the longest continual stock
drive made»From nofthwestern Colorado. Jacob did not réturn to Routt
County unt11'19]4; he Tiled a homestead on Kelly Divide in 1916. Soon he
moved on, but nis son llalter remained on the land and became a respected
rancher and citizen. |

In time trucks and tractors benan to chanae the loagina business.
At the Bell Savmill on unper Hunt Creek, Lewis Bell decided to buy a truck
to haul his lumber from the mill to his vard in Oak Creek. 1In 1928 or
1929, Shorty Hamidy was hired to drive the truck. The truck with its short
wheel base and‘twe]ve foot bed could not handle .the Tong boards without
tippina up in back. To solve the nroblem, Shorty would stack the Tumber
well around the doors, He would then crawl in through the window. The
road from the mill was so steep and narrow in places that the small truck
would not hold the load back althouah it was in "compound." At these points
Hamidy would hook a strona chain around a stout tree and fasten the other
end to the truck. l!le would then dron tﬁe truck down the hill until it
reached the end of the chain, By this method the vehic]e was methodically
maneuvered to safer roads. Durinc the summer liamidy would make twb trips a
day between 0ak Creek and the sawm111;

After watchina Hamidvy make several perilous trins, Jeff Viele

commented, "I would never ride out of here with vou." To this Hamidy
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answered, "I would never ride out of hore rith voui” V191q,'wHo_wns one of
the best teawstorskin the recion, had a mir of crav horses that he used

to haul lons, ihen thev cane to a steen ~rado near the sawnill, Viale
would rourh lock the vheels and start the team cnutinu31y dowh.« A$ the .
weinht of the waron became farder to hold the horses wou]d.pick up speed,
By the time the loas reached the bottom of the hill the team was in a full
run and VYiele was hand]inn.thd Tines for all he was worth, lest a horse
stumble, Far vears both Hamidy and Viele practiced their individual crafts
without mishan, .

Since Hamidy was one of the ey truck drivers at that time in the
'county, he hecan makinn trins to Denver for supnlies. Jn one occasion the
Bell Lumber Cormmany aareed to deliver a steel nine einht feet in diamcter
and twenty feet lonqg. Hamidv drove into Uenver and picked up ‘the pive.
Just to aet it to stay on the truck it was necessary to extend the bed
eiaht feet, To keep the truck ffom rearina up several keqs of nails were
nlaced at the front of the trugk bed., Evervthina went well until Hamidy
was about to ton the Penny Hill on Tore Pass. tlere'the keas hroke loose
and rolled backwards, The truck rearcd on 1ts hind wieels and stopped.
Hails abandoned the truck and conspired anainst anybtire that might hazard
this section of the hichwav,

By some mysterious wav, Be211 learned of Hamidy's nliaht and came to
help relnad the trucl. At the outset it was necessary to place several
larae rocks precariously on the humper, Hith the added weight on the front
of the truck all four wvheels anéin toucned the road, lowever, this was only
a momentary condition. ﬁs the rocks were added, the front end would slowly
lower until it reached the point that the front weight overcountered the
rear weicht, With the addition of rore weinht, the front end‘would drop

auickly and strike the around with a jolt. Tais would topple the
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precariously piled focks. Finallv aftor several attemnts of trial and
error the trucP s returned to a normal position on the hinhwav. Then
kers of repacked nails were loaded by first nlacing tham on the h60d and
workina the leoad back to the bed, Aftar reloadine, Hamidy and Dall
continuad the trin to 03k Crank where the hipolwas delivered to the citv‘
ﬁovernment.H

At one time llerb 'oore was the 15rmost Limber operator on Sreen
Ridae., Durina the 1920s and 1930s he onerated three saunills in the timber
and a planina mill at Shorters Spur,  lloore was one of those colorful ien
who earned both the admiration and dislike of his neiqnbors. He, Tike so
many men who risked their fortunes on the "uncertain ice" of timber, was a
"nlunner." At one time the local "banks would not loan roney on a
thrashina machine, stud horse, or sawmill, and ilerb owmed all three."
Durinn the late 1920s, Moore was forced into bankfuptcy. He soon recovered
and salvaced enourh to reonen a sawnill, Uhile recalling the difficult
years of the depression one old timer stated, "I'11 tell you times was
touah and nle Herb was doinn everyay he could. Hadn't been for'Hefb Moore
and Frank Demerest at the‘store they'ed a lot of prople starved becéuse we
didn't have any county relief, 1I'11 qive Herb Moore credit for ‘tr\/ing.“]2

While times were hard the Bell Lumber Yard in Oak Creek found it was

cheaper to buy lumber from !foore and others than to cut and finish their

ovwn lumber. And in turn, the mininc community was one of the most stable

markets for the lumber industry. 'ore imnortantly, the operators were sure.

of receiving payment for their product. When lumber was shipped east to a
buyer, it was not certain that payment would return to the reqion,
Moore was amonq the first operators to use a catapillar tractor to

make his roads more servicable., The shift in road construction

revolutionized the loanina business., After the nas and rubber rationina of
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Horld Har 11, Crucka~renlncnd teems for haulino logs to the mills and props
to the mfnes. However as late as 1946.toams were still used to de]iver
props from-some of tHe‘sma1ler 6perations.

John Geer and M. E. Anderson were tun of Hoore's sawyers, feer had
tried his hand a several schemes, but Tadv Tuck ran acainst him. .Durinq
the worst years of the depressicn his wife died and he was Teft with a
larae family, To.support the family he moved to. the Tumbering area on
upper ETk River. ‘'lhile workina at Columbine he remarried. Kate Geer had
enounh money to stake her husband in a sawmill; she also had an ability to
manhaqe the bhusiness, The'Peers returned to the Yampa area and worked a
saumill on freen Ridne until it burned out.

G

dext Beer and Bi11 Anderson, M. L. fAnderson's son, moved two sawmills
to Rock Creck on Tore Pass, It is not clear at this time if Ceer owned
both sawmills or if thevy vere separate operations. feer, who was a master
of steam powered sawmills, set Qp his opcration near fnderson who had the
first cas driven sawnill in the area, ‘'lith two operations beina so close
and operatina under similar conditions with master craftsmen at the helm of
both, it was natural for all the local residents to closely monitor the two
operations. Thn aas powered mill proved to be far superior. As a result
steam powered sawmills passed quickly from the scene,]3 The arrival of the
chain saw in the late ]9405 soon made the cross cut saw a candidate for
museums., But the faithful skid horse survived as an intreaate part of the
loaging industry until the late 1960s.

Many Yampa Valley homesteaders worked at ranching, lTogqaina, and coal
minina,  Elmer Margerum took up a homestead on the South Fork of Hunt Creek
in 1914, The ranchina oneration included milking twenty-two cows twice a-
day and farmina dryland érops. Since “araerum could mi]kia cbW’every five

minutes, he was able to do his dailv chores in two hours. This left enouah
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time to do outside work. After the crops vere laid by he worked for the
Bird sawmill on the "backside" nf Bellvach ountain, 2ne dayv a Week he
hauled Tumber from Mr. Bartholemew's sawnill near Grosho Lake to Dak Creek,
The need for education for his arowina family resulted in HNarnerum
nurchasina a house and‘mai] route in Yamna. The mail route ran from Yampa
back of the Devil's frave to the %armino community of Pinnacle and over
the divide to Trout Greek. In nood weather it took about eight hours to
deliver the mail., In the late 1920s he left most of the mail delivery to
his children and he worked at the waaon mines south of Phippshbura. At the
old Brazilia Haétinﬂ Mine on Seven Points Hill, feorge Guwynn worked a mine,
For two winters Marcerum hauled coal off of Seven Points 11§11 for Cvivnn,
About 1928 "arcerum opened nis own mine on Seven Points., At the
bottom of the very steep crade he built a thirty ton coal hin., Every
Monday mornind the bin was full and by noon local rancheré had purchased
the pile of coal. The rest of fhe week was spent minina and refillina the
bin, Harqerum‘on]y had the mine a couprle of vears and he never let minina
be his full time occupation. But he was Tike so many of the early
homesteaders--at some noint in the procaess of establishing themselves in
the valley thev depended upon ]onﬂinq-and coal mines for their 1'nc0me.]4
The intertwinina of loncina, aariculture, and coal minina was complete
in the Yampa Valley. In Twentvmile Park after the federal covernment and
the mininn companies settled their land disputes, honesteaders quickfy took
up the Tand., In 1913 Ruy C. Batton arrived on a Foidal Creek homestead,
Since the Batton family knew nothinn about farmina and had no eauipment orl
animals, Auy and his father found othar emnlovment. The elder Batton went
to work as a carnenter for the Moffat Mine while Guy worked for a rancher,
After they accumulated enouch capital to buy seed and other necessities

they returned to the homestead, fipnparentlv the Batton family did not depend
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unon the coal rines Tone, but for that briefl period the income from nine
Tabor was v1'tn].<]5 Ironically the acre of land the Battons nave for a
schonThouse is located iuﬁt helow the nresont»tipnYQ ofﬁtnornv Hine, fhe
homoatead"s vhere [narev has rined millions of tous of coaj.

Oné of the Foidal Crenk mnen walked from his home on Foidal Creek to
the mines, worked a full sﬁift, and then returned home,  The round trip
hike was approximately ten miles and reoauired crossina over three steep
divides.  For several vears he made this trip as reaular as the mines
worked., For him and his fami‘y, riinina vas very mucn a part of their
lives althouch they were renerally considored ranchers,

lith the rush of settlers intn Twentvmile Paric came the demand for
Tncal coal, Cﬁsnnr.ﬂeberskirch opened a small waron pine alonn with his
homestead in the '1i17iars "ountains aton~ Fish Creek, Hare he cdmhined
minina and ranchina in the same business. Tor vears he sunplied his
neinhbors with coal, Because of‘distance from other summlies and the
treelessness of the park, the mine formed a vital Tink in the Tives of the
folks, Other small vanon mines were Tocated on Dry Creel and Hayden Gulch.

Johnny Mathews was an unique tvne of homesteader., e tonk up hi

[ %]

claim in 1275 and sinultaneously he beran workina in and abeut the mines at
Jak Creelk, Vithin a few vears he had vorked at all the Taraer mines and
most of the smaller ones. One of his earlier jobs was to naul coal fron
the Arthur Mine into Oak Creek, The road ‘rom the mine to towm hunn
treacherously alona the shoulder of Mule Gulch. ‘lany vears later Ldna 'fine
nurchased the oroperty and built new roads., But when Mathews was hauling
coal, snow drifts and small slides were a serious threat. These would fill
the road and tip the sledre on so sharp an anale that it threatened to

upset the load. On numercus occasions tie sledane would slin sideways and

threaten to careen down the mountain, And Hathews did unset several loads
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of coal and tanale his teams,

Workina in the mines and haulina coal vas » cormon thing for

homesteaders, But !'athews soon attracted the attention of the !loffat iline

mananement., e was hired as a vrospector. For vears llathews checked
outcronpinas and small wacon mines,
then Mathews homesteaded and beran workina for the mines the mysteries

of the Pilot Knob anthracite were still unsolved. The promise of a vast

anthracite coalfield plaved a major role in the numerous reports about the

Yampa Coalfield, Y. V4, Ueston, Arthur Lakes, and many other experts had
examined the Crawford, Moraan, and Sheldon tracts. The promiée of a vast
anthracite field nlaved a critical part in Dlavid H, lioffat's ‘decision to
build his railroad. In 1911 the owners of the !loffat !'line nained contrb]
of the anthracite propertv. But financial diFfichties delayved any
development., | » ‘.

With the promise of tﬁe Moffat Tunnel in 1924 Mathews and a nrduplof
select miners vere taken to tﬁe anthracite field north of Hayden, tlere
they beaan extensive development. The coal was hauled by waaon to Hayden
and shinped by box cars to Denver. After developing a few hundred feét the
men found that the vein split and the anthracite disappeared. Futﬁer
minina showed that the anthracite was localized and the vein was not
consistent in quality or purity. After several months of work the project
ended with the question of the anthracite beina answered. ‘It was not
worth minina, 17

Yhen the railroad surveyors first plotted their route across Routt
County, they planned to leave Nak Creek at Junction City and cross the
divide to lower Trout Creek, MNear the post office of Eddy at the
Hutchinson Mine the railroad nlanned to do extensive business., Financial

problems for the railroad prevented the construction. tinder the federal

'
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novernment's settlement with the Union Land Comnanv the coal on Tower
Trout Creek was reclaimed for the public.

Sometime after the aovernment renosscssed the cnal the Charao Nine
was opened,  From the Charae Mine the residonts of Steamboat Sprinns and
nearhy areés aQt,their coal. A Tona tine rosident of ‘Pleasant Valley, Dob
fay, recalled that many of the ranchers and farmers br'sk]y competed for
local coal trade., The person vho was Tucky enouch.to 1and a contract for
furnishinag coal to the court‘house, schenl, or hospital was assured of a
nrofitable year,

The coal héu]ers became a distinct aroun with their own standards and
aroup identitv and storjés. Because of the distance to the Charno Mine it
was necessary to leave Tona hefore davliaht and often a person arrived home
well after dark. One farmer had spent, so nany ¢nld davs ridinne in a coal
sledoe that he developed a habit of swineina his arns and strikihn his
chest. The habit became so Firﬁ]v implanted that the man swwuna his arms
and hit his chest on the hottest davs of sumnervas well as the cb]dest davs
of winter.

The settler who Tanded a contract delivarinm mine prons or orain or
hay to the mine while nickina up a Tead of coal was truly fortunate. If‘
he had the riaht contacts so he ceuld sell meat, potatnes, eoas, or milk
to the company store or boardinﬂ nousa the trips to the mines for coal were
doubly profitable. Decause of the larre number of men cenerally working at
the various mines, a sionificant nunmber of nomesteaders were ahle to develop
a small but nrofitable trade with the mines.

The coal hauvlers had a deep pride in their horses, In the Steambbnt
Sprinas area most of the hitches vern "four ups" nlthbuqh some. drivers used
Six Horses. Dewey Savare drove six ffne horses and pulled two laroe

slednes, On one accasion a lot of money chanced hands in Steamboat Sprinas
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after these six harses started heth ﬁ]nd”éﬂ vhich. had stood all night.nn
the street in “ront ofo. o Licht's %nfté. ﬁﬁothur.con] hauler with pride
in his horses NPS ”jttv”ntes vho wanld novor']in'to nurt anvone hut he
would sure make convorsﬁtinn. One dav fates chanced to meet Joe SimitohA‘
alona theiDnon Creel: road, ‘Jhen the men EHTTnd abreast they-stonned to
nass the time, Simiton had A "eand sense” sledee (the runners were turned

up sharnlv at the ends). Ffates had a "cormon sense" sledae (the runners
were straichter then a'nood sense runner). Cates told his friend, "Joc,
mv sledoe used to be just Tike vours., One morpine I didn't nrv it lonse
very cooc and had a Tnad of coal on. 1 tnld then four hig broﬁn horses to
start. It was hunc and the horses iust stretclied until thay straihhfened
those runners cut."15

Throuch the passare o€ tine the names of many of the coal haulers have
been lost, hut amonc old timers their feats remain vivid memories.  One
such man was A rancher who ﬁovod into Pleasant Vallev from the Tower country
west of Craic, He used broncs that could not be ridden and were aenerally
considered too small to work, He would hitch up eiaht of these wild animals
and haul awazinﬂlQ Tarce loads of coal, hav, or arain. For one man to
nandle eiaht centle horses was considored an‘outstandinq achievement. To
master cicht broncs and have them pull in unison was the mark of a true
teamster.]9

Loaners, ranchers, and coal miners; hin nen, Tittle men; strona men,
wealk mens; hones®t man and liars: all plav a role on the staae of Tife as the
story of northuestern Calorado unfolds from vesterday to today. Some
neople had leadino roles while othars were in support, but none of the
characters would have had their nart if th;reAhnd veen no coal mines. It

was coal mines that made the plav nossible.



CHAPTER XI
HARDY PEOPLE AND HARD TIUVES

The history of the Yampa Valley includes a chronicle of anticipated
booms that fizzled out Tonﬂ before the expected benefits were achieved.
Back in the early 1880s the settlers expected aArqiiroad to be built to
the rich aaricultural and coé] minina reﬂibn. By the end of the 1880s the
expected boom was a bust. In the late 1890s the preparations for the
expected boom added excitement and anticination to life in the isolated
empire, With the actua]lébnstruction of the Moffat Road folks besan to
expect creat thinrs, But a combination of powerful forces caused the
railroad to falter. Mhen the tracks reached the coalfield it was a weak
railroad attemptino to avoid complete disaster. The coal mines did save
the line, but'savinq‘the line did not assire a briaht, happy future--it
only meant death did not come, fhrouah this period of ebbinc and flowing,
hardy people cahe to the Vampa Valley and throunh their afforts the areat
experiment of makina a dream a reality was continued. But makina dreams
into realities is hard work and involves hard ﬁimes.

Marino Rossi beaan his 1ife in a border recion of Austria and Italy.
He was born an Ausfrian; however, friends considered him an Italian. As a
youna man he made his way from the Alps to the United States. In 1902 he

became a naturalized citizen and returned to the old country to marry his

childhood sweetheart, Althouah he was an American citizen when he arrived

home he wias drafted into the Austrian armv where he spent the next two
years, After the tour bf duty he did not have enough money to pay the cost
of returnino with his family to the United States. Under the circumstances
he saw nothing else to do buf return to the United States alone and save

enouch money to net his €amily to the new land. So Marino and his
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brothers, Tdmmy, feorece, and John Possi, came to the lnited States. In
1908 Marino * arrived at Carbondale, Colorado, vhere he went to work in the
coal mine.]

Throurh a series of events lMarino was able to cet his wife to the
United State$ and the fami]y mqved from Carbondale to Oak Creek. At first
he worked in the Junipek Mine, but conditions there did not prove
isatisfactory andvhe hoved to the Moffat Mine. He was working at the Moffat
during the strike of 1913-1914,  For the most part the Rossi family
attempted to stay Qut of any trouble, hut the;mi1itia treated the
foreiaqners like they vere stunid peasants. And the Rossis, like many of
their neiahbors, had left their native country to escape the very thina
that was happeninag durina the strike. After the strike, Rossi moved his
family to a small home in Oak Creek. Here !lrs., Anna Rossi took in washing
to help buy their own home. Tovavoid havina a hot stove to heat water
during the summer, she carried tﬁe hot water from the steam plant at the
Pinnacle tipple which was near their home.

The homes in Tower Oak Creek were small and crowded toaether. At one
time Marino and his neiahbor had difficulty over the location of gikagiéé
house. The neiqghbor placed their toilet néar the back door of Rossi's
home, So Rossi retaliated by nlacing his toilet against the neignbor's
door,  The neichbor's wife, vho was a larace woman with a powerful voice,
let the whole neiahborhood hear her indionition. Later the dispute was
settled peacefully, but local residents cot a rood Taugh over the war of
the toilets.,

Throuch the turmoil of the strike and World War 1 the Rossi family
decided to cet their children 6utyof the mines. In 1922, Marino Rossi

bouaht a ranch at the foot of the hill near Crosho Lake., Ilis brother

George bouaht a ranch a couple of miles further down Hunt Creek. But
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buyina a ranch and keepine it were two different problens.,
Mrs. Rossi took charce of -the ranch and 'farino continued to work in

the mine. He was only home durinag idle periods At tee wine.  On the raich
Hrs., Rossi and her five children worked to make it a profitable business.
The family raised arain, lettuce, and spinach for their seasonal cash crop.
A substantial baft of.the.ranch income carme from the sale of enas, butter,
cheese, and pork‘in OakVCreek. Cvery Sﬁturdayrﬁuido Rossi and one of his
brothers or sisters would take a humcy or sledre vith as much as fifty
dnzen eaas, forty poundé of butter, and fresh pork on the twenty mile rouﬁd
trip to Dak Creek. The children vould deliver the food door to door.
Since numerous other ranch chi]drén were shendina the day makina similar
deliveries, the work was a mixture of serionus business and enjoyment. The
vouna folks lauahed and teased tcooether, hut they were endqaqed-in seridus
business. A1l the kids werevon the alert for new customers. And
competition in their business wés keen,

The depression of the‘]9305 brounht several changes in the farm market.
The price of pirok was extremely low and customers were very discriminatina,
To sell the meat it was necessary to cut it intoe pieces and trim away the
fat. The buyers took only the choice pieces and left the farmers with the
unwanted cuts. But a sale was a .sale and cash sales were something special.
Rossi recalled that while makina his renular deliveries occasionally he
would Tearn of a special sale if he could ret the meat back to Oak Creek at
once, He would hurry home and huild a fire. to heat the water to scald the
hoa, lhen all was ready the hoa was hutchered, It was late in the day
before the meat was ready for market, but, undaunted, he or a member of the
family rushed back to Oak Creck witﬁ the fresh pork sti]] steaming.

The Rossi family, as did the other ranchers in the valley, raised

nearly all their own food--pork, beef, cheese, milk, potatoes, etc. A
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major portion of the late summer and fall was spent preparing food for the
winter. Hay and qrain were stacked for the animals.,  Huring the winter the
arain was thrashed, !leats were cannedﬂysalted,'smoked, and carefully
stored, Eqos were carcfully packed in arain to retard spoilace as a hedae
anainst the molt and freczinn weather. Several varieties of pickles were
canned, Potatoes were stored in cellars. The nrocess of preparina for the
wintor was 10n5 and exactina, but it aave the ranchers a certain
independence. "o lived throuah the depression much better than many

people,"”

remarked Carl !'lelson. "We raised our own food and we had plenty
to eat."2 The ranch families in the Yampa Valley were a hardy breed of
neople who could survive hard times.

Even the most frucal and determined folks could not have withstood the
lean years without havina a few vears of prosperity. Sandwiched between
World Har I and the.Great Nepression was the lettuce boom. An Arkansas
River Valley banker, J, ﬂ; chtt; purphascd land south of Yamna, Colorado,
and set his three sons-in law up in the ranchina businéss. Thomas J. Tynan,
one of the sons-in-law, was warden at the state penitentary. Doun Colt and
J. R fear ware the other sons-in-law,

Hlith his position in the state aovernment, Tynan in 1923 used prison
Tabor to exneriment vith various crops. The oxpefiment triqeered the
lettuce boom. Snon S. A, fuard Company, Garler Company, and 'lestern
Vecatable wore investinag in sourthern Routt County lettuce, !lithin a fow
vears thousands of acres were in row crops. ossi candidly admits that it
was the lettuce boom that made it nossible for them tb pay for their ranch,
People who owned ranches planted all the Tland they thouaht they could
successtully care fors then they leased additioha] acres to anyone who
would take the land. ith the boom came a mixture of races and nationa*iﬁi

nationalities which added a new flavor to the valley. The Japanese who
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worked in the mines at Qak Créek also leased farm plots durina the summer
months. Addina to the minina orientals were several who onperated farms as
their onlv occunation, With the hoom in Tettuce the use of nrison Tabor
was-discontinued,

Durina the Tettuce season everv nossihle buildina was occupied. And
the boom town economy flourished. Ernie Bartho]owew Lboucht bootlen whiskey
by the ken and onerated a wholesale businesﬁ. Ganwlina was open and
flourishina, In 1929 there were seven lettuce sheds at Yampa, Tive at
Toponas, and three at Trappers. With imnrovements in transportation and
land development 1n California and Arizona, lettuce from Routt County found
a stronq adversary, Soon the lettuce boorm in the Yanmpa Va]]ey becan to
falter. Short and unreliable nfowinﬂ seasons miade the hiah altitude
lettuce husiness verv riSky. During the depression only the hardy farmers
held on, Thevrequirements of Horld YWar Il briefly stimulated the lettuce
business, but at the war's end only Jack Holden at Toponas and the Lewis
Crovmer family at Yampa were still in the Tettuce and spinach business. 1In
the early 1950s this eoffort came to a c]dsn. llone the less, the
approximately thirty year span of comwercﬁn] lettuce and sninach farminn
nrovided onportunify for manv residents of the valley. Kids arowing up in
NDak Creek and neiahberine communities exnected to work in the fields durine
the summer, For many families, especially durinalthe depression, the
lettuce fields nrovided an nhportunity to make a Tiving durinn the summer

when the mines were idle,

Another hardy individual was John 'lorev. Horey was born in the Unitéd
States, but after the death of his mother, hfs father returned with the
child to his native city of Triest, Austria. ilhen fhe fatner died, friends
advanced ilorey enouah monev to return to the United States. After

castina about for a few years Morey came to the Yampa Valley and rented a
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farm south of the Oak Creel city vater rnﬂnrvoir.. Harey wn§ an enterprising
man who soon discovered wavs of enrginﬂ a Tivine in the coal mininn
communityv, lle raised Farm nroduce which hn carried to market as he walked
the several miles to fhe riine to viork, e also »lanted @ crop of lettuce
and potatoes which he sold on a cormorcial rarket in Uenver. As a sideline
he made linuor which vas mark@tod at v5rinuﬂ places.  Monarently forey

had trouble with Andv Black ﬂﬂd>thﬂ machine that controlled Oak Creek

Tiquor trade. As a résu]t he traded primarily with Lric Gartholomew at
Yamnpa and in Phinnsburn,

After a few vears lorev noved his family to a farm Laclk of Phippsburq
and with the openina of Seven Points iline he noved to another ranch below
the mine. On this small farm he attemoted to wake a livina durine the
deprassion, Conditions ware sn hard that he sold a larae, well fad steer,
butchered and trirmed, for 3 and 3/4 cents ver pound, In 1931 Morey,

"r. Laiten, and Joe llaines D]antéd seven.acres of potatoes on the shares.
After matherina the cron thev hauled them to a larae cellar alona the
hichway near Dak Creck, Durina the sprinc of 1932 the disappointed
partners aave up trvine to sell the crop and benah qivina potatoes to hard
pressed miners.,

"lorey was not easilv defeated, He built a Tarne barn and becan holdinc
barn dances in the loft, But from the outset this enterprise was plaauad,
Often when dances were scheduled, it rained and "lorey spent most of his
time with a team nullina people's cars out of the mud., People who planned
to snend the evenine dancinc were disapbointmd ahq reluctant to return
later. The people who attended the dances also irritated Morey. floreyv was
a lot of thincs, but he did have hich moral standards and ha did hot
appreciate the fact that manv local residents believed that his barn>daHCGS

in a remote area wvere the ideal area to carrv on an affair with someone
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else's spouse. - To prevent turninq his dance hall into a nlace of Tow
morality, Yorev stonped havino dances.

In our more nermiséive society wa tend to launh at the standards of
the past, but for the peonle of that time their moral code was taken very
seriously, One Thorp Mountain homesteader stoppad by the schonl house one
afternoon and had coffee with the teachar. This enraned the man's wife so
much that for vears the settler was forced to sleep in the hunk house. lie
would come to the hogse on]ﬁ to take his meal. That was an extreme casc of
jealousy but no onrudent citizen of the valleyv cared to endanger his

reputation or endure the wrath that could come from the community. A

!

bootlenaar whose renutation brcane tarnished was driven out of business,”

Southern Routt County had an interlaced econony which connected
several forces with the coal minina industry. dut it would be a wistake to
assume that the economic forces created a united society, Quite the
contrary was the actual case. The Tona winters of isolation fostered a
aroup of hardy folks who were extremelv independent. /fnd the towns also
had a distinct individualism., ‘lhen folks from Yamna and 0Oal Creck met at -
one of the numerous Saturdav nioht dances there was sure to be a bloody
fist ficht, MNo exnerienced individual would enter the domain of the other
faction unless he was accompanied by several friends. Until 1932 hidah
school kids were hauled to Oak Creek by train, hut that vear the Phippsburqg
school district was consolidated with Yampa and Elmer Marqgerum beaan
runnina the bus. !Yhy the districts were realianned is not clear, but some
folks believed that the Yampa Masons nlayed a major role in the situation.
Reaardless of who was involved, the atmosphefe between the towns reached a
new level of keenness.

But the conflict was not restricted to the communities. 1In Phippsbura

there was animosity between the families of men who worked on the train
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crews and the families of men who vorked at the roundhouse.  And theAsource}
of this animosity is impossible to determine.

Comnlex nroblems cannot be exp]ainod‘onsi]y in simnle terns, but one
of the primarv forces in the division which existed between the coal minina
area and the surroundinn reaion was the TInona neriods of isolatinn., The
first effort in southern Noutt Countv to keen a hichway open durinh the
winter was in 1930 when Cecil frav and Barnev lindoe used a small cétapi]]ar
to move snow on Red Dirt Hill. For vears aFtnrwafds moﬁt of the state;s
roads were left unplowed and none of the countv roads were plowed.6

tMhen thé sprinn thaw beran all travel durina the warmth of the day
came to a virtual standstill. Teams and waaons could not det down the
muddy roads and the deep rotteh SNOw prevented travel on the meadows., A
car could only travel on the frozen around at niqht and the ruts were so
deep that oftén it was necessary tO‘StOD the car and shovel a trail into a

new track if a nerson wished to pass or exit. Spiro Callas commented that

to ro from Oak Creel: to Yampa, a distance of ten miles, was a major
: .

undertakina, It often took A1l niaht and numerous mud holes to ﬁéké the
trip,«' i |

In the winter of 1931-32 Leo Jolly and his mother made several trins
hy doq team down the wain hiahway from Nock Creek on Rore Pass to Toponas,
The followina winter the county sent a snall catapillar tractor to open a
road as far as Jollv's nlace, Thd”ef%ért;in the Tate winter of 1934, was~
\ﬁhe first attemnt to open the state hichwav nver fore Pass; IMost folks in
the valley put their cars on blocks in October and did not take them off
until mid-Uay.7

Durina the carly years people traveled over hills and on the rounh

around rather than on the smoother terrain. They conserved the "better"

land for food and feed crops. MAs a result, roads often wandered over nhills



oot

C v 2L

Hardy People and Hard Tines 229

and across bonav or swannv arcas, However, in the late 1920s a few concrete
bridaes weré built alona the hichuay bhetween Yarna and Call Creek.,  Durino
the depfession the state and F@déra1 covernment funded several hichway
improvement nrojects in the rerion, In 1035 the nresent hiahway from Oak
Creek was built to tho overhead north of Thirpsubrg.  From thare the‘hiﬂhwav
was advanced until it foached Tononas in 1939, Thae hichway down Oak Craek
to Steambonat Snrinas was also built durina this period., Dob Viele recallaed
that to pay their taxes saveral ranchers includina himself usad teams and
fresnos to bhuild iiichway 131 from tha iunction of U. S. 40 to the ‘lernor
Ranch.

1/ith the imorovod‘himhwax transnortation was considerablv easier;
however, fore Pass vias not»improved>nnd surfaced until in the{mid 19505.{
Mith the exception of the schonl bus hetween Yampa and Phipnsubra school
buses did not operate until the 12900s. (And keeping state roads open vear

e . C e . , , r
round for continuous traffic did not heain until after dorld War II,, In-

o i
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some cases the isolation remained until mid-century, With the loss of
students the school board closed the Dome school and arranaed for the
students to board at "cCov and Burns. Durina the winter of 1949-50 lenry

Owens and Jake Stall remained on the ranches under the Uome, The women

Y ‘. Soawe e f s ¢t

1naded cream cans on nack horses and Founhtxtheir way to Burns. Here thev

shinped the‘cream, nicked un the mail and rcturned throunh the deen snow to
their isnlated homes. Soon afterwards, the fanilies moved off the ranches

durina the winter.,

Durinc the hard vinter of 1952, Maraaret Rossi received the nonnr of
attendina a Cow Belle's (the woman's cattleman's association) meetina {n
Washinnton, D, C. For a person who had worked hard on a small ranch and
done without so much, the hanor of aoina to the nation's capitof meant.a

areat deal. But the snow had become so deep and drifted so hard that the

(e

i~
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county could not ret the road open. For wecks the lunt Creek rancning
comunity was snovhound., It reauired a major effort by many of the ranciers
to break a trail and ant "araaret to the Utrain ot Phippsbure, She had to
wear her "five buclkle overshoes” when she 1oft;and siie needad fhem aaain
when she returned.,  To save snace she had nackad vithout allowino for the
avershoes., %s a result she endured the embarrassrent o€ valking un drv,
warn 17th Street in Denver tn the hotel with her overshoees on. Ms she
walked she felt Tike a nerson frorm another vorld, She was from a snowbound
isnlated corner of the state where time and 1nnpvétjon moved 1ike ninety
weiaht 011 durina the winter,” |

With the isolation, the residents were able to develop their own unique
society, 0alt Creak was a complex community of vice and high standards,
Cruelty and "smallness" were desnised by the residents. Contrastinaly
the comnunity proudly proclaimed the title of the roughest town in Co]ofadn.
And there were men touah enourh fo back the claim., It was a stand up and
fight face-to-face, fist-to-fist, and toe-to-toe town. Durina the Labor
Day celebration the miners would Tine up. fhe Tead man vould turn and
face the Tine with Ffists at the readv, Two men would exchanae blows until
one of the men rmoved his feot. Then the next challenger would face the
winnar in the toe-to-toe position and at~a sianal beqin swinaina. The
circle of contenders went on until‘a winner was established, The folks of
the town thouaht the fiahts were oreat sport.

0ak Creek also had its characters and humorous events, Tom Piercen
who was among the town's first businessmen was the source of much of the
humor. On one occasion a aroup of town sports found Piercen "deep in his
cups" and thourht they would make some casy money, They bet him that nhis
car could not make Cunshot Hi11l (a section of a street in Oak Creck) in

nigh gear, Piercen took the bet and Toadad his car full of people. Instead
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of tryina to drive up the hill as the srorts intended he used a back way to
get to the top of the hill. vﬂt the top of Cunshot {1111 he put the car in
hiagh aecar and drove dowh. -This met the requirements of the bet., 8ut in
showina off, Piercen pushed the accelerator to the floor and bame racina
down. ‘hen he took his foot off the accelerator he learned that the peddle
was stucl to the {100% board, He made one street corner on "two wheels"
and raced down the main street in Oak Creck. T[inally at the lower end of
town he ran the car out into a swampy stretch of land next to the creek
where the car boaned down and_stonpedn9

N petite Tadv with a humorous twinkle in her eyes, 'lrs, Hilda Heinke,
enjoved described the fullness of her Tife in the Dak Creek minina
district, After orld Yar I, her father, who had worked in the Wales coal
mines for years, was unemnloved over fourtecen montns. Sorme of his relatives
ancouraged him to brina his lTarae family to Oak Creek and qo to work»in the
mines. In 1923 the family of six airls and one boy stepped off a niaht
train in Oak Creek and immediately ot into a waqon and droVe fo a
homestead in Twentvmile Park, The hbmes ead later became known as Rocers
place and also as Roners Crossinc at Enercoy Fuel's Pit #2 mine. At
dayliaht Hilda looked across the treeless and houseless reaches of the park
and thourht "we'd come tn land's end,"

The next dav Hilda's aunt tonok the fanilv into OJak Creek so they could
see the town and find out thev were not comnletelv alone on earth., hile
they were standina outside Bell's store Hilda commented, "Well Auntie, when
do we aet to town?" "You're in town," replied the aunt. "Well, where is
it?" retorted Hilda. In time lHilda became accustomed to the mining
community, After marryiné flenrae Heinke she moved to the mining camp of
Haybro,

In the Tate 1920s, I'r. Heinke decided to teach his wife to drive their
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1922 Buick, DBefore we follow them throunh the adventures, wve need to bear
in mind that firs, Heinke is a small wonan: and fooking over the steerina
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to drive in had scveral steep hills and narrow Yoads. In Havbro there was
a steen arade by the superintendent's house. After drivino on the Trout

hen

nr
|

Creel road !rs, Heinko recalled that thoy.wnu1d return to Havbro.
I'd co up this steep hiil there and I'd say to feorqe, 'Can I keep it in

Tow all the way up?'* "Ya," he replied, "I'd ret part way up and he'd
say, 'Shift 1nt0~éeconda' So I'd shi“t into secend; course I'd kill the
encine." Then with the ennine. dead Mrs. Heinke viould aqo throunh the

process of startine the car, The "Qobh}e stick" was placed in ﬁeutra]; the
left foot was p]ééod bn the brake so the car would not roll hackwards while
the richt foot depressed the starter and accelerator. After cettino the
enaine started it was necessary to ﬁove the left foot to the c]thh and ﬁhe
richt foot to thé brake. Once tﬁe car was in low gear, she had to move her
right foot to the nas while the left foot was letting out the clutch. Al
the while she was hopinn that she did not no too fast and kill the enaine
or so slow that the car rolled backwards down the hill, Thus with jerks
forward and abrupt retreats accompanied with emphatic words of
encouracement, the lleinkes would Tabor un the Haybro Hill, After manv
aconizinn attempts, 'irs. Heinke mastered the arade.

On one of these cducational outinas, !'rs. !leinke neaotiated the arade
in fine style, but at the top of the hill sat the superintendent's house
and in front of the house Rov Hall had parked his car. "Of course I was
afraid to stop for fear ! could not hold it," commented Mrs. Heinke witn
a twinkle in her eves, "So I went by him and of course [ hit his back
fender." After insvectine the damace, Hall commanded, "lell, you miaht as

well finish it!" Obliainaly she did,
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Because of the isolation of the Havbro minina canp, the people
developed a socictyv that created its own "fun." {uring the depression
folks had Sevéra] 1mpr0ﬁntu cone as you are narties. Mt these, dancina and
card nlayina wvere common forirs of entertainrent,  There were also box
socials and.pnt Tuck dinners., ‘WHen asked the aquestion "Vhat was 1ife like
at Haybro?" HMrs. Heinke replied without hesitation, "I enjoyed my life down
there. Peoh]é were sn‘Friendlv.”]o

_ AT

Another interestine familyv in the Yarmpa Valley was #ae !lalter Peters
famidy, DPeters had horesteaded near Jun%por Sarinas in Meffat County.
Durina the first vears, conditions were comﬁarative]y aqood; but in time
drounht, rabbits, and cophers took their toll of Peters' crops. One early
winter day Peters had cone to Crain and rot a load of hav which ha2d cost
Rir 520 per ton. On the return trip hé met one of ©ill Gossard's trail
herds heading for the Crain stockyards. 8y the time the herd bed-passed

. , |

the hay rack leters had just enourh hay left to feed his team. So he

pulled off the road and tied his horses to the feed and walked home.

ﬁ/i’«» rs
Shortly afterwards ke went to work for the Denver & Salt Lake Railroad as
" /(,)Q:!/U. '
o
an operator at Comnaj In 1924 the Peters family moved to Phippsbura,

¢

e - 1/
The Peters famidy, Tike the Rossiielson, llorey o

Tcinke, and a host
of other families, had experienced enouch hard times that when the
depression of the 1939s hit, thev were able to find ways to survive,
Peters provided meat by huntinn and fishinn, They alse raised a little

1y

0

w

narden and canned all the food they could, t of the men on the Danver
& Salt Lake worked out a svstem vhere evervene could make a little honey,
althouah none made a lot, The bridee nanc, section crews, onaratoré,‘and
others divided their six day worl week into half., Half of thnlmenlwou]d

viork three davs, then the other half worked three davs. 0On the days nff

the men would devise other ways of sunnortina their families, Pete
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Petarson, vho-was a racihinist at the roundhouse,  Lonk nis pami1ﬁ camminn
and nresnoctine on s davs off, chasion:ll” ne found enourh nh]ditolwako
the work interestina,

Kids wore alvavs on the alert for wavs to heln the Famile, Johony
Peters, vhen a‘bov, was aluavs on the Tnokont for a joo,  dne sprine day

Avie Kinzer hired Peters to co to Steanboat Sprincs where he »viclked ud A

)

strinn of nearly one hundred horses and dreve them to Topeonas,  The trin

of over ”ﬁftv miles was”mndolin 6ne dav,  The man who owﬁed the horses,
Kinzer, vas 5150 a rajlread cenductor, ,AS 2 osideline he owvas buyine and S
sellin~ horses nnd rutes,  Nurino Tdvestocl shinnina time, extra work vas
available for youne men, ntil the earlv 10405, him cattle ranches vest af
Hayden and Crain would summer their steers on the 'i1liams Fark River. To
reduce shinpine costs thev vould drive the Tarae herds of cattle to
Phippsburc, Under the brow of !Mitney Crade the cattle were held and sorted
for shinnina, /nd to hold the éattle and leoad the cattle renuired extra
help, That s where the aspirine cowbovs aot a chance to vopk, 11

On2 of the kovs to survivine the deprassion was now the neople worked
and Tived ﬁoaether. SUhen recalline the devression, Johnny Peters nused,

!

"Tt was a little different than watchina TV today; vou'd all aet tocethoer;

the kids would niav hide and co seell or sopethinn whiile the falls played

]
cards or some other dann th1nﬂq”1”

Vhen vl Stafford LUilt his orocery
store the tovn rot tosether to celebrate the success of lavina the floor by
dancine on it,

Mthouah they are unsunc herones, the lecal crocers vere the source of
most of the "relief" durina the denression, At different timos during the
1930s Phippshura had four arncerv stores: 'hitelv, lacovetto, Brockman,

and Sta€ford. Mhitelv's and Brockman's stores hurned and Stafford's store

soon failed. A1l of the stores extended credit to residents. 'rs. Deterson
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Frank1y states, "Sar Iacovetto ont a ot n‘vunwp1e Tron starvinag to daath
durina the denression.”]3 Ivy Zolsay readily admitted that Tranl Demerest
at Yarna saved Rim and bis farile from o ooine huners. Yelsay had farmed din
eastern Nebraéka until his wife's poor hoalth and the hard times drove him
out, ‘lhen hé arrivad in Varnn; "vou couldn't buy a job." Demerest had
also bean hard hit v the denfnﬁsion. ‘hen the rent vas due on the stofe
he had to move out, “lle built a small nlace i the new hiqghway and carriad
his stock in a nunnv sack from the old store. After several laborous trips
hn onened for bhusiness, One dav Felsav came into Lhe store and found
Demarest sittine on a hox, Helsay, whe at that tine was not well known in
town, told the store keener he vias Toolkine for credit; Tithout hardly
shiftina on the box except to noint a4 thurh at the shelves, Demerest

| 14

stated, "As lono as there's anvthine there we won't starve, Demerest

was true to his word, Sarnev llodee also readily admitted that Demerest fed
many neonle in Yomna durinn theldepkessinn.]S

Like individuals, the~towns developad their own character. 0Oak Creek
prospered durina the 1920s and the town board improved the town buildinqgs
and services. One much needed improvement was the channe in the city jai].
In 1908 when the town First beqgan to boon, an old icé hiouse was used for

the jail, 'then a man was “nut in the cooler," he Titerally was put in a
cooler. Soon the ice house was replaced hv a hole dug into the hill with
bars placed at one end, 1In 1925 the jail was condemned, but a new one was
not nrovided until the city hall was bhuilt in 1927‘]6

[n handlina its water system Oal Creek was unique. To beain with, it
had a well developed water system built in 1212, Then in 1925 the town
decided to build a permanent storane poﬁd on Oak Creek. The site. chosen

for construction belonred to the !eKinlay Coal Company. The town did not

purchase the land and the case was taken hafore the Federal Land Office.
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McKinlay won the case. Then in June, A, V. t. 'lessels, a water enaineer,
"eondernned the resnorvoir in almnst cveryv particular and belioved that it

should be abandoned."1/

The Record of "inutes state the town's vosnonse,  To heein with the

lotion made by

town netitioned for a-rohenfinﬂ of the case. lext, "b
Lindel1, seconded By‘”éfrnn that Ceoree Xezele be paid Fiffeen dollars a
month for one vear as carctaler of the headnates of the water system and
also, in consideration of the old thwn barn at the nev reservoir site, he
nive to the town avnu{t clairm deed t6 the present reservoir site."m The
motion carried, The site for the dam was first used as a arade and bridae
for a mine railroad from Pallas to thq Vaina Vallev "ine,  Thus the minino
company had a rood claim to the land. DLut throuch the deal with Kezele the
town was nb]e to reverso ﬁhe 1and office dacision and usne the old railroad
arade for the core to their dam, | |

In the late 1940s and carly 1950s when Oak Creek was paying a larae
amount for.the construction of Sheriff Feservoir as a major ho]dinmb1ake
for the city water system, the city devised a nevi method for nayina the
costs. It tool over the slot machines from nrivate operation on the
arounds that the machines were arainst the state law, Then the city
operated the machines. - Althouah Fou neoplae talked about the financial
system, there were none who complained, It mioht be added that few people
knew who really ovmed the slot machines,

As noted in an earlier chapter, in 1230 the city counci} failed to
call a reaular election claiminn no one was interested. But there were a
Tot of people interested, Deainnina in 1927 the electrical power company
had beaun violatinn their franchise riohts.zo Fror that point on, the

discussion over the electrical service rose to a hioh pitch.  Ernest "Dude"

Todd, who was a top electrical man at the Moffat Mine, took the lead in
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proposina that the town establish its own electrical system, Hc.had the
support of several town Folks and the offat “Mine which would contract- to
supply the power. Some folks believed that the town board was in the pay
of the nrivate nlectrical Comhany. The truth of tne charae was never |
substantiated but it was enouch to result in a new nayor and bbard béinn

’ 2
elected and the constructicn of A punicinal electrical qutem.‘]

3 L

In Qctoher éé%gi Dude Todd hecare city mananer and the toun moved to
combat the dﬂnression.b Defore any federal assistance reached Noutt County
in 1933, the Jak Creek city covernwent, vhose credit was not Hood,'borrowed
$10,000 to do some citv'work. It was desiannd 5r1mar11y to make work and
the novernment naid in'a credit “chit" which could be redeencd at any store
in town. Dy paving with a chit cach nicat, tihc town was able to delay |
actual cash payment but help put ronev in circulation., The town was also
able to keep sliohtly more chits in circulation than thore was actual money
in the bénk to cover the chits,‘ Throuch this system the city was able to
aqet water to the Rupe Addition and start work on the curbs nndfnuttefs. The
biq relief proiect which the‘town conducted was the rerouting df the stream
O0ak Creek and the buildine of a larce foothall field and city park.

The depression hit the area hard, Carl [liles vho ran a small ranch
un "orrison Creclk aryived in Jak Creelo wantino to sell some Tumber., Todd
was nesitant to purchase the material for the town until he Tearned that
the man had onlv a secive of flour for f“ood in the house--a house with five

kids, Todd nurchased the Turber and tooll the money from the retty cash
fund so Ilites would not have to wait for the council to act.22

Pee Yee came to Qall Creek as a lady of the niaht before the depression,
but a preaonancv and a~e slowed her business. She moved to a slab shack

near the Yellow Jaclet Road on a place later-known as Pec lee's Hill and

raised a few coats, Durina the depression she and her son came to towm to
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find some kind of vorl,  The hev nad the sales of his shoes tied on with
bindine twine, bHe had no ceat or overshnes n1thbumh it vas early sprina,
The Nak Creek covernrent and 2011's Uerchantile Store found worl, clothine,
and fond for the bov, “Apnother Nall Crocl resident, Jirs. itich, had saved

her moncy and hourht a boardine hoyse which shoe hoped tn vrnvidelﬁor Her in
her old are, lhien fh“.dO”PHFSiOH it sho was eettinog on in Qears, but her
boarders did not have enounh monev to navy thedir hill,  Moder the welfare
svster of the 193705 she Yad too miuch nronarty to qualify for anv assistancn,

The toun was abls ta “ind enounh vorlk for fHor Loarders that she saved har

o]
23

business, And the baarders had foed and clethine,
211 the husinassmen in Dak Creek nrovided cradit, but it vas the

(K}

Jananese ayncer, v, Yama, vho did the nnst o to helo peonle,  He had the
lease of the Moffat Mine boardine house.  tere lie fed jiundrads of men
without charne, Fami]ﬁas in 0ak Creclk end neichboring camns would no to
the boardine house to aet a Meai.' Yama bhrouriit meat, mill, eans, and
carden produce from his ranch in Twentvrile Park and aave it avay. ‘'lany
of the products frem his ranch vere put into the frce wmeals for needy
people, To heln with thc‘nreﬁarntion nf meals some nen fron Oak Creel

~

would peel notatoes, ete., However, most of the neople vho henefited from
the food did pot heln to prenare it, At the store Yara extended iﬁwensu
amounts of credit,

Yama went a lone yav towards feedina o hunery towm vaon it was needed,
then Yierld lar 11 started rany of the peonle vhe had benefited most From
Yama's cenerosity condamned him as a Jan Son-of-a-bitch and refused to nay
their bills. In a short tire he was driven from the town as wern the ofhef

- 24
Japanese in Oall Creek, <7

Mny discussion of hard times i

=

the Yarpa Yalley nust deal with the

question of what role did the larce mines play., The question is not easily
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asviered,  For examnle, in 1936, Lvy Keilsav was flat broke and his source
of credit had disanneared. In desnoration ho tranned o small mink and
three muskrats, The furs ho was ahile to soll for 525, After réttine his

' -~

monay, ne drdgve to "t, Harris and Loueht 00 nounds of flour, 25 pounds

£

each of drind neaches, anricnts, primes, and vaising, i also hounht Tard

and other household stanlas, “lhen the Hill wui totaled lie had spent 629,

Kelsav follnued the nattern of manv rosidonts in the vallev hecause it was

well knovm that foad could ha houcht at a very reasonablo nrice at the

e Harris comrissaryv,  Althoush the "t Harris cnﬁpanv stoye vas cenerallv

the Towest nriced store, all the commany stores in the Yamna Coalficld were
: eI

comnetitively priced with other storns,’

The company stores wnrled on a credit basis whicn was not alwavs
profitabla,  Throuchout the denression, tho larae nines hired hia forces of
men off the strects in Nenver., The men wvere nravided a ticket to the mine,
a nlace to board and hLunl, The‘mines fod and sheltered the rmen at a
nertinal cost to the men. Since the mines woro‘wOPking very 1ittle, most
men only warked an averane of a day or tun ner wgok. Yany old timers admit
that 1f the mines worked nore than six davs a half, aver 609 of the men
would not show un for work, fany of the men could not find anv other work,
and a sizeahle number of men returned te the nine.district nach fall and
Teft the next sorine.  Thus the rien were ahle tn cet a winter's hoard,
room, and nacessities from the company stere for very fou davs work, On
the other hand the cormanv had several points on whicii they received an
income frorm the riners, Since both sides had their attractive and
unattractive noints, the mvstery of the role of the mines is unclear. But
clearly hundreds of mon received the basic needs of Tife at a time when
many Americans were not that fortuncte,

Usually the mines would nut the men on in Ceptember and October. /And
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in March or April they vere Taid off.  Tho lav-off pattern was well
established, Hhenithe men came out of tho wine at the end of a shift they -
were informed that thev would he cut off the next day ot noon. That WYy ‘
they could eat supper, have a nichts rest nhd a nood breakfast bexore
leavinn, After breakFasf the men settled up with the mine, Since they
worked less than half the davs thev wére at the mine, many of the miners
owed the comnany more money than thov received. In fact many wisé miners
deliberately ran their Crédit'up to a hi~h anount. They would buy enouah
clothinn and other items to last them for sove%n] vecks., Then when thev
were cut off the comnany ‘had to stand the loss for the amount owed.

On one coccasion in. the nid 19305, a larce number of unemployed miners
decided to hoard the vnassencer train and force tho‘rnilroad to take then to
Denver free of charne. The railroad cot word of what was to happen and the
train ran the station at Jak Creek and went on to Phippsbura. At
Phippsburg the train stonped forlsevera1 hours while officials of the mines
and the railroad debated what.to do about the miners, Finally do. 2 backed
dovn to Oak Creek and piékod up five extra car loads of passenacrs. The

men were hauled to Denver,

The problems of unions were many. Althouah the federal qovernment

i

under the Hational Recovery Act of 1933 néve the unions a bia boost and
John L. Lewis and the United "ine Yorkers took full advantace of the
opportunity, the mine ovners in the Qak Crecl: District were re]uctént to
accept the new strenoth of the men., /s a.resu1t the miners were strondly
union and the corpanies still reluctant. Thus the two forces antaconized
each cther at severél points--nften resultine in damaqge to both.

Lookine back across the years the peop]e of the Yampa Valley reacted
to the depression in a very normal and predictable way. They had lived

throuah hard times before and for some of the subsistence farmers they
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simply cOntinued toksuhsist. The hardy individuals found many ways to
combat the hard vears, The results were a complex resnonse that contained
elements of humanity and inhumanitv., Thev were cooperative and vet very
comnetitive, Durinc these vears the coal minoﬁ remained the hackbone to
the remion's econorwv; without the mines the community of dak Creek could
not survive, nor the minine carps of‘ﬁt. Harris, Bear River, Haybro,
Keystone, !loffat, or Pinnacle. !''ithout Oal Creek many of the cow-sowu-hen
farmers had no market for their products; The mines were the nrimary
source of business for the railroad and Phinnsbure was a railroad towm,
Despfte the paradox, northivestern Colorado arew during the depression.
Hoffat County‘exporienced its first maior coal boom., In 1920 only 3,173
tons of coal vere mined in the countv, A decade later 6,025 tons were
mined. In 1935 enly 6,312 tons 0¥ coal were nroduced. Four years later
the county producad 56,265 tons of coal--approximately a nine fold increase.
In Routt County the mines hroducéd over a nillion tons of coal in 1936 and
1937,  And 1937 ranked as the third hidhest vear of production to that date
and 1936 was fourth hiahest., One aets an idea of the chance represented in
production by comparina the 1936 production of 1,002,462 to the production
of 1934 with 431,881 tons of coal. The year 1933 was slightly 1ower than
1934, and both vears vere the lowest on record except the years when the
coalfield was “irst beina opened. In 1930 Crain had a population of 1,418;
a decade later there were 2,123 neonle in the town., Hayden started the
decade with a popnulation of 554 and ended with 640, 0Oak Creek reported
1,211 people in 1330 and in 1940 the census counted 1,769, Steamboat
Sprinas had 1,198 folks in 1930 and 1,613 as torld Har IT anproached. The
smallest incorporated town, Yampa, had 310 and 426 people for each census

report.ZG
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CHAPTER XTI
THE EAL AUD THE BUnLElnian

Coal played an 1mpnrtqd"r0]o in Coloradn's journey throuch time, The
rush to Pikes Peal vas accomnanind with the onenina of coal mines near the

rnold minina districts. fnal furnished the fuel for the snelters and

railroads., The carly cormunity residents hratoed théir flores and in some
cases lichted their streets with coal. In 18561 Lt. E. L. Berthoud headed a
survey tean across tho Rocky Mountains to determine the feasihi]itj of 7
railroad route. I!is fooort snolke of the ereat anricultural and coal minine
nossibilitiaes that lav é]onn his survev, In the late 1350s concerned
Denver bhusinessmen weare BUi]dinn railroads and onenina coa]Z}ie]ds. At
that ecarly date leadinn fitizens recoonized thniinpOPtnnca‘oF cnal for
developina Colorado, In the 1820s railroad and coal mine 6wners‘un1ted to
open important coalfields west of the continental divide.

lith thé prospects of a major enerny hoois, sett?urs rushed to
northwestern Colorado's Yampa Valley, BSefore the decade was over the

settlers had determined the Timits of the Yampa Cealfield and learned many

of its secrets, Tha discovery of an anthracite coal deposit which
i

sunaested fmmense size stirred the imanination of manv empire builders.
Soon interest was followed with action., Critical town sites were
established and kev individuals were nlaced in pover nositions. Then
somethine went vwrona and the nromised hoom becare a bust,

After the severa national deorassion nf the early 1890s, David I,
Moffat and his lieutenants tool another lonk at northuestern Colorado.
Quietly they moved neonle into key nositions and rainad control of critical
resources, In 1202 Uoffat announced that”ho vas‘ﬁoinq to bhuild a railroad

over the Front Rance and throurh the Yamma Coalfield, In the Yamna Yalley
i t 2
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the announcerent causced thines to Lustle ol the excitonent of a boor,

1

For aspile it was boom tines, bt ”h@n.fWQ railroad reached the coalfinld
it was feable and the bHoom yas jaded,  For the naxt six vears the coal
mines in the dall Crecel district furnished the Tife savine traFgfc for the
bankrunt railroad, In 1914 the “it, ilarris,coal winina district inined in
the finht to save Pouft Cnuntv's vital trnn5ﬁ5rtntion svstam,  CSut arain
the exnocted enercy bhoop hnsted sann aftor it startod,

The coal mines wéro A nrimary Torce nf 110 foy thn Yanna Vallev, The
men who vorked the minas vere exnloited and in turn cxnloited ether pon,
The miners also shared panv corpen dancers and dovs,  Into the mines came
men from oQorv cmntiﬁent and racr.  In the mines the sweet of Tahorine men

melted the traditional differences into » aolid "“buddy" system,  Throurh

the years the miners and the cnal oneratore strurclad aver tha role of
orcanized labor, In 1913-14, 1022, and 1722, the miners' union was abla to
rise to power onlvy lona enounh tS ba crushoed,  Finally the MNational Recovery
Act, passed durinn the darlk days of the denression and shed Tioht and 1ife

on the United "ine 'Inrkers orranization in northwestern Colorado.

To provide for the needs nf tﬁe miners, comnany torms and incorporated
communities wevre established, The leadina indonéndent town waﬂ'Oak Creel:,
The town stood v the miners duyrine the strile of 1913<14. After the strike
the cormunity became a violent town whorn inon vere cﬁun]]v murdered, Dften
the killer went unvunished, Th¢50 vern the days that ruthlnss men founht tn
control the cambline, nrositution, and hootlon whiskey that entered Oak

4

Creek, Durina thesa turbulent days, Oak Creel: rained the reputation of
beina 2 tourh town, 'lith the reform efforts durina and aFtef Horld Yar T,
he violance in %alk Creek becare Tess hrutal but the cormmunity was still a
rourh and tumble coal minina comrunity.

The tie hacls and "timher beasts," the homestraders and lettuce
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tramps, the railroad nines and the vacon rines all depended unon USk Créek,
It was the larcost locel market for thoir coods,  The mining toem 1vas tﬁe
source of recreation and entertainment for nony rosidents of Qnutt‘COUnty;
Throucir the vears of hoom and hust, of chanee nd stannation, isolatien and -
cormunications, southorn “outt Countv dovelopad its oun style of cu]tUrQ
just as individuals maintain their om stvle a]thnunh belonmine to a

menaral classificatinn,:

Bv 1245 the Yamma Vallev had develoned into a mature social svstem and

with the ond of “nyld 'lay 11 the future seered bDrichit., On D11 Hell Hi11

%]

west of Nak Creek a Tarae ﬁroducinﬁ well vas struck, /A oipe Tine fronm thé
well to the railroad tracks.was laid and 0il shinments were made. In the
community the excitenent for an exoected oil boom ran hich,  Shorty Hamidy,‘
who was about to move to another husiness locaticon at Slenwood Sorines,
Coloradon, decidéd to remain in Oak Creek durina the boom, In Yaunts Drun
Store was a larce Dhotonraﬂ%of tﬁe 0il w211 and residents looked at it

with reassurance.

The coal minina industrv looked sound and promised to continue crowing
and producina, lowever, there were sore adjustments. heinag made. The YMoffat
Mine which had produced over 4,000,000 tons of coal during its life was
mined out and closine, Rut the "offat Minine Comaany was husy openina the
Arrowhead !fine at the site of old Junction Cify. Throuah the vears the
property had heen worked by the Yampa Clectric Iine and numerous prospects,
In 1924 the Perry interest did some preliminary mine development., After
the Moffat !"ine closed a 2,000 foot rock tunnel was driven at Arrovhead and
serious coal minina appeared on the horizon, ith oil and coal the
economics of the Oak Creck minina district promised a happy future,

Althouah highways were baina improved, the reaion still was sufficiently

isolated to be able to icnore much of the rest of the world. By 1950, the
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alitter of annthor promiced bhonn in southiovrn “Huit County vas dashed upen
tha rocks of-dwprNSRimw anel disastor,  Hatural mas From the vast fields
on the snﬁthern “reat Plains Lecare the dnﬂustic “uel here coal once
reiomed,

The Toss a® coal rmarkets caurht residents of the Yanpe Coalfield
unprepareds; hovever, thore vere numerous provious sions that coal winina
1as on the decline.  The Poutt-Ninnaclc, Curtis, “cleil, and Allen wmines

had been cloced L the end of Yorld Uay 11, In 1940 the Dear River Jine

shut down,

+o vpaaé g
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After the explosion, the adea ine never recained its former vicor, In
the mines that vere npofatinﬂ rost of thy oimers were pot Leepina up with
modern advancerents, They were sipnly hanaine on until the end came, Dy:
1952 the 'adre, HavHrn; Pinnacln, and Arrovhead Hines nro clnsed,

The Arrbwhnnd; vhich was a new mine, duc a 2,000 foot rock tunnel to

the coal beds, but very little coal wvas mined, "Mners do not acree on the

] SN
PO s o

L)

condition of the rine at the time of g1osinﬂ; tax lest'helieved that the
lonn rock tunnel DWOVPH ton steen and Tona for economical minina, /\nother
miner claimed that the coal vein soon split and broke into small, unminable
veins of coal, ‘'lost mincrs helincve that the decline in the coal market
caused the Arrovhead to close shortly after openinq;ﬁl

The Keystone and the 't. Harris "ines viere larae scalc operations
until the mid-19573s, And’the Yevstonn continued as a wanon mine until the
late 1960s. The closina of the !'t. Harris !line was in part due to labor
problems. At the time cost1y wiidcat strikes and continual labor unrest
resulted in thé mine owners moving their entire operation to !"'t. Streeter
in Moffat County.gA'The hia, flat vein in the Axial Basin was mined so
economically that it allowed *for over a twentvy mile haul by truck to the
railroad at Craic, Colorado. By 1960 the Colowvo and a few small waaon
mines were all that wore laft oﬁvtho once 0roUd underaround mining
operations in the Yampa Yalley,

As the uﬁdernround minina onerations et the valley, two small strip
mines beran operatina, At the old Curtis 'Minc near {ilner, Colorado, the
Osane strip mine worked until the early 12¢0s., The primary customer uas
Public Service of Colorado, At the old Arthur 1ine on upper Trout Creck
the Oak Hills Edna started a étrip mine, for several vears the mine hauled
its coal to the old !'offat-iline tinnle for Toadina on cars. Then a lonn

tram was built frorm the top of Jak Hills to the railroad. Interestinaly,
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the Cdna Mine was vorliing the Lennox Yein in tae same aroa that the Haybro
Yine had oricinally onened,  The lona Ldna tran vas only a short distance
up Oak Creek from the old Havbra tram,

In 1342 the Waﬁver % Rin “rande RWi1r5ad tonl control of the Donver 2
Salt Lake Pailrnad. The new owners wore wrimnri]y concorned with thc track
from restod, bO1OPid0; throunh the "ot Tunnel to ienver, Ffom 1946
until the mid-1970s the railroad often considered closing the 1fno into the
Yamna Yallev,

o

Soon after the takcover, the Denver

Y
i

“io Arande shifted to diesel
noviered locormntives and closed the roundhouse at Phiphsburq. Ungil that
time nearly oncrﬁourth of the @0#1 nined vas used by the railread and the
roundhouse had a larce force of men. In 1Wuu‘thc railroad operations were
onlv a shadow of their-past alory. Sections were closed at Toponas, Yampa,
Oak Creek, Sidney, Nilner, and Mt, Harris, Depots were closed at Yampa,
Dak Creek, and "t Harris. Sonﬁ the depots at Steémboat Snrinas and ilavden
clnsed, Phippshuro and Crair had the onlv open stations and these did not
stay cpen twenty—FGUr hours,

The closina of *he coal mines runn the death knell for many
communities., Iit, Harris once was amonn th@ laraest communities in
northwestern Coloradn, Shortlv after the mineé closed, U. S. 40 was
rerouted over the old toﬁﬂ. The old snction house and one 'Yadae Hine'
"shack" wvas all that remained of the once nroud community. At Bear River a
few concrete buildinos and foundations were the town's tombstone. At
Coalview two Tonely frame buildinns Lent viailance over an unfulfilled
promise, Haybro was identified hy the mine debris left scattered and
unkept. The old company store was converted to a private residence. At
Keystone a few foundations marlked the passinag of a community. At the old

Moffat "ine the supecrintendent's house kent a viailance over the decayina
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remains of the nast alorv, On Julv 4, 195?, firé destroyed the ared
sentinel, [How the minine debris ds all that recains.  The Victor-Anerican
went into bhankruntev nnd>the niners at the Minnacle simolv moved off,  IMuch
0 the camp rowainnd'ﬁn disrenair.,  The tionle at the Arrovhead Mine
remained fully equipned includine boxcar Teaders. It vas the best exémp]e
n€ an historical cral minine tipnde in the state of Colorado until the fall
of 1980 when nvsteriouslv the tinnle courht Fire and burned, Deer hunters
were blamed,

The closine of the mines and the minino camps were a disaster for Oak
Creek, !inecrs, railroaders, and locneys cane te Dak Creek once a week to
collect their rovernrent commadities,  The professional gamhlers nioved to
Hevada and the miners roved to ctﬁer arcas,  Stores and Lars in Oak Creek
closed, At nichts the strects were usurlly mnty except for an occasional
passerby,

The expected oil boom hroved to bhe a "Flash in. the nan." The oil was
Tow orade and could not 50 refined econormically. After a few test Toads:
were shinnad, the vell was closed, Hovever durine the 1250s extensive oil
exnloratinn continued in southern Hbutt County.

Simultanecus to the closine 0of the wines, the Yampa Yallev loocina and
acriculture were struck Ly disaster, In 1239, Ivv Kelsav was workine at
the Stillwater Tesarvair vhen a stron~ vhirl vind nassed throuah.,  After
the wind passed he noted Tarae nuwhérﬁ of heetles, Mt the time he did not

know anythine about the bne, hut he soon Tearpned,  The Jooanese Beetle

'

invasion of the spruce and Todee nola timeor on the Flat Tons was

devastatine, 2v 1350 the timber was dead and the loaners were out of

cw hardy men were able to Leep operatinag where a

Y

c
i

business, Onlv a
thrivina industrv had once been,

To add to the disaster was the distress in anriculture. Lettuce
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farminn~ had heen a Hvinh industry for yeara s b Jack Hinldan ot Toronas
continued to ornnce the odds, In the o norly TihOs hie e Tarced to on1 Ads
ranch, Durine tho sano oaried the Tivestech tarcet took a2 5 nercent ddron,
Panchers were hard aressed to Lo oneratine, it enal mipipe, Toamine,
and anriculture in disarrav, the Futurs o the Yampa Valloey vas ﬁncnrtnin.

)

Most of the woune noenle vere forced to Toave the aras to find wavl,  fmona

those vhn staved the "eoina viag voapeh, " Lo

c

Saindon hecan varkine for o the
railroad in 1046 and in 1902 he vae sti11 unahlo o held a staady jebh at
the Phipnshure teviinal,  As Tako as 1370, “'ra. Lauraniay Honnifield decried
the fact that tharn vore no woune cihildeen in Thipashure,

Tinine dr the Yarma COﬂjfiﬂld s dorm %ﬁt it wos not defeated,
Althourh the Edna and Osace ines onlyv warbed o fere ponths each vear, thnov
did onerate enousi to Loﬁﬂ the railroad providine service,  The ®ilsonite
and the 011 well husiness at Crain added &0 the revenue.  Then in the early
1960s the Havder Power Plant was Luilt and the Eneray fine onened.  Arain
these vern small onarations thn cornared to procent systens, bhut they were
vital for the survival of the ninine industrr,  These ohscure mines bent
the railroad functionine--a rale the mines had nlaved since 1995, By
keenina the bhasic teels in nlace althounh tvisted and broken, the Yanpa
Vallev vias ahle tn exrerience a maior heor durina the 1470s vwhen the nation
returnnd to coal as an immortant fuel,

4

The coal boar, of the 10705 was oyite sirilar Lo the minine of the

e

previous decades, he hoem nsecholaome of the 10705 vas comnaratbile to bHoom

T

nsycholeay of the 1900 nerind,  In both nerinds, scores of exaerts rushed

¢ the conl denosits and speculate on the

into nerthuwestern Colorado to chec
future, In the 12795 Toutt County Had all the "flittina" and “dittina"
that coes with keenine up with the nost recoat "whatever,"  There were

studies made and rore studics, Plannine cxnorts vere hirad and plannine
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comnissions established,
Tae hoon in Poutt and Dot counties dvow pational atteation.,  n

doverber 15, 1077, the Christion Sciznce qonitor tola ibs readers hovt Che

boom at Craio, Colorado, was affoctine the lecal society and econory, At
the time construction of a Torre eolactrical toer plant and the openino of

a larca strin nine vere in nrooress,  The Sumday manazine of the Conver

Post, Enpire, for Anril 2, 1970, cevried o Teunthy article ontitled "Eneray

Boom!" The article had an indenth Took at the mininag achiovements at
[neray Fuels, |

In 1272 nortiwestern Celarado vuas beonine!  In loutt County 6,329,173
tons of cnal were nroduced,  This vas accornlished with only 502 nen.
Moffat Countv, wiich was still constructinae pany of its facilities,
producad 1,000,677 tons of coa1; In Fefat County 536 wen were ennloved in
the mi MHE 1 1970 Calmave was prenaring to <hin millions of tone ¢

> mines., In 127¢ Calmuvo was preparing LOJSh]p mitlions of tons of
coal annually and Emnire Enerny 5nd Utah International were operating larme
mines., Haydon Culch was shnut‘to open for nroduction. "ines were
preparina to ship from "t, Havris and Bear River., Lnercy Fuels vas
operatina both Pit #2 and #3. The company also opened an underoround mine.
Edna iline was increasinn its shipments and doine some underqround
exploration., Cocial researcher YHilliam Freudenberg found that the recion
suffered from a boow towm mentality. OF course hack in 1902 the newspapers
vere also Filled with staries about the new Pgnnsy]vania.

In February 1300 the Denver and Nio “rande Railroad hiredlsix
additional brakemen at Phinpshurco, It was expected tnat the men wbu]d“scon
be workina to heln ship the expanding coal vknduction, Lbut as of May 1931
(fourteen months later) the men had seldor worked Leyond their student

trins. In a June 1, 1972, article entitled "Cnal's Future Clouded by

Risina Canacitv,”" ‘the Steamboat Pilot reorinted an article written by
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Reorece Retshow of the a1l Street Journal,  The arbicla discussed the

L

overnroduction while the demand vas unable Lo rosnond cuiclkly.,  The Yochy
. .

Mountain tews on tareh 11, 1079, reported "Cick Coal Indusiry Saes Slunaish
Demand,"  The article noted "[eoal] nroduction in the nast 12 vears bas
been on a roller coaster ride, and the net rise nas becn snall.  In

October 1380 the readars of the Steanhoat Pilat were told, " ost Coal lHnes

Remain Ontimistic."  Later the article cuntrd Tdna vine superintendent

o arn very concernod ahout the coal markot, Tan market s

eSS

Fritz ilaller,
soft, If it is o lona-term thine it could have o trerwendons a€fact
In 10800=01 the conl mininat in the Yemoa Yolley turned sharnly

Aoy losing 515

dovmward,  Sunlana Coal Cormany stonand shionina coal,
million in five vears, Lorthorn coal nines cut tosir Tabor force fFrom 100
to 50 emmlovees, Tt 15 susnected the mines 1111 cless in June 1902,
Eneray Fuals hias closed Pit £3 and tho pnderaround e, Tee dae also
sold and the new omers are nnt ﬁ]nnninﬂ any exnansion,  The Edna linn

Y

ended its KPL contract in Jocerbay 1981 and did not replace it. To save
the Htah International ine “ron financial disaster and closine, tie ovmers
of the Craia nover nlant wore “arced to nurchinse the operation, It
believed that Coors 111 end its contract vith “lock Castle at t. larris as
scon as A minc on Ehe ecastern slone barins full praduction.  The lavdea
Culch and Colowya onerations are havias only ?11 tad oxpansion.  Tae only
nev conl shiaments Fram Uecombor 1350 to Decenbor 1281 were in export
trains and no Yarpa Yallev wine hos a nerpanent export contract. The
extablished minns ovre closine or entrenchine and no new wines are opanine,

Boom=Bust, Timitless dreans-rainful realitvy todavevestordav, the heat is

the sarme and coal ic <ti11 the elusive crewr of nortiviescern Colorado.
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